
 

 
 
 
 
Summons to Meeting 
 
Tuesday 1 December 2020 
 

Council 
 

Wednesday 9 December 2020, 7.00 pm 
 

Zoom Virtual Meeting 
 

Membership: 
  
Councillor Hilary Harrington (Chair) Councillor Malcolm Grainger (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Tony Annison Councillor Carole Armstrong 
Councillor Mary Bainbridge Councillor Carmel Bell 
Councillor Herbert Briggs Councillor Markus Campbell-Savours 
Councillor Nicky Cockburn Councillor John Cook 
Councillor John Crouch Councillor Allan Daniels 
Councillor Janet Farebrother Councillor Marion Fitzgerald 
Councillor Peter Gaston Councillor Iain Greaney 
Councillor Michael Heaslip Councillor Alan Hedworth 
Councillor Vaughan Hodgson Councillor Daniel Horsley 
Councillor Mike Johnson Councillor George Kemp 
Councillor Peter Kendall Councillor Janet King 
Councillor Adrian Kirkbride Councillor Sally Lansbury 
Councillor Jim Lister Councillor Peter Little 
Councillor Elaine Lynch Councillor Louise Maguire 
Councillor Anthony Markley Councillor Owen Martin 
Councillor Carni McCarron-Holmes Councillor Ron Munby MBE 
Councillor Alan Pitcher Councillor Joe Sandwith 
Councillor Blain Sansom Councillor Paul Scott 
Councillor Andrew Semple Councillor Alan Smith 
Councillor Stephen Stoddart Councillor Alan Tyson 
Councillor Will Wilkinson Councillor Lynda Williams 
 
 

This meeting will be broadcast live on the Allerdale Borough Council YouTube™ 
Channel. 

 
If you have any questions or queries contact Gayle Roach on 01900 702502. 

 
 
 
 



Agenda 
 
1. Minutes  (Pages 5 - 16) 
 

 To agree as a correct record the minutes of the Council meeting held on 16 
September 2020. 

  

2. Apologies for Absence   
 

3. Declaration of Interests   
 

 Councillors/Staff to give notice of any disclosable pecuniary interest, other 
registrable interest or any other interest and the nature of that interest relating to 
any item on the agenda in accordance with the adopted Code of Conduct. 

  

4. Exclusion of the Press and Public   
 

 To consider whether there are any items on the agenda for which the press and 
public should be excluded. 

  

5. Questions and Petitions   
 

 To answer questions under Procedural Rule No. 4.16 from members of the 
public and from Councillors under Procedural Rule No. 4.17.2 and to receive 
Petitions under Access to Information Rules. 

  

6. Notices of Motion   
 

 The following Motion has been submitted by Councillor Peter Little -  
 
‘Given the current situation we all find ourselves in, I am appalled to learn the 
Chancellor is proposing to impose a cap on 1.3 million public sector workers 
salaries at the spending review whilst MP's are set to receive a pay increase set 
out by an independent panel. 
It is welcome news to hear that NHS staff are expected to be exempt, but this is 
an insult to those in the public sector that have put themselves as much on the 
front-line during this pandemic. 
Police, refuse collectors, teachers and the Armed Forces have been instrumental 
in the fight against Covid. It was only in Spring that the Government was praising 
those key workers. Now, they are desperate to rebuild the public finances while 
many will be struggling financially and feeling that their contribution was 
worthless. By proposing such a cap, the Government is clearly showing a lack of 
empathy. 
I therefore ask all members of this Council to remonstrate their support of this 
Motion and to ask the Government to review any proposed pay freeze to the 
public sector and to give them the gratitude they so deserve’ 

  

7. Councillor Speeches   
 

 To hear speeches (not exceeding 5 minutes each), for up to a specified period of 
15 minutes, from individual members on a local issue in the Member’s Ward, of 
which 24 hours’ notice has been given to the Chief Executive. 

  

8. Announcements from the Mayor, Leader or Head of Paid Service  (Pages 
17 - 18) 

 

9. Portfolio Holder updates  (Pages 19 - 38) 
 



10. Executive Minutes  (Pages 39 - 48) 
 

 To note the contents of the minutes of the meetings of the Executive held on 2 
September and 14 October 2020. 

  

11. Reference from Executive 25 November 2020 - Quarter 2 Finance Report 
and Revised Budget 2020-21  (Pages 49 - 106) 

 

12. Reference from Audit Committee 29 September 2020 - Treasury 
Management Annual Review 2019/20  (Pages 107 - 140) 

 

13. Reference from Audit Committee 24 November 2020 - Treasury 
Management Mid Year Review 2020/21  (Pages 141 - 180) 

 

14. Reference from Licensing Committee 20 November 2020 - Review of 
Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026  (Pages 181 - 258) 

 

15. Pay Policy Statement  (Pages 259 - 274) 
 

16. Authority to Temporarily Amend Polling Scheme  (Pages 275 - 278) 
 

17. Community Governance Review: Flimby & Maryport  (Pages 279 - 282) 
 

18. Update from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee  (Pages 283 - 286) 
 

19. Governance Updates  (Pages 287 - 292) 
 

 

 
Chief Executive 
 

 
Date of Next Meeting: 

 
Wednesday 27 January 2021, 7.00 pm 

Zoom virtual meeting 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



At a meeting of the Council held on Zoom Virtual Meeting on Wednesday 16 September 
2020 at 7.00 pm 
 
Members 
 
Councillor Hilary Harrington (Chair) Councillor Malcolm Grainger (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Carole Armstrong Councillor Mary Bainbridge 
Councillor Herbert Briggs Councillor Markus Campbell-Savours 
Councillor Nicky Cockburn Councillor John Cook 
Councillor John Crouch Councillor Allan Daniels 
Councillor Janet Farebrother Councillor Marion Fitzgerald 
Councillor Peter Gaston Councillor Iain Greaney 
Councillor Michael Heaslip Councillor Joe Holliday 
Councillor Daniel Horsley Councillor Mike Johnson 
Councillor George Kemp Councillor Peter Kendall 
Councillor Janet King Councillor Adrian Kirkbride 
Councillor Sally Lansbury Councillor Jim Lister 
Councillor Peter Little Councillor Elaine Lynch 
Councillor Louise Maguire Councillor Carni McCarron-Holmes 
Councillor Ron Munby MBE Councillor Alan Pitcher 
Councillor Blain Sansom Councillor Andrew Semple 
Councillor Alan Smith Councillor Alan Tyson 
Councillor Lynda Williams  
 
Apologies for absence were received from  Councillor Tony Annison, Councillor Carmel 
Bell, Councillor Alan Hedworth, Councillor Vaughan Hodgson, Councillor Anthony 
Markley, Councillor Owen Martin, Councillor Joe Sandwith, Councillor Paul Scott, 
Councillor Stephen Stoddart and Councillor Will Wilkinson 
 
Staff Present 
 
B Carlin, W Collins, A Gilbert, L Jardine, C Nicholson, G Roach, A Seekings, S Sewell, 
L Tomlinson and P Young 
 

 
124. Minutes  

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 22 July 2020 were agreed as a correct 
record. 
 

125. Declaration of Interests  
 
None declared. 
 

126. Exclusion of the Press and Public  
 
There were no items on the agenda for which the press and public should be 
excluded. 
 

127. Questions and Petitions  
 
Four questions were received -  

Page 5

Agenda Item 1



 
1. Mr John Quinn submitted the following question for Councillor Mike 

Johnson -   
 

‘What are the possibilities of the updating of the now mostly defunct lighting 
system on the HUB artwork/sculpture based in the Washington Square 
shopping centre Workington, Cumbria.  
The Lamp system on the HUB is a series of 8 lamps which produce a 
wonderful display of various colour patterns that colour the area around it.  
The last time I checked the system for working lamps was around 6 months 
ago. All but 2 of the lamps had ceased working. When the checks to the 
HUB Sculpture were being carried out it was noted that the system of lamps 
was in need of replacement.  
Property Services at the council had a survey done of the lamps and had 
costed an LED replacement system. As far as I can make out, from the 
limited information available to me, it was deemed that the cost of the 
replacing the old lighting system, which has been there since around 2006, 
with a new LED system was deemed to be too costly.  
The HUB Artwork is now an instantly recognisable feature of the Washington 
Square Shopping Centre, and therefore Workington as a whole. Surely a 
great asset for Workington and the area as a whole.  
To upgrade the coloured lighting system on what is a great asset for the 
Town, and any money spent on the HUB is surely money well spent, to help 
ensure the success of the town and surrounding areas.  
My interest in this subject is that I am owner and admin of the Workington, 
Cumbria   group on the World wide web, whose membership is about to 
exceed 4000. I feel that the renewal of the lamp system would be a great aid 
to me in carrying out my goal of promoting Workington to the World. The 
Workington, Cumbria Facebook group has members from many parts of the 
World and the HUB sound and lighting system deserves to be shown off as 
what Workington has to offer’ 
 
Councillor M Johnson responded to say - 
 
‘I am aware that that the lighting system at the hub is not currently fully 
working. I understand that due to the age of the technology within the hub it 
is no longer possible to source replacement bulbs and other parts and it is 
would therefore be necessary to replace the entire lighting system. Due to 
ongoing pressures on local authority finances and the need to prioritise 
expenditure, we have been unable to fund the replacement of the lighting 
system. I recognise that a working lighting system would enhance this 
prominent feature within the town centre and we will continue to explore 
whether there are funding sources we may be able to access to allow us to 
replace the lighting system in the future’. 
 
 
2. Councillor A Daniels submitted the following question for Councillor T 

Markley -  
 

‘Now that cash payments have been restored for our parking meters in our 
car parks, can I be assured that this will become permanent, as I have heard 
persistent rumours that there are plans to return to cashless meters. This will 

Page 6



impact the segment of the population who do not have smart phones or 
credit cards. Further to this, the technology for using phones and cards to 
pay is not fit for purpose and totally unreliable, one only has to walk through 
one of our car parks to find a queue of bewildered and frustrated people 
trying to make payment. Recently a carpark not owned but managed by 
ABC had to use their own staff to collect payments. I have spoken to many 
councillors who share my concerns and this problem needs to be resolved’  

 
On behalf of Councillor T Markley Councillor J Cook responded to say - 

 
‘Over recent months, we have all become more accustomed to cashless 
payment as part of efforts to stop the spread of the Coronavirus.  
We believe that cashless payment systems will help to ensure that we 
continue to play our part to stop the spread of the virus, as well as offering 
more flexibility for people who visit and use our car parks.  
However, we have experienced a number of technical issues with the mobile 
phone signal and card readers at many of our carpark locations – and this 
has been particularly significant in Keswick. 
Whilst we are working to resolve these issues with our machine 
suppliers, we have re-introduced the cash payment options and 
have no plans to switch this option off until the machine and signal issues 
are fully resolved.  
In the UK, nearly 90% of the population own a Smart Phone, and around 
98% of adults have a debit card.  
There are many benefits to cashless parking. Customers are now 
accustomed to using electronic payments and appreciate the convenience it 
offers.  It also helps the Council to realise savings and increase revenue’.  
 
In response, Councillor Daniels said that with regards to the figures provided 
by Councillor Cook, ‘when you begin to look at people over the age of 65 
and 70 the figures drop to 70% and 50% in respect of ownership of smart 
phones and credit cards’. He continued, ‘as 30% of the population in 
Allerdale are over 65 surely we should be caring about our population’.  
Councillor Daniels still sought assurance that the idea to go cashless would 
cease for as many years as possible.  
 
Councillor J Cook responded to request that Councillor Daniels send in his 
figures and information quoted in the reply to the relevant officers and 
members for everyone to consider together.  
 
 
3. Councillor A Kirkbride submitted the following question for Councillor T 

Markley -   
 

‘Can the portfolio holder for Environmental quality please confirm what 
monthly bin collection rates have been achieved for April, May, June, July 
and August. 
Also is this a percentage increase or decrease in collections on the previous 
3 months figures’ 

 
On behalf of Councillor T Markley Councillor A Pitcher responded by proving 
the following information -  

Page 7



 
o April collection rate – 375,673 containers collected – of which 303 

were missed – all of which were returned to within 48 hours of 
being report. This represents a collection rate of 99.92% and 
100% following the bins being reported as missed. We don’t have 
the collection rates for the previous month as the records were 
maintained by FCC 

  
o May collection rate – 413,476 container collected – of which 497 

were missed – with 24 not being collected within 48 hours of being 
reported. This represents a collection rate of 99.98% and 99.99% 
following the bins being reported as missed. This is a percentage 
increase in collection rates on the previous month 

  
o June collection rate - 448,240 containers collected – of which 437 

were missed – with 3 not being collected within 48 hours of being 
reported. This represents a collection rate of 99.90% and 99.99% 
following the bins being reported as missed. This is a percentage 
decrease in collection rates on the previous month 

  
o July collection rate - 483,302 containers collected – of which 482 

were missed – with 9 not being collected within 48 hours of being 
reported. This represents a collection rate of 99.90% and 99.99% 
following the bins being reported as missed. This maintains 
collection rate of the previous month 

  
o August collection rate – 414,272 containers collected – of which 

351 were missed – with 11 not being collected within 48 hours. 
This represents a collection rate of 99.92% and 99.99% following 
the bins being reported as missed. This is a percentage increase 
in collection rates on the previous month 

 
Due to poor internet signal during the response, it was agreed that the 
information be circulated to all members following the meeting. 

 
 

4. Councillor G Kemp submitted the following question for Councillor T 
Markley -  

 
‘Can the portfolio holder for Environmental quality give the amount of trade 
waste customers we currently service and is this a percentage increase or 
decrease on figures pre lockdown. Also have we in the last twelve months 
noticed any large cancelations or block defections of trade waste customers’ 

 
On behalf of Councillor T Markley Councillor M Fitzgerald responded to say - 

 
‘During the lockdown restrictions many of our Trade Waste customers had to 
suspend their contracts.  I am pleased to say that as of the 14 September 
we have 85% of our customers back in contract, and many more in the 
process of re-opening. 
A small number of customers have decided not to renew their contracts due 
to a variety of reasons’. 

Page 8



 
128. Notices of Motion  

 
Following an announcement made by Cumbria County Council with regards  to 
the reopening of HWRCs Councillor P Little withdrew his motion from the 
agenda. 
 

129. Councillor Speeches  
 
Councillor H Briggs spoke for 5 minutes on issues in his ward of Harrington and 
Salterbeck, raising concerns on highways works and the clean-up required 
following a traveller encampment on Harrington Marina. 
 

130. Announcements from the Mayor, Leader or Head of Paid Service  
 
The Mayor made reference to the events she had undertaken since the 
previous meeting, those being flag raising events on 14 August for VJ Day and 
on 9 September for the Merchant Navy. 
 
Councillor M Johnson, Deputy Leader of the Council announced that the 
Council had recently received a letter from the CEO at Radioactive Waste 
Management inviting us to join a working group to work together to devise the 
best way to work with our communities in any siting of a nuclear geological 
disposal facility(GDF). Councillor Johnson said ‘in our response we have made 
clear that our position on the matter remains that as part of the current host 
community for the majority of the planned inventory for a GDF then Allerdale is 
affected whatever happens with the UK’S radioactive waste, so we are keenly 
interested to fully understand how the siting process will work. Our interest is in 
no way to be interpreted as a willingness to host a GDF. It is also important to 
make clear from the outset that our involvement in the working group 
discussions is conditional on their agreement that there will be no consideration 
of any sites within the Lake District National Park. I have therefore nominated 
Councillor M Fitzgerald to attend the meetings of the working group alongside 
the Policy Manager (Nuclear) and we will keep you all updated on progress as 
and when it happens’. 
 

131. Portfolio Holder Updates  
 
Councillor M Johnson, Deputy Leader of the Council, presented the Portfolio 
Holders update report. 
 
Questions were asked on Local Government Re-organisation and Devolution, a 
proposed new Sports Village for Workington, issues with vermin, the Visit 
Allerdale tourism website, the authorities Housing Company, the reopening of 
customer service centres and track and trace in Allerdale. 
 
Councillor G Kemp asked why were the Keswick Pool and Maryport Wave still 
closed, as other leisure facilities had been opened, and when would they be 
reopening? 
 

Page 9



Raising issues with payments at carparks, Councillor S Lansbury asked for an 
assurance that the Council would do a proper audit of recent carpark income 
figures before a decision was made to go ahead with cashless payments. 
 
Councillor I Greaney asked for some reassurance for residents that they would 
not be required to pay for any repairs or replacements of the cardboard 
recycling bins and asked what was the Council doing to resolve the issue going 
forward. 
 
Councillor C Armstrong asked over the last 10 years, how much money had 
been spent on legal expenses and on the clean ups of illegal sites with regards 
to gypsies and travellers. 
 
In the absence of the Environmental Services Portfolio Holder, it was agreed 
that a written response be provided to the above questions for all members 
following the meeting. 
 

 Councillor L Williams left the meeting   
  

 
132. Executive Minutes  

 
The minutes of the Executive meetings held on 24 June and 15 July 2020 were 
noted. 
 

133. Changes to Committee Memberships  
 
Council was asked to approve changes to committee memberships in line with 
Sections 15, 16 and 17 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and 
The Local Government (Committees and Political Groups) Regulations 1990, to 
ensure political balance on committee memberships. 
 
Councillor M Fitzgerald moved recommendations 1-6 of the report. This was 
seconded by Councillor M Johnson. 
Recommendations 1-6 were approved by Council. 
 
Councillor A Pitcher moved that Councillor Alan Tyson be appointed as Chair of 
the Audit Committee. This was seconded by Councillor M Johnson. 
 
Councillor J King moved that Councillor Carole Armstrong be appointed as 
Chair of Audit Committee. This was seconded by Councillor H Briggs.   
 
A vote was taken on the motion to appoint Councillor Armstrong as Chair of 
Audit Committee, 13 in favour, 21 against and 0 abstentions. 
The motion was lost. 
 
Councillor R Munby lost connection at this point in the meeting 
 
A vote was taken on the motion to appoint Councillor Tyson as Chair of Audit 
Committee, 20 in favour, 10 against and 3 abstentions. 
The motion was carried.  
 

Page 10



Councillor A Smith moved that Councillor Mary Bainbridge be appointed as 
Vice-chair of the Audit Committee; this was seconded by Councillor M Johnson. 
 
The Mayor adjourned the meeting at 8.40pm 
 
Councillor R Munby left the meeting 
 
The Mayor reconvened the meeting at 8.52pm 
 
A vote was taken on the motion to appoint Councillor Bainbridge as Vice-chair 
of the Audit Committee; 20 in favour, 5 against, and 8 abstentions. The motion 
was carried. 
 
Resolved 
 
That – 
 

1. The distribution of seats across committees as set out in paragraph 1.7 
of the report be approved, to accord with the rules on proportionality as 
far as is practicable 

 
2. Councillor Marion Fitzgerald be appointed to the Chief Officers 

Employment Panel for the Allerdale Conservatives Group 
 

3. Councillor Malcolm Grainger be appointed to the Personnel Tribunal for 
the Allerdale Conservatives Group 

 
4. Councillor Sally Lansbury be removed from the Licensing Committee, but 

remains a substitute member 
 

5. Councillor Stephen Stoddart be appointed to the Licensing Committee 
 

6. Councillor Owen Martin be replaced by Councillor Alan Tyson on the 
Licensing Committee 

 
7. Councillor Alan Tyson be appointed as Chair of the Audit Committee to 

replace Councillor Janet King 
 
8. Councillor Mary Bainbridge be appointed as Vice-chair of the Audit 

Committee to replace Councillor Alan Tyson. 
 

134. Update from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
 
Councillor I Greaney, Co-chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee moved 
an update report for Council to note. 
 

The meeting closed at 9.00 pm 
 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 12



Council 16 September 2020 - Questions under PH Updates 

Cllr G Kemp – can you indicate why Keswick Pool and Maryport Wave both remain closed? 

Can you also confirm that GLL, who have over 13,500 employees, furloughed most of its 

staff while this Council continued to pay in full their maintenance contract. 

Do we know when these two centres will reopen?  

Response 

A phased approach to opening centres was agreed by the Council and GLL once given the go 

ahead from Govt. (note that leisure pools and climbing activity were not permitted to open 

at the time). 

This approach gives the opportunity to gauge which activities have a high demand from 

members wanting to come back into the centres whilst balancing the maximum numbers 

allowed at any one time in the spaces available. 

The design of the leisure pool at Keswick and the climbing facility at the Wave makes 

implementing a Covid-Secure environment particularly challenging, which means that the 

low number of visitors that can be accommodated safely needs to be considered within the 

planning of a sustainable programme. 

Informal Exec are looking at the options for both sites next week. 

All members from Keswick and Maryport that want to return to activity have been given 

access to classes, swimming and fitness activity at any GLL site while they are closed. This is 

at their normal membership price of £20, when usual membership costs for Cockermouth or 

Workington are over £30 – this is in recognition of the fact that they will have to travel. 

The mobilisation process of Cockermouth and Workington and the approach taken has been 

recognised as being an exemplar model within the GLL partnerships and is in the top 10 of 

all GLL centres (over 200) for number of returning members, class activity and occupancy 

and swim instruction and feedback has been positive locally. 

 

The grant of £40,000 was given to help GLL cover the deficit to the Allerdale partnership 

budget due to the ceasing of trading as of the 20th March, whilst some costs were still being 

incurred. It was not to cover a loss of profit, GLL are a not for profit organisation and the 

budget is managed to deliver a break-even position.  

The Council has continued to pay the monthly management fee as this was the advice from 

Government, but also as mentioned above, the contract is budgeted to break even over the 

year so although the closure of the centres has reduced the expenditure over those months 

these did not take effect immediately and costs were still incurred throughout the period 

where there was zero income and no reserve to draw from.  

There are many areas where centres and pools have not opened yet while the future is still 

uncertain but the provision of a leisure service in Allerdale was something that was 

important to try and protect so that there was still a service at the other side of the Covid-

19 pandemic. 

Page 9

Minute Item 131

Page 13



Council 16 September 2020 - Questions under PH Updates 

Cllr S Lansbury – on the issues of payments at carparks, ‘I have been given visitor figures, for 

7 out of 8 weeks income in Bell Close car park was down, in another other car park in 

Keswick it was down 6 out of 8 weeks’  

‘This will impact greatly on Allerdale’s income, and the problems are being dealt with very 

slowly, we need to consider these figures before we consider going cashless going forward’ 

Can I have an assurance that we will do a proper audit of the figures before we go ahead 

with the cashless payments situation? 

Response 

Over recent months, we have experienced a number of technical issues with the lack of 

mobile phone signal available to our car park machines that have prevented customers from 

being able to complete transactions using their bankcards or pay using their mobile phones. 

The problems in Keswick have been exacerbated by the significant increase in visitor 

numbers to the town leading to more demand for the internet signal than is currently 

available. 

We are working to resolve these issues and have re-introduced cash payments to ensure 

that customers have a means to pay for car parking. 

A number of options are currently being reviewed and we are working with our machine 

suppliers and IT to ensure going forward that these cashless options can be improved.   

The position on income is being reviewed on a monthly basis and as well as reporting to 

SMT and Executive, the authority reports to MHCLG. 

Until the issues can be resolved, we have stated that cash will continue to be an option for 

payment.   

 

Cllr I Greaney – with regards to the large recycling bins, ‘I have had quite a lot of complaints 

from residents, especially with regards to the lids, which break quite easily’ 

Can I get some reassurance for residents that they will not be required to pay for any repairs 

or replacements of the cardboard recycling bins and what are we doing about resolving the 

issue going forward? 

Response 

The Council is aware of the problems that a significant number of residents have 

experienced with the blue-lidded paper recycling bins. 

I can confirm that residents will not be required to pay for any repairs or replacements 

required due to this fault. 

Following the award of the tender, it soon became apparent that there was a problem with 

these bin lids. Early discussions with the supplier were held and samples were taken away 

Page 10Page 14



Council 16 September 2020 - Questions under PH Updates 

for analysis.  The supplier has confirmed that the fault was theirs and was a result of a 

batching error where incorrect materials had been added to the mixture for the bin lids. 

Dialogue is currently ongoing with the framework provider YPO, the supplier and our legal 

team to resolve this issue. 

  

Cllr C Armstrong – community clean ups are currently taking place, I would like to know 

over the last 10 years how much money has been spent on legal expenses and on the clean 

ups of these illegal sites with regards to gypsies and travellers? 

Response 

These costs are not recorded separately, the internal resources including legal resource and 

clean-up costs are managed within existing resources and the relevant contract. We cannot 

identify the actual costs per service area. 

We have a record of bailiff costs in the sum of £1800 + VAT in respect of removal of an 

unauthorised site in 2018 and £1475 + VAT in respect of an unauthorised site in 2020. 

We have instructed bailiffs on one occasion this month and are awaiting for confirmation of 

costs, however they will be in the region of the above costs. 

Page 11Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 12Page 16



The Mayor, Councillor Hilary Harrington 
Engagements since the last Council meeting on  

16 September 2020 
 
 

 
15 October 2020 

 
West Cumbria Child Poverty Forum - 
Virtual 
 

 
08 November 2020 

 
Brief Act of Remembrance – St Mary’s 
on the Hill, Harrington, Workington 
 

 
11 November 2020 
 

 
Presentation of the Harrington Standard 
Flag – St Mary’s on the Hill, Harrington, 
Workington 
 

 

 
 
 

Page 17

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 18



 

 

Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Council – 9 December 2020 

 

Portfolio Holder updates
 

Portfolio holder Councillor Mike Johnson – Deputy Leader 

Report from Senior Management Team 

Wards affected   As indicated in the main body of the report 

Is this a key decision  No 
 

 
 

1.0  The reason for the decision 

1.1 To update Council on the activities and decisions of Portfolio Holders since the last 
meeting. 

2.0  Recommendations 

2.1 That Members note the content of the report. 

3.0  Background and Introduction 

3.1 This is a regular report that comes to each meeting of Council. The purpose of the 
report is to provide full Council with an update and overview of the activities of 
individual portfolio holders.  

3.2 The activities of the Portfolio Holders are given in the following sections. 

4.0  Deputy Leader of the Council: Economic Growth, Community 
Development and Place-making Portfolio: Cllr Mike Johnson  

Workington Town Deal 

4.1 Following approval from the Executive and Workington Town Deal Board the 
Workington Town Investment Plan was submitted to Government at the end of 
October. The Town Investment Plan outlines proposals for securing £25 million of 
investment into Workington from the Government’s Town Fund programme. 
Funding is sought for six priority projects. 

Port of Workington: Clean Energy and Logistics Hub – provision of serviced 
employment land at the port on the Oldside site to enable investment in key sectors 
serviced by the port. 

Page 19

Agenda Item 9



 

 

Innovation and Co-Working Space: Proposed flexible town centre office space 
solution for start-up and growing businesses in West Cumbria, as well as high 
quality co-working space for local knowledge workers, located on the Central Car 
Park site. 

Townscape and Connectivity Measures: A series of projects focussed in providing 
high quality public realm, urban connectivity and green infrastructure across the 
town centre’s key corridors. 

Digital Skills Programme: Investment in digital equipment in one of the training 
providers in Lillyhall to allow them to offer Level 4 and 5 qualifications in digital skills 
to West Cumbrian residents. 

Workington Sports Village: Provision of a multi-purpose sports village that will 
provide high quality inclusive and accessible sporting facilities for both community 
and professional clubs that will be sustainable in the long-term. The attraction of 
major sporting and other events will attract additional visitors to the town. 

Central Pocket Park: Provision of a ‘meanwhile use’ on the former Opera House 
site, as part of a wider longer-term development of this part of the town centre. 

Work is also progressing in relation to the delivery of the projects which have 
benefited from the £750,000 accelerated funding via the Towns Fund. These are: 
the acquisition and demolition of the former Opera House site; improvements to the 
Central Way Underpass; the creation of an outdoor events space adjacent to the 
leisure centre; and the installation of outdoor gym equipment.  

Maryport High Street - Heritage Action Zone (HAZ) 

4.2 Capital Programme: Based around Senhouse Street  - the repair and enhanced use 
of four very prominent buildings in Senhouse Street: Town Hall, Maritime Museum, 
Heron Foods and 68 Crosby Street (part of the former Midland Bank Chambers and 
its conversion to visitor accommodation), plus the significant  improvement of many 
of the poorer quality shopfronts and some improved seating and signage.  

Cultural Programme: One of the main differences between this and previous 
funding programmes is that in addition to investing in its buildings, there is a strong 
focus on creating events and activities to get more people involved in and 
appreciating the opportunities for enjoying the Town Centre.  A team of local people 
involved in arts and culture, called ‘Creative Maryport’  has got together to create a 
4 year programme of events in and around the high street, increasing footfall and 
showcasing all that it has to offer.  The Cultural Programme will be available in 
autumn 2020. 

Community Engagement: An important element of the programme is to ensure on-
going engagement with the local community, particularly seeking to engage with 
currently under-represented groups.  Engagement activities will focus on ensuring 
awareness and, where applicable involvement, in the HAZ capital projects, but also 
involvement in the cultural programme and, more generally, around Maryport’s 
heritage, increasing awareness and pride in Maryport’s history and how it can 
contribute to its future prosperity.   A community Engagement plan will also be 
available in autumn 2020.  

Page 20



 

 

Maryport - Future High Street Update 

4.3 As we approach the time when we hope to learn of a decision regarding the Future 
High Streets fund application, preparation work continues. This includes completion 
of option agreements for purchase of key buildings within Senhouse Street, with 
these now in place this will enable the Council to proceed with the programme more 
quickly.  

Essential safety work has also been undertaken at 28 Senhouse Street. This 
building is owned by the Council and is situated next door to the former Carlton 
Cinema. The longer-term aim would be to include both buildings within the 
proposed Community Hub development.  

An initial draft programme and financial plans have been drawn up in relation to the 
proposed interventions. A new regime of meetings are being organised with various 
stakeholders including a meeting of the Maryport Regeneration Advisory Group, in 
November. Final plans for each intervention however, can only be completed once 
the funding decision is reached. 

 Markets Rebranding  

4.4 Following the decision to bring the markets back ‘in-house’ earlier this year work is 
continuing to rebrand the markets. The first batch of new covers for the market 
stalls in Keswick and Workington have been delivered and installed and use the 
“We’re Allerdale’ branding developed to support the Council’s tourism and 
destination management strategy.  

 Recovery events in 2021 

4.5 Planning has begun to stage two events in 2021 when it is safe to do so. They are 
Taste of the Sea Maryport and Silloth Cycling Sportive. Both are planned to support 
businesses and encourage overnight stays in both towns. As with Taste Cumbria 
Cockermouth, local businesses and councils will be closely involved in the planning 
of both the events. 

 Business forums 

4.6 Preparatory work has commenced to facilitate the establishment of business forums 
in Wigton, Workington and the Solway Coast area. The purpose is to encourage 
businesses to work together to grow business in their area as well as providing a 
forum for us to consult with businesses on relevant strategies and plans. This 
follows on from our facilitation work that led to the establishment of a business 
forum in Maryport in 2019, which in turn, was modelled on the successful 
Cockermouth Chamber of Trade. 

Business grants  

4.7 The Government is providing funding for national grant schemes to support 
businesses through the national restrictions that will run between 5 November and 2 
December (and any further local or national restrictions). Two grants schemes are 
currently operating in Allerdale – the Local Restrictions Support Grant (closed) 
Addendum and the Additional Restrictions Grant Discretionary Scheme.  Both are 
open for businesses in Allerdale to apply for. More details and the application forms 
can be found at https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/coronavirus/coronavirus-business-
grants-claims/ 

Page 21

https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/coronavirus/coronavirus-business-grants-claims/
https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/coronavirus/coronavirus-business-grants-claims/


 

 

  

A big thank you to everyone who has set this up so quickly. We had already been 
able to pay over £1.48m to 1011 businesses (at 26 November), and more is going 
out every day. I know this money is very welcome.  

 More support for business 

4.8 To make sure we have the right services and processes in place to meet the needs 
of business, we have appointed a temporary Business Services Coordinator and a 
temporary Business Engagement and Communications Officer. They will be our 
primary link with business, responding to queries, reviewing our processes that 
business use to make improvements, making sure our business information on our 
website in comprehensive, engaging with business on a weekly basis by newsletter 
and better understanding business needs by talking to a wide range of businesses 
on a regular basis. 

Supporting local businesses by spending local 

4.9 I am pleased to report that our performance in supporting local businesses remains 
strong and is improving even in these difficult times. Almost 64% of all Council 
expenditure on goods and services is spent with Cumbrian suppliers (compared 
with 57% for the equivalent quarter in 2019/20). The procurement team have been 
working closely with officers to ensure that we continue to add value to communities 
by spending locally and are increasing the use of social media channels to 
advertise opportunities for tenders to local suppliers. 

Workington Hall 

4.10 Works started in late September at Workington Hall, the works involve removal of 
intrusive trees, bushes etc. from the walls, consolidation of wall heads to prevent 
further deterioration and the replacement of damaged, loose masonry. Works are 
scheduled to be completed in March 2021 

 Helena Thompson Museum 

4.11 Work has started on the extension works at the Helena Thompson Museum. The 
works include the provision of new toilets to the rear of the property and a new DDA 
compliant entrance and paved area to the front of the property. It is hoped that the 
works will be complete by late March next year but this is now very much 
dependent upon how the current lockdown affects contractors and suppliers to the 
construction industry. 

 Allerdale House and Solway House improvements 

4.12 Refurbishment works are ongoing to the top floor of Allerdale House, the works 
have been split in to four areas which allows us to manage the space effectively. 
Phase 1 is complete and Phase 2 will be complete by Christmas. The works being 
undertaken include replacing ceiling tiles, upgrading lights and heaters, re-carpeting 
and decoration. 

Improvement works to the toilets and staff changing area at Solway House have 
been carried out in the last month to help facilitate a better working environment for 
Allerdale Waste services Ltd (AWSL). 

Page 22



 

 

 Westfield Welfare 

4.13 The demolition of Westfield Welfare is to take place this month (Nov). It is hoped to 
include the cleared site as part of a larger development scheme involving the 
surrounding land. 

Building Control 

4.14 The Council’s Building Control service has achieved ISO 9001 QMS accreditation 
with a Best Practice Note following an external audit during October. The scope of 
the audit covered management, training, service delivery, customer engagement, 
performance, date control and management. The ISO 9001 certification covers the 
scope of 'The provision of public sector building control and public protection 
services'.  The auditors made special note of the team’s training plans which 
provides succession planning as more experienced members are nearing their 
retirement ages. It also praised the Arcus document management system. The 
accreditation follows the commencement of degree apprenticeships by two of the 
team at the LABC accredited University of Wolverhampton’s Building Surveying 
course. Another team member is starting their second year whilst a fourth member 
graduated with a first-class honour’s degree from the University of Northumbria. 

Disabled Facilities Grants  

4.15 In the second quarter of the year there were 39 new referrals for Disabled Facilities 
Grants, compared to 66 in the same period last year.   Monthly “Teams” meetings 
are taking place with the main adaptation contactors and local registered providers 
to discuss cases. This has been beneficial to all especially as officers are not 
undertaking site visits and meeting contractors on site. It allows the team to ensure 
cases are progressed in a timely manner and that the appropriate Risk 
Assessments are undertaken prior to work taking place in people’s homes. 

The team have also been working alongside the Housing Options Team, Adult 
Social Care, North Cumbria Integrated Care NHS, the Community Hospital teams 
and Copeland Borough Council to develop a Hospital Discharge protocol. The aim 
of the protocol is to develop clear pathways to ensure patients can be discharged 
from hospital to suitable accommodation as soon as they are medically fit to do so. 
This is a really important piece of work especially as we head into the winter 
months. 

As part of this work the Housing Occupational Therapist has been attending weekly 
hospital discharge meetings to improve links within the hospital, to raise awareness 
of our services and signpost cases to the relevant team within the Council i.e. the 
Housing Options team where a person has no home to return to, the Housing 
Enforcement Officer if they live in a property that is unfit or unsuitable due to 
hoarding or is filthy and verminous, or the Housing grants team where an adaptation 
is needed.  Good progress is being made and it is hope the protocol will be agree 
and in place as soon as possible. 

 
Cold to Cosy Homes Cumbria  

4.16 Cold to Cosy Homes Cumbria provides energy advice for households and can 
provide installation of a wide range of practical energy saving improvements.  The 
service is run by Cumbria Action for Sustainability (CAfS), working with strategic 
local authority partners including Allerdale. Cold to Cosy Homes Cumbria began in 

Page 23



 

 

September 2019 in Eden and South Lakeland and is now expanding from 
September 2020, making it available to people across Cumbria who meet the 
eligibility criteria. 

The aim is to help more than 4000 Cumbrian households over three years. 1400 
householders will be able to get an in-depth phone advice call as well as an optional 
home visit if needed. Cold to Cosy Homes Cumbria can also offer advice online and 
at face-to-face events. 

Any home, regardless of tenure, where any member of the household meets the 
eligibility criteria, which are based on household income and benefits, vulnerability 
and a range of health conditions. There are a number of ways to make a referral for 
eligible Cumbrian households: 

 Go to www.cosyhomes.org.uk and complete the form 

 Call on 01768 216500 and speak to a member of our Cold to Cosy Homes team 

The Housing Grants team have attended training events so are fully aware of the 
scheme and are already informing and referring Allerdale residents to the scheme. 
Information is to be added to our website, we aim to promote the scheme via social 
media and ensure staff, members and partners are aware of the scheme to ensure 
we reach as many Allerdale residents as possible.  

Community Led Housing  

4.17 Keswick Community Housing Trust are nearing completion of their latest 
Community Led Affordable Housing Scheme. The scheme will deliver four 
properties on the site of the old Methodist Chapel in Keswick for local occupancy. 

Above Derwent Community Land Trust have just started their affordable Housing 
scheme in Portinscale. The scheme will deliver four properties on the Pow Wood 
site in Portinscale for local occupancy.  

Both schemes have been supported and funded through the Community Housing 
Fund Grants awarded by Allerdale. 

5.0  Environmental Services Portfolio: Cllr Tony Markley  

 Environmental education and enforcement 

5.1 Targeted intelligence and complaint led high profile patrolling continues across the 
borough in areas with high instances of dog fouling, littering and fly tipping. 
Education and engagement using leafletting, stencilling and signage followed by 
robust enforcement and issuing Fixed Penalty Notices is proving very successful 
there has been a reduction in the level of dog fouling in particular this year.  We are 
working with Thursby residents and community leaders to tackle dog fouling in the 
area and also Silloth football club to tackle the problem of residents using the sports 
pitches to exercise their dogs. We have dealt with 2 dangerous dog complaints and 
a high number of abandoned vehicle complaints. Monitoring and patrolling hot spots 
in back lanes and at Oldside has seen a reduction in fly tipping. The team installed 
four new signs at bring sites in Silloth, Aspatria, Keswick and Cockermouth to deter 
fly tipping from business users which is an offence under duty of care legislation.  
Along with continued monitoring and engagement this has reduced fly tipping and 
business use. 

Page 24

http://www.cosyhomes.org.uk/


 

 

The Education and Enforcement Team have continued to develop their multi 
agency patrols across Allerdale. A communications strategy has been developed to 
deter environmental crime in Allerdale. Some excellent joint education initiatives 
have been delivered to promote bonfire safety in our communities with Cumbria Fire 
and Rescue, Cumbria Police and Allerdale Enforcement. The team supported and 
facilitated the Keep Great Britain Tidy campaign, 73 people got involved across ten 
separate litter picks across Allerdale – amazing achievement, well done.  

Sports grants 

5.2 The SIIF Sports grant has been popular with sports clubs and organisations working 
to increase opportunities in sport and physical activity. So far there have been 30 
applications, and 14 have been successful with a grant offer, with more still to be 
assessed.  

Allerdale Playing Pitch and Open Space Strategy  

5.3 The development of the Allerdale Playing Pitch and Open Space Strategy is 
underway with consultation taking place with all the sports clubs and stakeholders 
relevant to the six sports covered during the autumn months.  

Leisure centres 

5.4 The phased opening of the leisure centres in Cockermouth and Workington was 
proving successful with the number of users increasing weekly and retention and 
occupancy being some of the highest figures in the country across the GLL sites. 
The Wave facility was opened at the end of October, but closed on 5 November in 
line with national restrictions along with other facilities.  Keswick gym was due to 
open in November, but unfortunately did not get to reopen due to the new national 
restrictions.  

Moorclose football pitches 

5.5 Initial exploratory works have been undertaken on the Moorclose football pitches to 
look at the drainage issues. 

Running and cycling 

5.6 A parkrun route and Wheels for All cycling (satellite) club have been agreed to take 
place on the Maryport Promenade, starting in the New Year. 

Parks and open spaces projects 

5.7 Workington Leisure Centre - Outdoor Events and Activity Space: All permissions 
are in place and work on site is expected to commence during November. 

Workington Leisure Centre - Outdoor Gym: Tenders for the supply and installation 
of outdoor exercise equipment were posted on The Chest during w/c 9 November. 

Biodiversity projects: We continue with delivery of our Get Cumbria Buzzing 
projects and on the Water Environment Grant funded initiatives at Siddick Pond. 

Northside Non-statutory allotments/Community Plots: The Change of Use Planning 
application has been submitted for the northern section, with a view to the land 
being returned to public open space and integrated with Siddick Pond nature 
reserve. 

Page 25



 

 

Cumbria in Bloom Wildlife Projects Award: Workington won award for the work of 
the Workington Nature Partnership and for the work we are doing as part of “Get 
Cumbria Buzzing”. 

Fairy Path reinstatement, Maryport Seabrows: Design drawings, specification and 
contract documents are being finalised prior to going out to tender. Project is on 
track for completion this financial year.   

Cumbria Coast Community Forest: DEFRA are just at the point of committing 
around £100 million to the existing 9 community forests in England as part of their 
Nature for Climate Change investment programme and in addition to this they are 
looking for 3 new community forests. The idea of a Cumbrian Coastal Community 
Forest is building momentum and has support from some key players within the 
Community Forest network.  We participated in an initial meeting with local authority 
and other partners to establish the potential and appetite for a bid, which was 
confirmed by all. We will continue to fully engage with this process. 

6.0  Policy, Governance and People Resources Portfolio: Cllr Marion 
Fitzgerald 

 Planning policy  

6.1  The Workington Town Centre Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) was 
published for consultation in October. This document will provide further planning 
guidance for development in the town centre and supports the delivery of the Town 
Fund Investment Plan. In particular the SPD promotes improvements to the cycling 
and pedestrian networks in the town centre, the reuse and repurposing of empty 
properties for residential as well as business use, and the importance of well-
designed buildings, public realm and green infrastructure.  Specific guidance is also 
included for key development sites. The consultation closed on 4 December and a 
summary of the comments together with the final version of the SPD will be 
considered by Executive and Full Council in the New Year. 

 The Council has responded to Government’s Planning for the Future White Paper 
expressing concerns around some of the proposals including postponement of the 
payment of infrastructure levies until a development is occupied thereby forcing 
Local Authorities to borrow and to leave themselves exposed to considerable 
financial risk at a time when resources are limited.  The application of a formula 
across the country to determine the number of new homes that must be built is a 
cumbersome approach leading to disproportionate results.  The First Homes 
Initiative appears to have some merit but the temporary suspension of affordable 
homes quotas would have a profound impact on the numbers currently expected in 
Allerdale.  The White Paper is lacking in provision for green spaces within Growth 
and Renewal Zones and there is little reference to the enhancement /improvement 
of Protected Areas.  There are also concerns around the proposed introduction of a 
front loaded system where the public will be invited to contribute to the Local Plan 
but will have far less involvement in individual planning applications. 

Nuclear issues 

6.2 Our Nuclear Policy Manager, Richard Griffin, has responded on behalf of the 
Council to the Nuclear Development Agency’s (NDA) Strategy 4 Consultation.  This 
is the fourth in a series of statutory consultations conducted every five years in 

Page 26



 

 

which the NDA seeks stakeholder views on procedures and community 
engagement.  The Council has also had input into the response submitted by the 
West Cumbria Sites Stakeholder Group (WCSSG).  This is an effective means of 
ensuring that communication with the NDA remains strong and inclusive. 

 As members will be aware from a recent briefing note, progress is continuing 
towards the setting up of a Working Group that is being led by Radioactive Waste 
Management (RWM) to investigate whether or not there might be a potential site for 
a GDF within Allerdale.  The Council has not volunteered to host a GDF but has 
accepted the invitation to join the Working Group in order to be kept informed.  It is 
expected that the Working Group will be ready to launch early in the New Year.  We 
are in the process of arranging a session for all members on the work of the 
Government’s Committee on Radioactive Waste Management (CoRWM).  The 
purpose of this Committee is to provide independent advice to Government and the 
Devolved Administrations on the long term management of radioactive waste, 
including storage and disposal.  We hope to have this information session for 
councillors in the diary before Christmas. 

I attended a very interesting presentation by Rolls Royce on the future potential for 
Small Modular Reactors (SMRs) and the transformation this technology could bring 
to the industry and, perhaps, to West Cumbria. 

National policy  

6.3 At a meeting of the Industrial Communities Alliance in October, the topics under 
discussion included: 

 The distribution of a UK Shared Prosperity Fund to replace EU funding 

 Infrastructure Investment 

 Impact of the new recession 

In the shifting sands of 2020, it is difficult to predict future trajectories with any 
certainty but it was universally agreed at the meeting that all of the above must be 
linked to the Government’s levelling up agenda. 

Similarly, the Rural Services Network meeting on 12 October included a first class 
presentation on Local Government Finance in the near future, but again, this is 
subject to many variables, most of which are dependent upon future decisions 
taken by the Government. 

Canvass 2020 

6.4 The 2020 annual household canvass ended on 1 December with the publication of 
the revised Register of Electors. The is the first canvass conducted under the 
revised canvass arrangements, whereby data matching carried out nationally and 
locally determines whether a property receives a full canvass or, if we are 
reasonably certain that there have not been any changes to the household, a 
notification letter.  

 

The revised arrangements have worked extremely well, reducing the number of 
canvass forms required to be sent and therefore also reducing the number of forms 
being returned to the office. This has enabled the team to continue work mainly 
from home, with just occasional office work required to scan the returned canvass 
forms.   

Page 27



 

 

The Electoral Registration Officer took the decision not to undertake the traditional 
home visit stage of this year’s canvass because of the Covid-19 pandemic, to 
protect the safety of residents and staff, and instead to chase non 
responding households by telephone, which is permitted under the reformed 
canvass arrangements. Despite the restrictions caused by the pandemic, the 
response rate was higher than in previous years with approximately 92% of 
households responding to the canvass. This should ensure an accurate register as 
we go into the May 2021 elections.   

 

Elections 2021 

6.5 Work is now underway on planning for the 2021 elections. The 2020 Police and 
Crime Commissioner election was deferred to 6 May 2021 and will be held 
alongside the scheduled Cumbria County Council elections as well as deferred local 
by-elections. Allerdale is the Police Area Returning Officer (PARO) authority and 
therefore responsible for organising the PCC elections for the Cumbria Area Police 
Authority. A Project Board has been set up comprising the PARO, the Cumbria 
County Council Returning Officer, the South Lakeland District Council Returning 
Officer (who is managing the CCC elections) plus their respective Electoral 
Services Managers and CCC Legal officers.  

The Board has met monthly since September and has already issued a number of 
directions and advice in respect of the 2021 elections. The Board is taking 
responsibility for ensuring the safety of the elections in response to the ongoing 
Covid-19 pandemic.   

Members allowances 

6.6 The annual review of the Members Allowances Scheme is taking place soon and 
will be voted on by Council in the New Year. Members are reminded to contact the 
Democratic Services Team should they wish to make a representation to be 
considered at the meeting of the Independent Panel for Councillors Allowances on 
5 January 2021 either in person or in writing. 

 Communication and engagement 

6.7 In September, I attended the first meeting to be held in many months of the 
Cumbria Association of Local Councils (CALC).  CALC members had requested 
updates on Local Government Reform (LGR), the search for a Geological Disposal 
Facility (GDF) and the issue of footway lighting (now resolved). 

With regard to LGR, to ensure that there is information sharing across the Council, 
a cross party group of members has been set up so that the discussion can be 
extended far beyond the Executive Committee.  Over and above the invitation for all 
members to attend a briefing session on LGR, additional sessions for all members 
have taken place over recent months to discuss the Allerdale Investment 
Partnership (AIP) and plans for Workington Sports Village and how these relate to 
the Towns Fund Bid. 

A further cross party policy group has been set up to discuss the Council’s priorities 
as set out in the Council Strategy 2020-30.  The initial focus has been on ‘Resilient 
Communities’ as we continue to make our way through all the difficulties caused by 
the global pandemic. 

Page 28



 

 

The Climate Change Group is also underway and has so far started to address the 
potential to improve recycling rates across the Borough.  A carbon audit for Council 
owned properties will take place at the earliest opportunity with the support of 
Cumbria Action for Sustainability (CAfS).  Through CAfS, we have also been able to 
promote the Government’s Green Homes Grant Scheme which has made £1.5bn 
available for householders to help meet the costs of improvement schemes.  

Housing Options 

6.8 The Housing Options team continue their work in supporting an average of 25 
rough sleepers each week as part of the 'Everyone In’ initiative to accommodate 
rough sleepers through the pandemic. To put this effort into perspective the team 
would normally expect to be working with one or two clients in this category. 

As part of the government national Next Steps Accommodation Programme (NSAP) 
designed to keep rough sleepers off the streets and move them into permanent 
supported accommodation the service applied for funding to provide 15 supported 
accommodation units. Unfortunately, this bid in the first round was unsuccessful 
however, undeterred the team are having further discussions ahead of submission 
of more bids in the next round of funding.  

On a positive note, the team were successful in a bid for grant funding of £82,000 
from the NSAP to part fund temporary accommodation for clients. Working through 
the pandemic has been and remains an extremely challenging task, supporting 
individuals with wide ranging and complex needs.  The team members have 
demonstrated their professionalism, commitment and resilience working tirelessly to 
help their clients. 

Community initiatives 

6.9 The Community Lottery launch event took place on 5 October.  The focus is very 
much on helping good causes.  For every ticket purchased for £1, supporters can 
choose to donate 50 pence towards a charity of their choice as long as the charity is 
registered with the scheme.  A further 10 pence will go towards other good causes 
within Allerdale. 

At November’s meeting of the Community Safety Partnership (CSP), grant funding 
of £2000 was approved for Cumbria Alcohol and Drugs Advisory Service (CADAS) 
to implement a training programme whilst West Cumbria Neighbourhood Watch 
(WCNW) were awarded £1790 to install video doorbell systems for the protection of 
vulnerable adults. The CSP has a strong working relationship with the Local Focus 
Hubs in both Allerdale and Copeland and, as members will be aware, Emma 
Thompson, our Allerdale Hub Coordinator, now holds regular monthly updates for 
councillors. 

The Stronger Together Moorclose Group continues to meet regularly and has given 
support to local projects mainly operating from the Community Centre. 

The Allerdale Locality Children and Families group is making good progress on a 
number of fronts, having selected the following themes on which to focus and to 
improve provision where possible: 

 Under 5’s Early Help and Early Intervention 

 Youth Employment and Skills 

 Healthy Weight and Physical Activity 

Page 29



 

 

 Contraception Advice and Parenting Support for under 18 year olds 

7.0  Leisure and Tourism Portfolio: Cllr John Cook 

Tourism Breakfast Briefing 

7.1 The latest briefing to which all visitor economy businesses were invited was held 
virtually on 20 November 2020. The well received guest speakers included Graham 
Lamont of Lamont Pridmore, the award-winning accountants, tax and business 
advisers.  Graham provided expert, practical advice on the financial measures all 
businesses could implement to maximise income and reduce outgoings.  

Digital Cumbria’s Janet Addison outlined how Allerdale SME’s could tap into £5,000 
of expert advice to help them use digital technologies so they can be more 
productive and profitable. The programme is funded by the European Communities 
Regional Development Fund. 

Plans for an Allerdale Residents’ Week were well received. The plan is to 
encourage residents to patronise visitor economy businesses during a week to be 
determined in 2021 when it is safe to do so. Businesses will be encouraged to offer 
added value during the week, rather than discounts. A promotion will be run during 
the week to encourage residents to give their consent to receive follow up 
communications. Other local authorities have expressed an interest in also running 
residents' weeks in the area. This will be explored further with the neighbouring 
councils. 

Visit Allerdale Website 

7.2 Our website www.visitallerdale.co.uk has been improved to make it more accessible 
for people with impaired vision, motor difficulties, cognitive impairments or learning 
difficulties and deafness or impaired hearing. By selecting Accessibility Help in the 
top right-hand corner of a page on the website, the visitor will be presented with a 
range of functions that they can personalise to enhance their browsing experience. 
Visitors can also use the facility to translate page content into a language of their 
choice. 

Visitor numbers to the website continue to grow with a 10.6% increase over the last 
12 months. Two of the most popular pages are Solway Coast Walks and Road 
Cycling Routes in Allerdale. New content, such as Covid-safe itineraries is added 
on a regular basis. 

I encourage any elected member to let me have details of any hidden gems in their 
area that are not featured and I will ensure they are given good coverage on the 
website. 

Allonby to Silloth Cyclepath 

7.3 Work is well underway to create a new cycleway along the Solway Coast. The 
Solway Coaster project will see a 14.1km route between Allonby and Silloth created 
and join onto the already successful cycleway from Maryport to Allonby. The link 
between the towns will form part of the National Cycle Network Route 72 (Hadrian’s 
Cycleway), which runs from Ravenglass to South Shields. The track is scheduled to 
be complete in 2021. 

Page 30

http://www.visitallerdale.co.uk/


 

 

We have taken the lead on delivering the project on behalf of Silloth-on-Solway 
Coastal Community Team (CCT), a mix of public, private and community partners. 
To fund the project, CCT secured £1m from the Ministry of Housing, Communities 
and Local Government’s Coastal Communities Fund and a further £250,000 from 
DEFRA’s Rural Development Programme for England, which is part of the 
European Agricultural Fund for Rural Development. 

The path is aimed predominantly at cyclists, but the off-road sections will be multi-
functional and accommodate pedestrians as well. A total of 4.63km of the new route 
will be off road and 9.47km on road. The on - road sections of the route will utilise 
the existing carriageway and will include appropriate signage, markings and line 
painting. 

Allerdale takes centre stage 

7.4 A new movie shows Allerdale in the best possible light. Supernova starring 
Academy Award winner Colin Firth and Emmy Award winner Stanley Tucci has 
received strong reviews with key scenes filmed in an around Crummock Water and 
Buttermere. The film went on general release on 27 November 2020. 

Allerdale on film again 

7.5 Over the summer of 2020 we ran a competition for members of the public who were 
invited to tell us about their Perfect Day in Allerdale. Over 150 entries were received 
from all over the country with a winner and 6 runners-up selected. The runners-up 
received prizes provided by the competition sponsors, which included Honister and 
Keswick Brewery. The winners were filmed experiencing their Perfect Day in 
Allerdale. Fluid Productions, a Cockermouth based company, undertook the filming. 
The film, together with all of the winning itineraries, will be launched via the Visit 
Allerdale website when social distancing restrictions are next relaxed.  

Portfolio Holder visits 

7.6 I continue to make socially distanced or virtual visits to businesses and 
organisations in the leisure and visitor economy sector to listen to their ideas and 
concerns. Recent visits include Senhouse Roman Museum, Carnegie Theatre and 
Arts Centre, Lakes Escapes and Helelna Thompson Museum. 

Motor homes 

7.7 With the growth in popularity of taking holidays and short breaks in motor homes, 
we are developing a plan to encourage owners attracted to the Lake District to 
explore further afield in Allerdale. The intention is to provide better visitor 
information and information for the private sector on how to tap into this growing 
market. 

8.0  Customer Experience and Innovation Portfolio: Cllr Alan Pitcher 

Transformation Programme  

8.1 As part of our continued work transforming the Council’s operating model, we have 
continued support for remote working in almost all services including providing 
appropriate equipment, devices and increased use of cloud-based technology. The 
Programme Office has successfully attracted additional resources through internal 

Page 31



 

 

secondments and recruitment of project managers to deliver a range of projects that 
will modernise our approach to recruitment and development of staff, increase the 
flexibility of our workforce so that we can respond better to changing priorities and 
to develop a plan for our offices and other properties. 

Service Reviews 

8.2 Building on work already completed with managers and Heads of Service across 
the organisation, we have appointed a Performance and Insight Project Manager to 
conduct detailed reviews of services and then use that data and evidence to help 
improve work processes and develop a meaningful performance management 
framework to measure our effectiveness. Initial work will focus on waste services, 
parking and community services. 

Allerdale & Lakeland Lottery Project 

8.3 The launch of our community lottery last month was a huge success with over 50 
organisations already registered to benefit. Members of the public can buy a lottery 
ticket online for £1 a time, with a chance to win up to £25,000 a week. 50p from 
every ticket sold goes towards a good cause of their choice, whether that is a local 
community group, sports teams, school friends groups or charitable organisations. 
Ticket sales are live and the first draw is just before Christmas so I am encouraging 
as many groups as possible to sign up so that they can benefit from the lottery and 
raise much needed funds. Signing up is free and simple. More information can be 
found on the lottery website: https://www.allerdalelottery.com   

Enterprise Resource Planning Project 

8.4 The project to replace our current finance system with a modern ‘cloud’ based 
application has taken significant steps forward following the recent procurement of a 
provider via the Crown Commercial Service G-Cloud 12 framework. Rather than 
replacing the existing system on a like for like basis, we have opted for an 
Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) system that will drive transformational change 
by providing integrated applications to manage the business and offer greater 
opportunities to connect office functions in Finance, Payroll and HR services. 

ICT 

8.5 The ICT team have been working to realign the IT infrastructure as the business 
continues to adapt to more agile ways of working. With the majority of Allerdale staff 
now working remotely there is even more of a need for individuals to be able to 
connect to colleagues and feel part of a team and technology is key to making this 
happen. 

The introduction or Workplace as the new intranet some months ago enabled a 
completely new approach to collaboration and sharing information between teams 
and wider groups for information, wellbeing and social interactions. 

The next step has been to develop Microsoft Teams to further develop the 
collaborative working needed by a modern agile business. This month we have 
introduced Teams Calling which will become our new telephone system as we 
move away from the traditional mobile phone handset. Teams Calling gives us not 
just voice but video and chat functionality on top of the meeting features already in 
use daily. 

Page 32

https://www.allerdalelottery.com/


 

 

During this period a huge effort has gone into making sure we are PSN (Public 
Sector Network) compliant with the team working across weekends and through the 
night to ensure maintain a secure network able to link to Government systems all 
with minimal disruption to the organisation.   

An upgrade to the bereavement services system was completed successfully again 
with minimal disruption to the service and the team are now working with suppliers 
to upgrade the Comino electronic document management and records system.  
Work also continues on the Arcus project and a new customer portal for the waste 
and recycling system due to go live before Christmas.   

Customer Service 

8.6 The majority of the Customer service team continue to work from home answering 
customer telephone and on-line enquiries. The total number of customer telephone 
enquiries answered by the team between March and October has been a massive 
55,000 calls. The quarterly customer satisfaction survey for Q2 recorded that 89% 
of customers surveyed were satisfied or highly satisfied with the service.  

Work to prepare our main reception at Allerdale House and the area offices are 
being carried out so that the offices will be Covid-secure and ready to reopen once 
safe to do so. The Wigton office opened for appointments in September though 
demand for appointments has been very low. This service has had to be suspended 
for the second lockdown but will reopen once restrictions are lifted. 

There have been some more changes in the team with Emma Dawes moving 
across to support the Track and Trace team and Emma Norman moving to a new 
role as HR Admin Assistant on a 12 month secondment,  both joined Customer 
Service as apprentices and will be missed by customers and customer service 
colleagues.  

Customer Accounts 

8.7 The pandemic continues to affect the workload of the Customer Accounts teams 
with increased numbers of new claims and changes of circumstances for existing 
claimants.  

In addition to the day job the team have managed a number of Covid-related funds 
to support individuals and businesses across Allerdale. This has included the 
hardship fund, business support grants and more recently the self-isolation 
payments scheme. They are now moving on to deliver the local restrictions grants 
scheme. 

Allerdale Local Focus Hub 

8.8 The Allerdale Local Focus Hub (ALFH) is now operational from Allerdale House, 
occupying space on the first floor adjacent to Housing Options. At present the Hub 
have a case load of 37 open referrals. The referrals relate to community problems 
that require a multi-agency response. The ALFH received 17 new referrals in 
October and has also referred 17 young people to the Child Centred Policing Team 
for support during October. Multi agency activity since our last report has focused 
on community ‘Talk and Tidy’ events in priority locations, prevention and 
engagement activity in relation to bonfires, Covid-safety, and joint patrols for priority 
locations for anti-social behaviour and environmental issues. Monthly member 

Page 33



 

 

briefings started in October and this was received positively, we would encourage 
all members to attend to stay up to date with all ALFH activity. 

The ALFH Manager has supported the Every Life Matters programme and has 
secured the first wave of training for beauty salons in West Cumbria, this has now 
been delivered to a local business owner with businesses in Workington and 
Whitehaven and a roll out programme across this industry is planned. 

9.0  Finance and Legal Portfolio: Cllr Jim Lister 

 Statement of Accounts 2019-2020 

9.1 At the time of writing the audit of the Authority’s 2019-20 Statement of Accounts is 
ongoing with the audited statement of accounts scheduled to be presented to the 
Audit Committee on 24 November 2020 for approval.  

 Q2 Finance Report and Revised Revenue and Capital budgets – 2020-21 

9.2 Since the last portfolio update the finance team have been leading on the 
preparation of the quarter 2 finance report and the revised revenue and capital 
budgets for 2020-21. The associated report was presented to the Executive on 25 
November 2020. 

 New appointment within the Finance Team 

9.3 An internal appointment within the Finance Team has been made to the vacancy 
position of Finance Technical Officer. The appointment is temporary until 31 March 
2021. 

 Covid-19 local authority support grant: Tranche 4  

9.4 A further allocation of Covid-19 emergency funding of £446,161 (tranche 4) was 
announced in October bringing the total awarded to the Authority in 2020-21 to 
£1,594,228. 

 Covid-19 funding – income compensation scheme 

9.5 The finance team have also been leading on producing the Authority’s first Income 
Compensation Scheme return, which was submitted by the deadline of 8 October 
2020. The scheme provides an element of compensation for relevant sales, fees 
and charges income losses arising as a result of Covid-19 and the consequent 
reductions in economic activity. 

Audit 

9.6 At the last Audit Committee meeting on 29 September the quarter one progress 
report which included performance against the 2020/21 plan, assurance and 
consultancy activities, fraud work and agreed action follow up was agreed. 
Revenues and Benefits, ICT Phishing exercise and Cash Management were 
circulated as final audit reports. The National Fraud Initiative Main Data Matching 
Exercise is due in autumn 2020/21, the timetable for completion of the actions has 
been shared with all responsible officers for delivery of their specified data sets and 
services are on track to deliver this information in line with the deadline. There has 
been a reduction in resource within the audit department resulting from the 
Assurance Risk and Internal Auditor being deployed to the Programmes and 

Page 34



 

 

Projects team on a three month secondment and the vacant Assurance Risk and 
Audit Manager role, which is currently in the recruitment process. 

Legal 

9.7 Legislative changes have continued to be made frequently due to the Covid-19 
pandemic, which has led to a requirement for significant support for many 
departments in this regard.  This is particularly the case for Environmental Health, 
where the frequency of queries has increased as changes have been made to 
restrictions placed upon businesses.  The Team has also provided support and 
court representation in respect of a number of unlawful encampments.  Core work 
such as planning, land and property matters has also continued. 

Licensing 

9.8 The Licensing Team has provided significant support in recent weeks, in respect of 
business restrictions due to Covid-19 which affect licensed premises.  Joint visits 
have been undertaken with the police and Environmental Health, and the Team has 
been involved with the county multiagency enforcement group.  The Council’s 
Statement of Licensing Policy is currently under review and the draft has been sent 
out for consultation.  In addition, the Team has been working on the procurement 
for the taxi testing contract, as the existing contract is due to expire in January 
2021. 

Track and Trace 

9.9 The team are working incredibly hard to ensure that all positive Covid-19 cases 
living in Allerdale are contacted as well as their contacts. Due to the increase in 
cases the team are working seven days a week to ensure cases are contacted as 
soon as possible after their positive result thus helping to stop the spread of the 
virus. Where cases are not contactable by telephone the team are sending emails 
or letters to ensure that the positive case has been provided with the correct 
guidance to ensure they know what is required of them and when their isolation 
period ends. 

A number of outbreaks have been identified in local businesses and the team have 
provided advice, guidance and support to these businesses.  

The success of the Local Cumbria Track and Trace team has been highlighted 
nationally when a member of the Allerdale team was interviewed for an article in the 
Sunday Times, a feature on the World this Weekend on BBC Radio 4 and locally on 
BBC Look North.  

Food and Occupational Health  

9.10 The Food and Occupational Health team continue to take the lead on the 
enforcement of the sweep of Coronavirus Regulations which are in place and to 
support local businesses. One of the main challenges for the team is to keep 
abreast of the ever changing Regulations and guidance that comes into place. The 
support provided by the Food and Occupational Health team has been around 
providing advice and guidance to businesses on how to operate safely, what 
controls and measures would be appropriate to put in place for that business as 
each business is unique, helping businesses understand the legislation and dealing 
with complaints relating to Covid-19.   

Page 35



 

 

During October, the team carried out 336 site visits to check compliance, provided 
(mainly by a site visit) 377 lots of advice, and contacted 154 outlying businesses to 
help businesses understand the changes and offer support. Advisory letters have 
also been sent to travel companies and takeaways.  

The team continues to work closely with the Police and have undertaken a number 
of joint visits to deal with complaints about non-compliant businesses and joint visits 
have also been carried out with the Police at social clubs and public houses where 
it has been more difficult for these businesses to comply. The Food and 
Occupational Health team also supports the Track and Trace team. 

10.0  Delivery arrangements 

10.1 Not applicable to this report. 

11.0 Implications and Impact 

11.1 Contribution to Council Strategy Priorities, Outputs and Outcomes  

This is an update on Portfolio activity in line with the Council’s priorities as set out in 
the Council Strategy 2020-2030. 

11.2 Finance/Resource implications 

 None directly associated with this report. 

11.3 Legal and governance implications  

 None directly associated with this report. 

11.4 Risk analysis 

 Not applicable to this report. 

11.5 Increasing satisfaction and service 

None directly associated with this report.   

11.6 Equality impacts 

 None directly associated with this report. 

11.7 Health and Safety impacts 

None directly associated with this report. 

11.8 Health, wellbeing and community safety impacts 

None directly associated with this report. 

11.9 Environmental/sustainability impacts 

None directly associated with this report. 

11.10 Other significant implications 

None. 
 

Page 36



 

 

Appendices attached to this report 

 

Appendix number Title of appendix 

None  

 

Background documents available 

 

Name of background document Where it is available 

None  

 
Report author(s) and contact officer(s): 
Alex FitzGerald 
Policy Manager (Corporate, Performance and Information) 
alex.fitzgerald@allerdale.gov.uk 
01900 702719  

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 38



At a meeting of the Executive held on a Zoom Virtual Meeting on Wednesday 2 
September 2020 at 4.00 pm 
 
Members 
 
Councillor Mike Johnson (Chair)  
Councillor John Cook Councillor Marion Fitzgerald 
Councillor Jim Lister Councillor Alan Pitcher 
 
Apologies for absence were received from  Councillor Anthony Markley 
 
 
Staff Present 
 
B Carlin, W Collins, A Gilbert, N Hardy, K Kerrigan, C Nicholson, G Roach, A Seekings, 
S Sewell, P Wood and P Young 
 

 
114. Minutes  

 
The minutes of the meeting held on the 15 July 2020 were agreed as a correct 
record. 
 

115. Declaration of Interests  
 
None declared. 
 

116. Questions  
 
None received. 
 

117. Members' Announcements  
 
None received. 
 

118. Quarter 1 Performance Report 2020/21  
 
The subject of the decision 
 
The Policy Manager (Corporate, Performance and Information) submitted a 
report which sought to advise members on the Council’s performance at the 
end of Quarter 1 2020/21 as measured by projects/activities and Key 
Performance Indicators. 
 
The Council was on track with 33 of its 39 key projects/activities, 5 areas were 
showing amber, close to target but may require some action to improve 
performance and 1 was showing significantly worse than target. 
 
Councillor M Fitzgerald moved that the report be noted; this was seconded by 
Councillor A Pitcher. The motion was unanimously agreed. 
 
 

Page 39

Agenda Item 10



Alternative options considered 
 
None 
 
The reason for the decision 
 
To advise Members of the Council’s performance at the end of Quarter 1 
2020/21. 
 
The decision 
 
Resolved 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

119. Regulation of Investigation Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) - Review of RIPA 
Policy and Guidance  
 
The subject of the decision 
 
The Head of Governance and Regulatory Services submitted a report which 
sought members approval of a review of the RIPA Policy and Guidance to 
ensure the council continues to comply with its legal obligations. 
 
 
Councillor M Fitzgerald moved the motion as set out in the report; this was 
seconded by Councillor M Johnson. The motion was unanimously agreed. 
 
Alternative options considered 
 
The Policy and Guidance must comply with the relevant legislation and 
guidance. 
 
The reason for the decision 
 
The RIPA Policy and Guidance should be regularly reviewed to ensure that the 
Council complies with the relevant legal obligations under RIPA and national 
guidance. 
 
The decision 
 
Resolved 
 
That the RIPA Policy and Guidance at Appendix 1 to the report be approved. 
 

120. Local Government Reorganisation and Devolution  
 
The subject of the decision 
 
The Head of Strategy, Policy and Performance submitted a report which sought 
to inform members of discussions and actions taken place to date and to 
provide some indication as to the next phases of the process.  

Page 40



 
 
Councillor M Johnson moved the recommendations in the report; this was 
seconded by Councillor J Cook. The motion was unanimously agreed. 
 
Alternative options considered 
 
Members could choose not to explore the proposition of Local Government 
Reorganisation and Devolution in Cumbria further at this time.  
 
The reason for the decision 
 
To note discussions and actions taken to date and to understand the next 
phases of the process. 
 
The decision 
 
Resolved 
 
That Members noted the information contained within the report and agreed to: 
 
a) work with one or more of the Cumbrian Authorities to submit proposals 

alongside a financial case and proposed timetable; 
b) the allocation of resources to support the project; 
c) allocate £25,000 from contingencies to support the project and delegate 

the use of the resources to the Head of Strategy, Policy and 
Performance in consultation with the Deputy Leader of the Council; 

d) the appointment of a member working group or Joint Committee (Council 
approval required) where considered necessary to oversee the 
development of the necessary documents required to form a proposal; 

e) the appointment of a project team to undertake the process of pulling 
together proposals, appointing consultants and developing the proposals 
under the management and oversight of the Chief Executive; 

f) delegate authority to the Chief Executive to enter into a Memorandum of 
agreement or similar agreement with one or more of the Cumbrian 
authorities as necessary. 

 
121. Approval of Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Executive protocol  

 
The subject of the decision 
 
The Policy Officer (Scrutiny and Partnerships) submitted a report which sought 
members approval of the draft protocol between Executive and Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee. 
 
Councillor M Fitzgerald moved the motion; this was seconded by Councillor J 
Lister. The motion was unanimously agreed. 
 
Alternative options considered 
 
Not to approve the proposed draft protocol or to make further amendments. 
 

Page 41



The reason for the decision 
 
To approve the proposed Protocol for Executive and Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee members.  
 
The decision 
 
Resolved 
 
That the draft Protocol for Executive and Overview and Scrutiny Committee be 
approved. 
 

122. Finance System Replacement - Award of Contract  
 
This item was deferred for further information. 
 

123. Update on Financial Impact of Covid-19  
 
The subject of the decision 
 
The Head of Financial Services submitted a report which sought to provide 
members with an update on the financial implications from Covid-19 on the 
authority. 
 
Councillor M Fitzgerald moved the recommendations in the report; this was 
seconded by Councillor J Lister. The motion was unanimously agreed. 
 
Alternative options considered 
 
The Council has several key officer groups that meet frequently to evaluate and 
respond to the latest Covid-19 developments. 
 
The reason for the decision 
 
Covid-19 has had a significant adverse effect on the economy and public 
finances and presented unprecedented challenges for the authority, its 
residents and its businesses. The report provided an update on the financial 
implications for the authority. 
 
The decision 
 
Resolved 
 
That –  
 

1. The report be noted 
2. The position be reviewed by members on a monthly basis and delegated 

authority be given for the S151 to release additional sums from General 
Fund balances to address the budget position. 

 
The meeting closed at 4.30 pm 
 

Page 42



At a meeting of the Executive held in Zoom Virtual Meeting on Wednesday 14 October 
2020 at 4.00 pm 
 
Members 
 
Councillor Mike Johnson (Chair)  
Councillor John Cook Councillor Marion Fitzgerald 
Councillor Jim Lister Councillor Anthony Markley 
Councillor Alan Pitcher  
 
 
Staff Present 
 
B Carlin, A Gilbert, N Hardy, L Jardine, K Kerrigan, C Nicholson, G Roach, A Seekings, 
S Sewell, G Wilson and P Wood 
 

 
153. Minutes  

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 2 September 2020 were agreed as a 
correct record. 
 

154. Declaration of Interests  
 
None declared. 
 

155. Questions  
 
None received. 
 

156. Members' Announcements  
 
None received. 
 

157. Finance Report April to July 2020  
 
The subject of the decision 
 
The Head of Financial Services submitted a report which sought to inform 
Members on the Council’s financial performance against budget for the period 
April to July 2020 along with the forecast position to 31 March 2021. 
 
Members noted the headline messages at the end of quarter one 2020/21, 
being: 
 
 Revenue Budget 

 Expenditure from the revenue budget, excluding projects funded 
from earmarked reserves, was forecast to exceed budget by 
£3,151k  

 After taking in to account the additional Covid-19 funding received 
of £1,148k, plus an estimate of the amount to be received 
under the income guarantee scheme of £1,471k, the 

Page 43



projected outturn position would require a contribution of 
£532k from General balances to meet the forecast net 
overspend 

 Earmarked Reserves Budget 

 Following publication of the 2019-20 outturn position, the 
budgeted use of Reserves in 2020-21 increased to reflect the 
re-profiling of expenditure across financial years 

 There was a favourable variance projected against this updated 
budget of £1k 

 Capital Budget 

 Expenditure from the capital budget was forecast to overspend by 
£181k 

Treasury Management 

 Treasury management activities during the period were carried out 
in accordance with the Council’s treasury management and 
investment strategies and within the limits established by the 
approved treasury and prudential indicators for 2019-20 

 No new external borrowing was undertaken during the four 
months ending 31 July 2020. 

 
Councillor J Lister moved that the report be noted; this was seconded by 
Councillor M Fitzgerald. The motion was unanimously agreed. 
 
Alternative options considered 
 
None 
 
The reason for the decision 
 
To inform Members on the Council’s financial performance against budget for 
the period April to July 2020 along with the forecast position to 31 March 2021. 
 
The decision 
 
Resolved 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

158. Reedlands Business Park  
 
The subject of the decision 
 
The Programme Director, Workington submitted a report which sought 
members to approve the discontinuation of the Reedlands Business Park 
project. 
 
Councillor M Johnson moved the recommendation; this was seconded by 
Councillor T Markley. The motion was unanimously agreed. 
 
Alternative options considered 
 
To continue with the project and approve the additional budget requirement; 

Page 44



 
To discontinue the project and not proceed with the construction phase. 
 
Reason for the decision 
 
Following subsequent ground investigation works which had identified 
underlying mine workings, buried obstructions and extremely poor ground 
conditions on site, forecast project costs had increased significantly. 
The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) had 
confirmed that no additional ERDF funding was available. 
 
The decision 
 
Resolved 
 
That the discontinuation of the project be approved with further discussions to 
be held with MHCLG around the grant clawback position. 
 

159. Workington Town Deal  
 
The subject of the decision 
 
The Programme Director, Workington submitted a report which asked members 
to consider and approve the draft Town Investment Plan for Workington. 
 
Councillor M Johnson moved the recommendations in the report; this was 
seconded by Councillor A Pitcher. The motion was unanimously agreed. 
 
Alternative options considered 
 
Not to submit a Town Investment Plan 
 
Reason for the decision 
 
To consider the draft Town Investment Plan for Workington which set out the 
proposals for a number of key projects for which funding was sought as part of 
the Governments Town Deal announced by the Prime Minister in July 2019. 
 
The decision 
 
Resolved 
 
That –  
 

1. The draft Town Investment Plan for Workington be approved in principle; 
 

2. The final approval and submission of the Town Investment Plan be 
delegated to the Chief Executive and Deputy Leader of the Council, in 
consultation with the Chair of the Workington Town Deal Board. 

 
 
 

Page 45



160. Workington Town Centre Supplementary Planning Document  
 
The subject of the decision 
 
The Head of Strategy, Policy and Performance submitted a report which sought 
members to consider and approve publishing the draft Workington Town Centre 
Supplementary Planning Document for consultation. 
 
Councillor M Fitzgerald moved the recommendation; this was seconded by 
Councillor J Cook. The motion was unanimously agreed. 
 
Alternative options considered 
 
Not to produce a supplementary planning document 
 
Reason for the decision 
 
To consider publishing the draft Workington Town Centre Supplementary 
Planning Document for consultation 
 
The decision 
 
Resolved 
 
That the draft Workington Town Centre Supplementary Planning Document, as 
set out in Appendix 1 of the report, be published for consultation for a period of 
six weeks. 
 

161. Making a Public Spaces Protection Order relating to Dog Fouling  
 
The subject of the decision 
 
The Legal Officer submitted a report which sought member’s approval of a 
Public Spaces Protection Order for the regulation and power for the Council to 
issue fixed penalty notices for those who fail to clean up after their dog. 
 
Councillor T Markley moved the recommendation in the report; this was 
seconded by Councillor M Fitzgerald. The motion was unanimously agreed.  
 
Alternative options considered 
 
Not to make an order and/or to embark on another consultation exercise 
however, the existing order will lapse and the power to take enforcement action 
would not be available until an order was made at a later date.  
 
Reason for the decision 
 
The existing order for the regulation and power for the Council to issue fixed 
penalty notices for those who fail to clean up after their dog was to expire on 20 
October 2020. 
 
 

Page 46



The decision 
 
Resolved 
 
That the making of the Order, as set out in Appendix 4 of the report, be 
approved. 
 

The meeting closed at 4.38 pm 
 

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 48



Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Council – 9 December 2020 
 

Recommendations Referred to Council 
 

Quarter 2 Finance Report and Revised Budget 2020-21 
 

 
The following recommendation has been referred to Council by Executive 
held on the 25 November 2020. It is for Council to consider its response. 
 
 
 
Recommended –  
 
That Council be requested to agree that –  

 

 The forecasted position against the original revenue and capital 
budgets at the end of quarter 2 be noted 

 The revised budget (inclusive of spend from earmarked reserves) of 
£19,580k be approved 

 The revised net revenue budget requirement of £18,105k be approved 

 An additional release from the Council’s earmarked reserves of 
£2,845k be approved 

 A contribution from the Council’s General Fund of £33k be approved 

 The revised three year capital budget (including proposed financing) of 
£15,997k comprising £11,629k in 2020-21, £2,724k in 2021-22 and 
£1,644k in 2022-23 be approved  

 The revised position on earmarked and un-earmarked general fund 
balances be noted.  
 

 
 
 
 

G Roach 
Democratic and Support Services Manager 

Page 49

Agenda Item 11



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 50



Allerdale Borough Council 

Executive - 25 November 2020 

Council - 9 December 2020 

 

Quarter 2 Finance Report and Revised Budget 2020-21 

 

Portfolio holder Councillor Jim Lister 

 PH Finance and Legal 

Report from Catherine Nicholson, Head of Financial Services  

 telephone no: 01900-702503  
 email: catherine.nicholson@allerdale.gov.uk  

Wards affected   All 

Is this a key decision  Yes 

 

1.0  The reason for the decision 

1.1 To inform members of financial performance against budget for the period April to 
September 2020 and seek approval for the revised revenue and capital budgets for 
2020-21. 

2.0  Recommendations 

2.1 Members are recommended to: 

i. note the forecasted position against the original revenue and capital 
budgets at the end of quarter 2 

ii. approve the revised budget (inclusive of spend from earmarked reserves) of 
£19,580k 

iii. approve the revised net revenue budget requirement of £18,105k 

iv. approve an additional release from the Council’s earmarked reserves of 
£2,845k 

v. approve a contribution from the Council’s General Fund of £33k 

vi. approve the revised three year capital budget (including proposed 
financing) of £15,997k, comprising £11,629k in 2020-21, £2,724k in 2021-
22 and £1,644k in 2022-23 

vii. note the revised position on earmarked and un-earmarked general fund 
balances.  

 

Page 51



3.0  Executive Summary  

3.1 This report summarises the Council’s financial performance against budget for the 
period April to September 2020 and seeks approval for the revised revenue and 
capital Budgets for 2020-21. 

Quarter 2 – Monitoring position 

3.2 The headline messages at the end of quarter 2 of 2020-21 are: 

 Revenue Budget 

(i) Against the original budget expenditure on services of £15,260k, the 
Council is currently projecting an overspend of £2,850k. 

(ii) After accounting for an increase of £2,812k in income from Taxation 
and Government Grants, comprising £1,594k emergency Covid-19 
funding receivable from central government and a forecast of £1,218k 
receivable under the government’s income guarantee scheme, the 
projected outturn position will require a contribution from the Council’s 
General Fund reserves of £38k. 

 Earmarked Reserves Budget 

(iii) Following publication of the 2019-20 outturn position, the budgeted use 
of Reserves was increased from £190k to £1,855k to reflect the profiling 
of expenditure presented as part of that report.  

(iv) A variance of £380k (underspend) is projected against this updated 
budget. 

 Capital Budget 

(v) The capital budget is forecast to be underspent by £9.086 million. 

(vi) The forecast underspend will be reduced by re-profiling £5.788 million 
of the budget to subsequent financial years, leaving an underspend 
(residual variance) of £3.298 million.  

Treasury Management 

(vii) Treasury management activities during the quarter were carried out in 
accordance with the Council’s treasury management and investment 
strategies and within the limits established by the approved treasury 
and prudential indicators for 2020-21. 

(viii) No new external borrowing was undertaken during the three months 
ending 30 September 2020. 

 
  

Page 52



Revised Revenue and Capital Budgets  

Revised revenue Budget  

3.3 On 4 March 2020, Council approved a revenue budget for 2020-21 comprising:  

 total planned revenue expenditure of £15,450k, including parish precepts 
of £2,458k 

 a net budget requirement of £15,260k, including planned use of 
earmarked balances of £190k. 

3.4 To address budget pressures and savings identified through in-year budget 
monitoring and update the planned use of earmarked reserves, the revised revenue 
budget proposal set out in this report includes: 

 a £4,130k increase in planned revenue expenditure, compared with the 
original 2020-21 revenue budget, increasing the total (including parish 
precepts of £2,458k) from £15,450k to £19,580k 

 an increase in planned use of earmarked reserves (compared to the 
original budget) of £1,285k (£380k decrease compared to the re-profiled 
post 2019-20 outturn total of £1,855k) 

 an increase in the net budget requirement of £2,845k from £15,260k to 
£18,105k (including planned use of earmarked balances of £1,475k).  

3.5  The changes to the 2020-21 Net Service Expenditure Budget of £2,845k comprise: 

 recurring (net growth) adjustments, impacting on the Council’s base 
budget of £149k.  

 non-recurring adjustments (net growth) of £2,696k.  

3.6 These changes:  

 increase the Council’s recurring (base) budget from £12,240k to £12,389k; 
and 

 increase the Net Service Expenditure budget for 2019-20 from £12,802k to 
£15,647k. 

Revised Capital Budget  

3.7 In March 2020, Council approved a three year capital budget of £16,440k 
(comprising £13,295k in 2020-21, £1,611k in 2021-22 and £1,534k in 2022-23), 
financed as follows: 

 capital grants and contributions - £8,365k (including £5,880k in 2020-21) 

 capital receipts - £572k  

 general fund balances - £9k 

 borrowing and credit arrangements - £7,494k (including £6,834k in 2020-21) 

 

 

Page 53



3.8  The capital budget was subsequently increased to £17,835k to reflect the addition 
of budget carried forward from 2019-20 of £1,395k. The capital budget carried 
forward comprises £314k financed from grants, £336k from capital receipts and 
£89k from General Fund Balances. The remaining £656k comprises planned capital 
expenditure that will be met from borrowing. 

3.9 The proposed revised capital budget for the three years 2020-21 to 2022-23 is 
£15,997k. The revised budget includes:  

 re-profiling adjustments involving the transfer of previously approved 
expenditure to subsequent financial years; this includes the transfer of £647k 
of expenditure and associated financing from 2020-21 to 2021-22 and 2022-
23 year in line with current expenditure forecasts 

 growth bids of £1,515k (£859k in 2020-21, £372k in 2021-22 and £284k in 
2022-23),  

 budget savings bids (associated with reported forecast variances at 30 
September) of £3,353k, including savings of £3,273k in 2020-21 

3.10  The revised capital budget is funded as follows:  

 capital grants and contributions - £8,103k 

 capital receipts - £908k 

 general fund balances - £94k 

 borrowing and credit arrangements - £6,892k 

Impact on General Fund Balances 

3.11  The proposed changes to the 2020-21 revenue and capital budgets will result in a 
net contribution to (un-earmarked) general fund balances of £40k. This compares 
with a net contribution from general fund balances of £98k included in the original 
budget for 2020-21. The net change in the planned use of general fund balances of 
£138k comprises: 

 £167k release of previously earmarked reserves back to the general fund 

 a reduction of £4k in the planned use of general fund balances to finance the 
capital programme  

 a contribution from the general fund of £33k to support the revised 2020-21 
revenue budget.  

4.0  Background and Introduction 

4.1 This report summarises the Council’s financial performance against budget for the 
period April to September 2020 and seeks members’ approval for the revised 
revenue and capital budgets for 2020-21.  

Financial performance against budget for the period April to September 2020 

4.2 The Council’s financial regulations require the Section 151 Officer (Head of 
Financial Services) to report regularly (at least quarterly), to Executive, the latest 
financial position against budget. 

Page 54



4.3 This report outlines for both the Council’s Revenue budget (section 5) and Capital 
budget (section 7), the forecast outturn for 2020-21 based on net expenditure to the 
end of September 2020 and the projected net expenditure to 31 March 2021. 

4.4 Reasons for significant variances (+/- £30k) between the full year forecast and the 
approved estimates (original budget) for 2020-21, are summarised in this report 
alongside details of how these variances have been addressed in preparing the 
revised budget.  

4.5 This report also provides: 

 details of forecast expenditure on projects funded from earmarked 
reserves (section 5) 

 a summary forecast income from business rates, council tax and non- 
specific (un-ringfenced) grants (section 5)  

 a summary of the impact of the forecast outturn position on earmarked 
reserves and general fund balances (section 9)  

 details of treasury management activity and confirmation of compliance 
with the Treasury and Prudential Indicators included in the Council’s 
Treasury Management Strategy Statement (section 10). 

 Revised Budget 

4.6 The Council has a statutory responsibility (under the Local Government Finance Act 
1992) to set a balanced budget for each financial year. This means the Council’s 
expenditure on services must be contained within the available funding envelope. 
The Council’s 2020-21 (original) revenue and capital budgets were approved by 
Council on 4 March 2020. 

4.7 The financial management approach agreed by Members in 2012-13 also requires 
the Council to prepare a revised budget that takes into consideration, the outputs 
and findings of in-year financial monitoring procedures and quarterly financial 
reporting to the Council’s Executive. This approach allows for more accurate 
monitoring of expenditure and enables the Council’s Executive to approve revisions 
and supplementary estimates. 

4.8 Since the Council approved its Revenue and Capital Budgets for 2020-21 the 
ongoing Covid-19 pandemic has had a significant impact on the Council’s finances. 

4.9 In particular, the Council has experienced significant income variances against 
budget. The Government introduced a compensation scheme to help counter some 
of these variances, however full losses are not recoverable and not all income 
streams are eligible under the scheme. A summary of the scheme is provided at 
paragraph 5.17.  

4.10  Monthly returns continue to be completed and submitted to MHCLG on the financial 
impact of the Covid-19 pandemic and officers continue to monitor the financial 
position on a monthly basis. 

4.11 During the course of the pandemic, there has been no certainty around the level of 
funding expected to be received from the government making it very difficult to 

Page 55



forecast the overall impact on the council’s current year finances and its longer term 
financial plans.  

4.12 As part of the revised budget process, a series of budget review meetings have 
been held with the purpose of: 

 reviewing the financial position against budget after the first six months of the 
financial year, focusing in particular on the impact of the pandemic and 
measures introduced to control transmission of the virus 

 identifying any large variances against budget 

 considering these variances and approving any necessary revisions or 
supplementary budgets. 

4.13 This report sets out the Council’s proposed: 

 revised revenue budget for 2020-21 (section 6), and 

 revised capital budget for the three year period 2019-20 to 2021-22 
(section 8). 

5.0  Summary of Projected Revenue Outturn Position 

5.1 Table 1 shows, as at the end of September 2020, the Council's overall projected 
2020-21 revenue outturn position. It shows:  

Revenue Budget Expenditure 

 net budgeted expenditure of £15.26 million 

 a projected outturn (including contributions to reserves) of £18.1 million 

 a projected variance (overspend) against the net service expenditure budget 
for the year to March 2020 of £2.85 million, underpinned by the impact of the 
Covid-19 pandemic on many of the Authority’s largest income streams 
including parking, commercial rents, trade waste and recycling and planning, 
and by its impact on the delivery of planned savings associated with the 
Authority’s transformation and efficiency programmes  

 net of income from Taxation & Government Grants, the overspend on 
services will result in a net contribution from balances of £38k.   

Earmarked Reserves Budget 

 budgeted expenditure of £1.86 million  

 a projected outturn of £1.48 million 

 a projected underspend against the earmarked reserves budget (updated to 
reflect the 2019-20 outturn position) of £380k, reflecting changes in the 
anticipated timing of expenditure from reserves. 

 

 

 
 

 

 

Page 56



Table 1 - Summary of Projected Revenue Outturn against Budget 

 
Original 
Budget 

£’000 

Projected 
Outturn 

£’000 

Projected 
Variance 

£’000 

Report 
Ref. 

Net Expenditure on Services 12,802 15,652 2,850  

Parish Precepts 2,458 2,458 0  

Net Expenditure on Services  15,260 18,110 2,850 5.2 

Expenditure on Earmarked Priorities1 1,855 1,475 (380) 5.4 

Total Net Expenditure  17,155 19,585 2,470  

Less: Planned use of earmarked balances1  (1,855) (1,475) 380 5.4 

Net Budget Requirement/ Outturn 15,260 18,110 2,850  

Funding:     

Taxation & Government Grants 15,260 18,072 2,812 5.8 

Contribution from/(to) General Fund 0 38 38  

Total Funding 15,260 18,110 2,850  

1 £190k (original budget) plus £1,665k re-profiling adjustment to reflect 2019-20 revenue outturn 

5.2 A breakdown of the overall projected outturn variance (£2,850k) by portfolio is 
shown in Table 2. Further details can be found in Appendix A. 

Table 2 – Summary of variance by Portfolio 

 
Annual 
Budget 

Projected 
Outturn 

Planned 
Contribution 
to reserves  

Projected 
Variance 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Economic Growth, Community 
Development & Placemaking 

(217) 638 25 880 

Finance & Legal 4,958 4,681 0 (277) 

Environmental Services 2,726 4,633 0 1,907 

Policy, Governance & People 
Resources 

2,749 2,672 40 (37) 

Leisure & Tourism 324 277 0 (47) 

Customer Experience & 
Innovation 

2,262 2,686 0 424 

Parish Precepts 2,458 2,458 0 0 

Total 15,260 18,045 65 2,850 

5.3 Significant variances between budget and projected outturn have been 
addressed through the revised budget. Explanations for significant variances are 
included within the revised budget proposals set out in section 6. 

 

Page 57



Projects funded from Earmarked Reserves  

5.4 At 1 April 2020, the balance in earmarked reserves was £3,248k, comprising: 

 £1,948k held for service expenditure 

 £1,300k held for accounting purposes or as contingency against specified 
risks.  

5.5 Against the balance of £1,948k, the profiled spend identified for 2020-21 is £1,855k. 
The remaining balance is profiled to be spent in subsequent financial years.  

5.6 The current projected outturn for 2020-21 is £1,475k, giving a projected underspend 
of £380k at the end of quarter 2. This reflects a change in the anticipated timing of 
expenditure from the balances available within earmarked reserves and is 
accounted for within the revised budget by way of a re-profiling adjustment. The 
reported underspend does not have any impact on the (un-earmarked) general fund 
balance.  

 

Table 3 - Summary of Projected Expenditure from Earmarked Reserves 

Reserve Funded projects  

Reserve  
Balance 

1-4-2020 

Profiled  
Budget 
2020-21 

Projected 
outturn 

Variance 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Economic Growth, Community 
Development & Placemaking 

650 604 582 (22) 

Finance & Legal 215 250 140 (110) 

Environmental Services 439 404 399 (5) 

Policy, Governance & People Resources 305 305 106 (199) 

Leisure & Tourism 61 61 61 0 

Customer Experience & Innovation 278 231 187 (44) 

Total held for service expenditure 1,948 1,855 1,475 (380) 

Accounting/Contingency reserves 1,300 0 0 0 

Total Reserves 3,248 1,855 1,475 (380) 

 

5.7 In addition to the £1,475k projected outturn expenditure, £167k will be released 
back to the un-earmarked General Fund. A summary of projected movements on 
earmarked reserves is set out in section 9. 

Taxation and Non-specific grant income 

5.8 Details of the Council’s forecast taxation and non-specific grant income and 
expenditure for the year, compared with budget, are shown in the following table. 
This includes income received from: 

 Non-ring fenced government grants such as Revenue Support Grant and 
New Homes Bonus   

 Council tax and Non Domestic Rates (NNDR). 

 

Page 58



Table 4 -Taxation and Non-specific grant income 

 Budget  

 

£’000 

Forecast 

Outturn 

£’000 

Variance 

 

£’000 

Revenue support grant 199 199 0 

Rural Services Delivery Grant 326 326 0 

New Homes Bonus 606 606 0 

Council tax - excluding parish element 5,400 5,400 0 

Council tax – parish element 2,458 2,458 0 

Collection fund surplus/(deficit) - Council Tax  21 21 0 

NNDR funding (see table 11) 6,250 6,250 0 

Other Grants - Covid-19 emergency funding 0 1,594 1,594 

Other - Covid-19 income guarantee 0 1,218 1,218 

 15,260 18,072 2,812 

 NNDR Funding (business rates) 

5.9 The amount of NNDR income available to the general fund and taken into account 
when setting the budget each year is based on the figures contained in the 
government return - NNDR1.  

5.10 Although the NNDR1 form fixes a significant portion of NNDR income available to 
the Council’s general fund for the financial year, it does not fix:  

 the levy the Council pays to the Cumbria business rates pool  

 the retained levy that the Council receives back from the pool or  

 the grant it receives from central government to compensate for certain 
business rate reliefs (section 31 grant) 

 the balance of amount payable or receivable in respect of the preceding 
years disregarded income (renewable energy reconciliation adjustment). 

5.11 Amounts relating to levy payments and section 31 grant are based on the Collection 
Fund outturn position rather than on the estimates included in the NNDR 1 return. 
The retained levy also takes into account the Collection Fund outturn positions of 
other pool members. As a consequence, the amount of income the Council receives 
and pays in relation to these items is subject to change over the course of the 
financial year. The renewable energy reconciliation adjustment is based on the 
previous year’s outturn position. 

5.12 The composition of funding available from business rates in 2020-21, including 
related s31 grants is summarised in table 5.  

 

 

 

 

Page 59



  Table 5 - NNDR (business rates) funding 2020-21  

Funding element 

Approved 

Budget 
£’000 

Projected 
Outturn 

£’000 

Variance  

 

£’000 

Fixed Elements:    

Allerdale Share of NNDR Income  11,168 11,168 0 

Renewable Energy ‘disregard’ retained  522 522 0 

Net tariff payable to Central Government (7,418) (7,418) 0 

Share of estimated collection fund surplus 138 138 0 

‘Fixed’ element of NNDR income 4,410 4,410 0 

Variable Elements:    

Reconciliation adjustment (prior year disregarded income) (9) (7) 2 

Section 31 grant  2,298 8,498 6,200 

Levy payable (net of reduction under pool arrangements) (449) (491) (42) 

Variable element of NNDR income 1,840 8,000 6,160 

Total Fixed & Variable Elements 6,250 12,410 6,160 

Transfer to Earmarked Reserve 0 (6,160) (6,160) 

Net Credit to the General Fund 6,250 6,250 0 

5.13 During 2020-21, a number of additional and extended business rates reliefs have 
been introduced in response to the Covid-19 pandemic (including, in particular, the 
increased and expanded retail discount scheme). This has resulted in a significant 
reduction in the amount of business rates expected to be collected from ratepayers 
in 2020-21. 

5.14 The Authority is compensated for this loss in business rates income by way of 
additional section 31 grant payable in 2020-21. Based on the latest forecasts this 
has increased the expected amount of s31 grant receivable in 2020-21 by an 
estimated £6.2m. However, because the demand on the Collection Fund in respect 
of business rates is fixed prior to the start of the financial year, the full impact of the 
cost of these additional and extended reliefs (i.e. the Authority's share of the 
collection fund deficit generated by the additional reliefs granted) and compensated 
through payment of s31 grant, will not be borne by the general fund until 2021-22. 
To offset the significant fall in business rates income in 2021-22, generated by the 
need to repay the collection fund deficit when setting the 2021-22 revenue budget, 
the additional s31 grant received in the current financial year (net of changes to the 
net levy payment and prior year disregard) will be transferred to an earmarked 
reserve in 2020-21 and released in 2021-22 to offset the reduction in business rates 
income.  

5.15   Other variances in respect of business rates income comprise: 

 a £42k increase in the estimated amount of levy (net of reduction under 
pool arrangements) the Council expects to pay, based on current forecasts 
of the Collection Fund outturn positions of pool members 

  an adjustment of £2k in the amount repayable in respect of the preceding 
years disregarded income (renewable energy) following confirmation of 
the 2019-20 outturn position. 

Page 60



 Covid-19 funding - emergency funding tranches 2, 3 and 4 (£1,594k) 

5.16 During the current financial year the Authority has received emergency funding from 
the government totalling £1,148,067 in the form of unringfenced grants to meet 
urgent and unforeseen costs and other financial pressures arising from the Covid-
19 pandemic. A further allocation of £446,161 (tranche 4) was announced in 
October bringing the total awarded to the Authority in 2020-21 to £1,594,228.  

  Covid-19 funding - income guarantee scheme (£1,218k) 

5.17 In July, the government announced an income guarantee scheme, under which 
authorities will be compensated for 75% of losses of income from sale, fees and 
charges - for example, car parking charges - arising as a result of Covid-19 and the 
consequent reductions in economic activity. Under the scheme, authorities are 
required to absorb losses of up to 5% of their planned sales, fees and charges 
income, with the government compensating them for 75% of the losses in excess of 
the 5% threshold. Crucially however, commercial revenues, including rental 
amounts, are not considered relevant losses and will not be compensated for under 
this scheme. 

5.18 The amount receivable by the Authority under the income guarantee scheme is 
based on actual irrecoverable losses incurred, compared to the budgets set by the 
Authority for eligible income streams. The amount receivable will therefore be 
subject to change over the course of the financial year as the full extent of 
irrecoverable revenue losses emerge.  

5.19 At the end of September 2020, the estimated amount of compensation receivable 
under the scheme for the year to March 2021, based on forecast (net) losses 
associated with eligible income streams, is £1,218k. This compares with an 
estimate of £1,471k at the end of July. The decrease of £253k reflects a reduction in 
the estimated net irrecoverable losses and is largely offset by a corresponding 
increase in expected income receivable from fees and charges.   

  Key Variances 

5.20 Significant variances between budget and projected outturn have been addressed 
through the revised budget. A summary of projected outturn variances and 
associated changes included in the revised budget, are set out in table 6 below. 

5.21 Variances not considered significant have not been addressed through changes to 
the budget. When taken together, these variances are currently projected to have a 
net adverse impact on the Authority’s overall financial position of just £5k. These 
remaining variances will continue to be monitored and reported on as part of the 
regular monitoring reports and action taken to reduce or eliminate them over the 
remainder of the financial year. 

  

Page 61



Table 6 – Impact of identified variances on the revised budget 

 
 

 Budget Adjustments   

Outturn 
Variance 

Recurring 
Non 

recurring 
Salary  Total 

Un-
adjusted 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Economic Growth, Community 
Development & Placemaking 

880 125 818 8 951 (71) 

Finance & Legal (277) 9 (312) (161) (464) 187 

Environmental Services 1,907 36 1,981 (113) 1,904 3 

Policy, Governance & People 
Resources 

(37) 0 79 (22) 57 (94) 

Leisure & Tourism (47) (41) 0 6 (35) (12) 

Customer Experience & 
Innovation 

424 (11) 334 109 432 (8) 

Parish Precepts 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Total 2,850 118 2,900 (173) 2,845 5 

 
6.0  Revised revenue budget 2020-21 

6.1 The proposed revised revenue budget for 2020-21 and the associated increase in 
the Council’s net budget requirement of £2,845k is summarised in table 7. 

Table 7: 2020-21 Revised Revenue Budget 

 
Net Expenditure Budget 

2020-21  
 

Change 

 
 

Para 
Original  

Budget 

Revised 

Budget 
 £000 £000 £000  

Base Budget 11,449 11,449 0  

Change in salary costs - recurring 146 177 31 6.10 

Recurring growth  1,042 1,279 237 6.8 

Recurring savings  (397) (516) (119) 6.8 

Recurring (base) budget 12,240 12,389 149  

Change in salary costs - non-recurring 0 (204) (204) 6.10 

Non-recurring growth  756 4,447 3,691 6.9 

Non-recurring savings (194) (985) (791) 6.9 

Net Service Expenditure budget  12,802 15,647 2,845  

Expenditure on earmarked priorities  1,855 1,475 (380)  

Proposed budget (excl. parish precepts) 14,657 17,122 2,465  

Parish Precepts 2,458 2,458 0  

Proposed Budget (incl. parish precepts) 17,115 19,580 2,465  

Less: Planned use of earmarked balances  (1,855) (1,475) 380  

Net Budget Requirement  15,260 18,105 2,845  

 

Page 62



6.2  The Council’s revised net budget requirement is funded as follows: 

Table 8: 2020-21 Revised Revenue Funding 

 
 

2020-21  
 

Change 

 
 

Para 
Original  

Budget 

Revised 

Budget 

 £000 £000 £000  

Government Grants & Taxation  15,260 18,072 2,812 6.12 

Contribution from/(to) General Fund 0 33 33  

Total Funding 15,260 18,105 2,845  

 

6.3 A summary of the proposed changes to the Net Service Expenditure Budget of is 
set out in table 9. 

Table 9: Summary of changes to Net Service Expenditure budget  

 £’000 

Recurring adjustments  

Increase to the salary budget 31 

recurring growth bids to address forecast variances 237 

recurring savings bids to address forecast variances (119) 

TOTAL - Recurring adjustments  149 

  

Non-recurring adjustments  

Reduction in the salary budget (204) 

non-recurring growth bids to address forecast variances 3,691 

non-recurring savings bids to address forecast variances (791) 

TOTAL – Non-recurring adjustments 2,696 

  

TOTAL – Change to net service budget 2,845 

6.4 These changes:  

 increase the Council’s recurring (base) budget from £12,240k to 
£12,389k; an increase of £149k, and 

 increase the net service expenditure budget for 2020-21 from £12,802k to 
£15,647k; an increase of £2,845k. 

6.5 The revised net service expenditure budget will be met from the increase in income 
from Government Grants & Taxation associated with the additional unringfenced 
grants awarded in response to the Covid-19 pandemic (Covid-19 emergency 
funding tranches 2, 3 and 4 and grant receivable under the income guarantee 
scheme). 

Changes to the Net Service Expenditure Budget 

6.6  A summary of the proposed changes to the net service expenditure budget by 
portfolio is set out in table 10. 

  

Page 63



 Table 10: Summary of Net Service Expenditure by Portfolio 

Portfolio Original 
budget1 

Recurring 
growth & 
savings 

Non- 
recurring 
growth & 
savings  

Salary 
changes 

Revised  
budget  

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Economic Growth, Community 
Development & Placemaking 

(217) 125 819 8 735 

Finance & Legal 4,958 8 (312) (161) 4,493 

Environmental Services 2,726 37 1,980 (113) 4,630 

Policy, Governance & People 
Resources 

2,749 0 79 (22) 2,806 

Leisure & Tourism 324 (41) 0 6 289 

Customer Experience & Innovation 2,262 (11) 334 109 2,694 

Net Service Expend.  12,802 118 2,900 (173) 15,647 

1 Adjusted for in-year virements and revised portfolios  

6.7 Further details of the growth and saving bids underlying these increases are set out 
below. 

Recurring Growth and Savings bids 

6.8 Details of the net recurring growth bid of £237k and recurring savings bid of £119k, 
included as adjustments to the Council’s base budget, are summarised in tables 11 
and 12. If approved, these changes will impact on the base budget for 2020-21 and 
future financial years. 

Table 11: Recurring growth 

Portfolio/Service Description Growth 

  £000 

Recurring growth bids to address forecast variances 

Customer Experience & Innovation  

IT Services Replacement of the existing £40k recurring capital budget 
supporting a rolling program of upgrades to, and replacement 
of, desktop computers, laptops and tablets with a recurring 
£40k revenue budget. 

40 

Customer Services Incorporation of front of house services at Wigton office into 
the leased office agreement. This additional cost is offset by a 
saving within the Customer Services pay group.  

5 

Economic Growth, Community Development & Placemaking 

Building Control Reduction in fee income from site inspections carried out on 
behalf of Carlisle City Council following the decision by Story 
Homes and Persimmon Homes to use NHBC rather than 
LABC for building control.  

25 

Planning Reduction in planning applications and associated fee income 
particularly in relation to larger schemes as result of past land 
banking activity by developers. 

100 

Environmental Services 

Parks & Grounds 
Maintenance 

Reduction in income following cessation of grass cutting for a 
small number of parish councils & private groups  

9 

Trade Waste 
Removal of fee income budget in relation to charges for 
replacement bins.  

50 

Page 64



Portfolio/Service Description Growth 

  £000 

Finance & Legal 

Corporate Management Increase in External Audit Fees. 8 

Total recurring growth bids to address forecast variances 237 

Table 12: Recurring savings  

Portfolio/Service Description Growth 

  £000 

Customer Experience & Innovation  

Benefits 
To realign budget with mid-year estimates of Housing Benefit 
Subsidy receivable. 

(56) 

Leisure & Tourism 

Solway Coast AONB Grant funding of salary costs. (41) 

Environmental Services 

Allerdale Fleet Revision to budget to reflect current expenditure forecast (22) 

Total recurring savings to address forecast variances  (119) 

Non-recurring growth and savings bids 

6.9 Non-recurring growth of £3,691k and savings bids of £791k (net value £2,900k) 
submitted as part of this report are summarised in tables 13 and 14. If approved, 
these will impact on the 2020-21 budget but will not impact on the base budget for 
future financial years. 

Table 13: Non-recurring growth 

Portfolio/Service  Description Growth 

  £000 

Non-recurring growth bids to address forecast variances  

Customer Experience & Innovation  

Revenues Loss of income from court summons (net of payments to 
HMCS) as a consequence of Covid-19. 

90 

Benefits Reduction in income from the recovery of overpaid Housing 
Benefits. This follows from the suspension of recovery 
action on new debt, by both the Authority and DWP during 
Q1 & Q2 of 2020-21, in response to the Covid-19 pandemic. 

70 

IT services 
 

Additional ICT service costs incurred due to Covid-19, 
including: i) enabling all BT One Phone service users to 
work remotely, ii) enabling officers to access data services 
remotely in the absence or temporary loss of a residential 
internet service.  

42 

Covid-19 Homelessness Additional costs incurred in accommodating rough sleeps as 
part of the Governments response to the COVID-19 crisis. 

132 

Economic Growth, Community Development & Placemaking 

Corporate Property 
Maintenance 

Demolition of Westfield Welfare building. 
 

22 

Camping & Caravan Site Lockdown and other measures imposed in response to the 
Covid-19 pandemic meant the camping & caravan site was 
closed until July 2020. Although the site has now re-opened, 

410 

Page 65



Portfolio/Service  Description Growth 

  £000 

its closure, along with additional costs incurred to make the 
campsite Covid-19 safe is expected to have a significant 
impact on the Authority’s share of profits from the site in 
2020-21. 

Workington Town Centre Reduction in the variable element of the quarterly rental 
income from the shopping centre as a consequence of   
lockdown, government restrictions and social distancing 
measures introduced in response to the Covid-19 
pandemic.  

89 

Planning Reduction in planning fee income as a consequence of the 
Covid-19 pandemic. Furloughing of staff by several key 
developers meant no submissions were received from them 
during lockdown and despite the subsequent easing of 
restrictions, indications are that no applications are 
expected from them during the remainder of the current 
financial year.  

78 

Markets Loss of income as a result of the cancellation of markets 
due to the Covid-19 pandemic and the reduction in the 
number of stalls to facilitate social distancing following their 
subsequent reopening. 

116 

Reopening High Streets 
Safely 

Costs relating to the reopening of high streets safely 
following the national lockdown; Eligible expenditure of up to 
£86k is eligible for reimbursement from an ERDF grant 
allocation from Central Governments Reopening High 
Streets Safely Fund. 

86 

Reedlands Business Park 
project 

Establishment of a non-recurring revenue budget to 
accommodate the write off of previously capitalised project 
expenditure and unwind associated capital financing. This 
includes recognition of the requirement to repay ERDF grant 
funding drawn-down to date of £145,559. This follows the 
decision made by the Executive on 14 October to 
discontinue the project. The impact of this write-off on 
unearmarked general fund balances is partly offset by the 
release of £95k from the Strategic Priorities Earmarked 
Reserve and the removal of interest costs on related 
borrowing of approximately £24k (included in Banking and 
Interest savings bid below). 

270 

Environmental Services 

Domestic Waste Costs associated with FCC operating the domestic waste 
service from 1 April 2020 to 3 April 2020. 

23 

Domestic Waste Costs associated with the delivery of replacement bins. 34 

Recycling Removal of charge for replacement bins. 32 

Recycling Costs associated with the delivery of replacement bins. 102 

Trace Waste Costs associated with the delivery of replacement bins. 5 

Trade Waste Loss of income (net of reductions in disposal costs) as a 
result of reductions in trade collections arising as a 
consequence of business closures during lockdown and 
other measures imposed in response to the Covid-19 
pandemic.  

420 

Off-street – Owned Car Parks Reduction in income from Machines, Season Tickets & 
Fixed Penalties due to Covid-19; This includes the impact of 
the temporary closure of car-parks and other local and 
national measures introduced in response to the pandemic 

1,090 

Page 66



Portfolio/Service  Description Growth 

  £000 

Multi-storey Car Park Loss of parking income at the MSCP arising from temporary 
closure of the car park and other measures introduced in 
response to the pandemic. 

213 

Off-street – Managed Car 
Parks 

Loss of (fee) income arising from reductions in the use of 
managed carparks as a result of the lockdown and other 
measures introduced in response to the pandemic.  

32 

Sport & Leisure Centres Additional budget pressures arising from closure of the 
Council’s leisure centres as a result of the Covid-19 
including the expected loss of budgeted income of £45k, 
receivable under the profit share arrangements with GLL 
and the agreement made to provide £40k of additional 
funding to GLL in response to circumstances created by the 
Covid-19 pandemic. 

78 

Finance & Legal 

Banking & Interest Reduction in investment income to reflect the significant 
falls in market yields since March 2020, investment returns 
achieved in the period April to September and forecast 
returns anticipated over the remainder of the financial year. 

40 

Covid-19 General Costs 
 

Unbudgeted costs associated with the Authority's response 
to the Covid-19 pandemic. 

37 

Policy, Governance & People Resources 

Assistance - Housing Services Reduction in fee income associated with the delivery of 
Disabled Facilities and Empty Homes Grants programme as 
a consequence Covid-19 and the restrictions in place during 
lockdown. 

34 

Track & Trace Expenditure to match grant received to fund the Council’s 
work on the Track and Trace process. 

96 

Head of Governance & 
Regulatory 

Removal of savings targets built into the 2020-21 budget, 
which will not be achieved due the impact of Covid-19. 

50 

Total Non-recurring growth bids to address forecast variances  3,691 

Table 14: Non-recurring savings 

Portfolio/Service  Description Saving 

  £000 

Economic Growth, Community Development & Placemaking 

Corporate Property 
Maintenance 

Reduction in the use of utilities due to Covid-19 working 
arrangements. 

(22) 

Festivals & Events Savings arising from the cancellation of Taste Cumbria, 
Workington Christmas promotions and the suspension of 
the small grants fund during 2020-21. 

(118) 

Head of Development 
Services 

Budget no longer required. Post fully funded from 
application of grant income carried forward at 31 March 
2020 and included in Earmarked Reserves.  

(6) 

Town Centres No advertising and promotions required in the financial year 
due to Covid-19. 

(20) 

Reopening High Streets 
Safely 

Government grant received to support the Covid-19 safety 
measures required in reopening the high streets   

(86) 

Finance & Legal 

Business Grants Covid-19 Receipt of additional New Burdens Grant for the 
administration of Business Grants introduced by 
government in response to the Covid-19 pandemic. 

(170) 

Insurance Savings against budget on premiums paid in 2020-21. (25) 

Page 67



Portfolio/Service  Description Saving 

  £000 

Banking and Interest Reduction in borrowing costs to reflect PWLB borrowing 
undertaken in 2019-20, updated interest rate forecasts for 
2020-21 and changes included in the revised capital 
programme in respect of the timing and amount of capital 
expenditure funded from borrowing. 

(150) 

MRP & Finance Charges Reduction in 2020-21 MRP to reflect 2019-20 capital outturn 
position  

(44) 

Environmental Services 

Community Services Pay 
Group 

Income received from secondment of Operations Manager 
to AWSL. 

(13) 

Street Cleansing Savings achieved through contractual arrangements. (11) 

Recycling Increase in income from domestic recycling (net of disposal 
cost) as a result of an increase recycling activity generated 
from the imposition of lockdown restrictions in response to 
the Covid-19 pandemic. 

(25) 

Policy, Governance & People Resources 

Track & Trace Grant received to support the Council’s Track and Trace 
work. 

(96) 

Human Resources New priorities coupled with a reduction in training requests 
due to the Covid-19 pandemic. 

(5) 

Total Non-recurring savings (791) 

Change in salary costs (Pay Groups) 

6.10 Details of the recurring and non-recurring salary cost adjustments made to net 
service expenditure are included in table 15. They include:  

 recurring growth of £31k; these changes will impact on the base budget for 
2020-21 and future financial years 

 non-recurring savings of £204k; these changes will not impact on the base 
budget for future financial years. 

Table 15: Changes to salary costs 

 

Recurring Non-
Recurring 

£000 £000 

Structure changes including reduction in hours  (36) (204) 

Additional cost of Pay Award 67 0 

 31 (204) 

Use of Contingencies 

6.11 The original approved budget included a contingency amount of £105,050 to cover 
unexpected expenditure. At the end of Quarter 2 this balance was fully allocated. 

  

 

 

Page 68



Government Grants and Taxation Financing 

6.12 Proposed changes to the financing element of the 2020-21 budget - including 
income from non-ring fenced government grants and business rates (NNDR) - are 
summarised in table 16. 

Table 16: Taxation and non-specific grant income 

 Original  
Budget 

£000 

Revised 
Budget 

£000 

Change  

 

£’000 

Para 

Revenue support grant 199 199 0 - 

Rural Services Delivery Grant 326 326 0 - 

New Homes Bonus 606 606 0 - 

Council tax – excluding parish element 5,400 5,400 0 - 

Council tax - parish precepts  2,458 2,458 0 - 

Collection fund surplus/(deficit) - Council Tax  21 21 0 - 

NNDR funding 6,250 6,250 0 6.13 

Other Grants – Covid-19 emergency fund 0 1,594 1,594 5.16 

Other – Covid-19 income guarantee scheme 0 1,218 1,218 5.17 

 15,260 18,072 2,812  

6.13 A summary of the funding from National Non Domestic Rates (NNDR) in 2020-21 is 
set out in table 17. 

 
Table 17: NNDR funding 2020-21 

 
Budget 

£000 
Revised 

£000 
Change 

£000 

Fixed Elements:    

Allerdale share of NNDR Income  11,168 11,168 0 

Allerdale share of NNDR Income- Renewable energy 522 522 0 

Net tariff payable to Central Government (7,418) (7,418) 0 

Share of estimated collection fund surplus 138 138 0 

‘Fixed’ element of NNDR income 4,410 4,410 0 

Variable Elements:    

Reconciliation adjustment re prior years disregarded income (9) (7) 2 

Section 31 grant  2,298 8,498 6,200 

Levy payable (net of reduction under pool arrangements) (449) (491) (42) 

Variable element of NNDR income 1,840 8,000 6,160 

Total Fixed & Variable Elements 6,250 12,410 6,160 

Transfer to Earmarked Reserve 0 (6,160) (6,160) 

 6,250 6,250 0 

 

 

Page 69



7.0 Capital budget – projected outturn position 

7.1 The current capital budget is £14.69m, comprising: 

 £13.3m approved budget for 2020-21 

 £1.39m budget carry forward from 2019-20. 

7.2 The projected 2020-21 Capital Outturn position, as at the end of quarter 2 
(September 2020), is summarised in table 18. This shows: 

 a projected outturn position of £5.604m 

 an underspend compared to the budget of £9.086m (including £4.40m 
related to the Regeneration and Investment budget and £2.563m relating to 
the Reedlands Road Development)  

 expected budget carry forward requests (£5.141m) and reprofiling 
adjustments (£0.647m) incorporated into the 2020-21 revised budget, of 
£5.788m  

 remaining underspend of £3.298m including £3.273m addressed through net 
savings bids included in the 2020-21 revised budget proposals. 

Table 18: Capital Programme – Projected Outturn by Portfolio 

 Current 

Budget 

Projected 

Outturn 

Outturn 

Variance 

C/Fwd & 

Reprofiled 

Residual

Variance 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Capital Expenditure      

Economic Growth, Community 
Development & Placemaking 

10,907 2,561 (8,346) 5,151 (3,195) 

Finance & Legal  47 0 (47) 0 (47) 

Policy, Governance & People 
Resources 

1,601 1,164 (437) 437 0 

Environmental Services  752 736 (16) 0 (16) 

Leisure & Tourism 1,258 1,058 (200) 200 0 

Customer Experience & 
Innovation 

125 85 (40) 0 (40) 

Total - Capital Expenditure 14,690 5,604 (9,086) 5,788 (3,298) 

Capital Financing           

Capital Grants 6,193 3,741 (2,452) 518 (1,934) 

Capital Receipts 908 540 (368) 341 (27) 

Earmarked Reserves 0 0 0 0 0 

Revenue Budget 0 0 0 0 0 

General Fund Balances 98 71 (27) 0 (27) 

Borrowing 7,444 1,252 (6,192) 4,929 (1,263) 

Credit Arrangements 47 0 (47) 0 (47) 

Total - Capital Funding 14,690 5,604 (9,086) 5,788 (3,298) 

 

 

Page 70



Key Variances 

7.3 Commentary on the key projected outturn variances and the impact of these on the 
revised capital budget are set out in the following paragraphs. 

Economic Growth, Community Development & Placemaking 

7.4 The overall forecast variance against the capital budget for the Economic Growth, 
Community Development & Placemaking portfolio is £8,346k (underspend). 
Projected budget carry forwards and re-profiling adjustments of £5,151k, leaves a 
net variance of £3,195k of which £3,168k is dealt with by way of proposed revisions 
to the capital budget (see section 8 below).  

Table 19: Economic Growth portfolio key variances 
 Outturn 

Variance 
C/fwd & 

Reprofiled 
Residual 
Variance 

Budget 
revision 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Strategic Acquisitions (379) 379 0 0 

Demolition Moorclose Sport Centre (22) 0 (22) (22) 

Lillyhall Infrastructure (600) 0 (600) (600) 

Reedlands Road Development (2,564) 0 (2,564) (2,564) 

Maryport Regeneration (HAZ) (221) 221 0 0 

Regeneration and Investment (4,400) 4,400 0 0 

Markets - Plant and Equipment (27) 0 (27) 0 

Solar Panels  (50) 50 0 0 

Kirkgate Centre Contribution (100) 100 0 0 

Workington Hall Repair Scheme 18 0 18 18 

Other  (1) 1 0 0 

Total  (8,346) 5,151 (3,195) (3,168) 

Strategic Acquisitions – (underspend of £379k; budget to be carried forward to 
2021-22) 

7.5 The capital budget of £379,329 (funded from capital receipts and borrowing) was 
established to meet the costs of acquiring and redeveloping commercial properties 
to support business start-ups and the small business sector. This includes £200,000 
carried forward from 2019-20. No expenditure has been incurred against this budget 
in the period April to September 2020. However, the Council continues to explore 
opportunities to acquire land and property that will contribute to the delivery of key 
strategic objectives.   

7.6 No revisions to the existing budget are proposed as part of the 2020-21 revised 
budget and a request to carry forward any unused budget will be submitted as part 
of the 2020-21 outturn report. This will ensure the budget remains available to take 
advantage of property acquisition and development opportunities that support the 
achievement of Council Priorities. 

 

Page 71



Demolition Moorclose Sport Centre (underspend of £22k; budget removed from 
capital programme) 

7.7 The remaining budget for this scheme was earmarked to meet a financial 
contribution towards the cost of a new boiler system for the Moorclose Community 
Centre. This budget (financed from general fund balances) is no longer required 
and has been removed from the capital programme as part of the 2020-21 revised 
budget proposals. 

Lillyhall Infrastructure (underspend of £600k; budget removed from capital 
programme) 

7.8 The Council is seeking to progress development of the site, acquired in 2018-19, by 
securing planning approval and carrying out enabling infrastructure works, 
alongside an element of speculative commercial development, to enable ‘product’ in 
terms of sites and units to be brought to the market and thus provide availability and 
certainty to attract business to the location. No expenditure was incurred on the 
project in the period April to September 2020.  

7.9 Expenditure on this scheme was expected to be financed from LEP Grant funding 
(£1.6m) and other private sector contributions (£600k). The latter is, however, no 
longer expected to be forthcoming. Match funding to meet the total forecasted 
scheme expenditure of £2.2m will instead be met from the Regeneration and 
Investment budget (see below), resulting in the reported forecast variance of £600k 
against the current Lillyhall Infrastructure budget. This is addressed in the revised 
budget proposals (see below).   

Reedlands Road Development – (underspend of £2,564k; budget removed from 
capital programme) 

7.10 The Reedlands Road scheme involves the development of additional industrial units 
on land, owned by the Authority at Reedlands Road, Workington. Initial site survey 
work identified difficult ground conditions, the presence of mine-workings and the 
need for further ground investigation works to be carried out as part of the detailed 
design process.  

7.11 These investigations identified underlying mine-workings, buried obstructions and 
extremely poor ground conditions requiring changes to the original construction 
plans. These have in turn contributed to a significant increase in forecast project 
costs. At the end of RIBA Stage 4, estimated project costs had increased to 
£3,765,987 compared with a total scheme budget of £2,829,463. In response to the 
escalation in costs and the challenges posed by the difficult ground conditions, the 
project was paused and a full options appraisal undertaken. Following this appraisal 
a report was presented to the Council’s Executive on 14 October recommending 
that members approve discontinuation of the project. The forecast underspend 
reflects the recommended discontinuation of the scheme, including the write-off to 
revenue of project costs incurred during 2020-21. 

7.12 Following the Executive's decision on 14 October to approve discontinuation of the 
project, the remaining budget (£2.564m) and associated financing (grant £1.341m 
and borrowing of £1.223m) has been removed from the capital programme as part 

Page 72



of the 2020-21 revised budget proposal. A non-recurring revenue bid of £269,677 
has also been included in the revised 2020-21 revenue budget to accommodate to 
the write off of previously capitalised project expenditure and unwind associated 
capital financing. This includes recognition of the requirement to repay ERDF grant 
funding drawn-down to date of £145,559. 

Maryport Regeneration (HAZ) (£221k underspend; budget reprofiled to 2021-22 and 
2022-23) 

7.13 The current budget of £280k, comprising 150k approved in 2019-20 (funded from 
capital receipts) and £130k (funded from borrowing) transferred from the Healthy 
Homes (Empty Homes) budget in 2020-21 is earmarked to support the Maryport 
Regeneration Heritage Action Zone (HAZ) Programme. No expenditure was 
charged against this budget in the six months to September 2020. £58,750 of the 
existing budget is forecast to be spent during the remainder of the current financial 
year with the remaining budget (£221,250) forecast to be utilised in 2021-22 
(£105,000) and 2022-23 (£116,250).  

7.14 The Authority's contribution of £280,000 is earmarked as a contribution toward 
those elements of the project expenditure meeting the statutory definition of capital 
as defined in the Local Government Act 2003. Programme costs relating to repairs 
and other items of revenue expenditure will not be eligible to be met from the 
Council's contribution (although these may be eligible for HAZ grant funding). 

Regeneration and investment (£4,400k underspend unused budget to be carried 
forward to 2021-22) 

7.15 Following the Executive’s decision in June 2019 not to proceed with previous 
proposals for the stadium development, the capital budget of £5m previously 
allocated for the project in 2019-20 was reprofiled from 2019-20 to 2020-21 and 
repurposed for use in supporting regeneration and investment opportunities. No 
expenditure has been incurred against this budget in the period April to September 
2020. £600k of the available budget has however been allocated to provide match 
funding for the Lillyhall scheme in order to offset the funding shortfall created by the 
loss of third party contributions (see comments above).    

7.16 To reflect this allocation the 2020-21 revised budget proposals include the transfer 
of 600k (funded from borrowing) from the Regeneration and Investment budget to 
the Lillyhall Infrastructure budget. A request to carry forward any unused budget, 
currently forecast at £4.4m, to 2021-22 will be submitted as part of the 2020-21 
capital outturn report. 

Solar Panels (underspend of £50k budget to be reprofiled to 2021-22) 

7.17 The budget of £50,000 was established to support the installation of solar panels on 
operational properties. As a consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic, it has not 
been possible to progress this scheme. No expenditure has therefore been incurred 
on the project in the period April to September 2020 and no expenditure is expected 
to be incurred on the project during the current financial year. The revised budget 
includes proposals to re-profile the existing budget from 2020-21 to 2021-22. 

Page 73



 Kirkgate Centre Contribution (underspend of £100k to be carried forward to 2021-
22) 

7.18 A budget of £100k was approved in 2017-18 to enable the Council to make a capital 
contribution to support the financing of a project to renovate and extend the facilities 
at the Kirkgate Arts and Heritage Centre, Cockermouth. The Council’s contribution 
is subject to the outcome of a bid made to the Heritage Lottery Fund by the 
charitable body responsible for running the centre. No expenditure was incurred on 
the project in the six months to September 2020 and no expenditure is currently 
forecast to be incurred during the current financial year. The proposed 2020-21 
revised capital budget includes no changes to the existing budget and a request to 
carry forward any unused budget to 2021-22 will be submitted as part of the 2020-
21 capital outturn report. 

 Workington Hall Repair Scheme (£18k forecast overspend; Budget growth bid of 
£18k) 

7.19 The current capital budget of £194k covers refurbishment and consolidation works 
necessary to ensure progression towards eventual removal of the building from the 
At Risk Register. The project is funded from a grant of £150k from Historic England 
with the balance being met from capital receipts (12k), general fund balances (£26k) 
and borrowing (£6k). Work commenced on site in September and is expected to be 
completed by the end of the current financial year. Forecasted expenditure at the 
end of September reflects contracted costs, inclusive of provisional sums and 
contingencies contained within the tender submission that may need to utilised as 
work progresses. 

7.20 A bid of £17,893, funded from general fund balances, is included in the 2020-21 
revised budget proposals to cover the forecasted expenditure and ensure sufficient 
budget exists should it be necessary to draw on contingencies to accommodate 
variations required to the original scope of works as work progresses. 

Finance and Legal 

7.21 The capital budget for the Finance and Legal portfolio is currently forecast to be 
underspent by £47k. This is addressed by way of a savings bid included in the 
revised capital budget proposals for 2020-21.  

Table 20: Finance and Legal key variances 

 Outturn 
Variance 

C/fwd & 
Reprofiled 

Residual 
Variance 

Budget 
revision 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Leased Assets - property, vehicles & 
equipment  

(47) 0 (47) (47) 

Total  (47) 0 (47) (47) 

Leased Assets - property, vehicles & equipment (underspend £47k); budget 
removed from capital programme 

7.22  The current capital budget was predicated on the assumption that changes to the 
rules governing the accounting treatment of leases would come into force on 1 April 

Page 74



2020 and mean that, with the exception of short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets, all leased assets and the related lease liabilities will be recognised on 
the Authority’s balance sheet. Under these new requirements the acquisition of an 
asset under a lease (excluding short-term leases and leases of low-value assets) 
will be treated as capital expenditure. A budget of £97k, including £47k in 2020-21, 
was therefore established to cover the initial cost of assets expected to be acquired 
under leases on or after 1 April 2020.  

7.23 In response to Covid-19, CIPFA/LASAACs Local Authority Accounting Code Board 
took the decision in March 2020 to defer implementation of IFRS 16 from 1 April 
2020 to 1 April 2021 in-line with the government’s Financial Reporting Advisory 
Board’s proposals for central government departments. As a consequence, the 
2020-21 capital budget of £47k will not be required. 

Policy, Governance and People Resources   

7.24 The capital budget for the Policy, Governance and People Resources portfolio is 
currently forecast to be underspent by £437k. This is matched by a forecast budget 
carry forward (re-profiling adjustment) of £437k, leaving no overall variance.  

Table 21: Policy, Governance and People Resources  portfolio key variances 

 Outturn 
Variance 

C/fwd & 
Reprofiled 

Residual 
Variance 

Budget 
revision 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Disabled Facilities Grants  (261) 261 0 0 

Discretionary Grants (50) 50 0 0 

Ladore Toilets - conversion (34) 34 0 0 

Housing Improvement Projects (92) 92 0 0 

Total  (437) 437 0 0 

Disabled Facilities Grants (£261k underspend; £261k to be carried forward as part 
of 2020-21 capital outturn report) 

7.25 This scheme involves mandatory and discretionary grant support to individuals to 
meet the cost of housing adaptations that enable people to stay living in their own 
home for longer. The Authority has a statutory duty to provide adaptations to the 
homes of disabled people who qualify for a mandatory DFG. Expenditure on DFGs 
is fully funded from an annual grant paid to upper-tier authorities as part of the 
Better Care Funding allocations and cascaded to district councils responsible for 
providing DFGs. During the period April to September, Covid-19 and the measures 
introduced to control transmission of the virus, has had a significant impact on the 
ability of contractors to undertake work related to DFG applications and on the 
levels of DFG expenditure incurred to date. It has also added to the challenges of 
forecasting demand for grant support and levels of expenditure over the remainder 
of the year. 

7.26 In recognition of the unpredictability of demand for DFGs and the additional 
uncertainties generated by the Covid-19 pandemic, over levels of expenditure 
expected to be incurred over the remainder of the current financial year, no 
adjustment has been made to the existing budget. A request to carry forward any 

Page 75



unused budget and associated grant funding will be submitted as part of the 2020-
21 capital outturn report. 

Discretionary Grants (£50k underspend) budget reprofiled from 2020-21 to 2021-22 

7.27 The budget of £50k was established to provide match funding in connection with an 
application to the Electricity North West Empowering Our Communities Fund, to 
deliver the Cold to Cosy Homes Scheme, in Allerdale, from April 2020. Expenditure 
on this scheme is financed from capital grants (£40k) and capital receipts (£10k).  
The scheme was launched in September and will run over two years. However 
there are currently no plans in place to utilise this budget during the current financial 
year and the £50k budget has been reprofiled from 2020-21 to 2021-22 as part of 
the 2020-21 revised budget proposals. 

Ladore Toilets – conversion (£34k underspend; budget reprofiled to 2021-22) 

7.28 The budget of £44,500 was established for the development of the disused toilet 
block adjacent to the Ladore Hotel in the Borrowdale Valley into holiday 
accommodation. Expenditure on this scheme is financed from capital receipts. 
Forecasted expenditure on this scheme in 2020-21 is £10,000.  The remaining 
£34,500 from the existing budget has been reprofiled from 2020-21 to 2021-22 as 
part of the 2020-21 revised budget proposals. 

Housing Improvement Projects (£92k underspend; budget reprofiled to 2021-22) 

7.29 A budget carry forward of £91,938 was agreed as part of the 2019-20 capital outturn 
report and allocated to support the Maryport Future High Street Fund scheme. No 
expenditure has been incurred against this budget in the period April to September 
2020 and no expenditure is forecasted to be incurred over the remainder of the 
current financial year.  

7.30 The 2020-21 revised budget includes the proposal to reprofile the available budget 
from 2020-21 to 2021-22 where it will be used to support the Maryport Future High 
Street Fund scheme. 

  Environmental Services  

7.31 The overall forecast variance against the capital budget for the Environmental 
Services portfolio summarised below, is £16k. 

Table 22: Environmental Services portfolio key variances 
 Outturn 

Variance 

C/fwd & 
Reprofiled 

Residual 
Variance 

Budget 
revision 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

LATCo - vehicles and Equipment (17) 0 (17) 0 

Car Park - signage and equipment (5) 0 (5) 0 

Brow-Top Enhancement Schemes 6 0 6 0 

Total  (16) 0 (16) 0 

 

Page 76



Leisure and Tourism 

7.32 The capital budget for the Leisure and Tourism portfolio is currently forecast to be 
underspent by £200k. This is matched by a budget carry-forward (re-profiling 
adjustment) of £200k included in the 2020-21 revised budget proposals, leaving no 
overall variance. 

Table 23: Leisure and Tourism portfolio key variances 
 Outturn 

Variance 

C/fwd & 
Reprofiled 

Residual 
Variance 

Budget 
revision 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Solway Coast Pathway (200) 200 0 0 

Total  (200) 200 0 0 

 

Solway Coast Pathway (Underspend of £200k to be carried forward to 2020-21) 

7.33 A budget of £1,250k was approved in 2018-19 to support the creation of a multi-
user coastal pathway, linking Silloth-on-Solway, the West Cumbria Cycle network 
and the Hadrian’s cycle route. The scheme is funded by a grant of £1million from 
the Coastal Communities Fund (CCF) and £250k from the RDPE Tourism 
Infrastructure Fund. Expenditure of £203,271 was incurred during financial years 
2018-19 and 2019-20. The remaining budget for this scheme currently stands at 
£1,046,729, including £276,949 carried forward from 2019-20. 

7.34 Construction work to create the Solway Coast pathway is now underway with work 
to create the new section of path between Allonby and Silloth due to be completed 
by the end of the current calendar year. A schedule of associated capital works has 
also been drawn-up in line with the Coastal Communities funding bid. Elements of 
these associated works (car park improvement works and resurfacing of the existing 
path) will be completed during the current financial year alongside the work being 
carried out by main contractor. Other elements require planning and or third-party 
land-owner consent and will be undertaken in the 2021-22 financial year following 
completion of feasibility and prioritisation exercises.   

7.35 Current forecasts are for expenditure in the region of £847k to be spent during the 
current year with the remainder of the project budget (£200k) to be spent in the 
2021-22 financial year. In line with these forecasts the proposed revised capital 
budget for 2020-21 include an adjustment to £200k to reprofile £200k from 2020-21 
to 2021-22. 

Customer Experience and Innovation  

7.36 The capital budget for the Customer Experience and Innovation portfolio is currently 
forecast to be underspent by £40k. This is addressed by way of a savings bid 
included in the revised capital budget proposals for 2020-21. 

 

 

 

Page 77



Table 24: Customer Experience and Innovation portfolio key variances 
 Outturn 

Variance 

C/fwd & 
Reprofiled 

Residual 
Variance 

Budget 
revision 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £000 

IT Equipment  (40) 0 (40) (40) 

Total  (40) 0 (40) (40) 

IT Equipment (£40k underspend – budget removed) 

7.37 The current capital programme includes a recurring capital budget of £40k per 
annum, funded from borrowing, to support a rolling program of upgrades to, and 
replacement of, desktop computers, laptops and tablets.  

7.38 To reduce the administrative burden associated with the capitalisation of large 
numbers of small value items, which individually and collectively are not material to 
the Authority's financial statements, the cost of such items are typically charged 
against the revenue budget rather than capitalised with only items of significant 
value recorded as capital expenditure. To better reflect the accounting treatment of 
these items, the proposed revised budget for 2020-21 includes the removal of the 
recurring capital budget from the capital programme and its replacement with a 
recurring revenue growth bid of £40k.  

8.0 Revised Capital Budget  

8.1 A summary of the proposed adjustments to the three year capital budget is set out 
in table 25. These changes comprise:  

 re-profiling adjustments of £781k, including the transfer of £647k of 
expenditure and associated financing from 2020-21 to 2021-22 in line with 
current expenditure forecasts 

 growth bids of £1,515k (£859k in 2020-21, £372k in 2021-22 and £284k in 
2022-23),  

 budget savings bids (associated with reported forecast variances at 30 
September) of £3,353k, including £3,273k in 2020-21. 

Table 25: Revised Capital Budget – summary of changes 

 

Financial year  

2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 Total  

Capital Scheme £000 £000 £000 £000 

Original (Current) Budget 14,690 1,611 1,534 17,835 

Re-profiling adjustments  (647) 781 (134) 0 

Capital Growth - see table below 859 372 284 1,515 

Capital Savings  - see table below (3,273) (40) (40) (3,353) 

Proposed Revised Budget 11,629 2,724 1,644 15,997 

 

 

Page 78



Capital Growth and Savings  

8.2 In addition to the reprofiling adjustments and savings and growth bids associated 
with reported variances at 30 September outlined in Section 7, a number of new 
capital expenditure bids have been submitted for approval as part of the 2020-21 
revised budget proposals. These are summarised in table 26.  
 

Table 26: Summary of Capital Bids and Savings   

Capital Scheme 

Financial year   

2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 Total bid 

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Growth Bids     

Maryport Regeneration (HAZ) 101 240 284 625 

Workington - Towns funding scheme 502 0 0 502 

Brow-Top Enhancement Schemes 238 0 0 238 

Maryport Future High Streets initiative 0 132 0 132 

Workington Hall Repair Scheme* 18 0 0 18 

sub-total - growth bids 859 372 284 1,515 

Savings Bids     

Demolition Moorclose Sport Centre* (22)  0 0 (22) 

Lillyhall – Infrastructure* (600) 0 0 (600) 

Reedlands Road* (2,564) 0 0 (2,564) 

Leased Assets - property, vehicles & 
equipment * 

(47) 0 0 (47) 

IT Equipment * (40) (40) (40) (120) 

sub-total -  savings (3,273)  (40)  (40)  (3,353)  

Total Bids (2,414) 332 244 (1,838) 

*to address reported variance at 30 Sept 

Maryport Regeneration (HAZ) (growth bid £625k) 

8.3 Following confirmation in April of the award of Heritage Action Zone Funding from 
Historic England of £592.5k (including capital funding of £470k) the 2020-21 revised 
capital programme includes proposals to:  

 reprofile the existing budget across the financial years 2020-21 to 2022-23 in 
line with current delivery timetable and expenditure profile 

 increase in the total scheme budget though a growth bid of £625k allocated 
across financial years 2020-21 to 2022-23 and funded from HAZ grant of 
£470k and private sector contributions of £155k.  

8.4 Key capital projects within the scheme include the refurbishment of four key high 
street buildings (including Maryport Town Hall and the Maritime Museum), an 
extensive shopfront grant scheme and public realm works. The growth bid of £625k 
brings the total budget for the scheme to £905k. This is funded from the HAZ grant 
of £470k, private sector contributions of £155k, capital receipts of £150k and 
borrowing of £130k. 

Page 79



Workington - Towns funding scheme and Brow-top enhancement schemes (growth 
bid £750k) 

8.4 As part of Central government response to aid economic recovery from the Covid-
19 pandemic, the Authorty was invited to submit proposals for accelerated funding 
through the Towns Fund programme in respect of projects capable of being 
completed by the end of the current financial year.  

8.5 The Authority was notified in September of its success in securing funding of £750k, 
to fund a number of capital projects that are in line with the Towns Fund intervention 
framework. More specifically, the funding will be used to:  

 expand the existing Brow-top enhancement scheme to:  

 create a dedicated cycleway through the underpass between Central 
Way and the Brow Top car park, improve lighting and introduce 
Workington themed artwork to the walls of the underpass to make it more 
attractive for users  

 make public realm improvements to the Cloffocks area adjacent to 
Workington Leisure Centre by creating an outdoor events and activity 
area. This will include new pathways for walking and jogging, a new 
paved area to create a suitable space for a mobile big screen for public 
viewing of major events and high-quality outdoor gym equipment  

 support the proposed demolition and redevelopment of the former Opera House 
site in the town centre.  

Maryport Future High Streets initiative (growth bid £132k) 

8.6 The three year capital programme 2020-21 to 2022-23 approved in March 2020 
included £500k (£250k in 2021-22 and 2022-23) to support the programme of works 
being developed as part of the business case for the Maryport Future High Streets 
initiative. This expenditure is unfinanced and will be met from borrowing. 

8.7 A report setting out the detailed business case for the Regeneration of Maryport 
Town Centre was subsequently presented to the Council’s Executive on 15 July 
2020. Following approval of the business case and the Authority’s £724k 
contributions towards the capital costs of the scheme, the final business case was 
submitted to the Government's Future High Streets Fund team on July 30 2020. An 
announcement on the outcome of that submission is expected later this year. 

8.8 The growth bid of £132k included in the 2020-21 revised budget proposals, coupled 
with a reprofiling adjustment of £250k to move the existing budget of £250k from 
2022-23 to 2021-22 and £92k allocated from the Housing Improvements budget, 
brings the total capital budget (in 2021-22) to £724k. This represents the Authority’s 
contribution towards the capital costs of the scheme and aligns the budget provision 
with the contribution agreed by the Council’s Executive in July. Scheme costs to be 
financed from Future High Streets grant funding and from other (private sector) 
contributions are not currently included in the capital programme and any further 
adjustment to the capital budget to reflect those costs and related funding, remains 
subject to the outcome of the grant application process. 

 

Page 80



 Proposed revised capital programme 

8.9 The original three year capital budget, inclusive of the approved budget carry 
forward from 2019-20 is £17,835,418. This comprises planned expenditure of 
£14,690,282 in 2020-21, £1,611,000 in 2021-22 and £1,534,136 in 2022-23. 

8.10 The proposed revised three year capital budget of £15,997,384 is summarised in 
Table 26. This comprises the original capital budget of £17,835,418, net capital 
savings bids of £1,838,034 and re-profiling adjustments. 

Table 27: Proposed revised capital programme  

 
Current  
budget  

Budget 
change 

(new bids) 

Revised 
Budget  

Revised expenditure profile1 

2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Gross expenditure        

Economic Growth, Community 
Development & Placemaking 

11,407 (1,909) 9,498 8,071 1,027 400 

Finance & Legal  97 (47) 50 0 31 19 

Policy, Governance.& People 
Resources 

4,029 0 4,029 1,425 1,390 1,214 

Environmental Services  839 238 1,077 990 76 11 

Leisure  & Tourism 1,258 0 1,258 1,058 200 0 

Customer Experience & Innovation 205 (120) 85 85 0 0 

Total Expenditure: 17,835 (1,838) 15,997 11,629 2,724 1,644 

Financed by:        

External grant funding:       

Disabled Facilities Grant (BCF)  3,642 0 3,642 1,214 1,214 1,214 

SCP Housing grant 57 0 57 0 57 0 

ERDF grant 1,341 (1,341) 0 0 0 0 

LEP Growth Deal funding  1,600 0 1,600 1,600 0 0 

Contribution - Lillyhall 600 (600) 0 0 0 0 

Coastal Communities Fund  797 0 797 797 0 0 

Other grants - Workington Hall 150 0 150 150 0 0 

Other grants - Solway Coast  250 0 250 50 200 0 

Other grants /contributions 242 (10) 232 175 46 11 

Accelerated Towns Fund 0 750 750 750 0 0 

HAZ Grant 0 470 470 69 171 230 

HAZ -private sector contribution 0 155 155 32 69 54 

ABC resources & borrowing       

Capital Receipts 908 0 908 647 261 0 

General Fund 98 (4) 94 94 0 0 

Borrowing (unfinanced expend.) 8,053 (1,211) 6,842 6,051 675 116 

Credit Arrangements  97 (47) 50 0 31 19 

Total financing 17,835 (1,838) 15,997 11,629 2,724 1,644 

1 inclusive of re-profiling adjustments 

Page 81



Financing of Capital Expenditure  

8.11 The net capital savings bids of £1,838,034 outlined above will result in: 

 a net reduction in capital expenditure funded from grants of £575,694 

 a net reduction in the amount of capital expenditure funded from borrowing 
and credit arrangements of £1,258,196  

 a reduction in the use of general fund balances to fund the capital 
programme of £4,144.   

8.12 Expenditure which is unfinanced (and funded either from PWLB loans or internal 
borrowing) will require the Council to make an annual charge to its general fund to 
meet the capital cost of this expenditure. This charge, known as the minimum 
revenue provision (MRP), is calculated in accordance with the Council’s approved 
MRP policy and is normally charged from the financial year following the one in 
which the expenditure is incurred. Any expenditure which is unfinanced (i.e. met 
from borrowing) will therefore generate an increase in the amount of MRP included 
in the revenue budget. 

8.13 The draw-down of additional external loans, whether from the PWLB or another 
source, will also increase the amount of interest payable. Reductions in interest 
costs arising from the reduction in the amount of capital expenditure funded from 
borrowing are included within the savings bids outlined in section 6 of this report. 

Capital Resources 

8.14 The impact of the proposed revised capital programme and associated financing on 
the levels of capital resources (capital receipts and capital grants) available to the 
Council is summarised in table 28. The impact on the Council’s General Fund and 
Earmarked (General Fund) balances is set out in section 7 of this report. 

Table 28: Capital receipts and grants available to fund the capital programme 

 
Capital 

Receipts 

Grant & contributions 

Housing Non-housing 

£000 £000 £000 

Balance as at 31 March 2019 1,134 57 191 

Received in prior year (receipt in advance at 
31.3.20 

0 0 872 

Received during 2020-21 (YTD) 20 1,214 2 

Forecast to be received in 2020-21 0 0 2,749 

Available for allocation 1,154 1,271 3,814 

Allocation:    

Financing proposed capital budget 2020-21 (648) (1,214)  (3,623)  

Financing budget after 2021-22  (261) (57)  0 

Ring-fenced resources not yet brought into 
budget 

(45) 0 (191)  

Balance unallocated  200 0 0 

 

Page 82



8.15 The items identified as 'Ring-fenced resources’ comprise: 

 £45,000 relating to proceeds from the sale of Workington Hall Lodge, ring-
fenced for improvements to Hall Park 

 £191,213 relating to a number of specific capital grants. 

8.16 Capital receipts included in table 28 do not include anticipated receipts from 
property disposals or other (capital) transactions expected to be completed in 2020-
21. Capital receipts arising from the disposal of property or otherwise are not 
allocated to finance the capital programme until received. This avoids the potential 
impact on the Council’s general fund should the Council fail to realise the expected 
capital receipts and the past financing decisions need to be unwound. 

8.17 Any additional capital receipts received after the date of this report will be 
considered as part of the 2021-22 budget setting process.  

9.0 Impact on General Fund and Earmarked Reserve Balances 

General Fund balances  

9.1 The impact of the proposed revisions to the 2020-21 revenue and capital budgets 
on the Council’s general fund and earmarked general fund balances (Earmarked 
Reserves) is summarised in the following tables. 

Table 29: Estimated General Fund (GF) balances  

 

Original 
Budget 

Revised 
Budget 

Change 

£'000 £'000 £'000 

Opening Balances 3,357 3,357 0 

Adjustment to reflect the 2019-20 outturn position  (213) (213) 0 

Audited Balance at 1 April 2020 3,144 3,144 0 

Add: Release of Earmarked Reserves to GF 0 167 167 

Less: Approved use for 2020-21 capital programme1  (98) (94) 4 

Less: Use of GF to support 2020-21 Revenue Budget 0 (33) (33) 

Forecast balance at 31 March 2021 3,046 3,184 138 

Retained - Minimum Balance (2,700) (2,700) 0 

Available for Use 346 484 138 

1 budget carried forward from 2019-20 

 
Review of Earmarked Reserves  

9.2 The Council has a number of earmarked reserves, all of which have been created 
for a specific purpose. They include amounts:  

 set aside to meet planned future expenditure  

 retained for service departmental use – including budgets carried forward 
from prior years to meet known commitments  

 relating to unspent revenue grants where there are restrictions on use  

 set aside as a contingency to cushion the impact of unexpected events or 
transactions.  

Page 83



9.3 The original budgeted use of earmarked reserves was set before the 2019-20 
outturn position was confirmed and before the approval of budget carry forward 
requests. The revised budget therefore includes adjustments to reflect the available 
balance of reserves following determination of the 2019-20 outturn position and the 
expected timing of expenditure from earmarked reserves.  

9.4 The Earmarked Reserve Balance at 1 April 2020 of £3,248k, can be split as follows: 

 £1,948k held for service expenditure 

 £1,300k held for accounting purposes or as contingency against specified 
risks.  

9.5 The balance at 31 March 2020 is currently forecast to be spent as follows:  

Table 30 - Estimated Earmarked General Fund balances  

 

Original 
Budget 

Current 
Budget1 

Revised 
Budget 

£'000 £'000 £'000 

Opening Balances 1 April 2019 3,467 3,467 3,467 

Projected movement in 2019-20 (2,015) (2,015) (2,015) 

Adjustment to reflect the 2019-20 outturn position  0 1,796 1,796 

Balance at 1 April 2020 1,452 3,248 3,248 

Less: Release to General Fund 0 0 (167) 

Add Planned Contributions to Earmarked Reserves 65 65 65 

Add Planned Contributions –s 31 grant (NNDR) 0 0 6,160 

Less: Planned use in 2020-21 - revenue  (190) (1,855) (1,475) 

Less: Planned use in 2020-21 - capital  0 0 0 

Forecast balance at 31 March 2021 1,327 1,458 7,831 

1 adjusted to reflect 2019-20 outturn and budget carry forwards 

9.6 Earmarked reserves are subject to ongoing monitoring and review to ensure they 
are held in-line with Council priorities and that the balance remains at the 
appropriate level. Further details of the planned use of earmarked reserves are set 
out in Appendix D. 

10.0 Treasury Management 

Treasury Management activity  

10.1 A summary of treasury management activity during August and September and 
year to date, including details of investment and borrowing transactions and 
information about the Council’s investment and loan (borrowing) portfolios is 
contained in Appendix E. 

Treasury and Prudential Indicators 

10.2 The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Council to determine and keep under 
review, limits on how much money it can afford to borrow by way of loans and other 
forms of credit. The processes the Council must follow in setting these limits (the 
‘Authorised Limit for External Debt’) is set out in the Prudential Code for Capital 
Finance in Local Authorities to which the Council is required to ‘have regard to’ 

Page 84



under provisions contained in the 2003 Act. In addition to the Authorised Limit, 
CIPFA’s Prudential and Treasury Management Codes and accompanying sector 
guidance, include a number of other key treasury management indicators designed 
to support and record local decision making in connection with capital and treasury 
activities. 

10.3 The Council’s Authorised Borrowing Limit (the statutory limit on borrowing under the 
Local Government Act 2003), Operational Boundary (the limit beyond which 
external debt is not expected to exceed) and other indicators and limits required by 
CIPFA’s Prudential and Treasury Management Codes were set out in the Council’s 
Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy for 2020-21. 
This was approved by the Full Council on 4 March 2020. 

10.4 During the period August to September and year to date, the Council has operated 
within the limits established by the treasury and prudential indicators set out in the 
Council’s Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2020-21. 

10.5 Further information relating to the Council’s treasury management activities during 
the six month period ending 30 September 2020 and compliance with the approved 
treasury and prudential indicators for 2020-21, can be found in the Treasury 
Management Operations – Mid-year review 2020-21. This is presented as a 
separate item on the Council Agenda. 

11.0 Updated Medium Term Plan 
 

11.1 The Council’s medium term financial plan (MTFP) 2020-21 to 2022-23 has been 
updated to incorporate this revised budget. A copy of the updated plan will be 
presented to members as part of the 2022-23 Budget Strategy and Medium Term 
Financial Plan Update report.  

12.0  Delivery arrangements 

12.1 Not applicable to this decision/report 

13.0 Implications and Impact 

 Contribution to Council Strategy Priorities, Outputs and Outcomes  

13.1 The revenue budget is set to support the Council in achieving its priorities as set out 
in the Council Plan and to facilitate control of expenditure on its activities. Sound 
financial management is essential to successful delivery of the Council’s financial 
plans, achievement of value for money and the stewardship and safeguarding of 
public money. 

 Finance/Resource implications 

13.2 Financial issues and implications are included within the main body of this report. 

 Legal and governance implications  

13.3 The Authority has a statutory obligation to set (and maintain) a balanced budget.  

Page 85



 Risk analysis 

13.4 Not applicable to this decision/report. 

 Increasing satisfaction and service 

13.5 Not applicable to this decision/report. 

 Equality impacts 

13.6 Not applicable to this decision/report. 

 Health and Safety impacts 

13.7 Not applicable to this decision/report. 

 Health, wellbeing and community safety impacts 

13.8 Not applicable to this decision/report. 

 Environmental/sustainability impacts 

13.9 Not applicable to this decision/report. 

 Other significant implications 

13.10 There are no other significant implications arising from report. 

  

Page 86



Appendices attached to this report 

Appendix  Title of appendix 

Appendix A  Projected revenue outturn by portfolio  

Appendix B  Capital expenditure to date and forecast outturn  

Appendix C  Proposed revised capital budgets – 2020-21 to 2022-23 

Appendix D  Revised position on Earmarked Reserves 

Appendix E  Summary of Treasury Management Activity April to September 2020 

Background documents available 

Name of background document Where it is available 

None   

Report author(s) and contact officer(s): 

Catherine Nicholson 
Head of Financial Services  
telephone no: 01900-702503  
email: mailto:catherine.nicholson@allerdale.gov.uk 

Barry Lennox 
Financial Services Manager 
telephone no: 01900-7025086 
email: mailto:barry.lennox@allerdale.gov.uk  

Claire Felters 
Finance Business Partner  
telephone no: 01900-702505 
email: mailto:claire.felters@allerdale.gov.uk 

Page 87

mailto:catherine.nicholson@allerdale.gov.uk
mailto:barry.lennox@allerdale.gov.uk
mailto:claire.felters@allerdale.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 88



Approved 

Budget

Total Annual 

Budget

Projected Gross 

Outturn
Gross Variance

YE contr to 

reserve

Projected 

Outturn
Variance

REVENUE

Economic Growth, Community Development & Placemaking (204,406) (216,836) 637,982 854,818 25,000 662,982 879,818

Finance & Legal 5,054,694 4,957,483 4,681,474 (276,009) 0 4,681,474 (276,009)

Environmental Services 2,628,283 2,726,313 4,633,439 1,907,126 0 4,633,439 1,907,126

Policy, Governance & People Resources 2,684,668 2,749,154 2,671,651 (77,503) 40,000 2,711,651 (37,503)

Leisure & Tourism 350,915 323,415 276,804 (46,611) 0 276,804 (46,611)

Customer Experience & Innovation 2,287,606 2,262,231 2,685,875 423,644 0 2,685,875 423,644
REVENUE Sub Total 12,801,760 12,801,760 15,587,225 2,785,465 65,000 15,652,225 2,850,465

Parish Precepts 2,458,074 2,458,074 2,458,074 0 0 2,458,074 0

TOTAL REVENUE 15,259,834 15,259,834 18,045,299 2,785,465 65,000 18,110,299 2,850,465

RESERVE  FUNDED PROJECTS

Economic Growth, Community Development & Placemaking 19,000 604,519 581,691 (22,828) 0 581,691 (22,828)

Finance & Legal 100,000 250,173 140,475 (109,698) 0 140,475 (109,698)

Environmental Services 0 403,767 398,652 (5,115) 0 398,652 (5,115)

Policy, Governance & People Resources 51,600 305,580 106,006 (199,574) 0 106,006 (199,574)

Leisure & Tourism 0 60,596 60,596 0 0 60,596 0

Customer Experience & Innovation 19,000 230,621 187,324 (43,297) 0 187,324 (43,297)

TOTAL RESERVES 189,600 1,855,256 1,474,744 (380,512) 0 1,474,744 (380,512)

TOTAL 15,449,434 17,115,090 19,520,043 2,404,953 65,000 19,585,043 2,469,953

Portfolio

Net

Summary of Forecast Outturn by Portfolio

A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 A
  

P
age 89



Approved 

Budget

Total Annual 

Budget

Projected Gross 

Outturn
Gross Variance

YE contr to 

reserve

Projected 

Outturn
Variance

REVENUE

Corporate Property Maintenance 522,570 470,140 460,822 (9,318) 0 460,822 (9,318)

Tenanted Properties (217,120) (204,790) (204,790) 0 0 (204,790) 0

Industrial Units (236,060) (281,150) (281,153) (3) 0 (281,153) (3)

Other Land & Buildings (82,760) (73,720) (73,723) (3) 0 (73,723) (3)

Footway Maintenance 126,940 126,940 126,765 (175) 0 126,765 (175)

Coastal Protection & Inland Flooding 44,000 44,000 44,036 36 0 44,036 36

Camping & Caravan Sites (797,991) (797,991) (387,326) 410,665 0 (387,326) 410,665

Workington Town Centre (512,900) (492,350) (405,000) 87,350 0 (405,000) 87,350

Circuses & Fairs (5,700) (3,510) 0 3,510 0 0 3,510

Harrington Harbour 21,830 21,830 23,025 1,195 0 23,025 1,195

Building Control - Chargeable (343,940) (343,940) (317,126) 26,814 0 (317,126) 26,814

Planning and Development (560,250) (560,250) (418,117) 142,133 0 (418,117) 142,133

Public Building Cleaning 89,560 89,560 94,403 4,843 0 94,403 4,843

Public Conveniences 101,320 101,320 100,086 (1,234) 0 100,086 (1,234)

Markets (134,200) (134,200) (22,274) 111,926 0 (22,274) 111,926

Gypsy & Travellers 4,000 4,000 4,000 0 0 4,000 0

Festivals & Events 125,340 125,340 5,471 (119,869) 0 5,471 (119,869)

Car Parks Inspection 38,000 38,000 37,979 (21) 0 37,979 (21)

Building Control - Non-Chargeable 1,010 1,010 (7,022) (8,032) 0 (7,022) (8,032)

Corporate Property (26,000) (25,020) (25,015) 5 0 (25,015) 5

Town Centres 20,000 20,000 0 (20,000) 0 0 (20,000)

Multi Store Car Park Utility & Maintenance 117,910 117,910 88,529 (29,381) 25,000 113,529 (4,381)

Street Naming & Numbering (4,000) (4,000) (4,003) (3) 0 (4,003) (3)

Asset Transfer 50,000 50,000 50,000 0 0 50,000 0

Community Stadium 0 0 5,019 5,019 0 5,019 5,019

Housing Development 0 0 4,310 4,310 0 4,310 4,310

Place Development 0 0 (406) (406) 0 (406) (406)

Maryport FHS Project 0 12,500 18,062 5,562 0 18,062 5,562

Reedlands Road 0 0 269,677 269,677 0 269,677 269,677

Property Services Pay Group 208,930 208,930 208,328 (602) 0 208,328 (602)

Building Control Pay Group 306,030 306,030 305,931 (99) 0 305,931 (99)

Planning and Development Pay Group 394,610 394,610 354,280 (40,330) 0 354,280 (40,330)

Regeneration Pay Group 126,320 126,320 122,412 (3,908) 0 122,412 (3,908)

Head of Development Services 6,460 6,460 0 (6,460) 0 0 (6,460)

Business Support Unit 176,270 176,270 177,043 773 0 177,043 773

Estates 135,645 135,645 138,395 2,750 0 138,395 2,750

PORTFOLIO: ECONOMIC GROWTH, COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT & PLACEMAKING

Description

Net
A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 A
  

P
age 90



Approved 

Budget

Total Annual 

Budget

Projected Gross 

Outturn
Gross Variance

YE contr to 

reserve

Projected 

Outturn
Variance

PORTFOLIO: ECONOMIC GROWTH, COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT & PLACEMAKING

Description

Net

Programme Director for Maryport Regeneration 117,270 117,270 122,177 4,907 0 122,177 4,907

Disposal of Allerdale Sites 10,000 10,000 23,105 13,105 0 23,105 13,105

Social Impact Investment Fund (27,500) 0 0 0 0 0 0

Maryport HAZ 0 0 82 82 0 82 82

Total Revenue (204,406) (216,836) 637,982 854,818 25,000 662,982 879,818

RESERVES

Local Development Framework 0 3,798 3,798 0 0 3,798 0

Disposal of ABC Sites 0 7,553 7,553 0 0 7,553 0

Community Housing Fund 0 109,495 109,495 0 0 109,495 0

Gypsy & Traveller Sites 0 4,000 2,270 (1,730) 0 2,270 (1,730)

Towns Fund 0 162,019 162,019 0 0 162,019 0

Social Investment Fund 0 130,964 130,964 0 0 130,964 0

Corporate Property 0 9,433 9,433 0 0 9,433 0

Maryport Shop Front Scheme 0 20,485 20,485 0 0 20,485 0

Footway Lighting Scheme 19,000 19,060 19,986 926 0 19,986 926

MSCP Utilites & Main Fund 0 29,432 14,932 (14,500) 0 14,932 (14,500)

Community Stadium 0 25,000 25,000 0 0 25,000 0

Maryport Promenade 0 7,587 7,587 0 0 7,587 0

Future High Streets 0 75,693 68,169 (7,524) 0 68,169 (7,524)

Total Reserves 19,000 604,519 581,691 (22,828) 0 581,691 (22,828)

TOTAL (185,406) 387,683 1,219,673 831,990 25,000 1,244,673 856,990

A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 A
  

P
age 91



Approved 

Budget

Total Annual 

Budget

Projected Gross 

Outturn
Gross Variance

YE contr to 

reserve

Projected 

Outturn
Variance

REVENUE

Corporate Management 68,975 68,975 78,230 9,255 0 78,230 9,255

Banking and Interest 1,106,535 1,106,535 949,207 (157,328) 0 949,207 (157,328)

MRP & Finance Charges 1,177,808 1,177,808 1,133,998 (43,810) 0 1,133,998 (43,810)

Insurances 244,065 244,065 218,519 (25,546) 0 218,519 (25,546)

Contingencies 365,640 328,140 313,090 (15,050) 0 313,090 (15,050)

Licensing Service (184,660) (184,660) (166,587) 18,073 0 (166,587) 18,073

Land Charges Service (94,140) (94,140) (75,333) 18,807 0 (75,333) 18,807

Health and Safety 1,437 1,437 1,017 (420) 0 1,017 (420)

Food and Occupational Health (3,990) (3,990) (388) 3,602 0 (388) 3,602

Environmental Protection (16,150) (16,150) (14,575) 1,575 0 (14,575) 1,575

Pension Deficit 522,800 522,800 522,800 0 0 522,800 0

Council Tax Discounts 3,500 3,500 9,843 6,343 0 9,843 6,343

New Finance System 390,000 390,000 390,000 0 0 390,000 0

New Cash Receipting System 0 0 6,200 6,200 0 6,200 6,200

Internal Audit Pay Group 112,420 105,983 105,762 (221) 0 105,762 (221)

Finance and Accounting Pay Group 516,349 516,349 525,156 8,807 0 525,156 8,807

Licensing Pay Group 84,090 84,090 87,004 2,914 0 87,004 2,914

Legal Services 169,380 156,506 159,171 2,665 0 159,171 2,665

Head of Financial Services 74,660 74,660 85,288 10,628 0 85,288 10,628

Food Safety & Occupational Health 246,998 246,998 253,353 6,355 0 253,353 6,355

Environmental Protection 268,977 228,577 224,055 (4,522) 0 224,055 (4,522)

Business Grants COVID-19 0 0 (170,000) (170,000) 0 (170,000) (170,000)

COVID-19 General Costs 0 0 37,029 37,029 0 37,029 37,029

Council Tax Hardship Fund 0 0 8,635 8,635 0 8,635 8,635

Total Revenue 5,054,694 4,957,483 4,681,474 (276,009) 0 4,681,474 (276,009)

Parish Precepts 2,458,074 2,458,074 2,458,074 0 0 2,458,074 0

RESERVES

Legal Counsel 0 61,112 54,684 (6,428) 0 54,684 (6,428)

Risk Management 0 3,270 0 (3,270) 0 0 (3,270)

Direct Debits & System Developments 0 27,576 27,576 0 0 27,576 0

Transfer of Land Charges Data 0 624 624 0 0 624 0

Legal advice re GDPR 0 16,430 16,430 0 0 16,430 0

ICT Audit Work 0 6,161 6,161 0 0 6,161 0

New Finance System 100,000 100,000 0 (100,000) 0 0 (100,000)

Waste Services - Legal Costs 0 35,000 35,000 0 0 35,000 0

Total Reserves 100,000 250,173 140,475 (109,698) 0 140,475 (109,698) 

TOTAL 7,612,768 7,665,730 7,280,023 (385,707) 0 7,280,023 (385,707) 

PORTFOLIO: FINANCE & LEGAL

Description

Net
A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 A
  

P
age 92



Approved 

Budget

Total Annual 

Budget

Projected Gross 

Outturn
Gross Variance

YE contr to 

reserve

Projected 

Outturn
Variance

REVENUE

Confidential Waste 3,600 3,600 3,822 222 0 3,822 222

Bereavement Services (143,760) (143,760) (140,462) 3,298 0 (140,462) 3,298

Parks and Grounds Maintenance 396,940 396,940 405,678 8,738 0 405,678 8,738

Street Cleansing 997,360 997,360 985,696 (11,664) 0 985,696 (11,664)

Animal Welfare 41,695 41,695 52,615 10,920 0 52,615 10,920

Pest Control 5,543 4,730 20,318 15,588 0 20,318 15,588

Domestic Waste 1,372,505 1,836,472 1,894,368 57,896 0 1,894,368 57,896

Trade Waste (797,115) (747,504) (274,165) 473,339 0 (274,165) 473,339

Recycling 486,553 934,847 1,043,845 108,998 0 1,043,845 108,998

Environmental Initiatives 43,210 43,210 43,210 0 0 43,210 0

Off-street - Owned Car Parks (2,099,098) (2,099,098) (1,003,352) 1,095,746 0 (1,003,352) 1,095,746

Multi-storey Car Park 32,855 32,855 246,564 213,709 0 246,564 213,709

Off-street - Managed Car Parks (60,000) (60,000) (27,425) 32,575 0 (27,425) 32,575

Sports & Leisure Centres 574,920 574,920 645,198 70,278 0 645,198 70,278

Sports Development 41,700 41,700 40,669 (1,031) 0 40,669 (1,031)

Maryport Wave 184,728 184,728 185,856 1,128 0 185,856 1,128

Supporting Leisure Activity 15,000 15,000 15,000 0 0 15,000 0

Workington Nature Partnership 15,040 15,040 15,754 714 0 15,754 714

Allerdale Fleet 72,817 74,170 52,231 (21,939) 0 52,231 (21,939)

Maryport Open Space improvements S106 0 0 2,146 2,146 0 2,146 2,146

Major Contract Procurement 0 0 134 134 0 134 134

Waste Company 879,950 83,338 66,715 (16,623) 0 66,715 (16,623)

Head of Community Services 67,770 0 2,807 2,807 0 2,807 2,807

Community Services Pay group 496,070 496,070 196,570 (299,500) 0 196,570 (299,500)

Sport Parks Development 0 0 74,297 74,297 0 74,297 74,297

Bereavement Services 0 0 85,350 85,350 0 85,350 85,350

Total Revenue 2,628,283 2,726,313 4,633,439 1,907,126 0 4,633,439 1,907,126

RESERVES

Post Funding - End In 0 7,016 7,016 0 0 7,016 0

Bereavement Services 0 6,636 6,636 0 0 6,636 0

Clean Streets Campaign 0 5,115 0 (5,115) 0 0 (5,115)

Allerdale Waste Services 0 375,000 375,000 0 0 375,000 0

Bin Audit Project 0 10,000 10,000 0 0 10,000 0

Total Reserves 0 403,767 398,652 (5,115) 0 398,652 (5,115)

TOTAL 2,628,283 3,130,080 5,032,091 1,902,011 0 5,032,091 1,902,011

PORTFOLIO : ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES

Description

Net
A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 A
  

P
age 93



Approved Budget
Total Annual 

Budget

Projected Gross 

Outturn
Gross Variance

YE contr to 

reserve

Projected 

Outturn
Variance

REVENUE

Communications and Marketing 38,500 38,500 38,500 0 0 38,500 0

Training 73,010 73,010 68,010 (5,000) 0 68,010 (5,000)

Corporate Recruitment 5,000 5,000 5,008 8 0 5,008 8

Pensions 155,500 155,500 164,715 9,215 0 164,715 9,215

Mayoral Services 12,630 12,630 12,630 0 0 12,630 0

Mayor's Fund 3,000 3,000 0 (3,000) 0 0 (3,000)

Members Services 245,280 245,280 227,556 (17,724) 0 227,556 (17,724)

Leaders Services 29,410 29,410 29,131 (279) 0 29,131 (279)

Electoral Registration 50,000 50,000 44,967 (5,033) 0 44,967 (5,033)

Elections 45,000 45,000 23,234 (21,766) 40,000 63,234 18,234

Corporate Improvement Team 24,020 24,020 23,986 (34) 0 23,986 (34)

Housing Strat Function (1,040) (1,040) (2,172) (1,132) 0 (2,172) (1,132)

Homelessness 22,680 1,790 4,868 3,078 0 4,868 3,078

Assistance - Housing Services (81,500) (81,500) (65,418) 16,082 0 (65,418) 16,082

Strategic Partnership 32,980 32,980 36,198 3,218 0 36,198 3,218

Grants to Voluntary Organisation 60,329 60,329 60,329 0 0 60,329 0

Planning Policy 42,150 42,150 41,864 (286) 0 41,864 (286)

Localities and Partnerships 7,995 7,995 7,636 (359) 0 7,636 (359)

Leaders Portfolio 10,000 10,000 10,000 0 0 10,000 0

Cumbria CBL Partnership 10,000 10,000 10,000 0 0 10,000 0

Moorclose Community Centre 10,000 10,000 10,000 0 0 10,000 0

Partnership & Collaboration 10,000 10,000 0 (10,000) 0 0 (10,000)

LGR Options Appraisal 0 37,500 50,000 12,500 0 50,000 12,500

Human Resources Pay Group 150,990 150,990 156,680 5,690 0 156,680 5,690

Democratic Services Pay Group 144,140 144,140 147,059 2,919 0 147,059 2,919

Head of Governance 31,550 31,550 83,210 51,660 0 83,210 51,660

Director of Resources & PA 155,110 155,110 52,491 (102,619) 0 52,491 (102,619)

Chief Executive & PA 183,140 183,140 185,229 2,089 0 185,229 2,089

Governance Support Assistants 75,800 75,800 69,936 (5,864) 0 69,936 (5,864)

Elections - Pay Group 94,120 94,120 96,030 1,910 0 96,030 1,910

Strategy, Policy & Performance 575,380 568,943 581,912 12,969 0 581,912 12,969

Head of Strategy, Policy & Performance 67,760 67,760 70,758 2,998 0 70,758 2,998

Housing Improvement 154,430 194,830 197,539 2,709 0 197,539 2,709

Emergency Planning, H&S & Homelessness 247,304 240,867 204,961 (35,906) 0 204,961 (35,906)

PORTFOLIO : POLICY, GOVERNANCE & PEOPLE RESOURCES

Description

Net

A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 A
  

P
age 94



Approved Budget
Total Annual 

Budget

Projected Gross 

Outturn
Gross Variance

YE contr to 

reserve

Projected 

Outturn
Variance

PORTFOLIO : POLICY, GOVERNANCE & PEOPLE RESOURCES

Description

Net

PCC Election 2020 0 0 3,436 3,436 0 3,436 3,436

PARO 2020 0 0 1,018 1,018 0 1,018 1,018

Prevention Fund 0 20,350 20,350 0 0 20,350 0

Total Revenue 2,684,668 2,749,154 2,671,651 (77,503) 40,000 2,711,651 (37,503)

RESERVES

IER Work - Elections 9,000 9,000 4,500 (4,500) 0 4,500 (4,500)

Planning Policy 0 5,952 5,952 0 0 5,952 0

Allerdale Options 5,000 5,000 2,000 (3,000) 0 2,000 (3,000)

Health & Well-being Group 0 3,112 20 (3,092) 0 20 (3,092)

Licensing Service Re-design 0 600 600 0 0 600 0

Corporate Priorities-Credit Union 37,600 37,600 37,600 0 0 37,600 0

SBCB 0 49,767 4,000 (45,767) 0 4,000 (45,767)

Grant Homeless Prevention 0 10,250 10,250 0 0 10,250 0

Rogue Landlord Fund 0 7,429 0 (7,429) 0 0 (7,429)

Homelessness 0 18,700 0 (18,700) 0 0 (18,700)

Strategic Priorities 0 115,182 20,182 (95,000) 0 20,182 (95,000)

Corporate Improvement Team 0 22,086 0 (22,086) 0 0 (22,086)

Arcus - Environmental Health 0 4,293 4,293 0 0 4,293 0

Cumbria CBL Partnership 0 6,609 6,609 0 0 6,609 0

Moorclose Community Centre 0 10,000 10,000 0 0 10,000 0

Total Reserves 51,600 305,580 106,006 (199,574) 0 106,006 (199,574)

TOTAL 2,736,268 3,054,734 2,777,657 (277,077) 40,000 2,817,657 (237,077)

A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 A
  

P
age 95



Approved 

Budget

Total Annual 

Budget

Projected Gross 

Outturn
Gross Variance

YE contr to 

reserve

Projected 

Outturn
Variance

REVENUE

Silloth TIC 10,750 10,750 3,365 (7,385) 0 3,365 (7,385)

Contribution to AONB 31,200 31,200 31,200 0 0 31,200 0

Museums 48,835 48,835 48,835 0 0 48,835 0

Arts Development 10,150 10,150 10,318 168 0 10,318 168

Carnegie Trust 75,000 75,000 75,000 0 0 75,000 0

Tourism Incentive 85,000 57,500 57,500 0 0 57,500 0

Tourism Pay group 53,500 53,500 53,892 392 0 53,892 392

Solway  AONB Core 36,480 36,480 (3,481) (39,961) 0 (3,481) (39,961)

Solway AONB Other Projects 0 0 175 175 0 175 175

Total Revenue 350,915 323,415 276,804 (46,611) 0 276,804 (46,611)

RESERVES

Solway AONB 0 54,661 54,661 0 0 54,661 0

Remembering the Solway 0 5,935 5,935 0 0 5,935 0

Total Reserves 0 60,596 60,596 0 0 60,596 0

TOTAL 350,915 384,011 337,400 (46,611) 0 337,400 (46,611)

PORTFOLIO : LEISURE & TOURISM

Description

Net
A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 A
  

P
age 96



Approved 

Budget

Total Annual 

Budget

Projected Gross 

Outturn
Gross Variance

YE contr to 

reserve

Projected 

Outturn
Variance

REVENUE

IT Services 350,837 350,837 437,859 87,022 0 437,859 87,022

Shared Revenues & Benefits IT Costs 82,584 82,584 85,275 2,691 0 85,275 2,691

Multi-functional Printers 10,530 10,530 11,141 611 0 11,141 611

Revenue (349,240) (349,240) (259,711) 89,529 0 (259,711) 89,529

Benefits (535,721) (535,721) (519,791) 15,930 0 (519,791) 15,930

Shared Revs & Bens 113,500 113,500 109,425 (4,075) 0 109,425 (4,075)

Community Safety 10,000 10,000 10,000 0 0 10,000 0

Emergency Planning 20,914 20,914 18,799 (2,115) 0 18,799 (2,115)

Shared ICT Costs 49,700 49,700 49,374 (326) 0 49,374 (326)

Referral Centre 5,000 5,000 5,000 0 0 5,000 0

Corporate Postage & Stationery 134,030 134,030 134,030 0 0 134,030 0

Allerdale Local Focus Hub 53,780 53,780 29,206 (24,574) 0 29,206 (24,574)

Lillyhall Project 0 36,640 36,352 (288) 0 36,352 (288)

Shared IT Services Pay Group 301,590 295,153 257,109 (38,044) 0 257,109 (38,044)

Customer Services Pay Group 479,659 479,659 469,214 (10,445) 0 469,214 (10,445)

Head of Customer, Transformation, Commissioning 74,650 74,650 80,105 5,455 0 80,105 5,455

Customer & Transformation 488,230 432,652 451,289 18,637 0 451,289 18,637

Revs, Bens & Recovery Pay group 863,150 863,150 889,916 26,766 0 889,916 26,766

Head of Programmes & Projects 69,060 69,060 73,020 3,960 0 73,020 3,960

Street Scene 0 0 117,633 117,633 0 117,633 117,633

Ferris Maintenance Fund 0 0 (7,780) (7,780) 0 (7,780) (7,780)

Universal Credit 0 0 (6,280) (6,280) 0 (6,280) (6,280)

Arcus 65,353 65,353 63,554 (1,799) 0 63,554 (1,799)

Telco in a Box (TIAB) 0 0 (2,250) (2,250) 0 (2,250) (2,250)

COVID-19 Homelessness 0 0 153,386 153,386 0 153,386 153,386

Total Revenue 2,287,606 2,262,231 2,685,875 423,644 0 2,685,875 423,644

RESERVES

Shared Revs & Bens 0 38,297 0 (38,297) 0 0 (38,297)
Major Incident Response 14,000 25,000 20,000 (5,000) 0 20,000 (5,000)

IT Services-Corporate Printers 5,000 5,000 5,000 0 0 5,000 0

IT Services  0 34,780 34,780 0 0 34,780 0

ARCUS System 0 127,544 127,544 0 0 127,544 0

Total Reserves 19,000 230,621 187,324 (43,297) 0 187,324 (43,297)

TOTAL 2,306,606 2,492,852 2,873,199 380,347 0 2,873,199 380,347

PORTFOLIO : CUSTOMER EXPERIENCE & INNOVATION

Description

Net
A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 A
  

P
age 97



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 98



Appendix B

Actual Commitments Projected

Approved  Virements / Current Year (PO's Raised Department Projected Outturn

Budget Adjustments Budget to Date but not yet paid)  Forecast Outturn  Variance Budget C/F  Variance

Description £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Economic Growth, Community Development & Placemaking

Strategic Acquisitions 179,329 200,000 0 379,329 0 0 0 0 (379,329) 379,329 0

Demolition Moorclose Sport Centre 0 22,037 0 22,037 0 0 0 0 (22,037) 0 (22,037)

Lillyhall -Infrastructure 2,200,000 0 0 2,200,000 0 0 1,600,000 1,600,000 (600,000) 0 (600,000)

Reedlands Road Development 2,481,173 82,779 0 2,563,952 10,524 0 (10,524) 0 (2,563,952) 0 (2,563,952)

Riverbank Works - Millfield Workington 0 26,495 0 26,495 (2,780) 2,780 26,500 26,500 5 0 5

Maryport Regeneration (HAZ) 150,000 0 130,000 280,000 0 0 58,750 58,750 (221,250) 221,250 0

Regeneration and investment 5,000,000 0 0 5,000,000 0 0 600,000 600,000 (4,400,000) 4,400,000 0

Markets - plant and equipment 50,000 0 0 50,000 0 22,639 0 22,639 (27,361) 0 (27,361)

Solar Panels 50,000 0 0 50,000 0 0 0 0 (50,000) 50,000 0

Kirkgate Centre Contribution 50,000 50,000 0 100,000 0 0 0 0 (100,000) 100,000 0

Workington Hall Repair Scheme 176,668 16,961 0 193,629 0 211,522 0 211,522 17,893 0 17,893

Public Toilets Review Works 0 41,236 0 41,236 28,291 721 12,300 41,312 76 0 76

Maryport Future High Streets Initiative 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL - Econ. Growth, Community Develop. & Placemaking 10,337,170 439,508 130,000 10,906,678 36,035 237,662 2,287,026 2,560,723 (8,345,955) 5,150,579 (3,195,376)

Finance and Legal

Leased Assets - property, vehicles & equipment 47,000 0 0 47,000 0 0 0 0 (47,000) 0 (47,000)

TOTAL 47,000 0 0 47,000 0 0 0 0 (47,000) 0 (47,000)

Policy, Governance and People Resources

Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants 1,214,000 0 0 1,214,000 134,279 0 818,527 952,805 (261,195) 261,195 0

Healthy Homes (Empty Homes) 151,568 49,670 (130,000) 71,238 12,426 0 58,483 70,909 (329) 0 (329)

Discretionary Grants 50,000 0 0 50,000 0 0 0 0 (50,000) 50,000 0

Conversion of Otley Road 90,000 40,000 0 130,000 0 0 130,000 130,000 0 0 0

Ladore Toilets - conversion 44,500 0 0 44,500 0 545 9,455 10,000 (34,500) 34,500 0

Housing Improvement Projects 0 91,938 0 91,938 0 0 0 0 (91,938) 91,938 0

TOTAL - Policy, Governance and People Resources 1,550,068 181,608 (130,000) 1,601,676 146,704 545 1,016,465 1,163,714 (437,962) 437,633 (329)

Environmental Services 

Waste Contract - vehicle & Bin acquisition costs 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Reinstatement of Public Right of Way - Maryport 100,000 0 0 100,000 0 0 100,000 100,000 0 0 0

Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure programmes 154,907 25,000 0 179,907 2,140 5,277 172,490 179,907 0 0 0

Keswick Car Park - Enhancement 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Dearham Cemetary 0 10,000 0 10,000 0 7,250 2,750 10,000 0 0 0

LATCo - vehicles and Equipment 40,630 0 0 40,630 0 0 23,100 23,100 (17,530) 0 (17,530)

Car Park - signage and equipment 0 16,427 0 16,427 6,281 5416 0 11,697 (4,730) 0 (4,730)

Highfield Community Centre 0 6,750 0 6,750 0 0 6,750 6,750 0 0 0

Brow-Top Enhancement Schemes 170,000 228,177 0 398,177 3,608 70,357 330,210 404,175 5,998 0 5,998

TOTAL - Environmental Services 465,537 286,354 0 751,891 12,029 88,300 635,300 735,629 (16,262) 0 (16,262)

Leisure and Tourism

Solway Coast Pathway 769,780 276,949 0 1,046,729 58,193 26,185 762,351 846,729 (200,000) 200,000 (0)

Helena Thompson Museum Development 0 211,308 0 211,308 0 4,320 207,000 211,320 12 0 12

TOTAL -Leisure and Tourism 769,780 488,257 0 1,258,037 58,193 30,505 969,351 1,058,049 (199,988) 200,000 12

Customer Experience and Innovation

ICT - Server Infrastructure 85,000 0 0 85,000 0 0 85,000 85,000 0 0 0

IT Equipment 40,000 0 0 40,000 0 0 0 0 (40,000) 0 (40,000)

TOTAL - Customer Experience and Innovation 125,000 0 0 125,000 0 0 85,000 85,000 (40,000) 0 (40,000)

Total Expenditure 13,294,555.00 1,395,727.00 0.00 14,690,282.00 252,961 357,012 4,993,142 5,603,115 (9,087,167) 5,788,212 (3,298,955)

Capital Budget Monitoring 2020/21 - Period April to Sept 2020

Carry fwd from 

2019/20

P
age 99



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 100



Proposed Revised Three-year Capital Programme 2020/21 to 2022/23 Appendix C

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Description £ £ £ £ £ £ £

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

Economic Growth, Community Development & Placemaking

Strategic Acquisitions 379,329 0 379,329 379,329 0 0

Demolition Moorclose Sport Centre 22,037 (22,037) 0 0 0 0

Lillyhall -Infrastructure 2,200,000 600,000 (600,000) 2,200,000 2,200,000 0 0

Reedlands Road Development 2,563,952 (2,563,952) 0 0 0 0

Riverbank Works - Millfield Workington 26,495 0 26,495 26,495 0 0

Maryport Regeneration (HAZ) 280,000 625,000 905,000 160,000 345,000 400,000

Regeneration and investment 5,000,000 (600,000) 0 4,400,000 4,400,000 0 0

Markets - plant and equipment 50,000 0 50,000 50,000 0 0

Solar Panels 50,000 0 50,000 0 50,000 0

Kirkgate Centre Contribution 100,000 0 100,000 100,000 0 0

Workington Hall Repair Scheme 193,629 17,893 211,522 211,522 0 0

Public Toilets Review Works 41,236 0 41,236 41,236 0 0

Maryport Future High Streets initiative 500,000 132,062 632,062 0 632,062 0

Workington - Towns funding scheme 0 502,136 502,136 502,136 0 0

TOTAL 11,406,678 0 (1,908,898) 9,497,780 8,070,718 1,027,062 400,000

Finance and Legal

Leased Assets - property, vehicles & equipment 97,000 (47,000) 50,000 0 31,000 19,000

TOTAL 97,000 0 (47,000) 50,000 0 31,000 19,000

Policy, Governance and People Resources

Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants 3,642,000 0 3,642,000 1,214,000 1,214,000 1,214,000

Healthy Homes (Empty Homes) 71,238 0 71,238 71,238 0 0

Discretionary Grants 50,000 0 50,000 0 50,000 0

Conversion of Otley Road 130,000 0 130,000 130,000 0 0

Ladore Toilets - conversion 44,500 0 44,500 10,000 34,500 0

Housing Improvement Projects 91,938 0 91,938 0 91,938 0

TOTAL 4,029,676 0 0 4,029,676 1,425,238 1,390,438 1,214,000

Environmental Services 

Reinstatement of Public Right of Way - Maryport 100,000 0 100,000 100,000 0 0

Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure programmes 267,043 0 267,043 179,907 76,000 11,136

Dearham Cemetary 10,000 0 10,000 10,000 0 0

LATCo - vehicles and Equipment 40,630 0 40,630 40,630 0 0

Car Park - signage and equipment 16,427 0 16,427 16,427 0 0

Highfield Community Centre 6,750 0 6,750 6,750 0 0

Brow-Top Enhancement Schemes 398,177 237,864 636,041 636,041 0 0

TOTAL 839,027 0 237,864 1,076,891 989,755 76,000 11,136

Leisure and Tourism

Solway Coast Pathway 1,046,729 0 1,046,729 846,729 200,000 0

Helena Thompson Museum Development 211,308 0 211,308 211,308 0 0

TOTAL 1,258,037 0 0 1,258,037 1,058,037 200,000 0

Customer Experience and Innovation

ICT - Server Infrastructure 85,000 0 85,000 85,000 0 0

IT Equipment 120,000 (120,000) 0 0 0 0

TOTAL 205,000 0 (120,000) 85,000 85,000 0 0

17,835,418 0 (1,838,034) 15,997,384 11,628,748 2,724,500 1,644,136

FINANCING

DFG Housing Grant 3,642,000 0 3,642,000 1,214,000 1,214,000 1,214,000

SCP Housing Grant 57,139 0 57,139 0 57,139 0

ERDF grant - Reedlands Road Development 1,340,694 (1,340,694) 0 0 0 0

LEP Growth Deal funding - Lillyhall Development 1,600,000 0 1,600,000 1,600,000 0 0

Contribution - Lillyhall 600,000 (600,000) 0 0 0 0

Coastal Communities Fund grant - Solway Coast Pathway 796,729 0 796,729 796,729 0 0

Other grants - Solway Coast Pathway 250,000 0 250,000 50,000 200,000 0

Other grants and contributions - Workington  Hall 150,000 0 150,000 150,000 0 0

Other Contributions 70,000 (10,000) 60,000 60,000 0 0

HLF grant 172,043 0 172,043 114,907 46,000 11,136

Accelerated Towns Fund 0 750,000 750,000 750,000 0 0

HAZ funding - Grant 0 470,000 470,000 68,750 171,500 229,750

HAZ funding -Pte sector contribution 0 155,000 155,000 32,500 68,500 54,000

8,678,605 0 (575,694) 8,102,911 4,836,886 1,757,139 1,508,886

Capital Receipts 908,067 0 908,067 647,518 260,549 0

General Fund Balances 97,821 (4,144) 93,677 93,677 0 0

Prudential Borrowing 8,053,925 (1,211,196) 6,842,729 6,050,667 675,812 116,250

Credit Arrangements - capital leases 97,000 (47,000) 50,000 0 31,000 19,000

9,156,813 0 (1,262,340) 7,894,473 6,791,862 967,361 135,250

17,835,418 0 (1,838,034) 15,997,384 11,628,748 2,724,500 1,644,136

Proposed 

Revised 

Budget 

Proposed 

Revised 

Budget 

Current 

Budget 
Reallocations 

Net Budget 

Changes (new 

bids)

 Proposed 

Revised 

Budget

Proposed 

Revised 

Budget 

Page 101



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 102



Appendix D

Reserves
Balance at 

01/04/2020
Current Budget

Budget 

Adjustment

Revised Budget 

2020/21

Contributions to 

Reserves

Released to 

General Fund

Balance at 

31/03/2021

Forecasted Spend 

2021/22 onwards

Held as Accounting/

Contingency

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Local Development Framework 3,798 3,798 0 3,798 0 0 0 0 0

Community Housing Fund 109,495 109,495 0 109,495 0 0 0 0 0

Gypsy & Traveller Sites 4,000 4,000 (1,730) 2,270 0 0 1,730 1,730 0

Corporate Property 9,433 9,433 0 9,433 0 0 0 0 0

Community Stadium 25,000 25,000 0 25,000 0 0 0 0 0

Disposal of Allerdale Sites 7,553 7,553 0 7,553 0 0 0 0 0

Shop Front Improvements 20,485 20,485 0 20,485 0 0 0 0 0

Footway Lighting Scheme 40,007 19,060 926 19,986 0 0 20,021 20,021 0

MSCP Utilities & Maintenance fund 54,432 29,432 (14,500) 14,932 25,000 (14,500) 50,000 50,000 0

Maryport Promenade 7,587 7,587 0 7,587 0 0 0 0 0

Future High Streets 75,693 75,693 (7,524) 68,169 0 0 7,524 7,524 0

Towns Fund 162,019 162,019 162,019 0 0 0 0 0

Social Investment Fund 130,964 130,964 130,964 0 0 0 0 0

650,466 604,519 (22,828) 581,691 25,000 (14,500) 79,275 79,275 0

Legal Counsel 61,113 61,112 (6,428) 54,684 0 (6,429) 0 0 0

Risk Management/Insurance 3,271 3,270 (3,270) 0 0 (3,271) 0 0 0

Financial System Developments 27,576 27,576 0 27,576 0 0 0 0 0

Transfer of Land Charges Data 624 624 0 624 0 0 0 0 0

Legal advice re GDPR 16,430 16,430 0 16,430 0 0 0 0 0

ICT Audit Work 6,161 6,161 0 6,161 0 0 0 0 0

New Finance System 100,000 100,000 (100,000) 0 0 0 100,000 100,000 0

Waste Services - Legal Costs 35,000 35,000 0 35,000 0 0 0 0 0

250,175 250,173 (109,698) 140,475 0 (9,700) 100,000 100,000 0

Solway AONB 54,661 54,661 0 54,661 0 0 0 0 0

Remembering the Solway 5,935 5,935 0 5,935 0 0 0 0 0

60,596 60,596 0 60,596 0 0 0 0 0

Post Funding - Env Initiatives 7,016 7,016 0 7,016 0 0 0 0 0

Allerdale Waste Services 375,000 375,000 0 375,000 0 0 0 0 0

Bin Audit Project 10,000 10,000 0 10,000 0 0 0 0 0

Bereavement Serv - system upgrade 6,636 6,636 0 6,636 0 0 0 0 0

Clean Streets Campaign 5,115 5,115 (5,115) 0 0 0 5,115 5,115 0

403,767 403,767 (5,115) 398,652 0 0 5,115 5,115 0

Earmarked Reserves

Leisure & Tourism

Economic Growth, Community Development & Placemaking

Finance & Legal

Environmental Services

P
age 103



Reserves
Balance at 

01/04/2020
Current Budget

Budget 

Adjustment

Revised Budget 

2020/21

Contributions to 

Reserves

Released to 

General Fund

Balance at 

31/03/2021

Forecasted Spend 

2021/22 onwards

Held as Accounting/

Contingency

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Provision for Elections 0 0 0 40,000 0 40,000 40,000 0

Planning Policy 5,952 5,952 5,952 0 0 0 0 0

IER work -Elections 9,000 9,000 (4,500) 4,500 0 (4,500) 0 0 0

Allerdale Options 5,000 5,000 (3,000) 2,000 0 (3,000) 0 0 0

Health & Well-being Group 3,113 3,112 (3,092) 20 0 0 3,093 3,093 0

Corporate Transformation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Corporate Priorities-Credit Union 37,600 37,600 0 37,600 0 0 0 0 0

SBCB 49,767 49,767 (45,767) 4,000 0 0 45,767 45,767 0

Grant Homeless Prevention 10,250 10,250 0 10,250 0 0 0 0 0

Rogue Landlord Fund 7,429 7,429 (7,429) 0 0 0 7,429 7,429 0

Homelessness 18,700 18,700 (18,700) 0 0 (18,700) 0 0 0

ARCUS - Environmental Health 4,293 4,293 0 4,293 0 0 0 0 0

Cumbria CBL Partnership 6,609 6,609 0 6,609 0 0 0 0 0

Moorclose Community Centre 10,000 10,000 0 10,000 0 0 0 0 0

Strategic Priorities 115,182 115,182 (95,000) 20,182 0 (95,000) 0 0 0

Corporate Improvement Team Misc 22,086 22,086 (22,086) 0 0 (22,086) 0 0 0

Licensing Service Re-design 600 600 0 600 0 0 0 0 0

305,581 305,580 (199,574) 106,006 40,000 (143,286) 96,289 96,289 0

Shared Revs & Bens 38,297 38,297 (38,297) 0 0 0 38,297 38,297 0

Major Incident Response 63,748 25,000 (5,000) 20,000 0 0 43,748 43,748 0

ICT Infrastructure Costs 25,000 25,000 0 25,000 0 0 0 0 0

ICT Training 9,780 9,780 0 9,780 0 0 0 0 0

IT Services - corporate printers 13,229 5,000 0 5,000 0 0 8,229 8,229 0

ARCUS System 127,544 127,544 0 127,544 0 0 0 0 0

277,598 230,621 (43,297) 187,324 0 0 90,274 90,274 0

NNDR Rate Pool Volatility Fund 144,714 0 0 0 0 0 144,714 0 144,714

Business Rate Income 321,000 0 0 0 0 0 321,000 0 321,000

Section 31 NNDR 360,000 0 0 0 6,159,593 0 6,519,593 6,159,593 360,000

Enterprise Answers Loan & Accrued Interest 437,099 0 0 0 0 0 437,099 0 437,099

Hugh Barbour Bequest 8,661 0 0 0 0 0 8,661 0 8,661

Emergency Planning - Flooding 28,260 0 0 0 0 0 28,260 0 28,260

1,299,734 0 0 0 6,159,593 0 7,459,327 6,159,593 1,299,734

Total Earmarked Reserves 3,247,917 1,855,256 (380,512) 1,474,744 6,224,593 (167,486) 7,830,280 6,530,546 1,299,734

Customer Experience & Innovation

Corporate resources - * held for accounting purposes or as contingency against specific risks

Policy, Governance & People Resources

P
age 104



Appendix E

Summary of Treasury Management Activity - April to September 2020

 Investment Activity August to September 2020  Investment Activity 2020-21 year to date  

Made Repaid Made Repaid

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Call Accounts AA 2,000 3,092 (2,280) 2,812 Call Accounts  AA- 1,386 9,641 (8,215) 2,812

Call Accounts A+/A/A- 4,302 1,894 (1,212) 4,984 Call Accounts  A+/A/A- 1,750 12,106 (8,872) 4,984

Notice Accounts (DMO) AA- 0 0 0 0 Notice Accounts (DMO) AA- 0 92,415 (92,415) 0

Money Market Funds AAA 11,475 10,065 (11,410) 10,130 Money Market Funds AAA 5,856 39,719 (35,445) 10,130

Equity Shares Not rated 11 0 0 11 Equity Shares Not rated 11 0 0 11

Total 17,788 15,051 (14,902) 17,937 9,003 153,881 (144,947) 17,937

Comment:

At 30 September 2020  investment balances totalled £17.937m. This compares with a balance of £9.003m at 31 March 2020 and £17.788m at 31 July 2020.  The average investment balance during 

the period was £20.139m. The average daily investment for first six months of 2020/21 was  £23,758m . This compares with an average of the corresponding period last year was £11.607m.  

Underpinning this increase in average investment balances during the period were cash flows associated with the range of measures implemented by central government  in response to COVID-19.

In accordance with the Council's approved Investment Strategy, all investments made during the period and year to date were restricted to approved investment instruments with counterparties

holding minimum credit ratings of A-. The term of all investments made did not exceed the maximum permitted durations determined by reference to the creditworthiness of the counterparty. 

Borrowing Activity August to September  2020 Borrowing Activity 2020-21 year to date 

New 

Borrowing

Borrowing 

Repaid
01-Apr-20

New 

Borrowing

Borrowing 

Repaid
30-Sep-20

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Long-term Long-term

PWLB – fixed rates 17,165 0 (259) 16,906 PWLB – fixed rates 17,247 0 (341) 16,906

Short-term Short-term

Local Bonds 31 0 0 31 Local Bonds 31 0 0 31

Trust Funds 54 0 0 54 Trust Funds 54 0 0 54

17,250 0 (259) 16,991 17,332 0 (341) 16,991

Comment:

No new borrowing or rescheduling of existing loans took place during August and September 2020.  At 30 September 2020 the total premature redemption premium payable was £18.09m.

(31 March 2020: £18.38m)

Non specified investments Non Specified Investments

01-Aug-20 30-Sep-20

Credit 

Rating

01-Apr-20
Investments

30-Sep-20

Specified investments Specified Investments 

Credit 

Rating

01-Aug-20
Investments 

30-Sep-20

P
age 105



Composition of PWLB loans portfolio Maturity profile of borrowing (inc non PWLB)

 30 Sept 

2020

 31 July 

2020

 31 Mar 

2020

 31 Dec 

2019

 30 Sept 

2019

 30 Sept 

2020

 31 July 

2020

 31 Mar 

2020

 31 Dec 

2019

 30 Sept 

2019

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Maturity loans 8,000 8,000 8,000 8,000 8,000 Less than 1 year 773 773 769 411 408

Annuity loans 1,504 1,505 1,547 1,554 1,588 Between 1 & 2yrs 696 696 692 334 331

EIP Loans 7,402 7,660 7,700 5,320 5,320 Between 2 & 5yrs 2,145 2,145 2,131 1,057 1,045

Total 16,906 17,165 17,247 14,874 14,908 Between 5 & 10yrs 2,495 2,672 2,668 1,954 1,948

Redemption Value* 35,267 36,258 35,832 29,951 32,301 Between 10 & 20yrs 2,601 2,604 2,672 2,683 2,741

Between 20 & 30yrs 280 360 400 520 520

Average interest  % 5.01% 4.97% 4.97% 5.46% 5.47% Between 30 & 40yrs 8,000 8,000 8,000 8,000 8,000

Average maturity (Yrs) 25 25 25 28 29 Between 40 & 50yrs 0 0 0

Weighted average life (Yrs) 21 21 21 24 25

16,990 17,250 17,332 14,959 14,993

* including accrued interest

P
age 106



Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Council – 09 December 2020 
 

Recommendations Referred to Council 
 

Treasury Management Operations Annual Review 2019/20 
 

 
The following recommendation has been referred to Council by Audit 
Committee held on the 29 September 2020. It is for Council to consider its 
response. 
 
 
 
Recommended – That the contents of this report be noted.  

 
 
 
 

L Jardine 
Democratic and Support Services Officer 

Page 107

Agenda Item 12



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 108



Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Audit Committee – 29 September 2020  

Council – 9 December 2020 
 

Treasury Management Annual Review 2019-20 
 

  

The Reason for the Decision To inform members of the performance of the 
Council’s treasury management (TM) activities 
during 2019-20, the effects of TM decisions and 
transactions executed in the past year and of   
compliance with its Treasury Management Policy. 

  

Recommendations That the contents of this report be noted.  

  

Financial /  Resource Implications None 

 

Legal / Governance Implications The CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury 
Management and the CIPFA Prudential Code for 
Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the 
Prudential Code) requires the Council to report on 
specific aspects of its treasury management 
activities after the year end.  

  

Community Safety Implications None  

 

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications 

The Council regards the successful identification, 
monitoring and control of risk to be the prime 
criteria by which the effectiveness of its treasury 
management activities will be measured.   

  

Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed 

N/A 

 

Wards Affected None directly 

 

The contribution this decision would 
make to the Council’s priorities 

None directly 

 

Is this a Key Decision No 

Portfolio Holder Councillor Jim Lister 

 PH Finance and Legal 

Lead Officer  Barry Lennox, Financial Services Manager   
Ext: 2586  
email: barry.lennox@allerdale.gov.uk  

Page 109



  
Report Implications 

Community Safety N Employment (external to the Council) N 

Financial  N Employment (internal) N 

Legal Y Partnership N 

Social Inclusion N Asset Management N 

Equality Duty N Health and Safety N 
 

1.0 Introduction 

1.1 Regulations issued under the Local Government Act 2003 require the Council 
to produce an annual report on its treasury management activities and 
prudential and treasury indicators for the financial year. This report satisfies this 
obligation and the associated reporting requirements of the CIPFA Code of 
Practice on Treasury Management (the TM Code) and the CIPFA Prudential 
Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the Prudential Code). 

1.2 During 2019-20 the minimum reporting requirements - set out in the Council’s 
Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) and Investment Strategy - 
were that Council should receive the following reports: 

 an annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Investment 
Strategy in advance of the year (Council 6 March 2019) 

 a mid-year treasury update report (Council 11 December 2019) 

 an annual review following the end of the year describing the activity 
compared to the strategy (this report). 

1.3 The regulatory environment places responsibility on members for the review 
and scrutiny of the Council’s treasury management policies and activities. This 
report is important in that respect, as it provides: 

 details of the Council’s treasury activities during the financial year 
and its overall treasury position at 31 March 2020  

 evidence of compliance with the treasury policies previously 
approved by members. 

1.4 To enable the Audit Committee to fulfil its responsibilities for ensuring effective 
scrutiny of the treasury management strategy and policies, the Council’s 
Treasury Management Practices (TMPs) require treasury management reports 
- including the annual report - to be submitted to the Audit Committee prior to 
their consideration by Council.   

Page 110



1.5 This report summarises the following:  

 Economic background (section 2) 

 Overall treasury position at 31 March 2020 (section 3) 

 Borrowing requirement (section 4) 

 Borrowing rates (section 5) 

 Borrowing strategy for 2019-20 (section 6) 

 Borrowing activity during 2019-20 (section 7) 

 Investment rates (section 8) 

 Investment Strategy for 2019-120 (section 9) 

 Investment outturn for 2019-20 (section 10) 

 Prudential and Treasury Indicators (section 11 and Appendix A). 

 
2.0 Economic Background 

U.K. 

2.1 The main issue in 2019 was the repeated battles in the House of Commons to 
agree on the way forward for the UK over the issue of Brexit. This resulted in 
the resignation of Teresa May as the leader of the Conservative minority 
Government and the election of Boris Johnson as the new leader, on a platform 
of taking the UK out of the EU on 31 October 2019, with or without a deal. 
However the House of Commons frustrated efforts to leave on that date and the 
EU subsequently agreed an extension to 31 January 2020. 

2.2 The general election in December 2019 settled the matter once and for all by 
way of a decisive victory for the Conservative Party. The result of the election 
removed the political uncertainty surrounding Brexit and cleared the way for the 
UK to leave the EU on 31 January 2020. However, significant uncertainty still 
remains over whether agreement can be reached with the EU on a trade deal 
within the short time to December 2020, which the Prime Minister has pledged 
he will not extend. This leaves the possibility of the UK trading with the EU on 
World Trade Organisation (WTO) terms after 31 December 2020 if agreement 
on a trade deal is not reached, the immediate effects of which would be similar 
to those of a no-deal Brexit. It is also unclear as to whether the coronavirus 
outbreak may yet impact on this deadline. 

2.3 After returning modest growth of 1.4% in 2018, GDP has been particularly volatile 
over the course of 2019. This has, in large part, been a reflection of changes in the 
timing of activity related to the UK’s original planned exit date from the European 
Union in late March. Underlying UK GDP growth has also slowed materially in 2019 
as weaker global growth and Brexit-related uncertainties weighed on spending. 

2.4 Growth in the first quarter of 2019 (January to March) was unexpectedly strong at 
0.7% (+2.0% y/y). This level of growth was however boosted by companies in the 
UK and the European Union building stocks ahead of the original March Brexit 
deadline. In addition, a number of car manufacturers had brought forward their 
annual shutdowns from August to April as part of Brexit-related contingency 
planning. As a consequence, GDP in quarter 2 was expected to be slightly 
negative. 

Page 111



2.5 Quarter 2 duly saw a contraction in GDP of -0.1% (+1.4% y/y). This fall was 
underpinned by a sharp decline in production which contracted by 1.8% in quarter 2 
- the largest decline since quarter 4 (Oct to Dec) 2012 - driven by a 2.8% fall in 
manufacturing output. The services sector output provided the only positive 
contribution to GDP growth in quarter 2, although growth in this sector slowed to 
0.1%, the weakest quarterly figure in three years. This contraction triggered fears 
that the UK could be heading into recession, even before Brexit. 

2.6 However quarter 3 saw growth rebound with a solid rise in activity of 0.5% (+1.3 
y/y). This meant that although the economy avoided a technical recession, 
annual growth slowed to 1.3%, compared to the same quarter a year ago. 
Services remained the strongest contributor to growth in the output approach to 
GDP in quarter 3 2019; construction and production also contributed positively 
to growth.  

2.7 2020 started with optimistic business surveys pointing to an upswing in growth after 
the ending of political uncertainty as a result of the decisive result of the general 
election in December settled the Brexit issue.  However, the three monthly GDP 
statistics in January were disappointing, with quarter 4 growth remaining static at 
0.0% growth (+1.1% y/y).   

2.8 Since then, the whole world has changed as a result of the coronavirus pandemic. 
The overall UK growth rate in quarter 1 2020 (January to March) was -2.2% (-1.7% 
y/y).  However, the full impact of the pandemic on economic growth did not occur 
until April when estimates for growth in quarter 2 (April to June) came in at -20.4% 
(-21.7% y/y), reflecting the impact of measures introduces to limit transmission of 
the virus and the closedown of whole sections of the economy.  This is the largest 
quarterly contraction in the UK economy since Office for National Statistics (ONS) 
quarterly records began in 1955 and reflects the ongoing public health restrictions 
and forms of voluntary social distancing put in place in response to the coronavirus 
(COVID-19) pandemic. 

2.9 At this stage what is uncertain is the extent of the damage that will have been 
done to businesses by the end of the lockdown period, how consumer 
confidence and behaviour may be impacted afterwards, whether there could be a 
second wave of the outbreak, how soon a vaccine will be created and then how 
quickly it can be administered to the population. This leaves huge uncertainties as 
to how quickly the economy will recover to what was formerly regarded as 
normality. However, some changes during lockdown are likely to be long lasting 
e.g. a shift to online purchasing, working from home, etc. The lockdown has also 
had a sharp effect in depressing expenditure by consumers which means their level 
of savings have increased and debt has fallen. This could provide fuel for a 
potential surge in consumer expenditure once some degree of normality returns. 

2.10 Although the UK left the EU on 31 January 2020, there remains much 
uncertainty as to whether there will be a reasonable trade deal achieved by the 
end of 2020. At the end of June, the UK government rejected extending the 
transition period beyond 31 December 2020. This has increased the chances of 
a no-deal Brexit.  However, the most likely outcome is expected to be a slim 
deal on trade in order to minimise as much disruption as possible. However, 

Page 112



uncertainty is likely to prevail until the deadline date which will act as a drag on 
recovery. 

2.11 In the period since the Bank of England’s Monetary Policy Committee’s 
decision to increase the Bank rate from 0.5% to 0.75%, in August 2018, 
uncertainties over Brexit have increased, UK and global economic growth has 
been subdued and inflation has fallen back to below the Bank of England’s 2% 
target. As a consequence the Monetary Policy Committees (MPC) left the Bank 
Rate unchanged at 0.75% until March 2020.  

2.12 At this point it became abundantly clear that the onset of the coronavirus outbreak 
posed a huge threat to the UK economy. Two emergency cuts in Bank Rate 
occurred in March. The first on 11 March (from 0.75% to 0.25%) and the second on 
19 March 2020 (from 0.25% to 0.1%). These cuts were accompanied by an 
increase in quantitative easing (QE), to increase the Bank of England’s holdings of 
UK government bonds and sterling non-financial investment-grade corporate bonds 
by £200 billion. The Government and the Bank have also implemented an 
extensive range of other fiscal and monetary policy measures aimed at protecting 

jobs, helping firms struggling with cash flow problems and limiting any lasting 
damage to the economy.  

2.13 The measures introduced by Government to support jobs and businesses will result 
in a huge increase in the annual budget deficit in 2020-21 from 2%, to nearly 17%.  
The ratio of debt to GDP is also likely to increase from 80% to around 105%. In the 
Budget in March, the Government also announced a large increase in spending on 
infrastructure. This will also help the economy to recover as lock down restrictions 
are eased. Early indications are that the economy may be recovering faster than 
previously expected. However, it may be a considerable time before economic 
activity recovers fully to pre-Covid levels. 

2.14 Inflation has posed little concern for the MPC during the last financial year with the 
annual rate fluctuating between 1.5% and 2.1% over the course of the year.   

2.15 An increase in the level of inflation rising above the MPC’s 2% target is also unlikely 
to be an issue for the MPC over the next two years as the world economy will be 
heading into a recession. This has caused a glut in the supply of oil which initially 
fell sharply in price, although the price has recovered somewhat more recently. 
Other UK domestic prices will also be under downward pressure; wage inflation 
was already on a downward path over the last half year and is likely to continue that 
trend in the current environment where unemployment will be rising significantly. 
While inflation could even turn negative in the Eurozone, this is currently not likely in 
the UK.   

2.16 The labour market has remained resilient over the last year with employment 
growing healthily through the last year. The UK employment rate for the period 
Jan to Mar 2020 was estimated at 76.6%, up from 76.1% a year earlier. The 
estimated UK unemployment rate meanwhile remained steady over the course 
of the year at or around the 44 year low of 3.8% on the Independent Labour 
Organisation, increasing only marginally during Q1 2020 to close the financial 
year at 3.9% up 0.1 percentage point compared to a year earlier. However, 
headline labour market data has not yet captured the full impact of the Covid-19 

Page 113



crisis on the labour market. In the three months to June the unemployment rate was 
largely unchanged at 3.9%. The employment rate for quarter 2 was 76.4% down 
from 76.6% in quarter 1.  

2.17 This in large part reflects the extensive take-up of support from temporary 
government schemes - such as the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme (CJRS) 
and Self-Employment Income Support Scheme (SEISS) - but also because the 
release of official labour data invariably lags behind real time. While the furlough 
scheme has significantly mitigated most of the impact of the pandemic, there have 
clearly already been big consequences for the labour market and employment 
appears to have fallen since the Covid-19 outbreak. However, a significant level of 
uncertainty exists about the exact magnitude of the decline in employment, with 
different data sources providing substantially different estimates. 

2.18 Surveys indicate that many workers have already returned to work from furlough, 
but considerable uncertainty remains about the prospects for employment after 
those support schemes unwind. In the near term, the Bank of England expects 
unemployment rate to rise materially, to around 7.5% by the end of the year.  

2.19 Wage inflation, which has increased steadily over the past few years as the 
labour market has tightened, also edged down during 2019 from a high point of 
3.9% in July, to 2.7% in March (3 month average regular pay, excluding 
bonuses). However, with inflation falling to well below the Bank of England’s 2% 
target, in real terms (i.e. wage rates higher than CPI inflation), earnings have 
continued to grow by around 2%. As the UK economy is very much services 
sector driven, an increase in household spending power will have provided 
support to the overall rate of economic growth. 

 European Union 

2.20 After returning a growth of 1.8% in 2018, the annual rate of economic growth in 
the Eurozone has been steadily falling. Growth of +1.2% y/y in quarters 1 and 2 
was followed by growth of +1.1% y/y in quarter 3 and only 0.9% y/y in quarter 4 
in 2019.  Following the Coronavirus outbreak the Eurozone economy shrank by 
3.6% on quarter in the first three months of 2020. 

2.21 The European Central Bank (ECB) ended its programme of quantitative easing 
purchases of debt in December 2018. This means the central banks in the US, 
UK and EU have all now ended the phase of post financial crisis expansion of 
liquidity supporting world financial markets by purchases of debt. However, the 
downturn in Eurozone growth, in the second half of 2018 and into 2019, 
together with inflation falling well below the upper limit of its target range of 0 to 
2%, prompted the ECB to take new measures to stimulate growth.   

2.22 At its March 2019 meeting, the ECB stated that it expects to leave interest rates 
at their present levels “at least through the end of 2019”, but that is of little help 
to boosting growth in the near term. Consequently it also announced a third 
round of Targeted Longer-Term Refinancing Operations (TLTROs). This 
provides banks with cheap, two year maturity borrowing, every three months 
from September 2019 until March 2021 and means that, despite having only a 

Page 114



two-year maturity, the Bank is making funds available until 2023, two years later 
than under its previous policy.  

2.23 However, since then, the downturn in Eurozone and global growth has gathered 
momentum. This prompted the ECB at its meeting on 12 September, to cut its 
deposit rate further into negative territory from -0.4% to -0.5%. The ECB also 
announced a resumption of quantitative easing purchases of debt for an 
unlimited period starting in November at €20bn per month. It also increased the 
maturity of the third round of TLTROs from two to three years.  

2.24 Once coronavirus started having a major impact in Europe, the ECB took action 
in March 2020 to expand its QE operations and other measures to help 
promote expansion of credit and economic growth. Since 12th March, it has 
implemented a range of new policies including providing additional cheap loans 
for commercial banks and easing capital requirements for the banking sector. 
But most importantly, the ECB has stepped up and reformed its asset purchase 
programmes. So far, it has increased its planned asset purchases for this year 
by €1,470bn on top of the €20bn per month which it was already committed to. 
The new purchases consist of an additional €120bn within the existing Public 
Sector Purchase Programme (PSPP), and €1,350bn in the Pandemic 
Emergency Purchase Programme (PEPP). 

2.25 Just as important as the size of the PEPP is its flexibility. Whereas previous 
asset purchase programmes adhered to strict issuer limits, the PEPP was 
designed to be flexible across “time, asset classes and jurisdictions”. This 
means that the ECB can act in the interests of the Eurozone as a whole rather 
than having to treat each national bond market equally. However, while this 
overall programme will provide protection over the next year or so, some 
vulnerable countries, particularly Italy, already started the crisis with a high level 
of debt to GDP and the crisis will make that level even worse at the same time 
as GDP growth prospects will have worsened. This leaves a big question over 
‘what happens after then when financial markets will be concerned that those 
debt levels are unsustainable?’ 

2.26 What is currently missing is a major coordinated EU response of fiscal action by 
all national governments to protect jobs, support businesses directly and 
promote economic growth by expanding government expenditure on, for 
example, infrastructure. As a result this has left individual national governments 
to implement a patchwork of support measures within each country and 
highlighted how far away the EU is from being an effective fiscal union. 

 U.S. 

2.27 Growth in quarter 1 of 2019 was strong at 3.1% but growth fell back to 2.0% in 
quarter 2 and 2.1% in quarters 3 and 4.  The slowdown in economic growth 
resulted in the Federal Reserve cutting rates from 2.25-2.50% by 0.25% in each 
of July, September and October. Growth in quarter 1 of 2020 fell by an 
annualised 5.0%.  

2.28  Once coronavirus started to have a material impact on the US, the Federal 
Reserve took decisive action by cutting rates twice by 0.50%, and then 1.00%, 

Page 115



in March, all the way down to 0.00 – 0.25%. Near the end of March, Congress 
agreed a $2trn stimulus package (worth about 10% of GDP) and new lending 
facilities announced by the Federal Reserve which could channel up to $6trn in 
temporary financing to consumers and firms over the coming months. Nearly 
half of the first figure is made up of permanent fiscal transfers to households 
and firms, including cash payments of $1,200 to individuals.  

2.29 The loans for small businesses, which convert into grants if firms use them to 
maintain their payroll, will cost $367bn and 100% of the cost of lost wages for 
four months will also be covered. In addition there will be $500bn of funding 
from the Treasury’s Exchange Stabilization Fund which will provide loans for 
hard-hit industries, including $50bn for airlines. 

2.30 However, all this will not stop the US falling into a sharp recession in quarter 2 
of 2020. Estimates show that the US economy shrank by an annualised 31.7% 
in the second quarter of 2020. Whilst this was lower than the previous estimate 
and market forecasts of 32.9% and 32.5% respectively, this still represents the 
biggest contraction ever, pushing the economy into a recession. In April the 
unemployment rate peaked at 14.7%, compared to 4.4% in March. Whilst the 
rate has since fallen as businesses continue to reopen and rehire employees 
following COVID-19 lockdowns, in July 2022 the rate of unemployment 
remained above 10%. 

 Asia 

2.31 Chinese economic growth has been weakening over successive years, despite 
repeated rounds of central bank stimulus. Medium term risks have also been 
increasing, especially as a result of credit intensive growth. Economic growth 
has been weakening over successive years, despite repeated rounds of central 
bank stimulus; medium-term risks have also been increasing. The major feature of 
2019 was the trade war with the US.  However, this has been eclipsed by being the 
first country to be hit by the coronavirus outbreak; this resulted in a lockdown of the 
country and a major contraction of economic activity in February-March 2020.  The 
Chinese economy shrank 6.8% y/y in Q1 2020. This follows 6% y/y growth in Q4 of 
2019. While it appears that China had put a lid on the virus by the end of March, it is 
clear that the economy is going to take some time to recover its previous rate of 
growth. 

2.32 Ongoing economic issues remain with major progress still to be made in addressing 
the need to eliminate excess industrial capacity and to switch investment from 
industrial capacity, property construction and infrastructure to consumer goods 
production. It also needs to address the level of non-performing loans in the 
banking and shadow-banking (credit) systems. The post Covid-19 government 
measures to stimulate more infrastructure investment are likely to result in an 
increase in inefficient low reward investment. 

2.33 Japan has continued to struggle to stimulate consistent significant growth and to get 
inflation up to its target of 2%, despite huge monetary and fiscal stimulus. It is also 
making little progress on fundamental reform of the economy. So far Japan appears 
to have escaped the worst effects of the virus. 

Page 116



 Global Growth 

2.34 The trade war between the US and China on tariffs was a major concern to 
financial markets and was depressing worldwide growth during 2019, as any 
downturn in China would spill over into impacting countries supplying raw materials 
to China. Concerns were particularly focused on the synchronised general 
weakening of growth in the major economies of the world. These concerns resulted 
in government bond yields in the developed world falling significantly during 2019. 
In 2020, coronavirus is the big issue which is going to sweep around the world and 
have a major impact in causing a world recession in growth in 2020.  

3.0 Overall Treasury Position at 31 March 2020 

3.1 The Council’s treasury position at the beginning and end of 2019-20 was as 
follows: 

Table 1: Overall treasury position  

  
31.3.19 

Principal 
Rate/ 

Return1 
Av. Life   

31.3.20 
Principal 

Rate/ 
Return1 

Av. Life   

  £’000 %   Years £’000 %   Years 

PWLB loans  15,067 5.45 24.6 17,247 4.97 25.1 

Other borrowing 85 0.00 < 1  85 0.00 < 1  

Total debt 15,152 5.42 - 17,332 4.95 - 

Short-term investments 6,313 0.69 < 1  8,992 0.64 < 1  

Long-term investments2 11 7.50 - 11 5.00 -  

Bank overdraft less cash (1,909)   - (1,551) - - 

Total investments  4,415 0.70  - 7,452 0.65 -  

1 weighted average rate on borrowing/investments at 31 March (for illustrative purposes only)  
2 Not including ‘policy investments’ falling outside of the Councils Treasury Management and 
Investment Strategies 

3.2 The Council’s treasury management debt and investment position is organised 
in order to ensure adequate liquidity for revenue and capital activities, security 
for investments and to manage risks within all treasury management activities. 
Procedures and controls to achieve these objectives are well established both 
through member reporting detailed in the introduction and through officer 
activity detailed in the Council’s Treasury Management Practices.   

3.3 Items included in table 1 comprise borrowing and investments in financial 
instruments held for treasury management purposes (i.e. investments made to 
support effective treasury management activity) covered by the Authority’s Treasury 
Management and Investment Strategies. Excluded from table 1 are:  

 ‘service/policy investments’ in financial assets such as loans supporting 
service outcomes and investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures 
made for policy reasons, (rather than for treasury management 
purposes); this includes the Authority’s investment (loan notes) in 
Allerdale Investment Partnership LLP 

 commercial investments in non-financial assets (for example, investment 
property) held primarily or partially to generate a profit. 

Page 117



4.0 The Borrowing Requirement  

4.1 The Council’s underlying need to borrow to finance capital expenditure is 
measured by the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR). The CFR represents 
the historic cost of capital expenditure that has yet to be financed by setting 
aside resources (grants, contributions, capital receipts and revenue financing).   

4.2 Capital expenditure that is not financed when incurred, through the application 
of capital grants, contributions, capital receipts or a direct charge to revenue will 
increase the capital financing requirement. It will also give rise to a requirement 
to make an annual charge to the general fund known as the minimum revenue 
provision (MRP). Charging the minimum revenue provision or a voluntary 
revenue provision (in addition to the MRP) against the general fund will reduce 
the CFR.   

4.3 The Council’s Treasury Management Strategy Statement for 2019-2020 
included an expected net increase in the CFR of £5.272m during 2019-20 and a 
closing CFR at 31 March 2019 of £29.586m. This increase was based on the 
2019-20 capital budget approved by Council in March 2019 and the revised 
capital budget for 2018-19 approved in December 2018. The estimated 
increase in the CFR during 2019-20 and the closing CFR balance at 31 March 
2019 were later revised to £0.156m and £22.897m respectively. These 
revisions reflect:  

 the 2018-19 capital outturn position and approved budget carry forwards 
incorporated into the 2019-20 revised capital budget. This reduced the 
opening CFR at 1 April 2019 by £1.573m and added £1.436m to the 
expected increase in 2019-20 (inclusive of the consequential impact of 
the 2019-20 outturn on the MRP charge for 2019-20). 

 capital expenditure savings bids of £365k, funded from borrowing, 
included in the revised 2019-20 capital budget  

 reprofiling of previously approved expenditure, funded from borrowing 
between financial years; This included £1.187m transferred from 2019-
20 to 2020-21 as part of the 2019-20 revised budget process and the 
transfer of £5m, approved by Council in March 2020, from 2019-20 to 
2020-21.  

4.4 Details of actual borrowing transactions undertaken in 2019-20 are summarised 
in section 7. 

4.5 At 31 March 2020 the Council’s capital financing requirement stood at 
£22.136m compared to £22.741m at 31 March 2019. The decrease of £0.605m 
over the course of 2019-20 reflects:  

 an increase of £517k relating to unfinanced capital expenditure incurred 
during the year   

 a reduction of £1,122k resulting from amounts set aside from revenue 
(the minimum revenue provision), calculated in accordance with the 
approved MRP Policy Statement for 2019-20. 

Page 118



Table 2: Capital Financing Requirement 

  

31.3.19  

Estimate 

31.3.19 

Actual 

31.3.20 

Approved  
Estimate  

31.3.20 

Updated 
Estimate1 

31.3.20  
Actual 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

CFR at 31 March 24,314 22,741 29,586 22,897 22,136 

1 reported in the 2020/21 Treasury Management Strategy Statement  

4.6 The variance of £761k between the actual and updated estimate of the CFR at 
31 March 2020 comprises: 

 £657k relating to the unfinanced portion of approved 2019-20 capital 
budget carry forwards (i.e. the amount funded from borrowing) of £1.396m 

 £104k reduction in unfunded capital expenditure associated with the 
reported net underspend (after budget carry-forwards) of £55k. 

4.7 Capital budget carry-forwards of £1.396m were approved as part of the 2019-
20 Capital Outturn report presented to the Council’s Executive on 15 July 2020. 
These carry-forwards relate to the re-profiling of previously approved budget 
expenditure, from 2019-20 to 2020-21, in respect of the following capital 
schemes: 

 Solway Coast Pathway carry forward £278k (£0 unfinanced) 

 Brow-Top enhancement scheme - carry forward £228k (£228k 
unfinanced) 

 Helena Thompson Museum Development carry forward £211k ( £0 
unfinanced) 

 Strategic Acquisitions - carry forward £200k (£200k unfinanced) 

 Housing Improvement Projects - carry forward £92k (£0k unfinanced) 

 Reedlands Road Development - carry forward £83k (£63k unfinanced) 

 Kirkgate Centre Contribution- carry forward £50k (£50k unfinanced) 

 Other schemes - carry forward £254k (£116k unfinanced). 

5.0 Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) Borrowing Rates in 2019-20 

5.1 Interest rate forecasts provided by the Authority’s Treasury advisors (Link Asset 
Services) expected only gradual rises in medium and longer-term fixed 
borrowing rates during 2018-20 and the two subsequent financial years.  
Variable, or short-term rates, were expected to be the cheaper form of 
borrowing over the period. Table 3 shows the PWLB borrowing rate forecasts 
included in the TMSS and the updated forecast included in the Mid- year review 
following the quarterly Bank of England Inflation Report and the decisions and 
forward guidance issued by the Bank’s Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) at its 
meeting on 1 August. This forecast also includes the increase in margin over 
gilt yields of 100bps introduced on 9 October 2019). 

 

 

Page 119



Table 3: Forecast interest rates 2019-2022   

Quarter 
ending 

Bank Rate % 
PWLB Borrowing Rates1  

5 year % 10 year % 25 year % 50 year % 

TMSS Mid- Yr TMSS Mid- Yr TMSS Mid- Yr TMSS Mid- Yr TMSS Mid- Yr 

Mar-19 0.75 - 2.1 - 2.5 - 2.9 - 2.7 - 

Jun-19 1.0 - 2.2 - 2.6 - 3.0 - 2.8 - 

Sep-19 1.0 - 2.2  - 2.6  - 3.1 -  2.9 -  

Dec-19 1.0 0.75 2.3 2.3 2.7 2.6 3.1 3.3 2.9 3.2 

Mar-20 1.25 0.75 2.3 2.5 2.8 2.8 3.2 3.4 3.0 3.3 

Jun-20 1.25 0.75 2.4 2.6 2.9 2.9 3.3 3.5 3.1 3.4 

Sep-20 1.25 0.75 2.5 2.7 2.9 3.0 3.3 3.6 3.1 3.5 

Dec-20 1.50 1.00 2.5 2.7 3.0 3.0 3.4 3.7 3.2 3.6 

Mar-21 1.50 1.00 2.6 2.8 3.0 3.1 3.4 3.7 3.2 3.6 

Jun-21 1.75 1.00 2.6 2.9 3.1 3.2 3.5 3.8 3.3 3.7 

Sep-21 1.75 1.00 2.7 3.0 3.1 3.3 3.5 3.9 3.3 3.8 

Dec-21 1.75 1.00 2.8 3.0 3.2 3.3 3.6 4.0 3.4 3.9 

Mar-22 2.0 1.25 2.8 3.1 3.2 3.4 3.6 4.0 3.4 3.9 

 1Certainty rates are calculated by subtracting 0.2% from the standard new loan rates. Certainty rates 
apply to authorities who have provided MHCLG with required information on their plans for long-term 

borrowing and associated capital spending. 

5.2 The graphs and tables below and in Appendix B show, for a selection of 
maturity periods, the high and low points for PWLB certainty maturity rates, the 
average rates, spreads and individual rates at the start and the end of the 
financial year. The borrowing rates shown in table 3 are based on the PWLB 
Certainty Rate (standard new loan rate minus 20 basis points) which has been 
accessible to most authorities since 2012. 

Graph 1: PWLB borrowing rates 2019-20 

 

 

 

Page 120



Movement in PWLB certainty rates April to September 2019 

5.3 PWLB rates are offered at a fixed margin above the Government’s cost of 
borrowing, as measured by gilt (UK Government bonds) yields. During the first 
half of 2019-20 falls in gilt yields saw PWLB rates on a falling trend resulting in 
a near halving of longer term PWLB rates to completely unprecedented historic 
low levels. During September 2020 the 50 year PWLB certainty rate for new 
loans fell to a low of 1.57% and the 25 year rate to a low of 1.73%.  

5.4 At 30 September 2019, the 50 year PWLB certainty rate for new loans closed at 
1.67%, down from 2.24% at the beginning of the financial year and 2.56% at 30 
September 2018. The 25-year rate ended the period at 1.83%. This compares 
with a rate of 2.41% at the beginning of April 2019 and 2.74% at the end of 
September 2019. The forecast rates for September 2019 included in the TMSS 
for 50 and 25-year maturities were 3.3% and 3.1% respectively. 

Increase in the cost of borrowing from the PWLB (October 2019)  

5.5 In response to the fall in borrowing costs since 2018 and a substantial increase 
in PWLB borrowing by local authorities, on 9 October 2019 the Treasury 
implemented, without any prior warning, an increase in the margin over gilt 
yields of 100bps (one percentage point), on top of the current margins of 100 
and 80 bps for standard rate loans) respectively. These changes were applied 
to all PWLB new loan rates and mean that Standard Rate loans are now priced 
at gilt plus 200 basis points and Certainty Rate loans at gilt plus 180 basis 
points. 

5.6 The increase implemented on 9 October was partially reversed for some forms 
of borrowing on 11 March 2020, at the same time as the Government 
announced in the Budget a programme of increased spending on infrastructure 
expenditure. It also published a consultation with local authorities on future 
PWLB lending terms.   

5.7 The underlying rationale for the proposed changes to PWLB lending terms put 
forward in the consultation, is:   

 First, to prioritise the use of PWLB for investment in services and local 
regeneration, and  

 Second, to dampen the extent to which local authorities undertake 
borrowing to invest in commercial assets primarily for commercial gain 
(yield) by removing access to the PWLB as a borrowing route. 

5.8 Under the proposals access to new PWLB loans in a financial year would be 
removed if a local authority was planning a debt-for-yield scheme anywhere in 
its capital plan, including through a local authority owned company or a joint 
venture. The consultation also signalled that once a workable system is 
designed and implemented to prevent local authorities from using PWLB loans 
to buy commercial assets primarily for yield, without impeding their ability to 
pursue service delivery, housing, and regeneration, the government intends to 
cut the interest on all new loans from the PWLB, subject to market conditions. 
The consultation period ended on 31 July 2020. 

Page 121



5.9 Following the changes on 11 March 2020 in margins over gilt yields, the current 
situation is as follows:  

 PWLB Standard Rate is gilt plus 200 basis points (Gilt+200bps) 

 PWLB Certainty Rate is gilt plus 180 basis points (Gilt+180bps) 

 PWLB HRA Standard Rate is gilt plus 100 basis points (Gilt+100bps) 

 PWLB HRA Certainty Rate is gilt plus 80bps (Gilt+80bps) 

 Local Infrastructure Rate is gilt plus 60bps (Gilt+60bps). 

Movement in PWLB certainty rates October to March  

5.10 Over the second half of 2019-20 gilt yields (and PWLB rates) were on a 
generally falling trend during the last year up until the coronavirus crisis hit 
western economies. Since then, gilt yields have fallen sharply to unprecedented 
lows as investors have panicked in selling shares in anticipation of impending 
recessions in western economies, and moved cash into safe haven assets i.e. 
government bonds. Major western central banks have also started quantitative 
easing purchases of government bonds which will act to maintain downward 
pressure on government bond yields at a time when there is going to be a huge 
and quick expansion of government expenditure financed by issuing 
government bonds; (this would normally cause bond yields to rise).  At the 
close of the day on 31 March, all gilt yields from 1 to 5 years were between 0.12 
– 0.20% while even 25-year yields were at only 0.83%.   

5.11 The graph below shows PWLB rates less the margins added over gilt yields.  
This graph therefore shows more clearly the actual movements in gilt yields 
during the year on which PWLB rates are based. 

 

 

Page 122



5.12 At 31 March 2020 the 50 year PWLB certainty rate (inclusive of the 180bp 
margin above gilts) for new loans stood at 2.39% (fixed) compared to 1.67% at 
30 September and 2.62% on 9 October (following the 100bp increase in gilt 
margin). The 25-year rate ended the year at 2.65% compared to 1.83% at 30 
September and 2.78% on 9 October. This compares with updated forecasts 
included in the Mid-year report for 50 and 25 year maturities at the end of 2019-
20 of 3.3% and 3.47% respectively.  

5.13 There was much speculation during the second half of 2019 that bond markets 
were in a bubble which was driving bond prices up and yields down to 
historically very low levels. The context for that was heightened expectations 
that the US could have been heading for a recession in 2020, and a general 
background of a downturn in world economic growth, especially due to fears 
around the impact of the trade war between the US and China, together with 
inflation generally at low levels in most countries and expected to remain 
subdued; these conditions were conducive to very low bond yields.   

5.14 While inflation targeting by the major central banks has been successful over 
the last 30 years in lowering inflation expectations, the real equilibrium rate for 
central rates has fallen considerably due to the high level of borrowing by 
consumers. This means that central banks do not need to raise rates as much 
now to have a major impact on consumer spending, inflation, etc. This has 
pulled down the overall level of interest rates and bond yields in financial 
markets over the last 30 years.   

5.15 As a consequence over the last year many bond yields in the Eurozone, on 
maturities of up to ten years, have turned negative. In addition, there has, at 
times, been an inversion of bond yields in the US whereby ten-year yields have 
fallen below shorter-term yields. In the past, this has been a precursor of a 
recession. The other side of this coin is that bond prices are elevated, as 
investors would be expected to be moving out of riskier assets i.e. shares, in 
anticipation of a downturn in corporate earnings and so selling out of equities.  

5.16 Current forecast anticipate little upward movement in PWLB rates over the next 
two years as it will take national economies a prolonged period to recover all 
the momentum they will lose in the sharp recession caused during the 
coronavirus shut down period. Inflation is also likely to be very low during this 
period and could even turn negative in some major western economies during 
2020-21.  

6.0 Borrowing Strategy for 2019-20 

6.1 In recent years, the Council has maintained an under-borrowed position. This 
means that the capital borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement - 
CFR), has not been fully funded with loan debt. By utilising cash supporting the 
Council’s reserves and favourable in-year cash flows, the Council has been 
able to avoid the need to borrow up to the level of the CFR.  

6.2 This has allowed the Council to minimise borrowing costs and reduce treasury 
risk by postponing borrowing and reducing its external investment balances. 
The policy of avoiding new borrowing by utilising cash balances has served the 

Page 123



Council well and is considered prudent in light of low investment returns and the 
ongoing counterparty risk cosiderations which have endured since the 2008 
financial crisis.  

6.3 The borrowing strategy adopted in 2019-20 was for the Council to continue with 
this policy during to the extent permitted by its liquidity requirements and the 
effective management of its interest rate exposures. In managing interest rate 
exposures, interest rates were closely monitored throughout the year and a  
pragmatic strategy adopted based upon the following principles: 

• if it had been felt that there was a significant risk of a sharp fall in long 
and short term rates (e.g. due to a marked increase of risks around 
relapse into recession or of risks of deflation), then long term borrowing 
would have been postponed, and potential rescheduling from fixed rate 
funding into short term borrowing would have been considered. 

• if it had been felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper rise 
in long and short term rates than expected (e.g. due to an acceleration in 
the start date and the rate of increase in central rates in the US and UK; 
a greater tha expected increase in global economic activity or a sudden 
increase in inflation risks), then the portfolio position would have been re-
appraised with the most likely action being to draw down fixed rate 
funding whilst interest rates were lower than they were projected to be in 
the next few years. 

 
7.0 Borrowing Activity in 2019-20 

7.1 A summary of borrowing transactions undertaken during 2019-20 is included in 
the following table (table 3). 
 

Table 3: External borrowing activity during 2019-20  

  
01-Apr-19 

New 
Borrowing 

Borrowing 
Repaid 

Other 
Movements 

31-Mar-20 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Long-term          

PWLB – fixed rates 15,067 2,500 (320) 0 17,247 

Short-term 
 

      

Local Bonds 31 0 0 0 31 

Trust Funds 54 0 0 0 54 

  15,152 2,500 (320) 0 17,332 

7.2 During the year the Council drew down £2.5m of additional loan funding from 
the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) to fund unfinanced capital expenditure 
incurred in prior financial years and which previously had been funded from 
internal borrowing. The loan was drawn down in March 2020 on the following 
terms:  

 repayment method - equal instalment of principal  

 interest rate - 1.95% (fixed)  

 term - 6 years 11 months.   

Page 124



7.3 The Council did not undertake any premature repayments or rescheduling of 
existing borrowing during 2019-20.  

7.4 Scheduled loan repayments of £320k were made during the year to March 
2020. 

7.5 The Council’s 2019-20 Budget and Treasury Management Strategy Statement 
anticipated additional PWLB borrowing during 2019-20 of up to £6.37m to fund 
the Council’s capital programme. It also assumed additional borrowing of up to 
£5.8m in 2018-19. No new borrowing was undertaken in 2018-19 and the  
anticipated (maximum) external borrowing requirement for 2019-2020 was later 
revised to £9.89m (including £3.92m in respect of borrowing deferred from 
2018-19) and subsequently to £4.89m to reflect: 

 the deferment of borrowing and agreed budget carry-forwards from 
2018-19 

 changes included in the Council’s revised 2019-20 capital programme, 
including the impact of the re-profiling of expenditure funded from 
borrowing between financial years,  

 further re-profiling changes related to the 2019-20 capital programme 
approved in March 2020 as part of the 2020-21 budget process. 

7.6 As noted above, the Council’s policy is to use internal borrowing to avoid or 
postpone the timing of any new borrowing in circumstances where it considered 
prudent to do so, having regard to its liquidity requirements and the effective 
management of interest rate exposures. 

7.7 During 2019-20, the reported underspend against the 2019-20 capital budget, 
coupled with the timing of capital expenditure during the year and other positive 
in year cash flows, has enabled the Council to continue with the policy and to 
meet its liquidity requirements by utilising cash from reserves, revenue 
balances and favourable in year cash flows without the need to borrow 
externally up to the level of the CFR.   

7.8 As a consequence, during the year to March 2020 the Council, has maintained 
an under borrowed position level. At 31 March 2020 the level of under 
borrowing was £4.80m compared to £7.59m at 31 March 2020. Further 
information regarding the movement in the CFR and the level of under 
borrowing is set out in Appendix A (Prudential indicators). 

7.9 At 31 March 2020, the Council’s PWLB loan portfolio consisted of fixed rate:  

 maturity loans totalling  £8.0m (31 March 2019: £8.0m) 

 annuity loans of £1.547m (31 March 2018: £1.627m) 

 EIP loans of £7.700m (31March 2018: £5.44m). 

7.10 Interest rates applying to individual loans within the Council’s PWLB loan 
portfolio range from 1.95% to 9.5%. At 31 March 2020, the weighted average 
rate of interest payable on the Council’s PWLB loan portfolio stood at 4.97% 
(31 March 2019: 5.45%). Whilst this remains above current rates applicable to 
new PWLB borrowing (see Appendix B) - reflecting the historic nature of the 

Page 125



Council’s PWLB loans portfolio - no rescheduling was done during the year as 
the differential, between PWLB new borrowing rates and premature redemption 
rates, made rescheduling unviable.  

7.11 The differential between new borrowing rates and premature redemption rates 
increased during 2019-20 following the decision by H.M. Treasury to increase 
the (certainty rate) margin over gilt yields by 100 basis points to 180 basis 
points in October 2019. This increase applied to new (PWLB) borrowing rates 
and not to premature debt repayment rates thereby widening the difference 
between new and premature redemption rates and further limiting rescheduling 
opportunities. 

7.12 At 31 March 2020, the ‘fair value’ of the Council’s PWLB loans portfolio – 
measured using PWLB premature repayment rates – was £35.832m (31 March 
2019: £29.605m).The difference of £18.585m (31 March 2019: £14.538m) – 
between this and the principal outstanding of £17.247m (31 March 2019: 
£15.067m) reflects:  

i. the premium that would be payable to repay those loans prematurely of 
£18.381m (2019: £ 14.337m), plus  

ii. interest accrued from the previous scheduled repayment date of 
£0.204m (2019: £0.201m).  

7.13  At 31 March 2020, the weighted average life of the Council’s PWLB loan 
portfolio was approximately 21 years (31 March 2019: 25 years). The weighted 
average time to maturity of these loans was 25 years (31 March 2019: 29 
years). 

8.0 Investment Rates in 2019-20 

8.1 In line with expectations investment returns remained low during 2019-20. As a 
consequence a cost of carry remained throughout the year on any new long-term 
borrowing that was not immediately used to finance capital expenditure as this 
would have caused a temporary increase in cash balances and would have 
incurred a revenue cost reflecting the difference between (higher) borrowing costs 
and investment returns. 

8.2 Bank Rate forecasts included in the Treasury Management Strategy Statement 
for 2019-20 included a total of five 25bp increases over the forecast period, 
starting with an increase from 0.75% to 1% in quarter 2 (March to June) of 
2019.  Revised forecasts included in the 2019-20 mid-year review subsequently 
pushed back the first 25 basis point increase in the Bank Rate (from 0.75% to 
1%) to quarter 4 2020 as it was not expected that the MPC would be able to 
deliver on an increase in Bank Rate until the Brexit issue was finally settled. 
This left the expectation that Bank Rate would stay at 0.75% during the 
financial year 2019-20.   

8.3 At the short end of the yield curve, overnight and 7-day LIBID rates remained 
broadly stable during the first six months of the financial year. Between April 
and September 2019, the overnight LIBID rate fluctuated between a high of 
0.56% and a low of 0.54%. The average overnight rate for the six months to 

Page 126



September 2019 was 0.55%. This compares with an average of 0.42% for the 
corresponding period last year, and an average for the financial year 2018-19 of 
0.49%. 

8.4 Over the same period the 7-day LIBID fluctuated between a high of 0.58% and 
a low of 0.55%. The average 7-day rate for the six months to September was 
0.57%. This compares with an average of 0.43% for the corresponding period 
last year and an average for the financial year 2018-19 of 0.51%. 

8.5 In contrast, concerns over the possibility that the UK could leave the EU with no 
deal at the end of October 2019 saw investment rates for terms of three months 
and longer on a declining trend through most of the first half of the year with 
falls of between 8 and 17 basis points recorded across the curve between April 
and September 2020.  

Graph 2: Investment Rates in 2019-20 

 

8.6 Shorter-term investment rates remained broadly stable over the second half of 
2019-20 until the two cuts in Bank Rate on 11 March (from 0.75% to 0.25%) 
and 19 March 2020 (from 0.25% to 0.1%) caused investment rates to fall 
sharply.  

8.7 Between 1 October and 11 March, the 7 -day rate fluctuated between a high of 
0.58% (27/12/19) and a low of 0.43% (4/3/20). The average 7-day rate for this 
period 0.56% was and for the second half year overall 0.50% (2018-19: 
0.58%).The average 7-day LIBID rate for 2019-20 was 0.53% (2018-19: 
0.51%). 

8.8 The cuts in the base rate made on 11 March and 19 March 2020, saw sharp 
falls in short-term rates with the 7-day rate falling by around 44bps during this 
period. At 31 March the 7-day LIBID rate stood at 0.006% compared to 0.57% 
at 1 April 2019 and 0.46% at 10 March 2020. 

Page 127



8.9 Across the curve, investment rates for terms of three months and longer fell 
over the second half of 2019-20 by between 5 and 16 basis points. Following 
the outbreak of COVID-19 in the final quarter of 2019-20, long term investment 
rates initially fell before moving sharply upwards as a result of a spell of shortage 
of liquidity in financial markets towards the end of March.  

9.0 Investment strategy 

9.1 The Council’s investment policy is set having regard to the MHCLG’s Guidance 
on Local Government Investments (‘MHCLG Investment Guidance’) (third 
edition) issued in February 2018 and CIPFA’s Treasury Management in the 
Public Services: Code of Practice and Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes (‘the 
Treasury Management Code’). The primary objectives of the Council’s treasury 
investment activity are to ensure:  

 first, the security of principal sums invested (i.e. to protect the capital 
sum invested from loss)  

 second, that appropriate levels of liquidity are maintained (i.e. ensuring 
funds invested are available to meet expenditure when needed).  

9.2 The policy for 2019-20 was set out in the Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement and Investment Strategy approved by Council on 6 March 2019. The 
contents of this policy include: 

 procedures for determining the counterparties with whom investments 
may be placed, including the use of credit ratings and other sources of 
information to assess credit and counterparty risk   

 the types of investment instruments that may be used 

 limits on the amount that may be invested with any single institution or 
group of institutions  

 limits on the maximum period for which funds may be prudently 
committed. 

9.3 In the current economic climate and in light of the Council’s forecast liquidity 
requirements, the investment strategy for 2019-20 considered it appropriate to 
keep investment terms short and to retain the current upper limit on investment 
maturities of 12 months all new investments. 

9.4 Continued concerns over counterparty risks promoted a cautious approach, 
whereby investments would continue to be dominated by low counterparty risk 
considerations, resulting in relatively low returns compared to borrowing rates. 

10 Investment Outturn for 2019-20 

10.1 Investment activity during the year - excluding ‘policy investments’ falling 
outside of the Councils Treasury Management and Investment Strategies - is 
summarised in the following table: 

 

 

Page 128



Table 4: Investment activity during 2019-20 

  Credit 

Rating 

1 April 

2019 

Investments 31 March 

2020 
Made Repaid 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Specified Investments  

Call Accounts   AA- 428 16,499 (15,541) 1,386 

Call Accounts   A / A- 597 23,826 (22,673) 1,750 

Term Accounts (DMO) A 0 0 0 0 

Money Market Funds AAA 5,288 61,162 (60,594) 5,856 

Non Specified Investments 

Equity Shares Not rated 11 0 0 11 

    6,324 101,487 (98,808) 9,003 

10.2 Investment activity during the year complied with the Council’s approved 
treasury strategy and the Council had no liquidity difficulties. In keeping with 
MHCLG’s guidance on local authority investments, the Council maintained a 
sufficient level of liquidity through the use of money market funds, call and fixed 
term deposits with HM Government’s Debt Management Account Deposit 
Facility- (DMO). All (specified) investments made during 2019-20 had a 
maximum maturity not exceeding 365 days (from the date of acquisition).  

10.3 During 2019-20 the Council maintained an average short-term investment 
balance of internally managed funds of £13.6m (2018-19: £15.6m). These 
funds earned an average rate of return of approximately 0.65% (2018-19: 
0.58%). This compares favourably with the Council’s benchmark return (the 
average 7- day LIBID rate) over the year of 0.53% (2018-19: 0.51%). The 
amount of interest and dividends earned on treasury investments (long-term 
and short-term) and credited to the general fund during 2019-20 was £85,757 
(2018-19: £90,668), compared to a revised budget for 2019-20 of £60,000. 

 
 Credit Risk 

10.4 The Council’s prime policy objective of its investment activity is to ensure the 
security of principal sums invested. 

10.5 Ensuring the security of principal sums invested is achieved through active 
management of the Council’s credit risk exposures. This includes placing 
restrictions and limits on:  

 the counterparties with whom investments may be placed based on the 
creditworthiness of the counterparty 

 the types of investment instruments that may be used  

 the amount invested with any single institution or group of institutions 
on the Council’s list of approved counterparties   

 the duration of individual investment instruments depending on the 
financial standing (creditworthiness) of the counterparty.  

Page 129



10.6 Whilst published credit ratings remain the primary means of assessing the 
credit worthiness of counterparties, the Council continues to make use of other 
sources of information on credit risk before making investment decisions. This 
information includes:  

 ratings outlooks (indicating the likely direction of an issuer's rating over 
the medium term)  

 credit watches and watchlists (indicating that downgrading or upgrading 
of the credit rating could be imminent)  

 sovereign ratings and support mechanisms 

 credit default swap (CDS) spreads (indicating perceived market 
sentiment regarding the credit risk associated with a particular 
institution and an early warning of potential creditworthiness problems 
which may only belatedly lead to actual changes in credit ratings). 

10.7 In accordance with the Council’s Annual Investment Strategy, counterparties 
used during 2019-20 were restricted to financial institutions and other bodies 
with a minimum long-term rating across all three of the main credit ratings 
agencies (Fitch, Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s) of A- or equivalent (AA+ or 
equivalent for non-UK sovereigns).  

10.8 None of the investments made by the Authority during 2019-20 were with 
counterparties holding a credit rating below the Council’s minimum credit rating 
threshold. 

10.9 With the exception of funds placed with HM Treasury’s Debt Management 
Office (DMO), the maximum amount that may be placed with any institution or 
group of institutions that are part of the same banking group is £4m. For funds 
placed with the DMO’s Account Deposit Facility the current limit is £12m. There 
were no breaches of these counterparty exposure limits during the financial 
year.  

11 Prudential Indicators.  

11.1 The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Council to determine and keep 
under review, limits on how much money it can afford to borrow by way of loans 
and other forms of credit (for example finance leases). The process the Council 
must follow in setting these limits (the ‘Authorised Limit for External Debt’) is set 
out in the Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities, to which the 
Council is required to ‘have regard to’ under provisions contained in the 2003 
Act. 

 

 

 

 

Page 130



11.2 In addition to the Authorised Limit, CIPFA’s Prudential and Treasury 
Management Codes and accompanying the sector guidance, include a number 
of other key treasury management indicators designed to ensure the Council 
operates its treasury activities within well-defined limits. These include: 

 setting an operational boundary for external debt based on the 
expectations of the most likely maximum external debt for the year  

 ensuring that gross debt does not, except in the short term, exceed the 
Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) - the undeylying need to borrow 
for capital purposes - at the end of the preceding year plus the estimates 
of any additional CFR for current and the following two financial years 

 placing upper limits on the total of principal sums invested for periods 
of more than 365 days   

 placing upper and lower limits on the maturity structure of borrowings. 

11.3 The Council’s Authorised Borrowing Limit (the statutory limit on borrowing 
under the Local Government Act 2003), Operational Boundary (the limit beyond 
which external debt is not expected to exceed) and other indicators and limits 
required by CIPFA’s Prudential and Treasury Management Codes, were set out 
in the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Investment 
Strategy for 2019-20 and approved by members on 6 March 2019.  

11.4 Updated indicators for 2019-20 were included in the Council’s Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy for 2020-21 
approved by members on 4 March 2020. 

11.5 During 2019-2020 the Council complied with the limits established by the 
Prudential and Treasury indicators included in its Treasury Management & 
Investment Strategy for 2019-20. Further information relating to the Prudential 
and treasury indicators for 2019-20 are set out in Appendix A. 

Page 131



Appendix A: Prudential and treasury indicators 

1  Indicators required by the Prudential Code   

1.1  The Prudential Code requires local authorities to self-regulate the affordability, 
prudence and sustainability of their capital expenditure and borrowing plans, 
by setting estimates and limits and by publishing actuals for a range of 
prudential indicators. It also requires them to ensure their treasury 
management practices are in accordance with good practice.  

1.2 The prudential and treasury indicators required by the Prudential Code and 
the Treasury Management Code and accompanying sector guidance are 
designed to support and record local decision making. They are not designed 
to be comparative performance indicators and should not be used for this 
purpose.  

1.3 The Council’s performance compared to the limits and estimates set out in the 
Council’s 2019-20 Treasury Management Strategy Statement and 2019-20 
Mid-year Treasury Update Report are summarised in the following sections. 

2 Actual capital expenditure 

2.1 Table A shows the actual capital expenditure incurred during 2019-20.  

Table A: Actual capital expenditure 

  

2018/19 

Actual 

2019/20 
Approved 

2019/20 

Revised 
estimate1  

2019/20 

Actual2 

£000 £000 £000 £000 

General Fund Capital Expenditure  7,747 9,928 3,628 2,090 

Financed by:        

Capital receipts 102 380 280 19 

Capital grants & contributions  2,080 3,046 1,941 1,744 

Revenue  1,070 0 129 (190)  

Total expenditure financed in year 3,252 3,426 2,350 1,573 

Unfinanced capital expenditure:      

Supported borrowing 0 0 0 (11)  

Unsupported borrowing  4,495 6,502 1,278 528 

Total financed & unfinanced  7,747 9,928 3,628 2,090 

1 2019-20 revised capital budget (including revisions approved by Council in March 2020); 2 including capital 
expenditure of £463k financed from the revenue budget and the reversal of cost of £551k capitalised in 
2018-19 in respect of abortive capital schemes. 

2.2 Capital expenditure is defined in section 16 of the Local Government Act 2003 
and includes all expenditure that falls to be capitalised in accordance with 
proper practices together with any items capitalised in accordance with 
regulation 25 of the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) 
(England) Regulations 2003 (as amended), or by virtue of a capitalisation 
direction issued under section 16(2) of the 2003 Act.  

Page 132



2.3 The variance of £1.538m between the capital outturn position (£2.090m) and 
the 2019-20 revised estimate (£3.628m) comprises: 

 budget carry forwards of £1.396m 

 net variance (underspend) of £55k.  

 the write-off to revenue of previously capitalised costs associated 
with cancelled capital schemes and reversal of associated financing 
transactions - £550k, less  

 capital expenditure monitored through the revenue budget £463k. 

2.4 Approved budget carry forwards of £1.396m reflect changes to the expected 
timing of expenditure on individual schemes (rather than the overall amount of 
expenditure) and subsequent budget revisions to reflect the re-profiling of 
expenditure across the 2019-20 and 2020-21 financial years. Further details 
relating to the capital outturn position for 2019-20 can be found in the Capital 
Outturn report considered by the Council’s Executive on 15 July 2020 The net 
variance on the capital budget after accounting for budget carry-forwards was 
£55k. 

3 Actual Capital Financing Requirement  

3.1  The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) is a measure of an authority’s 
underlying need to borrow for capital purposes. It represents the historic cost 
of capital expenditure that has yet to be financed by setting aside resources 
(grants, contributions, capital receipts and revenue financing). It does not 
necessarily correspond with an authority’s actual borrowing position which is 
determined in accordance with an authority’s treasury management strategy 
and practices. Table B shows the Council’s actual capital financing 
requirement at 31 March 2020. 

Table B: Capital financing requirement 

 2018/19 

Actual 

2019/20 
Approved 
estimate 

2019/20 
 Revised 
estimate1 

2019/20 

Actual 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 

CFR at 1 April 18,917 24,314 22,741 22,741 

CFR at 31 March 22,741 29,586 22,897 22,136 

Movement in CFR 3,824 5,272 156 (605) 

Movement represented by:     

Unfinanced expenditure    4,495 6,502 1,278 517 

Less MRP (671) (1,230) (1,122) (1,122) 

Less Voluntary set aside  0  0   0 0  

Movement in CFR 3,824 5,272 156 (605) 

1 Updated to reflect 2019-20 revised capital budget (including revisions approved by Council in 
March 2020) 

 

Page 133



4 Gross debt and the capital financing requirement (CFR) 

4.1 A fundamental provision of the Prudential Code and a key indicator of 
prudence is that, over the medium term, debt will only be for a capital purpose.  
In order to ensure this is the case, gross external debt should not, except in 
the short term, exceed the total of the capital financing requirement in the 
preceding year plus the estimates of any additional capital financing 
requirement for the current and next two financial years.  

4.2 This requirement allows some flexibility for limited early borrowing for future 
years but ensures that borrowing is not undertaken for revenue purposes. 
Gross debt refers to the sum of borrowing and other long-term liabilities (credit 
arrangements). Table C compares the Council’s gross debt and CFR.  

 Table C: Gross debt & the CFR 

  

2018/19 
Actual at 
31.3.19 

2019/20 
Approved 

(max) 

2019/20 

Revised 
estimate1 

2019/20 
Actual at 
31.3.20 

£000 £000 £000 £000 

PWLB 15,067 27,248 19,637 17,247 

Other borrowing  85 85 85 85 

Total debt  15,152 27,333 19,722 17,332 

CFR at 1 April  18,917 24,314 22,741 22,741 

Add: Unfinanced capital expenditure 4,495 6,502 1,278 517 

Less: MRP (671) (1,230) (1,122) (1,122) 

CFR at 31 March 22,741 29,586 22,897 22,136 

(Under)/Over borrowing  (7,589)  (2,253)  (3,175)  (4,804)  

1 based on the maturity profile of the Council’s loan portfolio at 30.9.19 

4.3 At 31 March 2020, the Council was under-borrowed against its capital 
financing requirement by £4.804m. This compares with an under-borrowed 
position at 31 March 2019 of £7.589m. The decrease of £2.785m during 2019-
2020 is represented by:  

 a reduction in the CFR of £1.122m reflecting amounts set aside from 
revenue in 2019-20 (the minimum revenue provision) to repay debt, 
plus 

 new borrowing of £2.5m, less 

 an increase in the CFR of £0.517m as a result of unfinanced capital 
expenditure incurred during the year, and  

 scheduled repayments of external (PWLB)  borrowing of £0.320m. 

5. Authorised limit for external debt  

5.1 The Authorised Borrowing Limit represents the statutory limit on borrowing 
determined under section 3 of the Local Government Act 2003 (Affordable 
Limit). It imposes an upper limit on the Council’s gross external debt 
(excluding investments), separately identifying borrowing (external loans) from 
other long-term liabilities (for example finance lease liabilities). Breach of the 

Page 134



Affordable Borrowing Limit is prohibited by section 2(1) (a) of the Local 
Government Act 2003. 

5.2 The Authorised Borrowing Limit is set with reference to the Council’s capital 
expenditure plans, capital financing requirement (or underlying borrowing 
requirement) and the potential need to borrow to meet temporary revenue 
borrowing requirements pending the receipt of amounts due to the Council. 
The Affordable Borrowing Limit also includes headroom over and above the 
Operational Boundary (see below) to accommodate any unusual or 
unforeseen cash movements. The indicator separately identifies limits for 
borrowing and other long-term liabilities. 

Table D: Authorised Limit for External Debt 

  

2019/20 
Approved 

2019/20 
Revised 

31.3.20 
Actual 

2019/20 
Actual (max) 

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Borrowing 33,000 26,000 17,332 17,332 

Other long-term liabilities 0 0 0 0 

Total 33,000 26,000 17,332 17,332 

6 Operational boundary for external debt 

6.1 The Operational Boundary represents the limit beyond which (gross) external 
debt is not expected to exceed. It is based on expectations of the maximum 
external debt of a local authority according to probable events (that is, the 

most likely (prudent) but not worst case scenario) and is consistent with the maximum 

level of external debt projected by these estimates. The Operational Boundary links directly 
to the Council’s plans for capital expenditure, estimates of the capital financing 
requirement and cash flow requirements for the year for all purposes, but 
without the additional headroom included within the Authorised Limit. The 
indicator separately identifies limits for borrowing and other long-term 
liabilities. 

Table E: Operational boundary for external debt 

  

2019/20 
Approved 

2019/20 
Revised 

31.3.20 
Actual 

2019/20 
Actual (max) 

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Borrowing 31,000 24,000 17,332 17,332 

Other long-term liabilities 0 0 0 0 

Total 31,000 24,000 17,332 17,332 

7 Estimates of the ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream  

7.1 This indicator of affordability highlights the revenue implications of existing and 
proposed capital expenditure by identifying the proportion of the revenue 
budget required to meet financing costs (net of interest and investment 
income).  

 

Page 135



Table F: Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream 

  

2018/19  
Actual  

2019/20 
Approved 

2019/20  
Revised  

2019/20 
Actual  

% % % % 

Ratio  9.7 15.7 13.5 12.7 

7.2 Financing costs comprise the aggregate of: 

 interest charged to the General Fund with respect to borrowing 

 interest payable under finance leases and other long-term liabilities 

 premiums and discounts from debt restructuring charged or credited to 
the amount to be met from government grants and local taxpayers   

 interest and investment income (excluding interest on policy 
investments falling outside of the Council’s Treasury Management and 
Investment Strategies)  

 amounts payable or receivable in respect of financial derivatives 

 minimum revenue provision plus any additional voluntary contributions 

 any amounts for depreciation/impairment charged to the amount to be 
met from government grants and local taxpayers. 

7.3 Actual figures for Net Revenue Stream are taken from the Council’s 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for ‘taxation and non-
specific grant income and expenditure’.  

8.0 Indicators required by the Treasury Management Code  

8.1 In addition to the indicators required by the Prudential Code, there are also a 
number of treasury indicators required by the Treasury Management Code 
and accompanying sector guidance. These are: 

 upper and lower limits to the maturity structure of its borrowing 

 upper limits on the total of principal sums invested for periods of more 
than over 365 days. 

8.2 These treasury management indicators specify ranges (rather than targets) 
designed to limit the Council’s exposure to interest rate, liquidity and 
refinancing risks.   

9 Upper and lower limits to the maturity structure of borrowing 

9.1 This indicator highlights potential exposures to refinancing risk arising from 
concentrations of fixed rate debt falling due for refinancing and is designed to 
facilitate reductions in the Council’s exposure to refinancing at times of volatile 
or high interest rates. 

9.2 It is calculated as the amount borrowing maturing in each period as a 
percentage of total borrowing. The maturity of borrowing is determined by 
reference to the earliest date on which the lender can require payment.  

   

Page 136



 Table G: Lower/upper limits on % of borrowing maturing in each period 

  

At 31.3.19 
Actual 

Lower limit 
2019/20  

Upper limit 
2019/20  

At 31.3.20 
Actual 

% % % % 

Under 12 months 2.67 0 20 4.44 

12 months to 2 years 2.16 0 20 3.99 

2 years to 5 years 6.81 0 20 12.29 

5 years to 10 years 12.76 0 30 15.39 

10 years to 20 years  18.58 0 40 15.42 

20 years to 30 years  4.22 0 40 2.31 

30 years to 40 years  52.80 0 80 46.16 

40 years to 45 years 0 0 80 0 

 

10 Upper limits to the total of principal sums invested for period of more than 365 

days  

10.1 A local authority that invests, or plans to invest, for periods of more than 365 
days is required to set an upper limit for each forward financial year period for 
the maturing of such investments. The purpose of the limit for principal sums 
invested for periods longer than 365 days is to contain the authority’s 
exposure to the possibility of loss that might arise as a result of its having to 
seek early repayment or redemption of principal sums invested. 

Table H: Upper limit on total principal invested for periods or more than 365 
days  

  

2018/19 
Actual 

2019/20 
Approved 

2019/20 
Revised 

2019/20  
Actual1 

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Principal sums invested > 365 days 11 20 20 11 

1 Measured at fair value. The nominal value (historic cost) of principal sums investment as 31 

March 2020 is £1k  

 

 

Page 137



Appendix B 

 

 
 

 PWLB certainty rates 2019-20 

 1-Years 

% 

4½- 5 Years 

% 

9½-10 Years 

% 

24½- 25 
Years 

% 

49½ - 50 
Years 

% 

At 1.4.19 1.46 1.52 1.84 2.41 2.24 

At 31.3.20 1.90 1.95 2.14 2.65 2.39 

Low 1.17 1.00 1.13 1.73 1.57 

Date  3/9/19 8/10/19 3/9/19 3/9/19 3/9/19 

High 2.47 2.15 2.76 3.25 3.05 

Date  21/10/19 19/3/20 19/3/20 19/3/20 31/12/19 

Average 1.83 1.77 2.00 2.56 2.40 

 

Money market investment rates 2019-20 (LIBID) 

  
Bank 
Rate 

7 day 1month 3 month 6 month 1 year 

01/4/2019 0.75 0.57 0.60 0.72 0.83 0.93 

31/3/2020 0.10 0.01 0.12 0.47 0.60 0.74 

High 0.75 0.58 0.61 0.72 0.83 0.98 

Low  0.10 0.00 0.11 0.26 0.31 0.39 

Average  0.72 0.53 0.56 0.63 0.70 0.80 

Spread 0.65 0.58 0.50 0.46 0.52 0.59 

High date  1/4/19 9/5/19 15/4/19 1/4/19 1/4/19 15/4/19 

Low date 19/3/20 25/3/20 23/3/20 11/3/20 11/3/20 11/3/20 

 

Page 138



Appendix C 

UK, US and EZ GDP growth  

 

 
Inflation UK, US, Germany and France 

 

 

 

Page 139



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 140



Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Council – 09 December 2020 
 

Recommendations Referred to Council 
 

Treasury Management Operations Mid-Year Review 2020/21 
 

 
The following recommendation has been referred to Council by Audit 
Committee held on the 24 November 2020. It is for Council to consider its 
response. 
 
 
 
Recommended – That the contents of this report be noted.  

 
 
 
 

L Jardine 
Democratic and Support Services Officer 

Page 141

Agenda Item 13



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 142



Allerdale Borough Council 

Audit Committee – 24 November 2020 

Council – 9 December 2020 

Treasury Management – Mid-year review 2020-21
 

Portfolio holder Councillor Jim Lister 
 PH Finance and Legal  

Report from Catherine Nicholson, Head of Financial Services,  
 Tel: 01900-702503  
 Email: catherine.nicholson@allerdale.gov.uk  

Wards affected None directly 

Is this a key decision  No 

 

1.0  The reason for the decision 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to inform members of the Council’s treasury 
management activities during the six-month period ending 30 September 2020. This 
report also provides assurances that treasury management activities have been 
undertaken in accordance with the Council’s approved Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy. 

2.0  Recommendations 

2.1  Members are recommended to: 

i. note the contents of this report  

ii. approve the revised Prudential Indicators for 2020-21 (summarised in table 7, 
paragraph 12.10 of this report). 

3.0  Background and Introduction 

3.1 The CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management (the Treasury Management 
Code) and the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the 
Prudential Code) requires the Council to report regularly on its treasury 
management activities.  

  

Page 143



3.2 The Treasury Management Code recommends that local authorities should, as a 
minimum, ensure that the Full Council receives:  

• before the start of the year, an annual report on the strategy and plan to be 
pursued in the coming year (Council - 4 March 2020) 

• a mid-year review (this report) 

• after the year-end, an annual report on the performance of the treasury 
management function, on the effects of the decisions taken and the 
transactions executed in the past year and on any circumstances of non-
compliance with the authority’s treasury management policy statement. 

3.3 To enable the Audit Committee to fulfil its responsibilities for ensuring effective 
scrutiny of the treasury management strategy and policies, the Council’s Treasury 
Management Practices require treasury management reports - including the mid-
year report - to be submitted to the Audit Committee prior to consideration by Full 
Council.  

 Scope 

3.4 This mid-year report has been prepared in accordance with CIPFA’s Code of 
Practice on Treasury Management (2017 edition) and covers: 

i. an update on the economic environment (section 4) 

ii. updated interest rate forecasts (section 5) 

iii. interest rate movements during the period (sections 6 and 7) 

iv. Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS), Investment Strategy and 
Borrowing Strategy updates (sections 8 and 10) 

v. a review of the Council’s investment  and borrowing activities during the 
period 1 April to 30 September 2020 (sections 9 and 11) 

vi. a review of compliance with the Council’s treasury and prudential indicators 
for 2020-21 (section 12). 

4.0 Economic Update  

4.1 Over the course of the current year to date, Covid-19 and the actions to contain it 
have continued to have a dramatic and rapidly changing impact on the UK economy 
and the economies of countries around the world. 

U.K. 

4.2 In the UK, output fell sharply during March and April as the outbreak of Covid-19 
and the interventions taken to contain its transmission led to a sharp contraction in 
economic activity. GDP fell by around a quarter between February and April. Activity 
recovered as lockdown restrictions were eased. There has however been a 
slowdown in the pace of the recovery through quarter 3. More recently, a growth in 
rates of Covid infection has led to the reintroduction of restrictions to suppress the 
spread of the virus. This is expected to lead to a fall in UK GDP in Q4 and push 
back the economic recovery. 

Page 144



4.3 Monthly gross domestic product (GDP) grew by 1.1% in September 2020 as 
lockdown measures continued to ease. This is the fifth consecutive monthly 
increase following growth of 2.1% in August, 6.4% in July, 9.1% in June and 2.7% in 
May. This follows a record fall of 19.5% in April 2020. September 2020 GDP is now 
22.9% higher than its April 2020 low. However, it remains 8.2% below the levels 
seen in February 2020, before the full impact of the coronavirus (COVID-19) 
pandemic. The monthly path of GDP in Quarter 3 2020 also reveals that there has 
been a slowdown of growth in August and September as momentum has eased 
through the quarter. 

4.4 The first quarterly estimate for quarter 3 of 2020 (July to September) shows that the 
UK economy grew by a record 15.5% q/q, as lockdown restrictions were lifted and 
pent up demand was released into the economy. This follows contractions of -2.5% 
and -19.8% in quarters 1 and 2 respectively. However, the level of GDP in the UK is 
still 9.7% below where it was prior to the pandemic at the end of 2019. Compared 
with the same quarter a year ago, the UK economy fell by 9.6%.  

4.5 Overall, the pace of recovery was not expected to be in the form of a rapid V shape, 
but a more elongated and prolonged one. The initial recovery was sharp. However 
with Lockdown v2 under way and signs of recovery tailing off at the end of Q3, the 
outlook for Q4 is not particularly good, with the monthly GDP growth figure easing to 
1.1% in September. 

4.6 The last three months of 2020 were originally expected to show zero growth due to 
the impact of widespread local lockdowns, consumers probably remaining cautious 
in spending and uncertainty over the outcome of the UK/EU trade negotiations 
concluding at the end of the year also being a headwind. However, the new national 
lockdown and other restrictions imposed by the UK Government and devolved 
administrations will weigh on growth in the near term and push back recovery of 
GDP.  

4.7 Forecasts contained in the November Monetary Policy report show that the Bank of 
England expects GDP to decline by around 2% in Q4. In November, the Bank also 
cut its forecast for GDP growth for 2020 to -11% (down from -5.4% in August).  

4.8 The Bank currently expects that it will take until the end of 2022 for the economy to 
fully recover to the February 2020 level of GDP.  However, it also noted that the 

near-term growth outlook for the economy remains unusually uncertain. The future 
path of economic growth will, in particular, depend on the evolution of the pandemic 
and measures taken to protect public health, as well as the nature of, and transition 
to, the new trading arrangements between the European Union and the United 
Kingdom. It also depends on the responses of households, businesses and financial 
markets to these developments. 

4.9 The minutes of the November MPC meeting contain several references to downside 
risks. The Committee reiterated that the “recovery would take time, and the risks 
around the GDP projection were judged to be skewed to the downside”. It also 
highlighted that “the risk of a more persistent period of elevated unemployment 
remained material”. Downside risks could well include severe restrictions remaining 
in place in some form during the rest of December and most of January too. That 
could involve some or all of the lockdown being extended beyond 2 December, a 

Page 145



temporary relaxation of restrictions over Christmas, a resumption of the lockdown in 
January and a significant number of regions being subject to Tier 3 restrictions 
when the lockdown ends. Hopefully, restrictions should progressively ease during 
the spring. However it is only to be expected that some businesses that have barely 
survived the first lockdown, will fail to survive the second lockdown, especially those 
businesses that depend on a surge of business in the run up to Christmas each 
year. This will mean that there will be some level of further permanent loss of 
economic activity, although the extension of the furlough scheme to the end of 31 
March 2021 will limit the degree of damage done.  

4.10 At this meeting in November, the MPC voted unanimously to leave the Bank Rate 
unchanged. However, in light of the current economic conditions and its revised 
outlook for the economy, it agreed that a further easing of monetary policy was 
warranted in order to meet the inflation target in the medium term. It therefore 
decided to do a further tranche of quantitative easing (QE) of £150bn, to start in 
January when the current programme of £300bn of QE announced in March to 
June, runs out. It did this so that “announcing further asset purchases now should 
support the economy and help to ensure the unavoidable near-term slowdown in 
activity was not amplified by a tightening in monetary conditions that could slow the 
return of inflation to the target”. The additional purchased UK government bonds 
takes the total stock of government bond purchases to £875 billion. Due to the 
number of adverse factors that have built up during the autumn, there is also wide 
expectation that the Bank of England could resort to expanding quantitative easing 
by a further £100bn during 2021 to sustain momentum in the economy.   

4.11 Public borrowing is now likely to increase by about £30bn to around £420bn (23% of 
GDP) as a result of the new lockdown. In normal times, such an increase in total gilt 
issuance would lead to a rise in gilt yields and therefore PWLB rates. However, the 
QE done by the Bank of England has depressed gilt yields to historic low levels, (as 
has similarly occurred with QE and debt issued in the US, the EU and Japan). This 
means that new UK debt being issued - and this is being done across the whole 
yield curve in all maturities - is locking in those historic low levels of interest through 
to maturity. In addition, the UK has one of the longest average maturities for its 
entire debt portfolio, of any country in the world. Overall, this means that the total 
interest bill paid by the Government is manageable.  

4.12 CPI inflation fell from 1.7% in quarter 1 (Jan to March) 2020 to 0.6% in both Q2 and 
Q3. Although twelve-month CPI inflation increased from 0.2% in August to 0.5% in 
September (as the Eat Out to Help Out scheme ended), it remains well below the 
MPC’s 2% target, largely reflecting the direct and indirect effects of Covid on the 
economy. These effects include the temporary impact of lower energy prices 
(following decreases in oil prices and wholesale gas and electricity prices over the 
past year) and the reduction in VAT for certain services. It also includes some 
downward pressure from spare capacity in the labour market reflecting a 
combination of underemployment and higher unemployment. This has weighed on 
wage growth with recent pay settlements being weak.  

4.13 In the near term, the Bank of England expects CPI inflation to remain at, or just 
above, 0.5% over the latter part of the year, rising slightly to 0.9% in March 2021. 
Thereafter inflation is expected to rise quite sharply towards the target as the effects 

Page 146



of lower energy prices and VAT dissipate. In the MPCs central projection, inflation is 
projected to be 2% in two years’ time. 

4.14 The sharp reduction in activity this year has lowered the demand for labour. Data 
from the latest Labour Force Survey (LFS) shows that despite the extensive take-up 
of support from temporary government schemes - such as the Coronavirus Job 
Retention Scheme (CJRS) and Self-Employment Income Support Scheme (SEISS) - 
the employment rate has been decreasing since the start of the coronavirus 
pandemic, while the unemployment rate is now rising sharply.  

4.15 The UK employment rate in the three months to September 2020 was estimated at 
75.3%, 0.8 percentage points lower than a year earlier and 0.6 percentage points 
lower than the previous quarter. The unemployment rate in the three months to 
September 2020 was estimated at 4.8% compared to 4.0% in the period January to 
March. This is 0.9 percentage points higher than a year earlier and 0.7 percentage 
points higher than the previous quarter. Redundancies increased over the summer. 
In the three months to September 2020, redundancies reached a record high of 

314,000; an increase of a record 181,000 on the quarter. 

4.16 The Bank of England currently expects the LFS unemployment rate to rise further to 
around 6.3% in quarter 4 of 2020. Beyond Q4, the Bank of England expects the 
unemployment rate to peak at around 7.75% in quarter 2 of 2021. 

 U.S. 

4.17 The US economy has been recovering quite strongly from its contraction this year of 
10.2% due to the pandemic. GDP is now only 3.5% below its pre-pandemic level 
while the unemployment rate dropped below 7% in October. However, the rise in 
new Covid-19 cases in recent weeks - to the highest level since mid-August - 
suggests that the US could be in the early stages of a third wave. The latest upturn 
poses a threat that the recovery in the economy could stall. This is the single 
biggest downside risk to the outlook; a more widespread and severe wave of 
infections over the winter months, compounded by the impact of the regular flu 
season, which as a consequence, threatens to overwhelm health care facilities. 
Under those circumstances, states might feel it necessary to return to more 
draconian lockdowns. 

4.18 At its end of August meeting, the Federal Reserve (the Fed.) revised its inflation 
target from 2% to maintaining an average of 2% over an unspecified time-period. 
That is, following periods when inflation has been running persistently below 2%, 
appropriate monetary policy will likely aim to achieve inflation moderately above 2% 
for some time so that inflation averages 2% over time and longer-term inflation 
expectations remain well anchored at 2%. At the mid-September meeting the Fed. 
added that that "it would likely be appropriate to maintain the current target range 
until labour market conditions were judged to be consistent with the Committee's 
assessments of maximum employment and inflation had risen to 2% and was on 
track to moderately exceed 2% for some time."  

4.19 This change is aimed at providing more stimulus for economic growth and higher 
levels of employment and to avoid the danger of getting caught in a deflationary 
“trap” like Japan. It is to be noted that inflation has actually been under-shooting the 

Page 147



2% target significantly for most of the last decade (and this year), so financial 
markets took note that higher levels of inflation are likely to be in the pipeline; long-
term bond yields duly rose after the meeting. The Federal Reserve also called on 
Congress to end its political disagreement over providing more support for the 
unemployed as there is a limit to what monetary policy can do compared to more 
directed central government fiscal policy.  

4.20 The Federal Open Market Committee’s updated economic and rate projections in 
mid-September showed that officials expect to leave the Federal Funds Rate at 
near-zero until at least the end of 2023 and probably for another year or two beyond 
that. There is now some expectation that where the Federal Reserve has led in 
changing its inflation target, other major central banks will follow. The increase in 
tension over the last year between the US and China is likely to lead to a lack of 
momentum in progressing the initial positive moves to agree a phase one trade 
deal. 

4.21 The result of the November elections means that while the Democrats have gained 
the presidency and a majority in the House of Representatives, it looks as if the 
Republicans will still have a majority on the Senate. This means that the Democrats 
will not be able to do a massive fiscal stimulus, as they had been hoping to do after 
the elections, as they now have to get agreement from the Republicans. That would 
have resulted in another surge of debt issuance and would have put particular 
upward pressure on debt yields, which could have also put upward pressure on gilt 
yields.   

4.22 On the other hand, financial markets leapt up on 9 November on the first news of a 
successful vaccine. This could cause a big shift in investor sentiment i.e. a swing to 
sell out of government debt into equities and so cause debt prices to fall and yields 
to rise. It is too early yet to say how enduring this shift in market expectations will be 
or whether the Federal Reserve would feel it necessary to take action to suppress 
this jump up in debt yields. However, the next two years, and possibly four years in 
the US, could be a political stalemate where neither party can do anything radical. 

 Eurozone 

4.23 The Eurozone economy was recovering well towards the end of Q2 and into Q3 
after a sharp drop in GDP caused by the virus, (e.g. France 18.9%, Italy 17.6%).  
However, growth is likely to stagnate during Q4, and Q1 of 2021, as a second wave 
of the virus has affected many countries and is likely to hit hardest those countries 
more dependent on tourism. The €750bn fiscal support package eventually agreed 
by the EU after prolonged disagreement between various countries, is unlikely to 
provide significant support, and quickly enough, to make an appreciable difference 
in the worst affected countries.  

4.24 With inflation expected to be unlikely to get much above 1% over the next two 
years, the European Central Bank (ECB) has been struggling to get inflation up to 
its 2% target. It is currently unlikely that it will cut its central rate even further into 
negative territory from -0.5%, although the ECB has stated that it retains this as a 
possible tool to use. It is therefore expected that, in the absence of sufficient fiscal 
support from governments, it will have to provide additional monetary policy support 
through more quantitative easing purchases of bonds.  

Page 148



 

4.25 The current Pandemic Emergency Purchase Programme (PEPP) of €1,350bn of 
quantitative easing which started in March is providing protection to the sovereign 
bond yields of weaker countries like Italy. There is therefore unlikely to be a euro 
crisis while the ECB is able to maintain this level of support. However, the PEPP 
scheme is regarded as being a temporary measure during the Covid crisis. It may 
therefore need to be increased once the first PEPP runs out during early 2021 - 
unless vaccines step in quickly enough to head off the need for more action by the 
ECB. It could also decide to focus on using the Asset Purchase Programme to 
make more monthly purchases, rather than the PEPP scheme, and it does have 
other monetary policy options. 

 Asia  

4.26 In China, a concerted effort to get on top of the virus outbreak in Q1 saw strong 
economic recovery in Q2 and into Q3. This has enabled it to recover all of the 
contraction in Q1. Policy makers have both quashed the virus and implemented a 
programme of monetary and fiscal support that has been particularly effective at 
stimulating short-term growth. At the same time, China’s economy has benefited 
from the shift towards online spending by consumers in developed markets. These 
factors help to explain its comparative outperformance compared to western 
economies. 

4.27 However, this was achieved by major central government funding of yet more 
infrastructure spending. After years of growth focused on this same area, any 
further spending in this area is likely to lead to increasingly weaker economic 
returns in the longer term. This could, therefore, lead to a further misallocation of 
resources which will weigh on growth in future years. 

4.28 Japan’s success in containing the virus without imposing draconian restrictions on 
activity should enable a faster return to pre-virus levels of output than in many major 
economies. While the second wave of the virus has been abating, the economy has 
been continuing to recover at a reasonable pace from its earlier total contraction of 
8.5% in GDP. However, there now appears to be the early stages of the start of a 
third wave.  

4.29 For many years Japan has struggled to get out of a deflation trap and to stimulate 
consistent significant GDP growth and to get inflation up to its target of 2%, despite 
huge monetary and fiscal stimulus. It is also making little progress on fundamental 
reform of the economy. It is therefore likely that loose monetary policy will endure 
for some years yet in an attempt to stimulate growth and achieve modest levels of 
inflation. The change of Prime Minister is not expected to result in any significant 
change in economic policy. 

 Global Growth 

4.30 While Latin America and India have until recently, been hotspots for virus infections, 
infection rates have begun to stabilise. World growth will be in recession this year. 
Inflation is unlikely to be a problem for some years due to the creation of excess 
production capacity and depressed demand caused by the coronavirus crisis. 

Page 149



4.31 Until recent years, global growth has been boosted by increasing globalisation i.e. 
countries specialising in producing goods and commodities in which they have an 
economic advantage and which they then trade with the rest of the world. This has 
boosted worldwide productivity and growth, and, by lowering costs, has also 
depressed inflation. However, the rise of China as an economic superpower over 
the last thirty years, which now accounts for nearly 20% of total world GDP, has 
unbalanced the world economy. The Chinese government has targeted achieving 
major world positions in specific key sectors and products, especially high tech 
areas and production of rare earth minerals used in high tech products.  

4.32 China is achieving this by massive financial support (i.e. subsidies) to state owned 
firms, government directions to other firms, technology theft, restrictions on market 
access by foreign firms and informal targets for the domestic market share of 
Chinese producers in the selected sectors. This is regarded as being unfair 
competition that is putting western firms at an unfair disadvantage or even putting 
some out of business. It is also regarded with suspicion on the political front as 
China is an authoritarian country that is not averse to using economic and military 
power for political advantage.  

4.33 The current trade war between the US and China therefore needs to be seen 
against that backdrop. It is, therefore, likely that we are heading into a period where 
there will be a reversal of world globalisation and a decoupling of western countries 
from dependence on China to supply products. This is likely to produce a backdrop 
in the coming years of weak global growth and so weak inflation.   

 Summary  

4.34 The current global picture suggests that central banks are likely to come under 
more pressure to support growth by looser monetary policy measures. This is likely 
to result in more quantitative easing and act against central banks increasing 
interest rates. It will also put pressure on governments to provide more fiscal 
support for their economies.    

4.35 If there is a huge surge in investor confidence as a result of successful vaccines 
which leads to a major switch out of government bonds into equities and which, in 
turn, causes government debt yields to rise, then there will be pressure on central 
banks to actively manage debt yields by further QE purchases of government debt. 
This would help to suppress the rise in debt yields and so keep the total interest bill 
on greatly expanded government debt portfolios within manageable parameters. It 
is also the main alternative to a programme of austerity. 

5.0 Interest Rate Forecasts - update 

5.1 The Council’s treasury advisor, Link Asset Services, has provided the following 
interest rate forecast.  

 

 

 

Page 150



Table 1: Forecast interest rates (certainty rates1) 

Quarter 
ending 

Bank Rate % 
PWLB Borrowing Rates1  

5 year % 10 year % 25 year % 50 year % 

TMSS 
Mid- 
Yr 

TMSS Mid- Yr TMSS Mid- Yr TMSS Mid- Yr TMSS Mid- Yr 

actual 30.9.20 - 0.10 - 1.92 - 2.1 - 2.6 - 2.34 

Sep-20 0.75 0.10 2.50 - 2.7 - 3.4 - 3.3 - 

Dec-20 0.75 0.10 2.50 1.90 2.80 2.10 3.50 2.50 3.40 2.30 

Mar-21 1.00 0.10 2.60 2.00 2.90 2.10 3.60 2.50 3.50 2.30 

Jun-21 1.00 0.10 2.70 2.00 3.00 2.10 3.70 2.50 3.60 2.30 

Sep-21 1.00 0.10 2.80 2.00 3.10 2.10 3.70 2.60 3.60 2.40 

Dec-21 1.00 0.10 2.90 2.00 3.20 2.20 3.80 2.60 3.70 2.40 

Mar-22 1.00 0.10 2.90 2.00 3.20 2.20 3.90 2.60 3.80 2.40 

Jun-22 1.25 0.10 3.00 2.10 3.30 2.20 4.00 2.70 3.90 2.50 

Sep-22 1.25 0.10 3.10 2.10 3.30 2.30 4.00 2.70 3.90 2.50 

Dec-22 1.25 0.10 3.20 2.10 3.40 2.30 4.10 2.70 4.00 2.50 

Mar-23 1.25 0.10 3.20 2.10 3.50 2.30 4.10 2.70 4.00 2.50 

1Certainty rates are calculated by subtracting 0.2% from the standard new loan rates. Certainty rates 
apply to authorities who provided MHCLG with required information on their plans for long-term 
borrowing and associated capital spending. 

5.2 Link Asset Services issued its latest interest rate forecasts on 11 August, following 
the quarterly Bank of England Monetary Policy Report and the decisions and 
forward guidance issued by the Banks Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) at its 
meeting on 4 August.   

 Bank Rate  

5.3 The coronavirus pandemic has done huge economic damage to the UK and 
economies around the world. After the Bank of England took emergency action in 
March to cut Bank Rate first to 0.25% and then to 0.10%, it has since left the Bank 
Rate unchanged.  

5.4 Some forecasters had suggested that a cut into negative territory could happen. 
However, the Bank’s August Monetary Policy report suggested that while negative 
rates can work in some circumstances, it would be “less effective as a tool to 
stimulate the economy” at this time when banks are worried about future loan 
losses. It also has “other instruments available”, including QE and the use of 
forward guidance. The Governor of the Bank of England has also made it clear that 
he currently thinks that such a move would do more damage than good and that 
more quantitative easing is the favoured tool if further action becomes necessary. 
This would appear to diminish the possibility of using negative interest rates, at least 
in the near term.  

5.5 Significantly, neither the minutes from the MPC’s November meeting or Monetary 
Policy Report make mention of negative interest rates, suggesting that the MPC still 
remains some way from being persuaded of the case for such a policy, at least for 
the next 6 -12 months. However, rather than saying that it “stands ready to adjust 
monetary policy”, the MPC this time said that it will take “whatever additional action 

Page 151



was necessary to achieve its remit”. The latter seems stronger and wider and may 
indicate the Bank’s willingness to embrace new tools.  

5.6 As shown in the forecast table above, no increase in Bank Rate is expected within 
the forecast horizon ending on 31 March 2023 as economic recovery is expected to 
be only gradual and, therefore, prolonged.  

5.7 One key addition to the Bank’s forward guidance in August was a new phrase in the 
policy statement, namely that “it does not intend to tighten monetary policy until 
there is clear evidence that significant progress is being made in eliminating spare 
capacity and achieving the 2% target sustainably”. That seems designed to say, in 
effect, that even if inflation rises to 2% in a couple of years’ time, do not expect any 
action from the MPC to raise Bank Rate – until they can clearly see that level of 
inflation is going to be persistently above target if it takes no action to raise Bank 
Rate. This would seem to support the view of some analysts that 0.1% Bank Rate 
will be in place for a considerable period. 

5.8  Whilst the Bank Rate forecast currently shows no increase through to quarter 1 
2023, there could well be no increase during the next five years due to the slow rate 
of recovery of the economy and the need for the Government to see the burden of 
the elevated debt to GDP ratio falling significantly. Inflation is also unlikely to pose a 
threat requiring increases in Bank Rate during this period as there is likely to be 
spare capacity in the economy for a considerable time. Although inflation is 
expected to briefly peak at around 2% towards the end of 2021, this is expected to 
be a temporary short-lived factor and so not a concern. 

 Bond yields and PWLB Rates  

5.9 The forecast borrowing rates shown in table 1, presented alongside the forecasts 
included in the Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS), are based on 
the PWLB Certainty Rate (standard new loan rate minus 20 basis points) which has 
been accessible to most authorities since 2012. 

5.10 As the forecast for PWLB certainty rates above shows, there is likely to be little 
upward movement in PWLB rates over the next two years as it will take economies, 
including the UK, a prolonged period to recover all the momentum they have lost in 
the sharp recession caused during the coronavirus shut down period.  

5.11  In the short-term geo-political events, sovereign debt issues, emerging market 
developments and sharp changes in investor sentiment can all contribute to short-
term volatility in financial markets and borrowing rates. Such volatility could occur at 
any time during the forecast period and the general situation is for volatility in bond 
yields to endure as investor fears and confidence ebb and flow between favouring 
relatively more “risky” assets i.e. equities, or the “safe haven” of government bonds. 

5.12 PWLB lending is offered at a fixed margin above the Government’s cost of 
borrowing, as measured by gilt yields. As a consequence, in addition to the impact 
of movements in gilt prices, PWLB rates also remain subject to ad hoc decisions by 
H.M. Treasury to change (up or down) the margin over gilt yields charged in PWLB 
rates. This is illustrated by the 100 basis point increase implemented on 9 October 
2019 and the partial reversal of this increase for some forms of borrowing on 11 

Page 152



March 2020. Following the increase in margin in October 2019, Standard Rate 
loans are now priced at gilt plus 200 basis points and Certainty Rate loans at gilt 
plus 180 basis points. 

5.13 In March 2020, the government published a consultation with local authorities on 
future PWLB lending terms. Under the proposals issued for consultation, access to 
new PWLB loans in a financial year would be removed if a local authority was 
planning a debt-for-yield scheme anywhere in its capital plan, including through a 
local authority owned company or a joint venture. The consultation also signalled 
that, once a workable system is designed and implemented to prevent local 
authorities from using PWLB loans to buy commercial assets primarily for yield, 
without impeding their ability to pursue service delivery, housing and regeneration, 
the government intends to cut the interest on all new loans from the PWLB, subject 
to market conditions. The consultation period ended on 31 July 2020. 

5.14 It is therefore possible that the non-HRA Certainty Rate will be subject to revision 
downwards after the conclusion of the PWLB consultation; however, the timing of 
such a change is currently an unknown, although it would be likely to be within the 
current financial year. 

5.15 There was much speculation during the second half of 2019 that bond markets were 
in a bubble which was driving bond prices up and yields down to historically very 
low levels. The context for that was heightened expectations that the US could have 
been heading for a recession in 2020. In addition, there were growing expectations 
of a downturn in world economic growth, especially due to fears around the impact 
of the trade war between the US and China, together with inflation generally at low 
levels in most countries and expected to remain subdued. Combined, these 
conditions were conducive to very low bond yields.   

5.16 While inflation targeting by the major central banks has been successful over the 
last 30 years in lowering inflation expectations, the real equilibrium rate for central 
rates has fallen considerably due to the high level of borrowing by consumers. This 
means that central banks do not need to raise rates as much now to have a major 
impact on consumer spending, inflation, etc. The consequence of this has been the 
gradual lowering of the overall level of interest rates and bond yields in financial 
markets over the last 30 years.  

5.17 Over the course of the year prior to the coronavirus crisis, this has seen many bond 
yields up to 10 years turn negative in the Eurozone. In addition, there has, at times, 
been an inversion of bond yields in the US whereby 10-year yields have fallen 
below shorter-term yields. In the past, this has been a precursor of a recession.  
The other side of this coin is that bond prices are elevated as investors would be 
expected to be moving out of riskier assets i.e. shares, in anticipation of a downturn 
in corporate earnings and so selling out of equities.   

5.18 Gilt yields had therefore already been on a generally falling trend up until the 
coronavirus crisis hit western economies during March. After gilt yields spiked up 
during the initial phases of the health crisis in March, yields have since fallen 
sharply to unprecedented levels as investors panicked during March in selling 
shares in anticipation of impending recessions in western economies, and moved 
cash into safe haven assets i.e. government bonds. 

Page 153



5.19 In March, major western central banks also took action to deal with excessive stress 
in financial markets and started quantitative easing purchases of government 
bonds. This has also acted to put downward pressure on government bond yields at 
a time during which there has been a huge and quick expansion of government 
expenditure financed by issuing government bonds. Such unprecedented levels of 
issuance in “normal” times would have caused bond yields to rise sharply. However, 
gilt yields and PWLB rates have remained at remarkably low rates so far during 
2020-21. At close on 30 September, all gilt yields from 1 to 6 years were in negative 
territory, while even 25-year yields were at only 0.76% and 50 year at 0.60%. 

5.20 The interest rate forecasts provided by the Authority’s Treasury advisors are 
predicated on an assumption of a reasonable agreement being reached on trade 
negotiations between the UK and the EU by 31 December 2020.  However, as the 
differences between a Brexit deal and a no deal are not as big as they once were, 
the economic costs of a no deal have diminished. The bigger risk is that relations 
between the UK and the EU deteriorate to such an extent that both sides start to 
unravel the agreements already put in place. Therefore what really matters now is 
not whether there is a deal or a no deal, but what type of no deal it could be. 

5.21 The differences between a deal and a no deal were much greater immediately after 
the EU Referendum in June 2016 and also just before the original Brexit deadline of 
29 March 2019. This is in part because leaving the EU’s Single Market and 
Customs Union makes this Brexit a relatively “hard” one. However, the primary 
reason is because a lot of arrangements have already been put in place. Indeed, 
since the Withdrawal Agreement laid down the terms of the break-up, both the UK 
and the EU have made substantial progress in granting financial services 
equivalence and the UK has replicated the bulk of the trade deals it had with non-
EU countries via the EU. In a no deal in these circumstances (a “cooperative no 
deal”), GDP in 2021 as a whole may be only 1.0% lower than if there were a deal. In 
this situation, financial services equivalence would probably be granted during 2021 
and, if necessary, the UK and the EU would probably rollover any temporary 
arrangements in the future. 

5.22 The real risk is if the UK and the EU completely fall out. The UK could override part 
or all of the Withdrawal Agreement while the EU could respond by starting legal 
proceedings and few measures could be implemented to mitigate the disruption on 
1 January 2021. In such an “uncooperative no deal”, GDP could be 2.5% lower in 
2021 as a whole than if there was a deal. The acrimony would probably continue 
beyond 2021 too, which may lead to fewer agreements in the future and the expiry 
of any temporary measures. 

5.23 Relative to the slump in GDP endured during the COVID crisis, any hit from a no 
deal would be small. However, the pandemic does mean there is less scope for 
policy to respond. That said, the Chancellor could loosen fiscal policy by about 
£10bn (0.5% of GDP) and target it at those sectors hit hardest. The Bank of 
England could also prop up demand, most likely through more gilt and corporate 
bond purchases rather than negative interest rates. 

5.24 Brexit may reduce the economy’s potential growth rate in the long-run. However, 
much of that drag is now likely to be offset by an acceleration of productivity growth 
triggered by the digital revolution brought about by the COVID crisis.  

Page 154



5.25 The PWLB (certainty) rate forecasts included in table 1 are based around a balance 
of risks. At present, following recent announcements regarding potential vaccines, 
the overall balance of risks to economic growth in the UK is probably now skewed to 
the upside, but is subject to major uncertainty due to the virus and how quickly 
successful vaccines may become available and widely administered to the 
population. It is also subject to Brexit-related uncertainty including the nature of, and 
transition to, the new trading arrangements between the European Union and the 
United Kingdom.  

5.26 There is relatively little UK domestic risk of increases or decreases in the Bank Rate 
and significant changes in shorter-term PWLB rates until 2023-24 at the earliest. The 
Bank of England has effectively ruled out the use of negative interest rates in the 
near term and increases in the Bank Rate are likely to be some years away given 
the underlying economic expectations. However, it is always possible that safe 
haven flows, due to unexpected domestic developments and those in other major 
economies, could impact gilt yields, (and so PWLB rates), in the UK. 

5.27 Downside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates currently 
include:  

 imposition of further national lockdowns or severe regional restrictions in major 
conurbations during 2021  

 significant economic disruption and a major downturn in the rate of growth as a 
result of  UK - EU trade negotiations 

 the pace of Bank of England monetary policy action over the next three years 
(to raise the Bank Rate) is too quick or goes too far causing UK economic 
growth, and increases in inflation, to be weaker than currently anticipated 

 a resurgence of the Eurozone sovereign debt crisis; The ECB has taken 
monetary policy action to support the bonds of EU states, with the positive 
impact most likely for “weaker” countries. In addition, the EU recently agreed a 
€750bn fiscal support package. These actions will help shield weaker economic 
regions for the next year or so. However, in the case of Italy, the cost of the 
virus crisis has added to its already huge debt mountain and its slow economic 
growth will leave it vulnerable to markets returning to taking the view that its 
level of debt is unsupportable. There remains a sharp divide between northern 
EU countries favouring low debt to GDP and annual balanced budgets and 
southern countries who want to see jointly issued Eurobonds to finance 
economic recovery. This divide could undermine the unity of the EU in time to 
come.     

 weak capitalisation of some European banks, which could be undermined 
further depending on the extent of credit losses resultant of the pandemic.  

 German minority government & general election in 2021; In the German general 
election of September 2017, Angela Merkel’s CDU party was left in a vulnerable 
minority position dependent on the fractious support of the SPD party, as a 
result of the rise in popularity of the anti-immigration AfD party. The CDU has 
done badly in subsequent state elections but the SPD has done particularly 
badly. Angela Merkel has stepped down from being the CDU party leader but 
she intends to remain as Chancellor until the general election in 2021. This then 

Page 155



leaves a major question mark over who will be the major guiding hand and 
driver of EU unity when she steps down.     

 other minority EU governments; Austria, Sweden, Spain, Portugal, Netherlands 
and Belgium all have vulnerable minority governments dependent on coalitions 
which could prove fragile.  

 Austria, the Czech Republic, Poland and Hungary now forming a strongly anti-
immigration bloc within the EU. There has also been rising anti-immigration 
sentiment in Germany and France. 

 geopolitical risks, for example in China, Iran or North Korea, but also in Europe 
and other Middle Eastern countries, leading to increased safe haven flows.  

5.28 The potential for upside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates, 
especially for longer-term PWLB rates include: 

 a stronger than expected recovery in the UK economy, especially if effective 
vaccines are administered quickly to the UK population and lead to a 
resumption of normal life and a return to full economic activity across all sectors 
of the economy. 

 agreement being reached on a post Brexit agreement that removed the majority 
of threats of economic disruption between the EU and the UK.  

 the pace and strength of increases in the Bank Rate, by the Bank of England, is 
too slow allowing inflationary pressures to build up too strongly within the UK 
economy, which then necessitates a later rapid series of increases in the Bank 
Rate faster than currently expected.  

6.0  Investment Rates in 2020-21 

6.1 With the Bank Rate unlikely to rise from 0.10% for a considerable period, 
investment returns are likely to remain exceptionally low throughout 2020-21 and 
into 2021-22 with little increase expected in the following two years. 

6.2  The cuts made to the Bank Rate on 11 March and 19 March 2020, saw sharp falls 
in rates at the short end of the yield curve. Since then overnight and 7-day LIBID 
rates during the first six months of the current financial year have remained broadly 
stable. Between April and September 2020, the overnight LIBID rate fluctuated 
between a high of -0.06% and a low of -0.08%. The average overnight rate for the 
six months to September 2020 was -0.07%. This compares with an average of 
0.55% for the corresponding period last year, and an average for the financial year 
2019-20 of 0.52%. 

6.3 Over the same period, the 7-day LIBID fluctuated between a high of 0.004% and a 
low of -0.08%. The average 7-day rate for the six months to September was -
0.06%. This compares with an average of 0.55% for the corresponding period last 
year and an average for the financial year 2019-20 of 0.53%. 

6.4 In contrast, investment rates for terms of three months and longer were on a 
declining trend through most of the period with falls of between 51 and 68 basis 
points recorded across the curve between April and September.  

Page 156



Bank and Money Market Rates (London Interbank Bid Rate - LIBID)  

 

6.5 While the Bank of England has said that it is unlikely to introduce a negative Bank 
Rate, at least in the next 6 to12 months, some deposit accounts are already offering 
negative rates for shorter periods. Over the course of the year to date Money 
market funds (MMFs), yields have continued to drift lower. Some managers have 
suggested that they might resort to trimming fee levels to ensure that net yields for 
investors remain in positive territory where possible and practical. Investor cash flow 
uncertainty, and the need to maintain liquidity in these unprecedented times, has 
meant there is a glut of money swilling around at the very short end of the market. 
This has seen a number of market operators, now including the DMADF, offer nil or 
negative rates for very short-term maturities. However, this is not universal and 
MMFs are still offering a marginally positive return, as are a number of financial 
institutions.  

7.0 Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) Borrowing Rates 

7.1 The graph and table below show the movement in PWLB certainty rates for the first 
six months of the year to date. After falling to historically low rates during 2019-20, 
PWLB rates across the yield curve varied within a relatively narrow range between 
April and July 2020, before rising during August at the longer end of the curve.  

7.2 This increase came in two periods. The first in the second week of the month was 
on the back of hopes for fresh US stimulus. This saw investors switch monies out of 
government bonds and into equities. The second shift, higher at the longer end of 
the curve, came in the latter stages of the month as investors reacted to the 
announcement of the tweak to the Federal Reserve’s inflation target. Despite moves 
further out in the yield curve, rates at the short end remained anchored on the basis 
of no fundamental change to the interest rate outlook. 

Page 157



7.3 At 30 September 2020, the 50 year PWLB certainty rate for new loans closed at 
2.4% (30.9.19: 1.67%), up marginally from 2.34% at the beginning of the financial 
year. The 25-year rate ended the period at 2.56%. This compares with a rate of 
2.6% at the beginning of April 2019 and 1.83% at the end of September 2019. The 
forecast rates for September included in the TMSS for 50 and 25-year maturities 
were 3.4% and 3.3% respectively. 

  PWLB Maturity Certainty Rates 2020-21 

 
 

   Table 2: PWLB certainty rates - 6 months ending 30 September 2020 

 1-Years 

% 

4½- 5 Years 

% 

9½-10 Years 

% 

24½- 25 Years 

% 

49½ - 50 Years 

% 

At 1.4.20 1.90 1.92 2.10 2.60 2.34 

Low 1.70 1.67 1.91 2.40 2.13 

Date  18/09/2020 30/07/2020 31/07/2020 18/06/2020 24/04/2020 

High 1.94 1.99 2.19 2.80 2.65 

Date  08/04/2020 08/04/2020 08/04/2020 28/08/2020 28/08/2020 

At 30. 9.20 1.76 1.74 2.02 2.56 2.40 

Period average  1.80 1.80 2.04 2.54 2.23 

8.0 Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Investment 
Strategy update 

8.1 The Council’s Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) and Annual 
Investment Strategy for 2020-21 was approved by Full Council on 4 March 2020. 
The Annual Investment Strategy establishes, as the Council’s primary policy 
objective, the security of principal sums invested in priority to liquidity and yield. The 
Council will then aim to achieve the optimum return on its investments 
commensurate with the proper levels of security and liquidity. However, yield will 
only determine investment decisions when deciding between two or more 
investments satisfying security and liquidity objectives. 

Page 158



8.2 Ensuring the security of principal sums invested is achieved through active 
management of the Council’s credit risk exposures. This includes placing 
restrictions and limits on:  

 the counterparties with whom investments may be made based on an 
assessment of the creditworthiness of the counterparty  

 the types of investment instruments that may be used 

 the amount invested with any single institution or group of institutions on the 
Council’s list of approved counterparties 

 the duration of individual investment instruments depending on the financial 
standing (creditworthiness) of the counterparty.   

8.3 Economic developments and performance of financial markets during the period 
(including those affecting interest rate forecasts) do not require any changes to be 
made to the previously approved Treasury Management and Investment strategies. 
The Authority will therefore continue with its policy of investing in higher quality 
counterparties over relatively short maturities and postponing borrowing where 
possible, to minimise the cost of carry and counterparty risk. 

8.4 During the six months to 30 September, there have been no changes to the 
individual ratings of the Authority’s active investment counterparties. 

8.5 The credit rating agencies did however change their outlook on many UK banks 
from Stable to Negative during the quarter ended 30 June 2020, due to upcoming 
risks to banks’ earnings and asset quality during the economic downturn, caused by 
the pandemic. Despite the downgrades in outlook, the majority of ratings were 
affirmed due to the continuing strong credit profiles of major financial institutions, 
including UK banks. However, during Q1 and Q2 2020, banks made provisions for 
expected credit losses and the rating changes reflected these provisions. As we 
move into future quarters, more information will emerge on actual levels of credit 
losses.  

8.6 This has the potential to cause rating agencies to revisit their initial rating 
adjustments earlier in the current year. These adjustments could be negative or 
positive, although it should also be borne in mind that banks went into this 
pandemic with strong balance sheets. This is predominantly a result of regulatory 
changes imposed on banks following the Financial Crisis. Indeed, the Financial 
Policy Committee (FPC) report on 6 August revised down their expected credit 
losses for the UK banking sector to “somewhat less than £80bn”. It stated that in its 
assessment, “banks have buffers of capital more than sufficient to absorb the losses 
that are likely to arise under the MPC’s central projection”. The FPC stated that for 
real stress in the sector, the economic output would need to be twice as bad as the 
MPC’s projection, with unemployment rising to above 15%.  

8.7 In addition to the potential impact of Covid-19 on the UK economy there is, at the 
time of writing, continuing uncertainty over a potential Brexit deal. If the UK leaves 
the EU without a deal, then this could place further downside pressure on the 
sovereign rating, which may have a knock-on impact on UK financial institution 
ratings. 

Page 159



9.0  Investment Activity April to September 2020 

9.1. At 30 September 2020, the Council’s investment balances (excluding cash in hand 
and bank current accounts) stood at £17.94m. This compares with a balance of 
£9.003m at 31 March 2020 and £10.3m at 30 September 2019.  

9.2 A summary of investment activity during the six months ending 30 September 2020 
- excluding ‘policy investments’ falling outside of the Council’s Treasury 
Management and Investment Strategies - is shown in table 3 below.  

 Table 3: Investment activity 1.4.20 to 30.9.20  

 Credit 
Rating 

1 April 
2020 

Investments  30 Sept 
2020 Made Repaid 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Specified investments 

Call Accounts   AA- 1,386 9,641 (8,215) 2,812 

Call Accounts   A+/A/A- 1,750 12,106 (8,872) 4,984 

Notice Accounts (DMO) AA- 0 92,415 (92,415) 0 

Money Market Funds AAA 5,856 39,719 (35,445) 10,130 

Non specified investments 

Equity Shares - 11 0 0 11 

Total   9,003 153,881 (144,947) 17,937 

9.3 The average level of funds invested during the period was £23.76m. This compares 
with an average of £11.61m over the corresponding period in 2019-20.  

9.4 Underpinning the significant increase in average investment balances during the 
period, compared to the corresponding six-month period last year, are the cash 
flows associated with measures implemented by central government in response to 
Covid-19. These include the receipt, in April, of £42.2m to fund the payment of 
grants to businesses in receipt of small business and rural rates reliefs and eligible 
businesses in the retail, hospitality and leisure sectors, as well as a number of other 
measures aimed at alleviating pressures on local authority cash flows during the 
pandemic.  

Page 160



 
 

9.5 In accordance with the Annual Investment Strategy for 2020-21, all investments 
made during the period were:  

 restricted to approved investment instruments (MM funds and call accounts) 
with counterparties holding a minimum long-term rating across all three of the 
main credit ratings agencies (Fitch, Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s) of A- or 
equivalent (AA+ or equivalent for non-UK sovereigns)  

 for periods not exceeding the maximum permitted durations determined by 
reference to the relative creditworthiness of the counterparty and subject to a 
maximum maturity of 365 days (from the date of acquisition). 

9.6  During April, the amount of funding paid to the Authority as part of central 
government’s response to the Covid-19 pandemic meant it was not possible to 
place those funds with institutions on the Council’s list of approved counterparties 
without breaching the approved counterparty limit with one or more of those 
institutions. In order to minimise counterparty risks, created by this situation, where 
the temporary investment of this additional funding could not be accommodated 
within agreed counterparty limits, all excess amounts were placed with HM. 
Treasury’s Debt Management Office (DMO). This required temporary suspension of 
the Authority’s £12m counterparty limit on deposits placed with the DMO during the 
period 1 to 7 April. 

9.7 At the end of September, yields on the Authority’s Money Market and Call account 
balances ranged from 0% to 0.07%. This compares with a range of 0.05% to 0.4% 
at 1 April. The Authority’s benchmark rate of return at 30 September (7 day LIBID) 
was -0.08%. 

9.8 At 30 September, forecasted investment interest for the year to 31 March 2021 was 
£20k against a budget of £60k. The expected shortfall in income is accommodated 

 -

 5,000

 10,000

 15,000

 20,000

 25,000

 30,000

 35,000

 40,000

 45,000

 50,000

 55,000
£'
00
0

Investment balances 2018/19 to 2020/21

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Page 161



in the proposed revised revenue budget for 2020-21 by way of a £40k non-recurring 
growth bid. This reflects the significant falls in investment yields since the 2020-21 
original revenue budget was prepared, actual investment returns achieved in the 
period April to September and forecast returns anticipated over the remainder of the 
financial year.  

10.0  Borrowing Strategy 

10.1 In recent years, the Council has maintained an under-borrowed position.This means 
that the capital borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement - CFR), has not 
been fully funded with loan debt. By utilising cash supporting the Council’s reserves 
and favourable in-year cash flows, the Council has been able to avoid the need to 
borrow up to the level of the CFR.  

10.2 This has allowed the Council to minimise borrowing costs and reduce treasury risk 
by reducing its external investment balances. This strategy is prudent as investment 
returns are low and counterparty risk is still an issue that needs to be considered 
but requires ongoing monitoring in the event that upside risks to gilt yields prevail. 
The strategy adopted in 2020-21, was for the Council to continue with this policy to 
the extent permitted by its liquidity requirements and the effective management of 
its interest rate exposures. 

10.3   Over the second half of 2019-20, gilt yields (and PWLB rates) were on a generally 
falling trend up until the coronavirus crisis hit western economies. Since then, gilt 
yields have fallen sharply to unprecedented lows as investors panicked into selling 
shares in anticipation of impending recessions in western economies and moved 
cash into safe haven assets i.e. government bonds. Major western central banks, 
including the Bank of England, also started quantitative easing purchases of 
government bonds, putting further downward pressure on government bond yields. 

10.4 As noted above, PWLB rates varied within a relatively narrow range for much of the 
first six months of the current financial year, whilst forecasts indicate there is likely 
to be little upward movement in rates over the course of the next two years. In 
addition, the outcome of the PWLB consultation, which ended in July 2020, has 
raised the possibility of further reductions in the margin over gilt rates charged for 
PWLB borrowing. Therefore in accordance with the principles set out in the 
approved policy, the Authority has continued to utilise internal borrowing to maintain 
an under-borrowed position and postpone the draw down of long-term borrowing. 

10.5 Economic developments and performance of financial markets during the period 
(including those affecting interest rate forecasts) do not require any changes to be 
made to the previously approved strategy.  

11.0  Borrowing activities 

11.1 No new borrowing was undertaken during the six months to 30 September 2020. 
PWLB principal of £341k was repaid during the period. A summary of borrowing 
transactions undertaken during the six months to 30 September 2020 is set out in 
table 4 below. 

Page 162



 Table 4: Borrowing activity 1.4.20 to 30.9.20  

  
01 Apr 2020 

New 
Borrowing 

Borrowing 
Repaid 

30 Sept 2020 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Long-term         

PWLB – fixed rates 17,247 0 (341) 16,906 

Short-term         

Local Bonds 31 0 0 31 

Trust Funds 54 0 0 54 

  17,332 0 (341) 16,991 

11.2 The Council’s 2020-21 Budget and Treasury Management Strategy Statement 
anticipated additional PWLB borrowing during 2020-21 of up to £6.61m to fund the 
Council’s capital programme. It also assumed additional borrowing of up to £4.89m 
in 2019-20. As a result of the deferment of borrowing in 2019-20 and the changes 
included in the Council’s revised 2020-21 capital programme, including the impact 
of the re-profiling of expenditure funded from borrowing between financial years, 
anticipated (maximum) external borrowing requirements in 2020-21 has been 
revised to £7.23m. This figure includes £1.4m of borrowing in respect of unfinanced 
capital expenditure (i.e. amounts funded from borrowing) incurred in prior years. 
Borrowing requirements in 2021-22 and 2022-23 are currently estimated at £630k 
and £130k respectively.  

11.3 Forecasting completed at the end of quarter 2 of 2020-21, highlights a number of 
planned capital schemes, funded from borrowing, in respect of which no 
expenditure is expected to be incurred in the current financial year. Removing these 
schemes from the forecast additional borrowing would reduce the maximum 
expected borrowing requirement during the current year to approximately £2.5m.  

11.4 The decision to draw down loans will be determined in accordance with the 
borrowing strategy set out in the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement, with the timing and amount of any additional borrowing reflecting: 

 current and future liquidity (cash flow) requirements including in 
particular, amounts required to fund the Council’s capital programme 

 expected future movements in interest rates  

 management of treasury risk. 

11.5 At 30 September 2020, the Council’s PWLB loan portfolio consisted of fixed rate:  

 maturity loans totalling £8.0m (1 April 2020: £8.0m) 

 fixed rate annuity loans totalling £1.504m (1 April  2020: £1.547m) 

 equal instalment of principal loans of £7.402m (1 April 2020: £7.700m). 

 Interest charged on borrowings 

11.6 Interest rates applying to individual loans within the Council’s PWLB loan portfolio 
range from 1.95% to 9.5%. The weighted average interest rate on the PWLB loan 
portfolio currently stands at 5.01% (30 September 2019: 5.47%).This compares with 

Page 163



the PWLB rates applying to new maturity, annuity and equal instalment of principal 
(EIP) loans at 30 September 2020 shown in table 5. 

Table 5: PWLB new loan & premature repayment rates at 30 September 2020  

Term 

Certainty1 Premature repayment2 

EIP   

% 

Annuity 

% 

Maturity  

% 

EIP   

% 

Annuity 

% 

Maturity  

% 

Over 4½ Years not over 5  1.72 1.72 1.74 -0.2 -0.2 -0.2 

Over 9½ Years not over 10  1.74 1.74 2.02 -0.18 -0.18 0.07 

Over 24½ Years not over 25  2.21 2.22 2.56 0.27 0.28 0.64 

Over 49½ Years not over 50  2.56 2.56 2.40 0.64 0.64 0.47 

1 Certainty rates are calculated by subtracting 0.2% from standard new loan rates. They apply to new loans 
taken out by authorities who have provided MHCLG with required information on their long-term borrowing 
and capital spending plans.  

2  Premature repayment rates apply to loans which are being repaid early.  

11.7 The maturity structure of external borrowing at 30 September 2020 (principal only) 
is shown in table 6. 

Table 6: Maturity profile of external borrowing 

  30 Sept 
2020 

 31 July 
2020 

 31 Mar 
2020 

 30 Sept 
2019 

 31 Mar 
2019 

 30 Sept 
2018 

 
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Less than 1 year 773 773 769 408 405 401 

Between 1 & 2yrs 696 696 692 331 327 323 

Between 2 & 5yrs 2,145 2,145 2,131 1,045 1,031 1,018 

Between 5 & 10yrs 2,495 2,672 2,668 1,948 1,934 1,906 

Between 10 & 20yrs 2,601 2,604 2,672 2,741 2,815 2,901 

Between 20 & 30yrs 280 360 400 520 640 760 

Between 30 & 40yrs 8,000 8,000 8,000 8,000 8,000 8,000 

Between 40 & 50yrs 0 0 0 0 0 0 

 16,990 17,250 17,332 14,993 15,152 15,309 

11.8 At 30 September 2020, the weighted average time to maturity of the Council’s 
PWLB debt portfolio was approximately 25 years. The weighted average life of the 
PWLB debt portfolio at 30 September 2020 was approximately 21 years. 

11.9 At 30 September, the revised, full year estimate for interest payable on borrowings 
(adjusted to include the amortisation of deferred premia and discounts incurred in 
prior years) was £931k compared to an original budget of £1,081k. The difference of 
£150k reflects:  

 the deferral of borrowing from 2019-20 

 changes to the expected timing of capital expenditure (funded from 
borrowing) across financial years and the impact of these changes on the 
Authority’s external borrowing requirements and timing of borrowing 

 revisions to interest rates to reflect the latest available forecasts. 

Page 164



11.10 The forecast reduction of interest costs has been accommodated in the 2020-21 
revised revenue budget by way of a non-recurring savings adjustment of £150k. 

  Debt Rescheduling 

11.11 The historic nature of the Council’s PWLB loan portfolio and the exclusive use of 
fixed rate loans means that the rates of interest applying to these loans are 
significantly higher than those currently applied to new PWLB loans. However, the 
differential between new borrowing rates (certainty rate) and the PWLB’s premature 
redemption rates makes rescheduling unviable at the present time. As a 
consequence, no debt rescheduling was undertaken during the 6 month period 
ending 30 September 2020.  

11.12 At 30 September 2020, the redemption value of the Council’s PWLB debt, 
calculated using PWLB premature redemption rates, was £35.267m. This compares 
with a redemption value of £35.832m at 31 March 2020 and £32.3m at 30 
September 2019.  

11.13 The difference of £18.361m between the fair value and the principal outstanding of 
£16.906m (see table 4) reflects the premium that would be payable - as at 30 
September - in order to repay the outstanding principal prematurely of £18.091m 
plus interest accrued from the previous scheduled repayment date of £0.27m.  

12.0 Prudential Indicators  

12.1 The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Council to determine and keep under 
review, limits on how much money it can afford to borrow by way of loans and other 
forms of credit (for example finance leases). The process the Council must follow in 
setting these limits (the ‘Authorised limit for external debt’) is set out in the 
Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities to which the Council is 
required to ‘have regard to’ under provisions contained in the 2003 Act. 

12.2 In addition to the Authorised Limit, CIPFA’s Prudential and Treasury Management 
Codes and accompanying sector guidance include a number of other key treasury 
management indicators designed to ensure the Council operates its treasury 
activities within well-defined limits. These include: 

 setting an operational boundary for external debt based on the expectations 
of the most likely maximum external debt for the year  

 ensuring that gross debt does not, except in the short term, exceed the Capital 
Financing Requirement (CFR) - the underlying need to borrow for capital 
purposes - at the end of the preceding year plus the estimates of any additional 
CFR for current and the following two financial years 

 placing upper and lower limits on the maturity structure of borrowings 

 placing upper limits on the total of principal sums invested longer than 365 
days. 

12.3 The Council’s Authorised Borrowing Limit (the statutory limit on borrowing under the 
Local Government Act 2003), Operational Boundary (the limit beyond which 
external debt is not expected to exceed) and other indicators and limits required by 

Page 165



CIPFA’s Prudential and Treasury Management Codes, were set out in the Council’s 
Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy for 2020-21.  

12.4 During the financial year to date, the Council has operated within the treasury and 
prudential indicators set out in the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement and in compliance with the Council's Treasury Management Practices.  
The Council’s Prudential and Treasury Indicators are shown in Appendix 2. 

12.5 At 30 September 2020, the Council’s gross external debt was £16.991m. The 
maximum external debt outstanding during the period was £17.332m (1 April 
2020).This compares with:  

 a Capital Financing Requirement (the Council’s underlying need to 
borrow for capital purposes) at 1 April 2020 of £22.741m and a forecast 
CFR at 31 March 2021 of £26.953m (based on the revised capital budget 
for 2020-21) 

 an Operational Boundary (representing the Council’s expected maximum 
external debt based on probable events) of £36.5m, and  

 an Authorised Borrowing Limit (the statutory limit on borrowing) of 
£38.5m.  

12.6 At 30 September 2020, the difference between the Operational Boundary (£36.5m) 
and the actual amount of external debt outstanding (£16.99m) is £19.51m. The key 
components of this difference are:  

 deferral of borrowing from 2019-20 of £2.4m  

 lease liabilities of £6.8m 

 anticipated external borrowing of up to £6.7m, included in the Operational 
Boundary, to accommodate the additional borrowing requirements in 
relation to the Council’s (original) capital expenditure plans for 2020-21 

 headroom within the operational boundary to allow for the externalisation 
of internal borrowing and other short-term liquidity requirements of 
approximately £2m 

 repayments made during 2020-21 of £341k. 

12.7 As noted above, no additional borrowing has been undertaken during the first six 
months of 2020-21. By utilising cash from reserves, revenue balances and 
favourable cash flows, the Council has been able to avoid the need to borrow up to 
the level of the CFR. In turn, this has allowed the Council to minimise borrowing 
costs and reduce overall treasury risk by reducing the level of its external 
investment balances. 

 Revisions to the Prudential Indicators for 2020-21 

12.8 The Prudential Indicators for 2020-21 were predicated on the assumption that the 
2020-21 Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting would include the 
requirements of IFRS 16 Leases. This would have impacted on the accounting 
treatment of new and existing leases which would, in turn, have implications for the 
prudential indicators, including external debt (other long-term liabilities), Capital 
Financing Requirement, the Authorised Limit for External Debt and the Operational 
Boundary. 

Page 166



12.9 However, in response to the Covid-19 pandemic, CIPFA/LASAACs Local Authority 
Accounting Code Board took the decision in March 2020 to defer implementation of 
IFRS 16 from 1 April 2020 to 1 April 2021 in-line with the government’s Financial 
Reporting Advisory Board’s proposals for central government departments.  

12.10  The following changes to the Prudential Indicators for 2020-21 are therefore 
proposed in order to accommodate the impact of the decision to defer the 
implementation of IFRS 16. The proposed changes also take into account the 2019-
20 outturn position and the revised capital budget for 2020-21.  

Table 7: Revised Prudential Indicators 2020-21 

 Indicator 
Approved 
Indicator 
(Original) 

Revised 
Indicator  

Estimate of Capital expenditure 2020-21 £13,295k £11,629k 

Estimate of the Capital financing requirement at 31.3.21 £35,159k £26,953k 

Gross debt & the CFR - level of (under)/over borrowing at 31.3.21 £(2,952)k £(3,075)k 

Authorised Limit for External Debt £38,500k £30,000k 

Operational boundary for external debt £36,500k £28,000k 

Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream 16.9% 11.3% 

12.11 Consequential changes to the Prudential Indicators for 2021-22 and subsequent 
years will be presented for Member approval as part of the 2021-22 Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement.  

13.0  Delivery arrangements 

13.1 Not applicable to this decision/report.  

14.0 Implications and Impact 

 Contribution to Council Strategy Priorities, Outputs and Outcomes  

14.1 Not applicable to this decision/report. 

 Finance/Resource implications 

14.2 Financial issues and implications are included within the main body of this report. 

 Legal and governance implications  

14.3 The CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management and the CIPFA Prudential 
Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities require the Council to report regularly 
on specific aspects of its treasury management activities.  

 Risk analysis 

14.4 The Council regards the successful identification, monitoring and control of risk to 
be the prime criteria by which the effectiveness of its treasury management 
activities will be measured. Risk implications associated with the Authority’s 
treasury activity is considered in the main body of the report. 

Page 167



 Increasing satisfaction and service 

14.5 Not applicable to this decision/report. 

 Equality impacts 

14.6 Not applicable to this decision/report. 

 Health and Safety impacts 

14.7 Not applicable to this decision/report. 

 Health, wellbeing and community safety impacts 

14.8 Not applicable to this decision/report. 

 Environmental/sustainability impacts 

14.9 Not applicable to this decision/report. 

 Other significant implications 

14.10 There are no other significant implications arising from report. 

Appendices attached to this report 

Appendix  Title of appendix 

1 Interest rate movements  

2 Prudential and treasury indicators 

3 Proposed Revised Capital Budget 2020-21 to 2022-23 

Background documents available 

Name of background document Where it is available 

Treasury Management Strategy Statement & 
Investment Strategy 2020-21 

Council Agenda 4 March 2020 

Minimum Revenue Provision Policy 2020-21 Council Agenda 4 March 2020 

Report author(s) and contact officer(s): 

Barry Lennox 
Financial Services Manager 
Telephone no: 01900-702586 
email: mailto:barry.lennox@allerdale.gov.uk  

 

 

 

Page 168

https://democracy.allerdale.gov.uk/documents/s124448/TMSS%20Investment%20Strategy%20MRP%20policy%202020-2021cover%20report%201802202%20Audit%20Committee.pdf
https://democracy.allerdale.gov.uk/documents/s124448/TMSS%20Investment%20Strategy%20MRP%20policy%202020-2021cover%20report%201802202%20Audit%20Committee.pdf
mailto:barry.lennox@allerdale.gov.uk


Appendix 1 
 
 

 
 
 

Money Market Rates (London Interbank Bid Rate - LIBID) 

  
Average 1 April 
to 30 Sept 2020 

At 30 Sept   
2020 

At 30 June     
2020 

At 1 April 
2020 

  %  %  % % 

Bank Rate 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 

Overnight -0.07 -0.08 -0.07 -0.06 

7 days’ notice -0.06 -0.08 -0.06 0.00 

1 month fixed -0.02 -0.08 -0.03 0.11 

3 months fixed 0.11 -0.06 0.02 0.45 

6 months fixed 0.21 -0.04 0.17 0.59 

1 year fixed 0.35 0.03 0.30 0.71 

 
Money market investment rates (London Interbank Bid Rate - LIBID) 

  Bank Rate 7 day 1 month 3 months 6 months 1 year 

High 0.10 0.00 0.14 0.56 0.62 0.77 

High date  01/04/20 02/04/2020 20/04/2020 08/04/2020 14/04/2020 21/04/2020 

Low  0.10 -0.08 -0.08 -0.07 -0.05 0.02 

Low date 01/04/20  30/09/2020 30/09/2020 18/09/2020 21/09/2020 18/09/2020 

Average  0.10 -0.06 -0.02 0.11 0.21 0.35 

Spread 0.00 0.08 0.22 0.63 0.67 0.76 

Page 169



Appendix 2 
Prudential and treasury indicators 

1.0  Indicators required by the Prudential Code   

1.1  The Prudential Code requires authorities to self-regulate the affordability, prudence 
and sustainability of their capital expenditure and borrowing plans by setting 
estimates and limits and by publishing actuals for a range of prudential indicators. It 
also requires them to ensure their treasury management practices are in 
accordance with good practice.  

1.2 The prudential and treasury indicators required by the Prudential Code, Treasury 
Management Code and accompanying sector guidance are designed to support 
and record local decision-making. They are not designed to be comparative 
performance indicators and should not be used for this purpose.  

1.3 Details of the Council’s approved prudential and treasury indicators for 2020-21 are 
summarised in the following sections together with: 

 forecast outturn information for the year to 31 March 2021 based on 
outturn projections included in the Council’s Quarterly Finance Report to 
September 2020  

 updated estimates based on the proposed 2020-21 revised revenue and 
capital budgets  

 actuals at 30 September 2020. 

2.0 Actual capital expenditure 

2.1 Table A summarises the Council’s original and revised capital expenditure plans for 
2020-21 and the actual capital expenditure incurred to 30 September 2020.  

Table A: Capital expenditure 2020-21 

  

2020/21 
Approved 

2020/21 

Actual to 
30.9.20 

2020/21 

Forecast 
Outturn (Q2) 

2020/21 
Revised 
Budget2 

£000 £000 £000 £000 

General Fund Capital Expenditure  13,295 252 5,604 11,629 

Financed by:         

Capital receipts 572 0 540 647 

Capital grants & contributions  5,880 198 3,741 4,837 

Revenue (GF & Earmarked Reserves) 9 42 71 94 

Total expenditure financed in year 6,461 240 4,352 5,578 

Unfinanced capital expenditure:      

Supported borrowing1 0 0 0 0 

Unsupported borrowing  6,787 12 1,252 6,051 

Leasing (credit arrangements) 47 0 0 0 

Total financed & unfinanced  13,295 252 5,604 11,629 

1 Following the Spending Review 2010, there have been no new supported borrowing allocations 
since 2010-11. 2Updated to reflect the carry forward of budgets from 2019-20, re-profiling 
adjustments and capital bids included in the (proposed) revised capital budget for 2020-21.  

Page 170



2.2 Capital expenditure is defined in section 16 of the Local Government Act 2003 and 
includes: 

 all expenditure that falls to be capitalised in accordance with proper practices, 
together with  

 any items capitalised in accordance with regulation 25 of the Local Authorities 
(Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) Regulations 2003 (as amended), 
or by virtue of a capitalisation direction issued under section 16(2) of the 2003 
Act.  

2.3 The approved prudential indicator for capital expenditure in 2020-21 of £13,295k 
reflects the capital budget approved by Full Council on 4 March 2020. The decrease 
of £1,666k between this and the revised indicator (£11,629k) - based on the 
proposed revised capital budget for 2020-21 - reflects:  

 approved capital budget carry forwards from 2019-20 of £1,395k 

 growth bids of £1,515k, including £859k in respect of 2020-21 

less  

 budget savings bids (associated with reported forecast variances at 30 
September) of £3,353k, including savings of £3,273k in 2020-21 

 re-profiling adjustments involving the transfer of previously approved 
expenditure to subsequent financial years, this includes the transfer of £647k 
of expenditure and associated financing from 2020-21 to 2021-22 and 2022-
23 in line with current expenditure forecasts. 

2.4 At the end of September 2020, capital expenditure to date stood at £252k compared 
to a current budget - inclusive of budget carry forwards and other adjustments 
agreed as part of the 2019-20 capital outturn report - of £14,690k. A total of £5,352k 
is currently forecast to be spent against this budget during the period October 2020 
to March 2021, with a further £5,788k forecast to be carried forward to 2021-22 and 
subsequent years. Of the forecast carry forward, £647k is dealt with by way of 
reprofiling adjustments included in the revised 2020-21 capital budget. The 
remaining £5,141k is expected to be addressed through budget carry forward 
requests submitted as part of the 2020-21 capital outturn report.  

2.5 The impact of the 2020-21 revised budget proposals on the capital expenditure 
indicator for the period 2020-21 to 2022-23, is summarised below. Further details of 
the changes made to the Authority’s capital expenditure plans are set out in 
Appendix 3 of this report and in the Quarter 2 Finance Report and Revised Budget 
2020-21, to be presented to the Council’s Executive on 25 November 2020. 

  
  

Page 171



 Table B: Capital expenditure – proposed revised budget 2019-20 – 2021-22 

 

Financial year   

2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 Total 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Indicator approved in TMSS  13,295 1,611 1,534 16,440 

2019/20 budget carried forward  1,395 0 0 1,395 

Current budget 14,690 1,611 1,534 17,835 

Re-profiling adjustments  (647) 781 (134) 0 

Capital Growth - see table below 859 372 284 1,515 

Capital Savings  - see table below (3,273) (40) (40) (3,353) 

Revised Budget 11,629 2,724 1,644 15,997 

3.0 Actual Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) 

3.1  The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) is a measure of an authority’s underlying 
need to borrow for capital purposes. It represents the historic cost of capital 
expenditure that has yet to be financed by setting aside resources (grants, 
contributions, capital receipts and revenue financing). The CFR also includes items 
of capital expenditure included in an authority’s balance sheet associated with other 
long-term liabilities, such as assets held on finance leases, but excluding the 
underlying liability. The CFR does not necessarily correspond with an authority’s 
actual borrowing position which is determined in accordance with an authority’s 
treasury management strategy and practices.  

3.2 Capital expenditure not financed up-front through the application of capital grants, 
contributions, capital receipts or a direct charge to revenue will increase the Capital 
Financing Requirement. Charging the minimum revenue provision or a voluntary 
revenue provision against the general fund will reduce the CFR.   

Table C: Capital financing requirement 

 2019/20 
Actual 

 

2020/21 
Approved 
Estimate 

2020/21 
Actual to 
30.9.20 

2020/21 
Forecast 

Outturn (Q2)  

2020/21 
Revised 
Budget 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

CFR at 1 April 22,741 22,897 22,136 22,136 22,136 

CFR IFRS 16 - Leases  0 6,816 0 0 0 

Total CFR 22,741 29,713 22,136 22,136 22,136 

CFR at 31 March 22,136 35,159 21,014 22,154 26,953 

Movement in CFR (605) 5,446 (1,122) 18 4,817 

Movement represented by:      

Unfinanced expenditure  517 6,834 12 1,252 6,051 

Adjust unfinanced expenditure1      0 (100) (100) 

Less MRP (1,122) (1,388) (1,134) (1,134) (1,134) 

Less Voluntary set aside  0  0 0 0 0 

Movement in CFR (605) 5,446 (1,122) 18 4,817 

1 Adjustment in respect of prior year expenditure following the decision to discontinue the Reedlands 
Road scheme 

Page 172



3.3  The key variable in the calculation of the Authority’s CFR at 31 March 2021 is the 
level of unfinanced capital expenditure incurred during 2020-21. The amount of 
unfinanced capital expenditure included in the revised 2020-21 capital budget is 
£6,051k. This includes £5,827k in respect of the following capital projects: 

 £4,400k - Regeneration and Investment capital budget  

 £600k - Lillyhall infrastructure scheme  

 £328k - Browtop enhancement  

 £100k - Reinstatement of Public Right way (Maryport) 

 £100k - Kirkgate Centre Contribution 

 £299k - Strategic acquisitions capital budget.  

4.0 Gross debt and the capital financing requirement (CFR) 

4.1 A fundamental provision of the Prudential Code and a key indicator of prudence is 

that, over the medium term, debt will only be for a capital purpose. To ensure this is 
the case, gross external debt should not, except in the short-term, exceed the total 
of the capital financing requirement in the preceding year plus the estimates of any 
additional capital financing requirement for the current and next two financial years.  

4.2 This requirement allows some flexibility for limited early borrowing for future years 
but ensures that borrowing is not undertaken for revenue purposes. Gross debt 
refers to the sum of borrowing and other long-term liabilities (credit arrangements). 
Table D compares the Council’s gross debt and CFR.  

 Table D: Gross debt & the CFR 

  

31.3.20 

Actual 

Actual at 
30.9.20 

31.3.21 
Forecast 
Outturn1 

31.3.21 
Revised 
Budget2 

2020/21 
Estimate 

(max) 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

PWLB – existing borrowing 17,247 16,906 16,563 16,563 16,906 

Planned new borrowing2 - 0  2,430 7,230 7,230 

Other borrowing  85 85 85 85 85 

Total debt  17,332 16,991 19,078 23,878 24,221 

CFR at 1 April  22,741 22,136 22,136 22,136 22,136 

Add: Unfinanced capital expenditure 517 12 1,152 5,951 5,951 

Less: MRP (1,122) (1,134) (1,134) (1,134) (1,134) 

CFR at 31 March 22,136 21,014 22,154 26,953 26,953 

(Under)/Over borrowing  (4,804) (4,023) (3,076) (3,075) (2,732) 

1 based on the maturity profile of the Council’s existing loan portfolio at 30.9.20 and £2.43m of new 
borrowing; 2 including £4.7m related to the Investment and Regeneration and Strategic Acquisitions 
budget (not currently forecasted to be spend in 2020-21) 

  

Page 173



4.3 At 31 March 2020, the Council was under-borrowed against its capital financing 
requirement by £4.80m and at 30 September 2020 by £4.02m. The decrease in the 
level of underborrowing during the six months to 30 September is £781k and is 
represented by: 

 a net decrease in the CFR of £1,122k generated from unfinanced 
capital expediture incurred during the period, less amounts set aside 
from revenue to finance capital expenditure (MRP)  

 repayment of borrowing of £341k. 

4.4 Based on the maturity profile of the Council’s existing loan portfolio and the 
borrowing assumptions inherent to both the current forecast capital outturn positon 
and the revised capital budget, the Council is expected to remain underborrowed 
throughout the remainder of 2020-21 and over the course of the next two finnacial 
years. At 31 March 2021, the level of underborrowing is anticitpated to be in the 
region of £3.1m. 

5.0 Authorised limit for external debt  

5.1 The Authorised Borrowing Limit represents the statutory limit on borrowing 
determined under section 3 of the Local Government Act 2003 (Affordable Limit). It 
imposes an upper limit on the Council’s gross external debt (excluding 
investments), separately identifying borrowing (external loans) from other long-term 
liabilities (for example finance lease liabilities). Breach of the Affordable Borrowing 
Limit is prohibited by section 2(1)(a) of the Local Government Act 2003. 

5.2 The Authorised Borrowing Limit is set with reference to the Council’s capital 
expenditure plans, capital financing requirement (or underlying borrowing 
requirement) and the potential need to borrow to meet temporary revenue 
borrowing requirements, pending the receipt of amounts due to the Council. The 
Affordable Borrowing Limit also includes headroom over and above the Operational 
Boundary (see below) to accommodate any unusual or unforeseen cash 
movements. The indicator separately identifies limits for borrowing and other long-
term liabilities.  

Table E: Authorised Limit for External Debt 

  

2019/20 
Limit  

2019/20 
Actual debt 

(max) 

2020/21 
Approved 

Limit  

30.9.20 
Actual 
debt 

2020/21 
Actual debt 

(max)1 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Borrowing 26,000 17,332 31,000 16,991 24,221 

Other long-term liabilities 0 0 7,500 0 0 

Total 26,000 17,332 38,500 16,991 24,221 
1 inclusive of additional borrowing of up to £7.23m 

5.3 In anticipation of the expected implementation of IFRS 16 - Leases, from 1 April 
2020 and the impact of this on accounting treatment applied to leasing 
arrangements, the Approved Limit for 2020-21 of £38.5m included £7.5m in respect 
of lease liabilities.  

Page 174



5.4 However, in response to Covid-19, CIPFA/LASAACs Local Authority Accounting 
Code Board took the decision in March 2020 to defer implementation of IFRS 16 
from 1 April 2020 to 1 April 2021 in-line with the government’s Financial Reporting 
Advisory Board’s proposals for central government departments. As a 
consequence, the element of the Authorised limit for 2020-21 relating to other long-
term liabilities is no longer required. 

5.5 To reflect this change within the Authorised Limit, along with the impact of the 2019-
20 outturn position and revised capital budget for 2020-21, the Authorised limit for 
2020-21 has been revised from £38.5m to £30m. 

6.0 Operational boundary for external debt 

6.1 The Operational Boundary represents the limit beyond which (gross) external debt 
is not expected to exceed. It is based on expectations of the maximum external debt 
of a local authority according to probable events (that is the most likely (prudent) but 
not worst case scenario) and is consistent with the maximum level of external debt 
projected by these estimates. The Operational Boundary links directly to the 
Council’s plans for capital expenditure, estimates of the capital financing 
requirement and cash flow requirements for the year for all purposes but without the 
additional headroom included within the Authorised Limit. The indicator separately 
identifies limits for borrowing and other long-term liabilities. 

Table F: Operational boundary for external debt 

  

2019/20 
Limit  

2019/20 
Actual debt 

(max) 

2020/21 
Approved 

Limit  

30.9.20 
Actual 
debt 

2020/21 
Actual debt 

(max)1 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Borrowing 24,000 17,332 29,500 16,991 24,221 

Other long-term liabilities 0 0 7,000 0 0 

Total 24,000 17,332 36,500 16,991 24,221 

6.2 Provided the total Authorised Limit and total Operational Boundary for a year is 
unchanged, the Head of Financial Services has delegated authority to make 
changes to the separately identifiable limits for borrowing and other long-term 
liabilities. Any movement between these separate totals will be reported to the next 
meetings of the Audit Committee and Full Council.  

6.3 Consistent with the changes made to the Authorised Limit, the Operational 
Boundary for 2020-21 has been revised from £36.5m to £28m.  

7.0 Estimates of the ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream  

7.1 This indicator of affordability highlights the revenue implications of existing and 
proposed capital expenditure by identifying the proportion of the revenue budget 
required to meet financing costs (net of interest and investment income).  

 

 

Page 175



Table G: Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream 

  

2019/20 
Original   

2019/20 
Revised   

2019/20 
Actual  

2020/21 
Estimate 

2020/21 
Revised 
estimate 

% % % % % 

Ratio  15.7 13.5 12.7 16.9 11.3 

7.2 Financing costs comprise the aggregate of: 

 interest charged to the General Fund with respect to borrowing 

 interest payable under finance leases and other long-term liabilities 

 premiums and discounts from debt restructuring charged or credited to the 
amount to be met from government grants and local taxpayers   

 interest and investment income (excluding interest on policy investments 

falling out with the Council’s Treasury Management and Investment 
Strategies) 

 amounts payable or receivable in respect of financial derivatives 

 minimum revenue provision plus any additional voluntary contributions 

 any amounts for depreciation/impairment charged to the amount to be met 
from government grants and local taxpayers. 

7.3 Estimates for the net revenue stream are taken from the Council’s estimates of the 
amounts to be met from government grants and local taxpayers, using the 
equivalent figures from the Council’s original and revised budgets. Actual figures 
for the Net Revenue Stream are taken from the Council’s Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement for ‘taxation and non-specific grant income and 
expenditure’. The net revenue stream is calculated net of contributions from (or to) 
reserves and balances. 

7.4 During 2020-21, a number of additional and extended business rates reliefs have 
been introduced in response to the Covid-19 pandemic (including, in particular, the 
increased and expanded retail discount scheme). This has resulted in a significant 
reduction in the amount of business rates expected to be collected from ratepayers 
in 2020-21. The Authority is compensated for this loss in business rates income by 
way of additional section 31 grant payable in 2020-21. However, statutory 
provisions fix, in large part, the amount to be credited to the general fund in respect 
of business rates, prior to the start of the financial year. As a consequence, the full 
impact of the cost of these additional and extended reliefs (i.e. the Authority's share 
of the collection fund deficit generated by the additional reliefs granted) and 
compensated through payment of s31 grant, will not be borne by the general fund 
until 2021-22.  

7.5 In the revised revenue budget for 2020-21, the additional s31 grant received in 
2020-21 in respect of additional and extended business rates reliefs is therefore 
offset by a transfer to earmarked reserves (net of changes to the net levy payment 
and prior year disregard). This will be released back to the general fund in 2021-22 
to offset the significant fall in business rates income generated by the need to repay 
the collection fund deficit when setting the 2021-22 revenue budget. The revised 
estimate for the net revenue stream used in this indicator is calculated net of this 

Page 176



transfer to earmarked reserves. The revised indicator also takes into account the 
impact of the decision to defer implementation of IFRS 16 to 2021-22. 

7.6 The net revenue stream for 2020-21 is also impacted by the additional grant funding 
awarded by government in response to the Covid-19 pandemic. The Ratio of 
Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream excluding this additional (emergency) 
funding is 12.41%. 

8.0 Indicators required by the Treasury Management Code  

8.1 In addition to the indicators required by the Prudential Code, there are also a 
number of treasury indicators required by the Treasury Management Code and 
accompanying sector guidance. These are: 

 upper and lower limits to the maturity structure of its borrowing 

 upper limits on the total of principal sums invested over 365 days. 

8.2 These treasury management indicators specify ranges (rather than targets) 
designed to limit the Council’s exposure to interest rate, liquidity and refinancing 
risks.   

9.0 Upper and lower limits to the maturity structure of borrowing 

9.1 This indicator highlights potential exposures to refinancing risk arising from 
concentrations of debt falling due for refinancing and is designed to facilitate 
reductions in the Council’s exposure to refinancing at times of volatile or high 
interest rates. 

9.2 It is calculated as the amount borrowing maturing in each period as a percentage of 
total borrowing. The maturity of borrowing is determined by reference to the earliest 
date on which the lender can require payment.  

 Table H: Lower/upper limits on % of borrowing maturing in each period 

  

At 31.3.20 
Actual 

Lower limit 
2020/21  

Upper limit 
2020/21 

At 30.9.20 
Actual 

Forecast 
31.3.211 

% % % % % 

Under 12 months 4.44 0 30 4.55 4.67 

12 months to 2 years 3.99 0 20 4.10 4.21 

2 years to 5 years 12.29 0 20 12.63 12.98 

5 years to 10 years 15.39 0 30 14.68 13.86 

10 years to 20 years  15.42 0 40 15.31 15.27 

20 years to 30 years  2.31 0 40 1.65 0.96 

30 years to 40 years  46.16 0 80 47.08 48.05 

40 years to 45 years 0 0 80 0 0 

1Forecast based on the maturity profile of the existing loan portfolio at 30.9.20  

9.3 There is currently a maturity peak between June 2056 and June 2057, with maturity 
loans of £6m scheduled to be repaid during this period. This is not, however 
considered a significant risk as ample rescheduling opportunities are anticipated 
before the maturity date of these loans.  

Page 177



9.4 The expected impact of additional borrowing on the maturity profile shown in table H 
is shown in table I below. This demonstrates that no revisions are required to 
existing limits to accommodate the additional borrowing. 

 Table I: Forecast fixed rate maturity profile including additional planned borrowing 

 
Forecast 
31.3.21 

Revised Budget 
31.3.21 

Lower limit 
2020/21  

Upper limit 
2020/21 

% % % % 

Under 12 months 4.67 4.48 0 20 

12 months to 2 years 4.21 4.16 0 20 

2 years to 5 years 12.98 12.73 0 20 

5 years to 10 years 13.86 15.80 0 30 

10 years to 20 years  15.27 19.38 0 40 

20 years to 30 years  0.96 8.63 0 40 

30 years to 40 years  48.05 34.32 0 80 

40 years to 45 years 0 0.25 0 80 

45 years to 50 years 0 0.250 0 80 

10.0 Upper limits to the total of principal sums invested for period of more than 
365 days 

10.1 A local authority that invests, or plans to invest, for periods of more than 365 days is 
required to set an upper limit for each forward financial year period for the maturing 
of such investments. The purpose of the limit for principal sums invested for periods 
longer than 365 days is to contain the authority’s exposure to the possibility of loss 
that might arise as a result of its having to seek early repayment or redemption of 
principal sums invested. 

Table J: Upper limit on total principal invested for periods or more than 365 days 

  

2019/20 
Actual 

2020/21 
Limit 

At 30.9.20 
Actual  

Forecast 
31.3.211 

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Principal sums invested > 365 days1 11 20 11 11 

1 Measured at fair value. The nominal value (historic cost) of principal sums investment as 30 
September is £1k  

 
 
  

Page 178



Appendix 3 
 
Proposed Three year Revised Capital Budget 2020-21 to 2022-23 

 
Current  
budget  

Budget 
change 

(new bids) 

Revised 
Budget  

Revised expenditure profile1 

2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Gross expenditure        

Economic Growth, Community 
Development & Placemaking 

11,407 (1,909) 9,498 8,071 1,027 400 

Finance & Legal  97 (47) 50 0 31 19 

Policy, Governance.& People 
Resources 

4,029 0 4,029 1,425 1,390 1,214 

Environmental Services  839 238 1,077 990 76 11 

Leisure  & Tourism 1,258 0 1,258 1,058 200 0 

Customer Experience & Innovation 205 (120) 85 85 0 0 

Total Expenditure: 17,835 (1,838) 15,997 11,629 2,724 1,644 

Financed by:        

External grant funding:       

Disabled Facilities Grant (BCF)  3,642 0 3,642 1,214 1,214 1,214 

SCP Housing grant 57 0 57 0 57 0 

ERDF grant 1,341 (1,341) 0 0 0 0 

LEP Growth Deal funding  1,600 0 1,600 1,600 0 0 

Contribution - Lillyhall 600 (600) 0 0 0 0 

Coastal Communities Fund  797 0 797 797 0 0 

Other grants - Workington Hall 150 0 150 150 0 0 

Other grants - Solway Coast  250 0 250 50 200 0 

Other grants /contributions 242 (10) 232 175 46 11 

Accelerated Towns Fund 0 750 750 750 0 0 

HAZ Grant 0 470 470 69 171 230 

HAZ -private sector contribution 0 155 155 32 69 54 

ABC resources & borrowing       

Capital Receipts 908 0 908 647 261 0 

General Fund 98 (4) 94 94 0 0 

Borrowing (unfinanced expend.) 8,053 (1,211) 6,842 6,051 675 116 

Credit Arrangements  97 (47) 50 0 31 19 

Total financing 17,835 (1,838) 15,997 11,629 2,724 1,644 

 

Page 179



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 180



Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Council – 09 December 2020 
 

Recommendations Referred to Council 
 

Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 
 

 
The following recommendation has been referred to Council by Licensing 
Committee held on the 20 November 2020. It is for Council to consider its 
response. 
 
 
 
Recommended – That 
 

1. Council adopt the new Statement of Licensing Policy for 2021-2026 as 
recommended by the Licensing Committee on 20 November 2020. 

 
 

L Jardine 
Democratic and Support Services Officer 

Page 181

Agenda Item 14



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 182



Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Licensing Committee – 20 November 2020 

 

Review of Statement of Licensing Policy 2021 

 
 
Portfolio holder   Councillor Jim Lister 

 

Report from    Gillian Collinson 

Wards affected   All Wards 

Is this a key decision  Yes  
 

 
 

1.0  The reason for the decision 

1.1 To recommend a new Statement of Licensing Policy for 2021-2026 to be adopted 
by Council after considering the proposed amendments to the policy by Officers and 
responses received to the statutory consultation.  

2.0  Recommendations 

2.1 To review the amendments and proposals and determine their inclusion or 
otherwise, giving full reasons for decisions and to recommend a new policy for 
adoption. 

3.0  Background and Introduction 

 
3.1 Section 5 of the Licensing Act 2003 (‘the Act’) requires a licensing authority to 

prepare and publish a ‘Statement of Licensing Policy’ at least every five years. It 
must be published before the authority carries out any function in respect of 
individual applications and notices made under the terms of the Act. During the five 
year period, the policy must be kept under review and revisions should be made to 
it as appropriate. The current policy came into effect on 7 January 2016 and is now 
due to be reviewed.   A revised statement is to be published by 7 January 2021. 

3.2 Guidance issued under Section 182 of the Act provides guidance on the 
development and preparation of statements of licensing policy for publication by 
local authorities.  It also provides guidance in respect of the general principles that 
are recommended should underpin them, and core content to which licensing 
authorities are free to add.  

Page 183



3.3 The determination of the Statement of Licensing Policy is not a Licensing 
Committee function but it is intended that the recommendations of this committee 
will be referred to Council for their consideration when formally adopting a new 
policy on 9 December 2020. The revised policy will then be published. 

3.4 The Act stipulates who should be consulted when reviewing the policy.  The views 
of all these persons or bodies should be given appropriate weight when the policy is 
determined. This does not prevent other bodies or persons from being consulted. 
Details of those consulted are contained in paragraph 4.2. 

4.0  Content  

 
4.1 Prior to consultation, the draft document was formulated by the Senior Licensing 

and Compliance Officer, taking into consideration the latest guidance from the 
Secretary of State, together with any changes necessary in view of amendments to 
legislation and local changes. These proposed changes can be found at Appendix 
1. 

4.2 The draft document was published for consultation between 16 October 2020 and 
13 November 2020.  The Act states as a minimum who must be consulted. These 
are: 

 The chief officer of police for the area; 

 The fire and rescue authority for the area; 

 Director of Public Health for the area; 

 Persons/bodies representative of local premises licence holders; 

 Persons/bodies representative of local club premises certificate holders; 

 Persons/bodies representative of local personal licence holders; and 

 Persons/bodies representative of businesses and residents in its area. 

The following were consulted: 

 All responsible authorities (Cumbria Constabulary, Cumbria Fire and Rescue 
Service, Health and Safety Executive, Environmental Health Department, 
Planning Department, Lake District National Park Authority, Cumbria 
Safeguarding Children Partnership, Cumbria County Council Public Health, 
Trading Standards and the Home Office); 

 All Councillors; 

 All town/parish councils; 

 Housing Associations; 

 British Transport Police; 

The consultation was: 

 advertised in the Times and Star and Cumberland News;  

 published in three Allerdale Borough Council newsletters. One of these 
newsletters was published on 16 October 2020 and was circulated to 593 
people who subscribe to news about consultations and engagement. This 
just had the one item being the licensing policy review. The others were 
published on 20 October 2020 to a combined subscriber base of 1505 

Page 184



people who subscribe to “Local Business, trade waste, NNDR, licensing 
and procurement” topics and to “Economic Growth, planning, building 
control, towns and housing” topics. These contained news of the licensing 
policy review and a consultation from planning policy, and; 

 published on the Allerdale Borough Council website.    

4.3 The responses received to the consultation were compiled into a document with an 
initial assessment and recommendation as to whether they should be included or 
not, and reasons were given for each. These can be found at Appendix 2. They 
have not been incorporated into the draft licensing policy which can be found at 
appendix 3. These will be incorporated following Members’ assessment.    

5.0  Delivery arrangements 

 
5.1 The policy is designed to promote the four licensing objectives contained within the 

Licensing Act 2003 which are: 
   

 The prevention of crime and disorder; 

 Public safety; 

 The prevention of public nuisance; and 

 The protection of children from harm.  
 
5.2 The policy seeks to reinforce and develop measures to improve the safety of the 

public and minimise the risk of crimes against them, to mitigate the effects of 
regulated activities upon the communities in which the activities are held, and to 
protect children from inappropriate activities. 

 
5.3 The policy also seeks to provide useful information to those who provide, or wish to 

provide, regulated activities.  It seeks to assist them in understanding the policies 
which will be applied and to understand that each application will be treated 
equitably having regard to the policy. 

 
5.4 It is also the aim of the policy to provide information to communities about the 

Authority’s approach to particular licensing considerations and to assist them in 
addressing matters affecting them arising from the provision of regulated activities. 

 
5.5 Following adoption, the policy will be delivered on a continuous basis by: 

 

 officers when advising and administering applications 

 the Licensing Panel and Licensing Committee when determining applications 
or reviews referred to them as a result of representations received by the 
Responsible Authorities or Interested Parties, and  

 by any revisions required to the Statement of Licensing Policy. 
 

 
 

Page 185



6.0 Implications and Impact 

6.1 Contribution to Council Strategy Priorities, Outputs and Outcomes  

 Council Strategy 2020-2030 – This Statement of Licensing Policy contributes 
towards the Council achieving its strategic objectives by: 

 

o helping to create Thriving Towns and Villages where visitors and 
residents can enjoy a range of leisure and cultural activities, and  

o by supporting Resilient Communities helping to make sure that people 
can stay safe and feel safe in their everyday lives and helping to 
create safe, strong and inclusive communities.    

 

 West Cumbria Community Safety Partnership Plan – The implementation of 
the licensing policy reduces crime and disorder related to licensable 
activities. 

 

 Joint Public Health Strategy -  effective licensing policy and practices will 
help to address some of the wider determinants of health and wellbeing 
identified as priorities in this strategy, in particular supporting the aim ‘To 
reduce crime and antisocial behaviour and to ensure that people in Cumbria 
retain low levels of fear of crime across the whole County’. 

 

 Local Transport Plan – By promoting safe access to licensed events, this 
helps support the LTP. 

 

 Economic Growth Strategy - Licensable activities and businesses are a key 
part of a vibrant and diverse local economy, forming part of the local 
business base and also helping to attract and keep business in our area by 
making our towns and villages attractive places for employees to live.   

 

6.2 Finance/Resource implications  

Application fees are statutory and are intended to provide full cost recovery of all 
the licensing functions related to the Licensing Act 2003, including the preparation 
and publication of a Statement of Licensing Policy, but this will be based on 
statutory requirements. Where these requirements are exceeded, the licensing 
authority must absorb these costs itself.  

The process of reviewing the policy has been carried out in the most economical 
way possible and predominantly by email to the responsible authorities. To reach as 
many of the other statutory consultees as possible, advertisements were placed in 
the Times & Star and Cumberland News. Advertisements were also contained in 
newsletters sent to relevant subscribers and on the Allerdale Borough Council 
website.  

The direct cost of advertising was £767.05.There would be no impact on the 
revenue budget or capital budget.  

 

Page 186



6.3 Legal and governance implications  

  
When making a licensing decision, the Licensing Authority must have regard to the 
Licensing Act 2003, the accompanying Secretary of State guidance and the 
Statement of Licensing Policy. It may depart from its own policy if the individual 
circumstances of any case merit such a decision in the interests of the promotion of 
the licensing objectives. However, it is important that full reasons should be given 
for departing from its published statement of licensing policy. 

 
The Statement of Licensing Policy should indicate how the licensing authority 
intends to approach its various functions. Many of the decisions and functions are 
purely administrative in nature and the policy should underline the principle of 
delegation in the interests of speed, efficiency and cost-effectiveness. Many types 
of application which do not receive representations must be granted by the licensing 
authority and should be dealt with by officers in order to expedite matters. The 
Secretary of State’s guidance accompanying the Licensing Act 2003 does contain a 
recommendation as to how the delegation should be approached and this table of 
recommended delegation of functions has always been contained in the policy.  
 
One proposed change to the delegation (appendix 1, page 34 in the draft policy) is 
the addition of the Determination of a Film Classification. This is usually referred to 
the Licensing Committee to determine but it is being proposed that in all cases it is 
referred to Officers to determine. In most cases this would be where the Licensing 
Authority is approached to classify small, local, independent films, or foreign films 
where a wider UK release is not intended. To achieve consistency the guidelines 
published by the British Board of Film Classification (BBFC) would always be used. 
As with all delegations, officers may refer a matter to the Panel, the Panel to full 
Committee and the Committee to Council. The proposal is to make the process 
faster, particularly as an officer would have watched the film and highlighted areas 
of concern and made recommendations in line with the BBFC guidelines to the 
Licensing Committee.   

  

6.4 Risk analysis 

Not relevant to this report 

6.5 Increasing satisfaction and service 

The purpose of the Statement of Licensing Policy is to provide a framework for the 
Licensing Authority in relation to the carrying out of their functions under the 
Licensing Act 2003. It provides information to those who run licensed premises, 
their legal advisors and the general public, thereby assisting with the application 
process. It improves transparency by demonstrating a consistent approach to the 
application of licensing powers, promoting fairness and equal treatment which is 
particularly relevant for licence holders having numerous premises across the 
authority area. By highlighting the best practice expected across our licensed 
premises, this achieves consistency and visitors and customers can feel safe and 
secure.   

 

Page 187



  

6.6 Equality impacts 

An Equality Impact Analysis has been completed and no adverse impacts from the 
policy have been identified.  

6.7 Health and Safety impacts 

The nature of the policy is to demonstrate how Allerdale Borough Council will 
promote the four licensing objectives, one of which is public safety, and the 
expectations required from licence holders and applicants.  

6.8 Health, wellbeing and community safety impacts 

The nature of the policy is to demonstrate how Allerdale Borough Council will 
promote the four licensing objectives and its expectations of licence holders and 
applicants for licences. These include the prevention of crime and disorder, public 
safety and protection of children from harm.  

6.9 Environmental/sustainability impacts 

The nature of the policy is to demonstrate how Allerdale Borough Council will 
promote the four licensing objectives which includes public safety and public 
nuisance and its expectations of licence holders and applicants for licences.  

6.10 Other significant implications 

 There are no significant implications. 
 
 
 

Appendices attached to this report 

 

Appendix number Title of appendix 

1 Senior Licensing and Compliance Officer amendments to 
draft policy prior to consultation 

2 Responses to consultation 

3 Draft Statement of Licensing Policy 

4 Equality Impact Analysis 

 

Background documents available 

 

Name of background document Where it is available 

  

 
Report author(s) and contact officer(s): 
Gillian Collinson 
Senior Licensing and Compliance Officer 
Gillian.collinson@allerdale.gov.uk   
01900 702861  

Page 188

mailto:Gillian.collinson@allerdale.gov.uk


Appendix 1- Amendments made by Senior Licensing and Compliance Officer prior to consultation 

Draft Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

Clause Original Clause Amended Clause 

Front page  Insertion of ‘Draft’ 

Change of dates to 2021-26 

Instructions for consultation responses 

 

Contents  Changes to Contents page to reflect changes in the 

body of the document. 

  

Introduction 1.3 Allerdale is located in West Cumbria bordering the 

Solway Firth and Irish Sea as well as Carlisle and three 
district councils.  The south east quarter of the Borough 
is covered by the Lake District National Park.  The 
Borough has a population of approximately 96,000 living 
in approximately 46,000 properties, of which 33,430 are 
owner occupied, 4,150 are privately rented, 37,580 
private sector stock, 8590 registered providers, and 8590 
social housing.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Allerdale is predominantly rural in nature.  In the north of 
the Borough settlements are small and dispersed while 
the south contains the main urban 
centres.  Approximately two thirds of the population live 
within the six large settlements of Workington, Maryport, 
Cockermouth, Wigton, Aspatria, Keswick and Silloth. 

Updated with amendments in blue: 
 
Allerdale is located in West Cumbria bordering the 
Solway Firth and Irish Sea.  The north of the borough is 
close to the city of Carlisle and the as well as Carlisle 
and three district councils.  The south east quarter of the 
borough is covered by the Lake District National 
Park.  The borough has a population of approximately 
97,500 living in approximately 47,000 properties, of 
which 69% are owner occupied 19% are defined as 
social rented housing and 11% are privately rented. of 
which 33,430 are owner occupied, 4,150 are privately 
rented, 37,580 private sector stock, 8590 registered 
providers, and 8590 social housing. 

 

Allerdale is predominantly rural in nature.  Allerdale has 
three distinct components: the urban centres on the 
west coast; the dispersed hill farms, forests, fells and 
lakes of the Lake District National Park; and the rural 
and fertile Solway plains including the Coastal Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty stretching to the north 
towards Carlisle.  In the north of the borough 

P
age 189



 

Allerdale has three distinct components: the urban 
centres on the west coast; the dispersed hill farms, 
forests, fells and lakes of the Lake District National Park; 
and the rural and fertile Solway plains including the 
Coastal Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty stretching to 
the north towards Carlisle.  

 
The borough recognises that thriving leisure and 
entertainment businesses are an important part of the 
economy and this policy is vital to their continuing 
success and for attracting further investment and 
opportunities to the area.  Balanced against this are the 
Council’s legal duties with regard to public safety, public 
nuisance, protection of children and commitment with its 
partners to reducing crime and the fear of crime. 

 
 
 

1.4   It is also important to protect and maintain our        
environment so that residents, visitors and other 
businesses can enjoy the opportunities for living, visiting 
and working within the area safely and free from 
nuisance.  The Council values its younger people and is 
active in ensuring they are offered a wide range of 
opportunities and experiences to develop while seeking 
to protect them from harm.  

 
 

settlements are small and dispersed while the south 
contains the main urban centres.  Approximately two 
thirds of the population live within the six larger 
settlements of Workington, Maryport, Cockermouth, 
Wigton, Aspatria, Keswick and Silloth. 

 
 
 
 

The Council borough recognises that thriving leisure 
and entertainment businesses are an important part of 
the local economy and this policy is vital in helping to 
create thriving towns and villages to their continuing 
success and for attracting further investment and 
opportunities to the area.  Balanced against this are the 
Council’s legal duties with regard to public safety, public 
nuisance, protection of children from harm and 
commitment with its partners to reducing crime and the 
fear of crime. 

 
It is also important to protect and maintain our living 
environment so that residents, visitors and other 
businesses can enjoy the opportunities for living, visiting 
and working within the area safely and free from 
nuisance.  The Council values its younger people and is 
active in ensuring that residents and visitors alike they 
are offered a wide range of opportunities and 
experiences to develop while seeking to protect them 
from harm.  
 

4.20 
Name of relevant document updated 

The Health and Safety Executive website contains many 
useful guidance documents on event safety. In particular 
organisers are recommended to obtain the document 
known as the Purple Guide published by the Events 
Industry Forum.  

P
age 190



 

5.3 Addition of Best Bar None or other relevant schemes to 
the paragraph 

 

Participation in pub/club watch, Best Bar None or other 
relevant schemes  
 
 
 

5.3 Expansion of list of practical steps under Prevention of 
Crime and Disorder objective  

 

5.3 Introduction of paragraph headed “Drugs”  

5.3 Expansion of section headed “Public Safety” and 
increase of practical steps to be taken to promote that 
objective 

 

5.3 Expansion of list of practical steps to prevent public 
nuisance and introduction of new sections headed 
“Location of premises”, “Noise” and “Littering” 

 

5.3 

 

Protection of Children From Harm – expansion of 
paragraph and increase in list of practical steps to 
promote that licensing objective.  
Introduction of new sections headed “Adult 
Entertainment”, “Exhibition of films”, “Staging of plays” 

 

5.8 Are able to respond to problems quickly and to meet with 
responsible authorities, local residents and ensure 
adequate direct management of individual premises in a 
timely manner.  

 
 

Expansion to bullet point: 
 
Are able to respond to problems and changes quickly 
and responsibly including the implementation of 
government guidance and legislation. To meet with 
responsible authorities and/or local residents and 
ensure adequate direct management of individual 
premises in a timely manner.  
 
 

5.9 Following a Police representation the Licensing Authority 
may refuse an application or remove a DPS where:  

 
A problem premises exists and the DPS is not capable of 
fulfilling the duties and expectations of a DPS; or 

Additional paragraph: This is likely where the prevention 
of crime and disorder will be undermined by reason of 
that person’s known past conduct. A person is likely to 
be considered unsuitable if he has previous unspent 

P
age 191



A proposed DPS cannot demonstrate their suitability for 
the licensed premises 

convictions for a relevant offence, notwithstanding that 
he has been granted a personal licence 
  
 

6.0 Personal Licences - Introduction of new paragraphs 
relating to new right to work provisions from 6 April 2017 
and the new power for Licensing Authorities to revoke or 
suspend Personal Licences.  
New paragraphs 6.6 and 6.7 expanding on factors the 
Licensing Authority will take into account when 
considering representations to Personal Licence 
applications   
 

 

7.7 It should be noted that incomplete applications will not be 
accepted but returned with an explanation of why it is 
incomplete. 

It should be noted that incomplete applications will not be 
accepted but returned with an explanation of why it is 
incomplete. Applicants are advised to read thoroughly the 
guidance notes at the back of each application prior to 
completing the form and to take independent legal advice 
where necessary. Applications should not be deemed as 
accepted and valid when submitted. They will be checked 
and applicants will be informed when the application is 
deemed valid. By not waiting for this confirmation, 
 applicants risk the expense of having to re-advertise due 
to inaccuracies or not complying with the statutory 
timelines of advertising.   
 

8.0 Responsible authorities and other persons – rewording of 
paragraphs 8.1- 8.10 to make clear when 
representations/reviews by all agencies/persons/groups 
are accepted and considerations 

 

8.15 New paragraph explaining factors which will be assessed 
by the Licensing Authority when considering 
representations 

 

10.0 Sexual Entertainment Venues – New paragraph  

P
age 192



Appendix 1 Table of Delegated Functions Amendments to update consultee changes in 
legislation and to include two new application 
processes; and 
Proposal to delegate  “determination of film 
classification” to officers in all cases 
 

Appendix 4 List of consultees Amended to reflect consultees for review of 
Statement of Licensing Policy for 2021-26 

Appendix 5 Links between the licensing policy and other Council 

strategies and policies.  

 

Updated (with additions in blue)  
 

Council Strategy 2020-2030 – This licensing policy 

contributes towards the Council achieving its strategic 

objectives by helping to create Thriving Towns and 

Villages where visitors and residents can enjoy a range 

of leisure and cultural activities and by supporting 

Resilient Communities helping to make sure that people 

can stay safe and feel safe in their everyday lives and 

helping to create safe, strong and inclusive 

communities.  

West Cumbria Community Safety Partnership Plan  – 

The implementation of the licensing policy reduces 

crime and disorder related to licensable activities. 

Joint Public Health Strategy -  effective licensing policy 

and practices will help to address some of the wider 

determinants of health and wellbeing identified as 

priorities in this strategy, in particular supporting the aim 

‘To reduce crime and antisocial behaviour and to ensure 

P
age 193



that people in Cumbria retain low levels of fear of crime 

across the whole County’. 

Local Transport Plan – By promoting safe access to 

licensed events, this helps support the LTP. 

Cumbria Community Strategy – This assists in 

achieving safe, strong and inclusive communities. 

(doesn’t exist anymore) 

Cultural Strategy – (no longer in use) 

Economic Growth Strategy - Licensable activities 
and businesses are a key part of a vibrant and 
diverse local economy, forming part of the local 
business base and also helping to attract and keep 
business in our area by making our towns and 
villages attractive places for employees to live 
 
 

Appendix 6 Responsible Authorities 
 

Amendments to addresses and telephone 

numbers/email; and 

Addition of Home Office (Immigration Enforcement) as a 

responsible authority  

 

P
age 194



Schedule of Responses to draft Licensing Policy 2021-26                                                                                       Appendix 2 

 

Reference Respondent Comments Action taken /comments 

 

Members will note that some comments in this appendix reference the guidance contained within S182 Guidance to the Licensing Act 

issued by the Home Office. Paragraph 1.9 of that guidance states: “Section 4 of the Licensing Act 2003 provides that, in carrying out its 

functions, a licensing authority must “have regard to” guidance issued by the Secretary of State under section 182. This Guidance is 

therefore binding on all licensing authorities to that extent. However, this guidance cannot anticipate every possible scenario or set of 

circumstances that may arise and, as long as licensing authorities have properly understood this guidance, they may depart from it if 

they have good reason to do so and can provide full reasons. Departure from this Guidance could give rise to an appeal or judicial 

review, and the reasons given will then be a key consideration for the courts when considering the lawfulness and merits of any decision 

taken”. 

Email 
rec’d 
20/10/20 
 
 
 

Cllr M Fitzgerald Page 7 – Reference to pubwatch scheme and Best Bar 
None. The OPCC discontinued funding for pubwatch as 
of September. I don’t think the scheme exists anymore. 

Point raised with the Police. They 
responded that pubwatch schemes will 
still be part of the process and life of 
licensed premises, but how that looks 
has not been resolved yet. It could be 
tasked to the PCSOs for the area but 
they are trying to build a plan. 
 
Noted: to retain the reference to 
pubwatch in the policy and no 
amendment necessary 
 
 

 
Phone 
call 
22/10/20 

 
Cllr R Munby 

 
Para 8.5 - Spelling mistake  
 

 
Amendment recommended 
 

P
age 195



 
 

No mention of pandemics in the policy. Could any 
reference to it be put in with the expectation of co-
operation of licence holders to such situations and 
penalties for acting illegally or irresponsibly and not 
respecting emergency measures?  

Comment – It is a public health issue. 
Health is not one of the four licensing 
objectives. Environmental Health and 
Cumbria Police would take the lead on 
advice and compliance. Additional 
licensing issues/breaches would be 
dealt with on a case by case basis. 
Covid shouldn’t be specifically 
mentioned but the responsibilities of a 
Designated Premises Supervisor can 
be expanded. 
Amendment recommended to 
paragraph 5.8 to expand on the 
responsibilities of the Designated 
Premises Supervisor:  
“Are able to respond to problems and 
changes quickly and responsibly 
including the implementation of 
government guidance and legislation. 
To meet with responsible authorities 
and/or local residents and ensure 
adequate direct management of 
individual premises in a timely manner”  
 

 
Email 
rec’d 
21/10/20 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Keswick Town 
Councillors. Not 
endorsed by 
Keswick Town 
Council due to no 
meeting before 
the close of 
consultation 

 
Para 3.3 Scope - Delete: ‘A minority of consumers will 
behave badly and unlawfully once away from premises, 
and it would be unreasonable to expect licence holders 
to have control over these individual people.’ 
Add: ‘Regular incidences of bad behaviour by customers 
close to the premises will lead to a review of the licence.’ 
Reason - As currently written, 3.3 absolves the licence 
holder of any responsibility for activities outside the 

 
Comment – S182 Guidance to the 
Licensing Act 2003 (the guidance) 
published by the Home Office, 
paragraph 1.16 includes under its 
heading “Licence Conditions”: “Licence 
conditions cannot seek to manage the 
behaviour of customers once they are 
beyond the direct management of the 

P
age 196



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

premises.  The description ‘away from the premises’ is 
far too loose. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Para 5.0 Licensing Objectives - Add: ‘Licence 
applications will be copied in a timely manner to the 
relevant Parish Council for comment.’ 
Reason - Planning applications are made known to the 
local council and neighbours of the premises.  Licensing 
applications (and variations) have the same potential for 
disruption and should mirror the same procedure and 
provide an opportunity for a similar local review and 
correspondence. 
 
Page 12 Littering - Add: ‘Single use plastic items are 
discouraged and take away containers should be 
recyclable or compostable’ 
 
Para 8.25 Review of Licences - Delete: ‘No more than 
one review from a person other than responsible 
authorities will normally be permitted within any 12 
month period on similar grounds except in exceptional 
and compelling circumstances or where it arises 
following a closure order.’   

licence holder and their staff, but may 
impact on the behaviour of customers 
in the immediate vicinity of the 
premises or as they enter or leave”  
 
Recommend – add wording “ 
Regular incidences of bad behaviour 
by customers under the direct 
management of the licence holder 
and staff may lead to a review of the 
licence” 
 
Amendment recommended with the 
following proviso – Applications for new 
and full variation applications to be 
circulated to the town/parish council for 
the area for consultation within the 
statutory timescales as contained within 
the Licensing Act 2003.  
  

 
 

Amendment recommended – 
Environmental Health consulted on this 
proposal and in agreement  

 
Comments – S182 guidance para 
11.13 provides guidance on this aspect. 
“It is for licensing authorities to judge 
what should be regarded as a 
reasonable interval. However, it is 
recommended that one review 
originating from a person other than a 

P
age 197



Email 
rec’d 
26/10/20 
 

Cllr N Cockburn 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Add ‘No more than one review from a person other than 
responsible authorities will normally be permitted within 
any 6 month period on similar grounds except in 
exceptional and compelling circumstances or where it 
arises following a closure order.’ 
Reason - 12 months is too long for a complainant to 
have to wait to prove they were right. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

responsible authority should not be 
permitted within a 12 month period on 
similar grounds save in compelling 
circumstances or where it arises 
following a closure order” In addition a 
review process would take almost 3 
months to complete. The application is 
consulted on for 28 days, up to 20 
further days for a hearing and the 
decision does not take effect for 28 
days. One power of the Licensing 
Panel is to suspend a licence for 3 
months. Paragraph 11.10 of the 
guidance stipulates that where there 
are concerns about problems identified 
at a premises, it is good practice for to 
give licence holders early warning of 
the concerns and the need for 
improvement. A failure to respond to 
such warnings is expected to lead to a 
decision to apply for a review. Co-
operation at a local level in promoting 
the licensing objectives should be 
encouraged and reviews should not be 
used to undermine this co-operation.   
 
Amendment noted and recommend 
no change due to the expectation of 
co-operation in the first instance and 
the lengthy review process before 
reaching a conclusion. The policy does 
already state that applications will be 
accepted within a 12 month period if 

P
age 198



 
 
 
Page 31 Consultation – In addition, neighbours, Ward 
Councillors and the Parish Council will be consulted. 
 
Reason - To be more open and transparent the ward 
councillors and PCs should be consulted. The scenario 
to have live bands and alcohol with people driving on 
PROWs in what is considered to be a wildlife preserve 
and community asset nearly slipped through without an 
objection because no one knew about it. 
 
Page 31 Consultation – All documentation 
accompanying, for example a music and alcohol 
application to be available online. 
 
Reason - Again to be open and transparent. Eg the 
mitigation measures for noise nuisance and public/child 
safety arrangements online should be available. 
 
 

there are exceptional and compelling 
circumstances 
 

Amendment recommended with the 
following proviso – Applications for new 
and full variation applications to be 
circulated to both the Ward Councillors 
and town/parish council for the area for 
consultation within the statutory 
timescales as contained within the 
Licensing Act 2003.  

 
 

Comment – the current system does 
not facilitate documents to be uploaded 
and made available on line. The public 
register contains details of the 
application. The full application and 
accompanying documentation is 
circulated as part of the consultation. 
Additional information received as a 
result of a representation is usually 
copied to the agency requesting it and 
if relevant, to an interested party.  

Noted – recommend no amendment 
necessary 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 199



 
 

 
Email 
rec’d 
26/10/20 
 
 

 
Cllr M Heaslip 
 

 
Agree and support Councillor Cockburn’s proposed 
amendments. 
 
 

 
Amended recommended as above 
 
 

Email 
rec’d 
29/10/20 

Cllr E Lynch Agree and support Councillor Cockburn’s comments and 
recommendations on consultation. 
 
Para 5.6, 5.9, 6.1, 8.6 (and remaining document) DPS – 
Replace all the ‘his’ with ‘their’ 
Reason – to make it gender neutral. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Para 12.13 EMRO – To be sent to Ward Councillors, 
Town Councils and local residents too. 
Reason – To get the views of the community.  
 

Amendment recommended as above 
 
 
Comment – Under paragraph 4.0 
(General Matters) of the draft policy 
definitions are given. This includes: 
“Words denoting any gender shall 
include all genders, words in the singular 
shall include the plural and vice versa, 
and words denoting persons shall 
include firms and corporations” 
Noted – Recommend no amendment 
necessary  
 
Comment – S182 Guidance 
paragraphs 17.11, 17.12 and 17.13 
specify the process to follow when 
proposing an EMRO, who must be 
consulted and how it must be 
advertised.  
Recommend – Ward Councillors and 
Parish/Town Council for the relevant 
area be notified of the proposal. As an 
EMRO could cover potentially a large 
area, the notices required to be 

P
age 200



displayed in the area and 
advertisement in local newspapers is 
sufficient for residents without separate 
notification.  

Email 
rec’d 
28/10/20 

Bothel Parish 
Council 

There is no mention of any incident related to Covid 19 
restrictions etc. Is this just a public health issue? 

Comment – It is a public health issue. 
Health is not one of the four licensing 
objectives. Environmental Health and 
Cumbria Police would take the lead on 
advice and compliance. Additional 
licensing issues/breaches would be 
dealt with on a case by case basis 
Recommend – Amendment to 
paragraph 5.8 as above and response 
noted and acknowledgement sent to 
Bothel Parish Council.  

 

5.11.20 

P
age 201



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 202



Additional Schedule of Responses to draft Licensing Policy 2021-26                                                                                        

 

Reference Respondent Comments Action taken /comments 

 

Members will note that some comments in this appendix reference the guidance contained within S182 Guidance to the Licensing Act 

issued by the Home Office. Paragraph 1.9 of that guidance states: “Section 4 of the Licensing Act 2003 provides that, in carrying out its 

functions, a licensing authority must “have regard to” guidance issued by the Secretary of State under section 182. This Guidance is 

therefore binding on all licensing authorities to that extent. However, this guidance cannot anticipate every possible scenario or set of 

circumstances that may arise and, as long as licensing authorities have properly understood this guidance, they may depart from it if 

they have good reason to do so and can provide full reasons. Departure from this Guidance could give rise to an appeal or judicial 

review, and the reasons given will then be a key consideration for the courts when considering the lawfulness and merits of any decision 

taken”. 

Email 
rec’d 
13/11/20 
 
 
 

Great Clifton 
Community Youth 
Group 

As someone involved in such activities as a village fun 
day, or a charity run, I would find it very useful to have 
guidance on insurance. Usually, when I ask people, I am 
told that they use such and such an insurance company, 
and then I find that the company has an apparently 
nonsensical list of permitted and excluded activities. And 
I have no idea of the value-for-money. 
 

Comment: Unfortunately we are not 
in a position to advise on insurance 
and organisers should seek their 
own independent advice 
 
Recommendation: Response to be 
noted and acknowledgement sent to 
the respondent to the above effect.  
 
 

 
Email 
rec’d 
15/11/20 
 
 

 
Broughton Parish 
Council 

 
 Would like page 31 to include: 
1) In addition neighbours, the Parish Council & Ward 
Councillors and if appropriate the planning department & 
public rights of way department should be consulted- 
This will improve the transparency and public 
accountability in the process and ensure all the 

 
Comment: Licensing is a statutory 
process and the consultation process is 
set out. The planning department (or 
Lake District National Park) are already 
statutory consultees. Neighbours are 
consulted by way of a public notice at 

P
age 203



appropriate bodies are aware of licence applications. 
Recently there has been a licencing application that was 
discovered by accident that was a significant application that 
had not been publicised nor consulted upon locally.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2) All documentation for licences (music & alcohol) 
should be available online. This will allow for a proper 
consultation on these applications, and allow concerned 
local individuals to be involved in the process.  At the 
moment there doesn't appear to be any mechanism for 
members of the public to view consultation documents 
 

the premises and local newspaper 
advertisement. The public rights of way 
department is not a statutory consultee. 
All representations must be relevant to 
one or more of the four licensing 
objectives.   

 

Recommendation: As PROW will not 
be a material consideration for the 
majority of applications and is not 
included in the statutory consultee 
process, this should not be added as 
an additional consultee. If the 
Town/Parish Council feel it is a relevant 
consideration in a particular matter it 
can be raised attention to it.   

 

Comment – the current system does 
not facilitate documents to be uploaded 
and made available on line. The public 
register contains details of the 
application. The full application and 
accompanying documentation is 
circulated as part of the consultation. 
Additional information received as a 
result of a representation is usually 
copied to the agency requesting it and 
if relevant, to an interested party.  

Noted – recommend no amendment 
necessary 

 
 

 

P
age 204



 

 

ALLERDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 
 

 

Licensing Act 2003 

Review of Statement of Licensing Policy 

 

 

For the period 2016 - 2021 

 
Written comments are invited on this  

draft revised policy by 13 November 2020 to:   
 
 

Allerdale Borough Council 
Allerdale House 

Workington 
Cumbria CA14 3YJ 

 
Tel: 0303 123 1702 

Email: licensing@allerdale.gov.uk 
 

The consultation exercise will take place between 16 October 2020 and 13 November 
2020.  Further copies of this document may be obtained from the above address or 

from the Council’s website:- www.allerdale.gov.uk 
Respondents to the consultation are requested to use a standard ‘Responses to 
Consultation’ form available along with this document, although separate written 

submissions will also be accepted. 
  

Page 205



 

 

 
Page 1 

 
  

 
1.0 Introduction ................................................................................................... 2 

2.0 Purpose of Policy .......................................................................................... 3 

3.0 Scope of this policy ....................................................................................... 3 

4.0 General matters ............................................................................................. 4 

5.0 Licensing Objectives...................................................................................... 7 

6.0 Personal licences ........................................................................................ 16 

7.0 Applications ................................................................................................. 19 

8.0 Responsible Authorities and Other persons ................................................. 22 

9.0 Temporary Event Notices (TEN’s) ............................................................... 26 

11.0 Cumulative Impact Policy ............................................................................ 28 

12.0 Early Morning Restriction Orders (EMRO) ................................................... 29 

13.0 Late Night Levy  .......................................................................................... 32 

14.0 Compliance ................................................................................................. 32 

15.0 Administration, Exerise and Delegation of functions .................................... 33 

Appendix 1 – Table of Delegated functions ......................................................................... 34 

Appendix 2 – Appeals procedure ........................................................................................ 36 

Appendix 3 – Guides of Best Practice ................................................................................. 37 

Appendix 4 – List of Consultees .......................................................................................... 39 

Appendix 5 – Links between the licensing policy and other Council strategies and policies  40 

Appendix 6 – Responsible Authorities ................................................................................. 41 

Appendix 7 – Other Useful Addresses ................................................................................ 43 

  

Page 206



 

 

 
Page 2 

 
  

 

1.0 Introduction  

 

1.1 Welcome to Allerdale Borough Council’s Statement of Licensing Policy.  It will apply 
for a maximum of five years.  The policy will be kept under review and may be 
revised in light of experience or revisions to guidance issued under section 182 of the 
Licensing Act 2003.  

 

1.2 The Licensing Act 2003 requires Allerdale Borough Council as the Licensing 
Authority, to prepare and publish a statement of Licensing Policy.  The policy sets out 
principles that the Council generally applies to promote the licensing objectives when 
making decisions on applications made under this act.  An extensive consultation 
exercise was held before the policy was published. 
 

1.3 Allerdale is located in West Cumbria bordering the Solway Firth and Irish Sea. The 
north of the borough is close to the city of Carlisle and the south east quarter of the 
Borough is covered by the Lake District National Park.  The Borough has a 
population of approximately 97,500 living in approximately 47,000 properties, of 
which 69% are owner occupied, 19% are defined as social rented housing and 11% 
are privately rented. 
 

Allerdale is predominantly rural in nature. Allerdale has three distinct components: 

the urban centres on the west coast; the dispersed hill farms, forests, fells and lakes 

of the Lake District National Park; and the rural and fertile Solway plains including the 

Coastal Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty stretching to the north towards Carlisle. 

Approximately two thirds of the population live within the six larger settlements of 

Workington, Maryport, Cockermouth, Wigton, Aspatria, Keswick and Silloth.  

 
The towns are the base for many cultural and leisure activities and there are many 
businesses associated with the Licensing Act provisions.  These include cinemas, 
theatres, restaurants, public houses, off licences, nightclubs and take-away outlets. 
 
The Council recognises that thriving leisure and entertainment businesses are an 
important part of the local economy and this policy is vital in helping to create thriving 
towns and villages and for attracting further investment and opportunities to the area.  
Balanced against this are the Council’s legal duties with regard to public safety, 
public nuisance, protection of children and commitment with its partners to reducing 
crime and the fear of crime. 
 

1.4 It is also important to protect and maintain our living environment so that residents, 
visitors and other businesses can enjoy the opportunities for living, visiting and 
working within the area safely and free from nuisance.  The Council is active in 
ensuring that residents and visitors alike are offered a wide range of opportunities 
and experiences while seeking to protect them from harm.  
 

1.5 Guidance such as the Licensing Policy aims to advise businesses and individuals on 
how they can develop, as well as clarifying the national licensing legislation.  
 

1.6 If you require further clarification on the Licensing Policy please contact our Licensing 
Team. 

  

Page 207



 

 

 
Page 3 

 
  

 

2.0 Purpose of Policy  

 

2.1 Section 5 of the Licensing Act 2003 requires a Licensing Authority to prepare and 
publish a statement of this licensing policy every five years.  Such a policy must be 
published before the authority carries out any function in respect of individual 
applications made under the terms of the Act.  This is the third review of our 
Licensing Policy and following a public consultation, Allerdale Borough Council 
resolves to approve the revised policy on the 9 December 2020 to be effective from 7 
January 2021 for the next five years.   
 

2.2 This policy statement has amongst other things, four main purposes:  
 

 To provide Members of the Licensing Committee with a decision-making 
framework.  The policy will be taken into account at a hearing following 
representations.  
 

 To inform applicants of the parameters within which the Authority is able to make 
licensing decisions and allow them to take this into account when making 
applications.  

 

 To provide guidance to local residents and businesses of the boundaries within 
which the Licensing Authority will make licensing decisions.  This will assist those 
parties when making representations in relation to various applications.  

 

 To support the Licensing Authority if it has to demonstrate in a court of law how it 
arrived at its licensing decisions.   

 

2.3 The policy will be kept under review and the Licensing Authority will if necessary, 
after appropriate consultations, make such revisions to it as may be considered 
appropriate.  Any amendments will be incorporated in the licensing statement after 
each review.  

 

3.0 Scope of this policy  

 

3.1 The Council as the Licensing Authority is responsible for authorising licensable 
activities, the issue of personal licences and other matters set out in the Act within 
this borough.  This policy relates to all those licensable activities identified as falling 
within the provisions of the Act, namely:   
 

 Retail sale of alcohol;  

 Supply of alcohol by or on behalf of club members;  

 Provision of regulated entertainment; and  

 Supply of late night refreshment being supply of hot food and/or hot drink from 
any premises (subject to any statutory exemption) including food stalls, between 
23:00 hours and 05:00 hours.   
 

3.2 In addition to the above the Act also makes the provision of licensing individuals to 
sell alcohol (personal licences); the permitting of certain licensable activities on a 
temporary basis (temporary event notice); and provisional statements.  
 

3.3 A minority of consumers will behave badly and unlawfully once away from premises, 
and it would be unreasonable to expect licence holders to have control over these 
individual people.  

Page 208



 

 

 
Page 4 

 
  

 

3.4 The Licensing Authority recognises that the Act is not a cure-all for all anti-social 
behaviour.  There is a breadth of other strategies for addressing these problems, for 
example:  
 

 Planning controls  

 Powers of local authorities to designate parts of the local authority areas as 
places where alcohol may not be consumed publicly 

 Powers of Police and Local Authorities under the Anti-Social behaviour 
legislation  

 Police enforcement of the general law concerning disorder and anti-social 
behaviour, including the issuing of fixed penalty notices 

 The prosecution of any personal licence holder or member of staff selling alcohol 
to people who are drunk  

 Confiscation of alcohol from adults and children in designated areas protected by 
Public Space Protection Orders and dispersal powers 

 Police powers to close down instantly for up to 24 hours any licensed premises 
or temporary event on grounds of disorder, the likelihood of disorder or 
excessive noise emanating from the premises 

 The power of the Police, other responsible authorities or other person to seek a 
review of the licence or certificate 

 Promotion of positive activities 
 

4.0 General matters  

 

4.1 In this document: 
 

 “the Act” means the Licensing Act 2003 

 “the Authority” means the Licensing Authority, namely Allerdale Borough Council 

 “the Borough” means the area within the authority’s jurisdiction 

 Unless indicated to the contrary the words and phrases defined in the Act shall 
have the meanings given in the Act when used in this document 

 Any reference to the grant of a licence, certificate or provisional statement shall, 
unless the context indicates or it is specifically stated otherwise, include reference 
to the variation or review  of a licence 

 Policies in relation to premises licences shall also apply to provisional statements 
and club premises certificates unless it is expressly stated to the contrary or the 
context indicates otherwise 

 Words denoting any gender shall include all genders, words in the singular shall 
include the plural and vice versa, and words denoting persons shall include firms 
and corporations. 

 

4.2 Allerdale Borough Council is the Licensing Authority for this borough under the terms 
of the Act who are responsible for determining all applications for licensable activities, 
as defined in Section 1 of the Act.  
 

4.3 The Licensing Authority recognises that the Council operates services who act as 
‘Responsible Authorities’ i.e. Environmental Health, Planning, and the Licensing 
Authority, who are able to make representations on any licence application submitted 
under the terms of the Act.  The Licensing Authority will treat these submissions with 
the same consideration as any other representations having regard to the terms of 
Section 182 Statutory Guidance on this Licensing Policy. For the purpose of the Act, 
Cumbria County Council’s Safeguarding and Review team is the responsible 
authority in relating to the protection of children from harm.  

Page 209



 

 

 
Page 5 

 
  

 

4.4 The Act requires the Licensing Authority to keep a register containing a record of 
each premises licence, club premises certificate, personal licence issued and 
temporary event notice received and in doing so this will have regard to the 
information set out in Schedule 3 of the Act.  
 

4.5 To comply with this requirement our register may be accessed online using the 
following link https://ipa.allerdale.gov.uk/PAforLalpacLIVE/1/WcaHome 

 
Disclaimer 
  

4.6 Advice and guidance contained in the Statement of Licensing Policy is intended only 
to assist readers and should not be interpreted as legal advice or as constituent of 
Allerdale Borough Council’s Statement of Licensing Policy.   Readers are strongly 
advised to seek their own legal advice if they are unsure of the requirements of the 
Licensing Act 2003 or of the Guidance or Regulations issued under the Act.  

 
Consultation 
  

4.7 There are a number of groups which have a stake in the leisure industry, including 
providers, customers, residents and enforcers, all of which have views and concerns 
that require consideration as part of the licensing function and promotion of the 
licensing objectives.  
 

4.8 In developing this policy statement, the Licensing Authority consulted widely.  Along 
with the statutory consultees (the Responsible Authorities), the views of existing 
license holders, businesses, voluntary groups and residents were also taken into 
account.  Due consideration was given to the views of all those who responded to the 
consultation process.  

 
Links to other Strategies  
 

4.9 In preparing this Statement of Licensing Policy, the Licensing Authority has had regard 
to and consulted with those involved in Allerdale Borough Council’s local strategies on 
crime prevention, planning transport, culture, tourism, community, eGovernment and 
economic development, to ensure the proper co-ordination and integration of the aims 
and actions of these policies.  See Appendix 5. 
 

4.10 Where appropriate, the licensing authority will co-ordinate and liaise with the planning 
authority and will provide information regarding licensed premises in the area, including 
evidenced alcohol related crime and disorder information where available, to enable 
the Planning Committee to have regard to such matters when making decisions.  
 

Planning and Building Control 
  

4.11 The Licensing Authority will ensure that planning, building control and licensing 
regimes will be separated to avoid duplication and inefficiency.  
 

4.12 The licensing authority would normally expect that applications for premises licences 
for permanent commercial premises should be from businesses with planning consent 
for the property concerned.  However, the licensing authority acknowledges that 
applications for premises licences or club premises certificates may be made prior to 
any relevant planning permission having being sought or granted by the planning 

Page 210

https://ipa.allerdale.gov.uk/PAforLalpacLIVE/1/WcaHome


 

 

 
Page 6 

 
  

authority.  Applicants would be expected to ensure that all relevant permissions are 
obtained.  
 

4.13 The licensing authority recognises that licensing applications should not be a re-run of 
planning applications nor should they cut across decisions taken by the planning 
committee or following appeals against decisions taken by the Council’s planning 
committee.  The licensing authority’s licensing panel will not be bound by decisions 
made by the Council’s planning committee and vice versa. 
 

4.14 Where the granting of any variation to a premises licence or club premises certificate 
involves a material alteration to a premises, the licensing authority would expect the 
applicant to apply for relevant planning permission or building control consent where 
appropriate.  
 

4.15 The Licensing Authority recognises that when, as a condition of planning permission a 
terminal hour has been set for the use of the premises for commercial purposes, and 
where these hours are different from the licensing hours, the applicant must observe 
the earlier closing time.  Premises operating in breach of their planning permission 
would be liable to prosecution under planning law.  

 
Special Events in the Open Air or in Temporary Structures  
 

4.16 The promotion and the organisation of live musical and similar entertainment in the 
open air or in temporary structures like marquees etc. can provide opportunities for 
community involvement, civic pride and can attract visitors to the borough.  
 

4.17 However, the success of such events by the way of contribution to the Council’s cultural 
and tourist strategies depends upon the quality, levels of safety and consideration for 
the rights of people who work in the vicinity and the standard of provision of facilities 
for those coming to enjoy the event.  
 

4.18 In recognition of the special factors that are relevant, particularly with respect to major 
open air events such as music festivals or similar large scale events, a multi-agency 
group has been established to assist organisers in co-ordinating such events, called 
the Safety Advisory Group. This includes council departments who have an interest in 
or legislative role relevant to such events, together with representatives of the various 
emergency services and other relevant agencies. Please follow the link to access the 
Safety Advisory Group 
http://www.cumbria.gov.uk/events_calendar/eventsafetyinformation.asp 

 

4.19 Members of the group are notified about all applications to hold such events and where 
necessary special meetings will be organised with the event organisers to advise on 
legislative requirements. 

 

4.20 The Health and Safety Executive website contains many useful guidance documents 
on event safety. In particular organisers are recommended to obtain the document 
known as the Purple Guide published by the Events Industry Forum.  
 

4.21 Guidance on the planning of such events is available to organisers but it is important 
that substantial notice is given so that proper preparations and precautions can be put 
in place for the event.  This also applies if the event is proposed under a Temporary 
Event Notice.  

  

Page 211

http://www.cumbria.gov.uk/events_calendar/eventsafetyinformation.asp


 

 

 
Page 7 

 
  

 
Community Applicants 
  

4.22 Whilst this policy is aimed at all licensable activities under the Act it should be noted 
that the Council sees a distinction between large or permanent activities, such as those 
proposed by commercial operations and small or temporary activities such as those 
which might be proposed by cultural or community groups.  
 

4.23 Where events are proposed by cultural or community groups, it is recognised that those 
groups may not have the same skill or the expertise or access to professional advice.  
Such groups may seek assistance and guidance from the Council by contacting the 
Licensing Section.  
 

4.24 Whatever the nature of the applicant and activity proposed, the overriding matter is 
that the Council will consider the individual merits of the application and act so as to 
promote the licensing objectives. 

 

5.0 Licensing Objectives  

 

5.1 The Act sets out four licensing objectives which the Licensing Authority has a duty to 
promote when carrying out its licensing function, namely:  
 

 The Prevention of Crime and Disorder  

 Public Safety  

 The Prevention of Public Nuisance  

 The Protection of Children from Harm  
 

5.2 These objectives are the only factors that can be taken into account in determining 
an application and any conditions attached to the licence must be necessary to 
promote the licensing objectives.  If there are no relevant representations, then an 
application must be granted and subject only to mandatory conditions and conditions 
consistent with the applicants operating schedule.  Any conditions offered by the 
applicant within their operating schedule will become conditions on the licence.  
 

5.3 Where necessary, applicants are expected to consider the impact of their proposal on 
all the objectives both within and in the vicinity of the premises and to propose 
practical steps in their operating schedule.  Such steps could include: 
 
Prevention of Crime and Disorder:  
 

 The use of toughened glass/polycarbonate or other plastic/non glass 
bottles/receptacles 

 Measures to prevent open bottles or other drinks containers being carried 
from premises 

 Restriction of drinks promotions and responsible retailing  

 Means of providing free water 

 Marketing promotions do not encourage excessive consumption and should 
be socially responsible  

 Measures to prevent binge drinking  

 Participation in pub/club watch, Best Bar None or other relevant schemes  

 Use of appropriate numbers of security personal and stewards ensuring 
effective controls at all times.  Training staff in crime prevention measures  

 Search procedures  

Page 212



 

 

 
Page 8 

 
  

 Use of CCTV inside and outside premises, ensuring digital systems comply 
with Home Office minimum requirements 

 Adequate lighting  

 Design premises to minimise the opportunity for crime and disorder  

 Quality supervision and surveillance in premises  

 Regular checks by staff of all public areas including toilets  

 Assessment of customer profile ensuring the effective management of 
customers both inside premises and in outside smoking/external seating 
areas 

 Anti-discriminatory policies and practice covering e.g. homophobia and 
racism 

 Provision of a means of communication to other venues and the Police 

 Agreed protocols with police and other organisations and a commitment to 
co-operate and provide such evidence as the Police require 

 Ensuring that measures are in place to disperse customers over an extended 
period and ensure customers leave the venue in an orderly fashion and 
without bottles or glasses 

 If delivery of alcohol is part of the operating schedule, to ensure sufficient 
safeguards are in place, including but not limited to, challenging age, safety of 
delivery drivers, protocols for delivering to prevent alcohol being delivered to 
children, recording orders, only carrying ordered alcohol and a maximum 
number of items for delivery. 

 
Drugs 
 
The Authority will expect licensees of venues likely to be affected by drugs to take all 
reasonable steps to prevent the entry of drugs into licensed  
premises, to take appropriate steps to prevent drugs changing hands within the 
premises and to take practical measures to prevent problems arising as a result of 
drug misuse. This must include the provision of free water (in accordance with 
legislation) and a disposal policy for drugs, needles and the development of a drugs 
policy.  
 
In particular the Authority will expect licensees and other staff in such venues to be 
familiar with the contents of the book “Safer Nightlife” issued by the London Drugs 
Policy Forum and endorsed by the Home Office and will expect licensees to follow 
the guidance it contains in relation to the operation of their premises.  
 
In appropriate cases the Authority will consider imposing these recommendations by 
way of licence conditions.  
 
Evidence indicates that more people are taking illegal drugs and are using a wider 
range than ever before. This is particularly true of what are often referred to as 
‘recreational drugs’. Their misuse can hold grave dangers and has even led to 
fatalities. 
 
Other factors coupled with the taking of the drugs may have contributed to these 
deaths, such as lack of drinking water, excessive drinking of water, an overly hot 
environment with inadequate ventilation, or a lack of adequate information about 
drugs. 
 
Drugs alter the way people behave, so law controls their distribution and possession. 
Controlled drugs are usually manufactured and supplied illegally, which attracts 

Page 213



 

 

 
Page 9 

 
  

criminal involvement in their distribution. Drugs manufactured illegally often vary in 
quality and strength. This puts people taking such drugs in danger.  
 
The Authority recognises that drug use by young people in a club environment is not 
something that is relevant to all licensed premises. However, many entertainment 
venues such as nightclubs and dance venues can be popular both with drug 
misusers and suppliers. It also recognises the difficulties for those running such 
premises in preventing the use and supply of drugs in their premises. However, it 
believes that steps can be taken to increase the safety of drug users on premises.  
 
The purpose of this policy is to further the crime prevention objective and to ensure 
public safety by preventing a tragic loss of life caused by overheating and other 
factors brought about by and associated with drug abuse. 

 
Public Safety:  
 
The Authority may inspect any premises in respect of which an application has been 
made. Officers will determine on the basis of risk which premises require an 
inspection.  They will inform the applicants and arrange an appointment as soon as 
practicable.  
 
Where an inspection is to be carried out, the Authority’s licensing officers will aim to 
reduce inconvenience, confusion and inconsistency by co-ordinating inspections and 
visits along with representatives of the relevant Responsible Authorities.  
 
A premises licence will not normally be granted unless the premises meets the 
statutory and any reasonable additional requirements of the Responsible Authorities.  
 
It is acknowledged that the Act covers a wide range of types of premises including 
cinemas, concert halls, theatres, pubs, night clubs, private members’ clubs, shops, 
restaurants and takeaways. Each type of premises has different risks associated with 
it. It is essential that applicants assess all of the risks presented by their premises 
and proposes practical steps to ensure the safety of staff and customers. 
 
The Authority considers it best practice for all applicants to assess the risks in 
relation to the following issues.  
 

 Promotion of responsible drinking  

 Awareness of drink spiking  

 Zero tolerance drug policies including the appropriate use of 
searching/amnesty boxes to combat drug crime  

 Assessment of the safe capacity for the venue and adequate monitoring and 
control measures to avoid overcrowding determined by the fire risk 
assessment 

 Regular removal of all glasses and bottles  

 Specific precautions for the use of special effects  

 Adequate provision for ventilation/temperature control  

 Assessment, monitoring and management of noise exposure  

 Assessment for crowd dynamics  

 Safety of gas and electrical services  

 Fire safety and emergency lighting  

 Easy accessible free drinking water  

 Sanitation 

 Safe seating 

Page 214



 

 

 Page 
10 

 
  

 Maintenance records of premises and equipment demonstrating compliance 
with statutory requirements any procedural requirements of relevant 
organisations (where such conditions will not duplicate requirements under 
existing legislation), for example electrical safety, fire alarm, emergency 
lighting, ceiling certificate etc. 

 
The Authority expects premises that are open to customers to meet the highest 
standards of the relevant organisations in order to best secure the safety of staff and 
customers. This is also one of the licensing objectives. The Authority believes that 
customers should feel confident that when they enter premises they will be safe. 

 
Prevention of Public Nuisance: 
 
Practical steps to consider include:  
 

 Assessment of the likelihood of nuisance affecting local communities through 
an assessment of the location of premises, character of the surrounding area 
and the proximity to residential and other sensitive premises.  Nuisance could 
be from noise, odour or light 

 Latest admission times  

 Measures for the limitation of noise emissions from the premises.  These may 
include as appropriate noise limitation devices, sound insulation, whether 
windows are to be opened, the installation of acoustic lobbies and double 
glazing  

 Measures to deal with queuing, where necessary  

 Use and management of outdoor areas  

 Measures to deal with dispersal of customers from the premises as 
necessary, including the employment of door supervisors, use of dedicated 
taxi firms, notices in the premises requesting customers to respect neighbours  

 Winding down periods particularly in public houses and nightclubs etc. 

 Disposal of waste, particularly glass  

 Use and maintenance of plant, including air extraction and ventilation systems  

 Litter collection in vicinity  

 Consideration of an adequate traffic management plan  

 Noise from deliveries/collections/waste collections  

 Odour and light nuisance  

 Measures to supervise customers use of beer gardens, smoking and external 
seating areas  

 
In general, the Authority will deal with the issue of licensing hours on the individual 
merits of each application. However, when issuing a licence, stricter conditions are 
likely to be imposed with regard to noise control in the case of premises that are 
situated in predominantly residential areas and other noise sensitive locations. 
 
Location of Premises  
 
The Authority will assess the potential impact of the premises against the 
characteristics of the area in which they are situated. For example, in the event of 
representation being made, there would be close scrutiny of applications for a closing 
time of later than 11pm in respect of premises situated in quiet residential areas with 
low background noise. Greater flexibility on closing times would be considered where 
for example, applicants could demonstrate that: 
 

 there is a high level of accessibility to public transport services; 

Page 215



 

 

 Page 
11 

 
  

 there is an appropriate amount of car parking, readily accessible to the 
premises, and in places where vehicular movement will not cause 
demonstrable adverse impact to local resident; 

 the operating schedule indicates that the applicant is taking appropriate steps 
to comply with the licensing objective of preventing public nuisance; 

 the licensable activities would not be likely to cause adverse impact especially 
on local residents, or that, if there is a potential to cause adverse impact, 
appropriate measures are to be put in place to prevent or minimise that impact. 

 
This part of the policy dealing with opening hours is based on a broad distinction 
between the approach to be taken in certain predominantly commercial areas like parts 
of the town centres and the rest of the District. Any activity involving public 
entertainment or eating or drinking on the premises has the potential to impact 
adversely on the surrounding area due to noise, smells, or congestion on the footway. 
Public nuisance may also be caused by customers being noisy when leaving, leaving 
litter or taking up on-street car parking space needed by residents. The impact of noise 
generated by these activities, especially customers departing either on foot or in cars, 
is particularly intrusive at night when ambient noise levels are much lower.  

 
   

Parts of the District are sensitive to the impact of licensable activities because they are 
either residential in character or close to residential areas. Many shopping areas are 
abutted by residential areas, including housing above commercial premises. The 
impact of traffic and parking related to licensed premises can be considerable. Even 
where a majority of customers arrive on foot or by public transport, the additional 
parking demand may be significant, especially where there are already a number of 
licensed premises. The impact may be felt by local residents in preventing them from 
parking close to their homes and by increasing the danger from traffic in residential 
streets. 
 
However, some commercial areas in the District, such as parts of town centres, may 
be more suitable locations for licensed activities, especially for those, which have late 
opening hours or attract significant numbers of people. In town centres, more 
customers are likely to travel by public transport and the activities may help bring vitality 
to the area after normal shopping hours. The ambient noise levels are also likely to be 
higher in the evening particularly when compared with predominantly residential areas 
so that additional noise may be less objectionable. 
 
An entertainment use attracting large numbers of people should be very close to bus 
routes or taxi ranks, for instance. For the same reasons, the level of public transport 
accessibility will be an important factor in considering any exception to the normal 
closing times in any location. 

  
Noise 

 
In the event of representations being made, the Authority will not normally grant a 
premises licence in terms which are, in its opinion, likely to result in increased noise 
disturbance to people living or working in the vicinity. 
 
In particular, the Authority will give careful consideration to an application for a 
licence for premises situated in an area where there are residences in the vicinity 
which would be adversely affected, such that the proposed hours of operation would 
be likely to result in unreasonable noise disturbance between the hours of 11pm and 
7am. 
 

Page 216



 

 

 Page 
12 

 
  

The Authority expects the applicant to assess the likely sources of noise disturbance 
that could arise due to the proposed use, consider the existing noise context of the 
area and propose practical steps to prevent noise disturbance or minimise its effects. 
 
Potential sources of noise include: 
 

 Sound leakage from the licensed premises (from entertainment provided, 
customers on the premises, mechanical equipment etc)  

 Customers and staff arriving and leaving the premises (including car doors 
slamming) 

 Excessive noise from outside entertainment  

 Customers occupying outside areas for the purpose of smoking and/or the 
consumption of alcohol 
 

The Authority may impose conditions to ensure that appropriate steps are taken to 
minimise noise disturbance. 
 
The prevention of public nuisance is a licensing objective. Noise disturbance can be 
a public nuisance. The Authority is required to promote the licensing objectives. 
Granting a licence in circumstances where nuisance is likely to be caused will 
undermine that objective. The Council recognises that noise from licensed premises 
can cause great disturbance to people living and working near those premises. The 
Authority recognises that noise can be a nuisance  
during the day and at night in both residential and commercial areas and other noise 
sensitive locations if not properly managed or controlled. 
 
Littering  
 
Licences for premises, in particular for the provision of late night refreshment for 
consumption off the premises, will not normally be granted where nuisance is likely to 
be caused by way of litter/food refuse being deposited on streets surrounding the 
premises and such nuisance is expected, due to the nature of the premises and likely 
customers, to exceed the level of nuisance caused by similar premises open during 
the day (for which no licence is required). In their operating schedule, applicants are 
expected to propose practical steps to reduce the likelihood of such problems arising, 
which could include:  
 

 provision of litter bins and smoking bins on/in vicinity of premises 

 litter patrols in the area after premises close 
 
Conditions may be imposed seeking to limit the nuisance caused by litter. 

  
Litter and food waste can be detrimental to the amenity of an area and can also 
represent a public health risk and encourage vermin. This policy seeks to prevent 
such nuisance occurring in promotion of the relevant licensing objective. 

  
Protection of Children from Harm: 
 
The Authority will not normally impose conditions prohibiting the admission of 
children to any premises, unless relevant representations have been made, believing 
this should remain a matter of discretion for the licence holder. Licence holders 
should be aware that there may be restrictions imposed by legislation. In some 
cases, however, it may be necessary to impose conditions designed to protect 
children.  
 

Page 217



 

 

 Page 
13 

 
  

The Authority will take strong measures to protect children from harm where it 
believes from the nature of the premises or proposed activities that harm would be 
likely. 
 

 Limitation of access dependent on nature of activities  

 Limitation on the hours when children may be present 

 Limitation on the age at which children are to be permitted to enter the 
premises 

 Requirements for accompanying adults 

 Use of British Board of Film Classification for film exhibition  

 Robust proof of age provisions to include the prevention of under 18s entering 
the premises where appropriate and the requirement for anyone looking under 
18 to provide proof of age in the form of a photo driving licence, passport or 
accredited proof of age scheme identity card. It is recommended that any 
systems should be accredited and approved by the British retail consortiums 
Proof of Age Standards Scheme (PASS)or 

 Adoption of the Challenge 21/25 policy  

 Adequate staff training on age restricted sales  

 Adequate warning signage  

 Measures to avoid proxy sales  

 Control measures to protect child performances  

 Records of refusals (refusal log)  

 Suitable design and layout of alcohol display  
 

Where there is provision of entertainment specifically for children (for example, a 
children’s disco) the Authority will require the presence of sufficient adults to control 
the access and egress of the children and assure their safety. 
 
Where children are working in licensed premises or are taking part in any regulated 
entertainment the Authority will expect the responsible adult to obtain guidance from 
Cumbria County Council Children’s Services. 
 
Children are vulnerable and can easily become the victims of crime or get drawn into 
crime. If they were allowed unrestricted access to all licensed premises, they could 
witness or become involved in activities inappropriate for their age. These policies are 
designed to allow flexibility for the licensee, to ensure that where appropriate licensed 
premises are “user friendly” for children but to ensure they are adequately protected. 
The policy seeks to ensure that children are adequately protected whilst still able to 
enjoy licensed premises. 
 
Adult Entertainment  
 
No-one under the age of 18 should be permitted to enter premises whilst entertainment 
of an adult nature is being provided.  
 
Adult entertainment should not take place in such a location as could be viewed from 
the outside of the premises. Advertising of adult entertainment should not include any 
photographs of the entertainment.  
 
In the event of representations being made, applications that include provision for adult 
entertainment to be provided will not normally be granted unless the applicant can 
demonstrate that performers will be safe and that unlawful activities will not take place. 
 

Page 218



 

 

 Page 
14 

 
  

In considering the grant of applications involving striptease, nudity (partial or otherwise) 
and other forms of adult entertainment the Authority will also have regard to the 
increased risk of nuisance to nearby residents and will consider rejecting the 
application or attaching appropriate conditions.  
 
The Authority has adopted Schedule 3 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1982 as amended by section 27 of the Policing and Crime Act 2009 in 
relation to the licensing of sex establishments. This will be the subject of a separate 
policy at a later date. 
 
These policies are designed to further the licensing objective of protecting children by 
preventing them being exposed to unsuitable material or acts. They are also designed 
to further the crime prevention and prevention of nuisance objectives by recognising 
the increased risk of nuisance or illegal activities such as performers offering “extras” 
to customers or the plying for trade by prostitutes. 
 
Exhibition of Films 
 
Where the exhibition of films is permitted, the Authority will expect the age restrictions 
of the British Board of Film Classification (BBFC) in respect of the films to be exhibited 
to be complied with and will normally impose conditions 
to that effect. Only in exceptional cases will variations to this general rule be granted 
by the Authority and then only with appropriate safeguards. 
 
Applicants will be expected to include in the operating schedule arrangements for 
restricting children from viewing age related films classified according to the 
recommendations of the BBFC.  
 
The Licensing Authority anticipates that the BBFC’s recommendations will apply to the 
vast majority of films shown at licensed premises within the borough. However, in a 
small number of cases, the Licensing Authority may be called upon to exercise its 
powers and issue an overriding recommendation, which would only apply to licensed 
premises within the borough. Such situations can be approximately characterised in 
one of the three groups: 
 
In cases where the Licensing Authority has concerns about a particular film, and has 
of its own volition made an alternate recommendation. This may allow admission of 
persons of a higher or lower age than the recommendation made by the BBFC, or in 
extreme circumstances may prevent the showing of a particular film. This power will 
be rarely, if ever, utilised. 
 
In cases where a film has not been classified by the BBFC. This is likely to be the case 
with small, local, independent films, or foreign films, where a wider UK release is not 
intended. 
 
In cases where the Licensing Authority is approached by a third party asking the 
authority to override a recommendation made by the BBFC. 
 
The third of these groups may include films intended to be shown at ‘parent and baby’ 
screenings, which have increased in popularity in recent years. The Act and Guidance 
are silent on the admission of babies to a film which is subject to an age-related 
recommendation therefore on a strict interpretation of the Act, babies must be excluded 
from such screenings. The Licensing Authority is aware that some cinemas across the 
country have agreed schemes whereby the applicable Licensing Authority makes an 
alternate recommendation in respect of a specified film, expressly permitting the 

Page 219



 

 

 Page 
15 

 
  

admission of babies and very young children to special screenings of that film with only 
parents of such children in attendance. 
 
It is recommended that any premises considering the provision of such screenings 
contacts the Licensing Authority to discuss the proposals first. The authority will 
typically expect special provisions to be made for such screenings, including higher 
light levels and reduced sound levels, in order that parents can better ensure the safety 
of their children.  
 
If satisfied that the content will not present any issues if viewed by children under 24 
months of age, the authority may agree to issue an alternate recommendation, 
consistent with the BBFC’s original classification but including a specific exemption for 
accompanied children below 24 months of age, at screenings advertised and restricted 
to ‘parent and baby’ only. Issues will be assessed on a film-by-film basis, but it is 
anticipated that scenes of strong violence and gore, sex and strong threat will lead to 
greater concern around viewing by children of that age than strong language, mild 
nudity and discriminatory content will. No alternate recommendation would be issued 
unless the authority is satisfied that allowing young children below 24 months of age 
to be admitted will not lead to the child protection licensing objective being undermined.   
 
Licensees will not generally be permitted to exhibit any films that are not classified by 
BBFC without the prior written consent of the Authority.  
 
To achieve consistency and the protection of children the Authority will use the 
guidelines published by the BBFC. Where it is desired to show films not classified by 
the BBFC the Authority will, provided at least 4 weeks’ notice has been given, classify 
the films concerned. Where licensees wish the Authority to reconsider the BBFC 
classification of a film, a similar procedure will be followed. In such circumstances, the 
authority will require the organiser of the exhibition to provide a copy of the film for 
classification purposes, or to arrange a viewing for representatives of the Licensing 
Authority. 
 
The purpose of this policy is to protect children from exposure to films containing adult 
themes including scenes of violence or of a sexual nature inappropriate to their age. 
 
Staging of Plays 
 
The Authority would not wish to impose any restriction as to the plays which may be 
performed on premises licensed for that purpose. The law does not allow any 
conditions to be imposed regarding the nature of plays which may be performed or the 
manner in which they may be performed. However, where a play involves: 
 

 the use of bad language 

 nudity or the portrayal of sexual activity 

 violence 

 drug use, or 

 other ‘adult’ themes or content 
 
The Authority may impose a condition in relation to the age of children who shall be 
permitted to watch the play. In this regard, the Authority will be guided by the BBFC 
guidelines relating to films and would encourage theatres and other venues which 
intend to stage plays to consider each play they intend to stage in the light of those 
guidelines and impose an age restriction where appropriate and/or ensure that 
sufficient information is given to parents in the promotional material for plays to allow 
them to make an informed choice as to whether to allow their child to attend. 

Page 220



 

 

 Page 
16 

 
  

 
This is to protect children from exposure to adult themes or content which is not 
appropriate to their age. 

 

5.4 It is recognised that the licensing function is only one means of securing the delivery 
of the licensing objectives and should not therefore be seen as a cure-all for solving 
all problems within the community.  The Licensing Authority will therefore continue to 
work in partnership with its neighbouring authorities, the Responsible Authorities, the 
Health Authority, local businesses and local people towards the promotion of the 
objectives as outlined.  

 

5.5 The Licensing Authority recognises the knowledge and information Public Health has 
in connection to how alcohol impacts on the health of our communities and how it can 
support agencies in their decision making in particular with the licensing objectives on 
public safety and protection of children from harm. 
 

Designated Premises Supervisors (DPS) 
 

5.6 The main purpose of the ‘designated premises supervisor’ is to ensure that there is 
always one specified individual who can be readily identified for the premises where 
a premises licence is in force.  The Licensing Authority will normally expect the DPS 
to have an active role in the day to day operation of the licensed premises, in 
particular the sale and supply of alcohol.  A DPS does not have to be on site all the 
time, but should authorise individuals to supervise the day-to-day management of the 
premises in his absence.  
 

5.7 A DPS should have sufficient experience and knowledge appropriate for the 
operation under their control.  A DPS should be able to control the activities on site 
and respond quickly and efficiently to problems.  
 

5.8 A DPS should be able to demonstrate that they:  
 

 Have sufficient knowledge and experience appropriate to the premises that 
they intend to control 

 Are able to respond to problems quickly and to meet with responsible 
authorities, local residents and ensure adequate direct management of 
individual premises in a timely manner.  

 

5.9 Following a Police representation the Licensing Authority may refuse an application 
or remove a DPS where:  
 

 A problem premises exists and the DPS is not capable of fulfilling the duties 
and expectations of a DPS 

 A proposed DPS cannot demonstrate their suitability for the licensed premises. 
This is likely where the prevention of crime and disorder will be undermined by 
reason of that person’s known past conduct. A person is likely to be considered 
unsuitable if he has previous unspent convictions for a relevant offence, 
notwithstanding that he has been granted a personal licence. 

 

6.0 Personal licences  

 

6.1 Every supply of alcohol under the premises licence must be made or authorised by a 
person who holds a Personal Licence.  The Act does not require the presence of 
Personal Licence holder at all material times but if any sales are made when a 

Page 221



 

 

 Page 
17 

 
  

Personal Licence holder is not present, then they must have been authorised by 
somebody who holds a Personal Licence.   Regardless of whether a Personal 
Licence holder is present or not he will not be able to escape responsibility for the 
action of those he authorises to make such sales. 
 

6.2 The Council recommends that authorisations for the sale of alcohol be made in 
writing to ensure that those authorised are clear on their legal responsibilities.  Any 
premises which alcohol is sold or supplied may employ one or more Personal 
Licence holders.  This paragraph should be read in conjunction with paragraphs 5.6 
to 5.9 above, which state the role of the Designated Premises Supervisor.  
 

6.3 The Council recognises it has no discretion regarding the granting of Personal 
Licences where:  
 

 The applicant is 18 years or over;  

 Possesses a licensing qualification (accredited at the time of its award);  

 Has not had a licence forfeited in the last five years; and   

 Has not been convicted of a relevant offence 
 
6.4 The Authority will require all applicants to produce a criminal records certificate and, 

from 6 April 2017, evidence of right to work in the UK. Where an applicant’s 
immigration permission is time limited, a licence may still be granted, but it will 
become invalid when the immigration permission expires. 

 
6.5 The police or Home Office (Immigration Enforcement) may make representations to 

the grant of a personal licence to an individual. Such an objection can only be made 
where the applicant has been convicted of a relevant offence or any foreign offence 
or has received a civil penalty after 6 April 2017 and the police or Home Office 
consider that the grant of a licence would undermine the prevention of crime 
objective. 

 
6.6 The Policing and Crime Act 2017 gives licensing authorities from 6 April 2017 the 

power to revoke or suspend personal licences where a licence has already been 
granted and the Authority becomes aware that the licence holder has been convicted 
of a relevant offence or a foreign offence or has been required to pay an immigration 
penalty.  
 

6.4 An application for a Personal Licence to sell alcohol must be made on the form 
specified in government guidance or regulations.  The application form must be 
accompanied by the requisite fee. The applicant should also be able to produce 
evidence of the relevant qualifications.  
 
 

6.5 Where an application discloses relevant unspent convictions the Licensing Authority 
will notify the Chief Officer of Police of that application and the convictions.  The 
police may make representations on the grounds of crime and disorder.  If 
representations are received from the police or Home Office a hearing must be held. 
 

6.6 In considering a new application or licence already granted, the Licensing Authority will 
afford the applicant a right to a hearing before its Licensing Panel.  It will, at such a 
hearing, consider carefully whether the grant of the licence will compromise the 
promotion of the crime prevention objective. Factors the Authority will take into account 
when considering representations in this matter include (but are not limited to) the 
nature and type of offence, how serious the offence was, whether the offence was 

Page 222



 

 

 Page 
18 

 
  

premeditated or was the result of a genuine mistake, the period that has elapsed since 
the offence was committed, whether the applicant abused a position of trust when he 
committed the offence, whether the offence was motivated by discrimination and the 
conduct of the applicant since the commission of the offence and  any mitigating 
circumstances.   
 

6.7 The Authority has a duty when exercising its licensing functions to promote the 
prevention of crime and/or disorder and the other licensing objectives. Unless the 
circumstances are exceptional, granting a licence to an individual with a relevant 
conviction would undermine the Authority’s ability to promote the crime prevention 
objective. Personal licence holders are expected to act in accordance with the law and 
will be key to ensuring that the provisions of the Act, and any conditions attached to a 
premises licence, are complied with. The Authority also has a duty under the Crime 
and Disorder Act 1998 to have regard to the effect on crime and disorder on the 
exercise of any of its functions and to do all it can to prevent such crime and disorder.  

  

Page 223



 

 

 Page 
19 

 
  

7.0 Applications  

 

7.1 When considering applications, the Licensing Authority will have regard to:  

 The Licensing Act and licensing objectives  

 Government guidance issued under Section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

 Any supporting regulations  

 Representations made following consultation 

 Duties and obligations under other legislation 

 This statement of Licensing Policy  
 

7.2 This does not, however, undermine the rights of any person to apply under the 2003 
Act for a variety of permissions and have the application considered on its individual 
merits, nor does it override the right of any person to make representations on any 
application to seek a review of a licence or certificate where they are permitted to do 
so under the 2003 Act. 
 

7.3 The Licensing Authority recognises that, in some circumstances, longer licensing 
hours for the sale of alcohol may help to avoid concentrations of customers leaving 
premises simultaneously and reduce the potential for disorder.  It also recognises that 
overly restrictive hours may inhibit the development of the night time economies that 
are important for investment, employment and tourism.  
 

7.4 When considering applications where representations have been made the Licensing 
Authority will seek to balance those factors against its duty to promote the four licensing 
objectives and the rights of residents to peace and quiet.  
 

7.5 This policy is not intended to duplicate existing legislation and other regulatory regimes 
that place duties on employers and operators e.g. Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 
1974, Environmental Protection Act 1990, Equality Act 2010, Building Regulations and 
the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005.  The Licensing Authority will therefore 
only impose conditions which are appropriate for the promotion of the licensing 
objectives.  
 

7.6 Other than personal licences in all other cases, applicants and those making 
representations in respect of applications to the Licensing Authority have a right of 
appeal to the Magistrates’ Court against the decision of the Licensing Authority.  In the 
case of personal licences an appeal must be made to the Magistrates’ Court for the 
petty sessions area in which the Licensing Authority (or part of it) which made the 
decision is situated.  See Appendix 2. 
 

7.7 It should be noted that incomplete applications will not be accepted but returned with 
an explanation of why it is incomplete. Applicants are advised to read thoroughly the 
guidance notes at the back of each application prior to completing the form and to take 
independent legal advice where necessary. Applications should not be deemed as 
accepted and valid when submitted. They will be checked and applicants will be 
informed when the application is deemed valid. By not waiting for this confirmation 
applicants risk the expense of having to re-advertise due to inaccuracies or not 
complying with the statutory timelines of advertising.   
 

7.8 The Licensing Authority welcomes electronic applications made via Allerdale Borough 
Council’s electronic application facility  using the following link 
https://ipa.allerdale.gov.uk/PAforLalpacLIVE/1/WcaHome  

  

Page 224

https://ipa.allerdale.gov.uk/PAforLalpacLIVE/1/WcaHome


 

 

 Page 
20 

 
  

7.9 Community Halls 
  

7.10 The Legislative Reform (Supervision of Alcohol Sales in Church and Village Halls etc.) 
Order 2009 provides that if the management committee wish either to obtain a new 
premises licence authorising the sale of alcohol or to vary their existing licence to add 
the sale of alcohol as a licensed activity they can ask for an alternative condition to be 
imposed which removes the requirement for a DPS to be specified in the licence and 
remove the requirement for each sale of alcohol to made or authorised by a personal 
licence holder. 

 
New and Varied Premises Licences/Club Premises Certificates 
  

7.11 Where no premises licence or club premises certificate exists in respect of a premises, 
an application for a new premises licence or club premises certificate must be made to 
enable the carrying out of licensable activities.  
 

7.12 An application to vary an existing premises licence or club premises certificate should 
be made where the proposed variation is in respect of changes to the types of 
licensable activities that are to be undertaken and/or the hours that those activities are 
to take place, or where structural changes are made to the premises.  
 

7.13 Where the proposed variation to a premises licence or club premises certificate is in 
respect of structural alterations, the application must always be accompanied by a plan 
of the proposed alterations in addition to the existing premises licence or club premises 
certificate.   
 

7.14 Where a premises licence holder or club premises wishes to amend a premises licence 
or club premises certificate, the licensing authority will allow for an application to vary 
to be made rather than requiring an application for a new premises licence or 
certificate.  The process the applicant will undertake will depend on the nature of the 
variation and its potential impact on the licensing objectives.  The variation process will 
include:  
 

 Change of name/address of licence holder of designated premises supervisor; 

 Variation of the licence to specify a new individual as designated premises 
supervisor;  

 Request to be removed as designated premises supervisor; 

 Request to disapply the mandatory condition at community premises concerning 
the supervision of alcohol sales by a personal licence holder and the need for a 
designated premises supervisor;  

 An application for minor variation of a premises licence or club premises certificate.   
 

7.15 In addition, when completing section 3 of the application, it is important applicants 
ensure they provide sufficient time for the alterations to be carried out when stating the 
date upon which the variation is to take effect.  This is to ensure that when the premises 
licence or club premises certificate comes into force, the plan to which it relates reflects 
accurately the layout of the building.  
 

7.16 If the actual date when the alterations have been completed differs from that requested, 
applicants must inform the licensing authority so that the premises licence or club 
premises certificate can be issued correctly.  Failure to do so may result in an offence 
being committed under Section 136 of the Licensing Act 2003 of carrying on a 
licensable activity otherwise than under and in accordance with an authorisation.   

  

Page 225



 

 

 Page 
21 

 
  

 
Minor Variation Applications 
 

7.17 In August 2009, the Government introduced a streamlined process for applicants to 
make minor variations to their premises licences and club premises certificates where 
the change is considered to have ‘no adverse impact’ on the promotion of any of the 
four licensing objectives.  

 

7.18 Minor variations can be used to:  
 

 Make minor changes to the structure or layout of a premises  

 Make small adjustments to the licensing hours  

 Remove out of date, irrelevant or unenforceable conditions  

 Add or remove certain licensable activities  

 Add volunteered conditions to a premises licence or club premises certificate 
 

7.19 Examples of where the new minor variation process cannot be used:  
 

 Extend the period for which the licence or certificate has effect  

 Specify, in a premises licence, an individual as the premises supervisor  

 Add the sale by retail or supply of alcohol as an activity authorised by a licence 
or certificate 

 To extend the sale by retail or supply of alcohol at any time between 23:00 
hours and 07:00 hours  

 Authorise an increase in the amount of time on any day during which alcohol 
may be sold by retail or supplied  

 Vary a licence for community premises so as to apply the condition that every 
supply of alcohol under that licence must be made or authorised by the 
management committee  

 Substantially vary the premises to which the licence or club premises certificate 
relates 

 

7.20 On receipt of a minor variation application, the Licensing Authority will consult the 
relevant responsible authorities it considers appropriate.  In deciding on the 
application the Licensing Authority will consider any relevant representations 
received within the statutory time limit (ten working days from the day after the 
application was received by the Licensing Authority).  The Licensing Authority will 
either grant the application or refuse it where it considers that the proposed 
application could impact adversely on any of the four licensing objectives.  

  

Page 226



 

 

 Page 
22 

 
  

8.0 Responsible Authorities and Other Persons  

 

8.1 Responsible Authorities and other persons can make representations in a number of 
licensing processes under the Act including applying for a review of a licence. They 
include statutory bodies with professional expertise relevant to the regulation of 
licensable activities, and local residents and businesses that may be affected by the 
provision of such activities. Details of the Responsible Authorities can be found at 
Appendix 6. 

8.2 In addition to responsible authorities, any other person regardless of their geographic 
proximity to the premises may make representation in respect of an application which 
is subject to public notice requirements, or apply for a review of a premises or club 
premises certificate. As well as individuals this provision also allows any company, 
charity, community organisation or similar body, to make representations and apply for 
reviews in their own right.  

 

8.3 The Licensing Authority will consider all representations or review applications 
received from persons other than responsible authorities, but may reject and disregard 
a representation or application, in whole or in part, if it believes that: 

 

 a representation or ground for review is frivolous; 

 a representation or ground for review is vexatious; 

 a representation is not relevant to the likely effect of the grant of the application on 
the promotion of the licensing objectives; 

 a ground for review is not relevant to one or more of the licensing objectives; 

 a ground for review is a repetition of a ground for review or a representation made 
in respect of an earlier application for the same licence or certificate, where a 
reasonable interval has not elapsed since the earlier application.  

 

8.4 For the purposes of the previous paragraph, the Licensing Authority will typically 
consider that a period of 12 months between review or other applications will constitute 
a reasonable interval, although the authority may consider evidence as to why it should 
use a shorter time period on a case-by-case basis. 

 

8.5 The Licensing Authority must also reject any representation which was not given to the 
authority within the prescribed period for the associated application (typically 28 das 
for most applications, although minor variation applications and summary/closure order 
reviews are subject to shorter periods – in all cases, the final date for the submission 
of representations will be displayed on public notices at or near the premises and in a 
local newspaper, which will be checked by the authority).   
 

8.6 Representations and review applications may also be made by persons who are 
democratically elected, such as borough, county, town or parish councillors, or a 
Member of Parliament. Such representatives are free to make representations and 
review applications in their own right, and no specific evidence of being asked to 
represent any other person will be required.  
 

8.7 The Licensing Authority considers that Trading Associations, Trade Unions and 
residents and Tenants’ Associations qualify as other persons. 
 

8.8 The Licensing Authority will not generally view these bodies as other persons unless 
they have a member who can be classed as an Interested Party.  
 

Page 227



 

 

 Page 
23 

 
  

8.9 The Licensing Authority will generally require written evidence that a person is 
authorised to represent other persons in any case other than that is mentioned in 
paragraph 8.5 above.  
 

8.10 Allerdale Borough councillors who have agreed to represent a party to an application 
at a hearing, or who have made a representation in their own right, shall not sit on any 
Licensing Panel considering that application.  

 
Representations  
 

8.11 Any Responsible Authority or other persons may make relevant representations on 
applications for the grant of a premises licence or club premises certificate and request 
reviews of licence or certificates that have been granted.  
 

8.12 A representation will only be ‘relevant’ if it relates to the likely effect of the grant of the 
licence on the promotion of at least one of the four licensing objectives.  In addition, 
the representation must not be frivolous or vexatious.    
 

8.13 The police may object to the designation of a new designated premises supervisor 
(DPS) where, in exceptional circumstances, they believe that the appointment would 
undermine the crime prevention objective.  
 

8.14 Where the police do object, the licensing authority must arrange for a hearing at which 
the issue can be considered and both parties can put forward their arguments.  The 
2003 Act provides that the applicant may apply for the individual to take up post as 
DPS immediately and, in such cases, the issue would be whether the individual should 
be removed from this post.  The licensing authority considering the matter must restrict 
its consideration to the issue of crime and disorder and give comprehensive reasons 
for its decision.  Either party would be entitled to appeal if their argument is rejected.   
 

8.15 The 2003 Act also provides for the suspension and forfeiture of personal licences by 
the courts following convictions for relevant offences, including breaches of licensing 
law.  The police can at any stage after the appointment of a DPS seek a review of a 
premises licence on any ground relating to the licensing objectives if problems arise 
relating to the performance of a DPS.   
 

8.16 The Police and Environmental Health department may make representations in 
respect of a notification of a temporary event notice on the basis of any of the licensing 
objectives.   
 

8.17 Where relevant representations are made, the Licensing Authority must provide copies 
of those representations to the applicant or his/her representative.  The Licensing 
Authority accepts that in exceptional circumstances a person may not wish for his/her 
personal details to be disclosed to the applicant.  In these circumstances a person may 
wish to contact a local representative such as a ward, parish or town councillor or any 
other locally recognised body, such as a residents association, to make the 
representation on their behalf. The council is not able to accept anonymous 
representations. 
 

8.18 Where the Licensing Authority considers that a relevant representation has been made 
and that an exceptional circumstance exists, details of the name and address may be 
withheld from the copy of the representation that is provided to the applicant or his/her 
representative.    
 

Page 228



 

 

 Page 
24 

 
  

If representations are made when considering an application for a licence, the 
Authority should take into account the following factors in assessing its likely impact 
on the licensing objectives in addition to other relevant matters:  
 

 the nature of activities proposed; 

 the number of customers likely to attend the premises and the nature of the 
activities expected; 

 the location of the premises; 

 the proposed hours of operation; 

 the level of public transport accessibility for customers either arriving at or 
leaving the premises and the likely means of public or private transport that 
will be used by the customers; 

 the physical and accessible nature of the premises; 

 the level of likely car parking demand in relation to the use of the premises in 
comparison with the existing situation and the likely effect on the movement 
of priority traffic;  

 the cumulative impact of licensed premises in an area;  

 the scope for mitigating any impact; 

 how often the activity is to occur. 
 
In considering any application where premises are already licensed, or have in the 
past been licensed for any of the licensable activities (under this or previous 
legislation), the Authority will take into account any evidence from a Responsible 
Authority or any other person of demonstrable adverse impact from the activity in the 
past.  If adverse impact has been caused, it will consider whether appropriate 
measures have been proposed or put into effect by the applicant to mitigate that 
adverse impact. The Authority will also consider any changes of circumstances since 
the past problems occurred. 
 
The prime purpose of this policy is to promote the licensing objectives. In furtherance 
of this aim, the policy lists particular matters that the Authority will take into account in 
considering whether a licensed activity is likely to cause an adverse impact. The aim 
of the policy is, therefore, to achieve a balanced approach to these issues. 
 

8.19 In all cases, applicants and those making representations that are genuinely aggrieved 
by a decision of the Licensing Panel are entitled to appeal to the Magistrates’ Court 
against the decision of the panel.  
 

8.20 Where the Responsible Authorities or other persons do not raise any relevant 
representations about the application made to the Licensing Authority, the Licensing 
Authority will grant the premises licence or club premises certificate subject only to 
conditions that are consistent with the operating schedule and any mandatory 
conditions prescribed by the Licensing Act 2003.  

  

Page 229



 

 

 Page 
25 

 
  

Review of Licences  
 

8.21 Where possible and appropriate, the Licensing Authority and Responsible Authorities 
will give early warning to licence holders of any concern about problems identified at 
premises and of the need for improvement.   
 

8.22 Any Responsible Authority or other person may apply for a review of a premises licence 
or a club premises certificate by serving a notice containing details of the application 
on the holder of a licence or certificate and to each of the Responsible Authorities.  
 

8.23 An application for review will be only ‘relevant’ if the grounds upon which it is made 
relates to the promotion of at least one of the four licensing objectives and is not 
frivolous, vexatious or repetitious.  An evidentiary basis will be required to be presented 
to the Licensing Authority.  
 

8.24 Where other person applies for a review, the Licensing Authority must be satisfied that 
a review is relevant.  There is no appeal to the decision of the Licensing Authority other 
than by way of Judicial Review.   

 

8.25 No more than one review from a person other than responsible authorities will normally 
be permitted within any 12 month period on similar grounds except in exceptional and 
compelling circumstances or where it arises following a closure order.   

 
Conditions  
 

8.26 Licensing is about the appropriate control of licensed premises, qualifying clubs, 
temporary events and the people who manage them or hold personal licences within 
the terms of the 2003 Act.   
 

8.27 The Licensing Authority may not impose any conditions unless its discretion has been 
engaged following the making of relevant representations and it has been satisfied at 
a hearing of the necessity to impose conditions due to the representations raised.  It 
may then only impose such conditions that are required by law and/or  are necessary 
to promote the licensing objectives arising out of consideration of the representations 
and are proportionate 
 

8.28 The Licensing Authority actively promotes the benefits of partnership working between 
the Council and local businesses to enhance business operations and thereby achieve 
the community benefits of minimisation of waste, enhancement of the street scene, 
promotion of community safety, reduction of the fear of crime and the encouragement 
of tourism and inward investment.   

 

8.29 To maximise the efficiency of administering licences and reduce the necessity for 
hearings, the Licensing Authority will actively encourage applicants and clubs to 
consult with Responsible Authorities and seek professional guidance from Council 
services, when operating schedules are being prepared to allow for proper liaison to 
take place in such areas as noise reduction, CCTV, refuse and litter etc., to avoid 
representations being necessary.  The Licensing Authority accepts that while some 
applicants may find it useful to contact the Responsible Authorities and Council 
services for advice and professional assistance, others will not need to do so, and that 
applications cannot be refused on the basis that such consultation has not taken place.   
 

8.30 Where relevant representations are made, the Licensing Authority will seek to make 
objective judgements as to whether conditions may need to be attached to various 

Page 230



 

 

 Page 
26 

 
  

authorisations and others in possession of relevant authorisations, to secure 
achievement of the licensing objectives.  
 

8.31 Any conditions arising from the operating schedule or as a result of representations 
will focus primarily upon the direct impact of the activities taking place at licensed 
premises on those attending the premises and members of the public living, working 
or otherwise engaged in normal activity in the areas concerned.  It will cover matters 
that are within control of the individual licensees.  

 

8.32 If an applicant volunteers prohibition or restriction in his/her operating schedule 
because his/her own risk assessment had determined such prohibition or restriction to 
be appropriate, such volunteered prohibitions or restrictions will become conditions 
attached to the licence or certificate and will be enforceable as such.  
 

8.33 The Licensing Authority recognises that all applications should be considered on an 
individual basis and any condition attached to such a licence will be tailored to each 
individual premises, to avoid the imposition of disproportionate and other burdensome 
conditions on those premises.  Standard conditions, other than mandatory conditions, 
will, therefore, be avoided and no condition will be imposed that cannot be shown to 
be necessary for promotion of the licensing objective.  

 

9.0 Temporary Event Notices (TEN’s)  

 

9.1 The Act sets out the legal requirements relating to TEN’s.  A TEN is a notification 
given by an individual to the Licensing Authority where it is proposed to use premises 
for one or more licensable activities during a period not exceeding 168 hours and can 
be used to authorise relatively small-scale ad hoc events held in any premises 
involving no more than 499 people at any one time.  
 

9.2 A TEN is typically used to:  
 

 Authorise a licensable activity at a premises not currently licensed e.g. selling 
alcohol at a fete  

 Temporarily extending the hours for providing a licensed activity at an existing 
licensed premises for a specific event  

 Provide for licensable activities not authorised by the existing licence.  
 

9.3 The premises user must give the Licensing Authority notice of the proposed event 
and give a copy of the notice to the Police and Environmental Health. 
 

9.4 Where TEN or any part of it, is submitted in writing, it is the responsibility of the notice 
giver to ensure that a copy of it has been sent to the Police and Environmental Health 
as stipulated in the Act.  Where a TEN has been submitted electronically copies will 
be forwarded to the responsible authorities by the Local Authority.   
 

9.5 A minimum of 10 clear working days’ notice prior to the event needs to be given.  
This does NOT include the date of submission, the date of the event, weekends or 
bank holidays.  In a significant number of cases, this time period does not allow 
sufficient time for the premises user to liaise with the Police or Environmental Health 
and other relevant bodies to ensure that the event passes off safely with minimum 
disturbance to local residents.  Therefore, the Licensing Authority will normally expect 
that the TEN will be submitted no later than 28 days before the planned event.  The 
giving of 28 days’ notice allows for responsible discussions to take place with the 
Police and Environmental Health.  The Licensing Authority will consider any breach 

Page 231



 

 

 Page 
27 

 
  

of previous informal agreements to be an important matter when considering an 
objection to a TEN.  
 

9.6 Late TENs can be submitted up to five working days but no earlier than nine working 
days before the event due to take place, and unless given electronically to the 
Licensing Authority, must also be sent to the Police and Environmental Health.  A 
TEN given less than five days before the event to which it relates will be returned as 
void and the activities to which it relates will not be authorised.  
 

9.7 A key difference between standard and late TENs is the process following an 
objection notice from the Police or Environmental Health.  Where an objection notice 
is received in relation to a standard TEN the Licensing Authority must hold a hearing 
to consider the objection, unless all parties agree that a hearing is unnecessary.  If 
the Police or Environmental Health gives an objection to a late TEN the notice will not 
be valid and the event will not go ahead as there is no scope for a hearing or the 
application of any existing conditions.  
 

9.8 The Licensing Authority will also actively encourage the premises user to notify other 
relevant agencies such as the Fire Authority (crowd safety and management) in order 
to obtain expert advice on how best to minimise the risk of injury and public nuisance.  
A TEN does not exempt the premises user from any requirements under planning law 
who should ensure that the appropriate planning consent is in place.    
 

10.0 Sexual Entertainment Venue  
 

Where premises are to be used on 11 or more occasions within a 12 month period for 
relevant sexual entertainment, the premises must also be licensed as a Sexual 
Entertainment Venue. Relevant sexual entertainment includes lap dancing, pole 
dancing, table dancing, strip shows, peep shows and live sex shows.  This activity 
will be the subject of a separate policy. 
 
This licence only applies in areas where Schedule 3 of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 as amended by the Policing and Crime Act 2009 
has been adopted. This legislation has been adopted by this Authority.   

  

Page 232



 

 

 Page 
28 

 
  

11.0 Cumulative Impact Policy  

 
Need for Licensed Premises  
 

11.1 There can be confusion about the difference between “need” and the “cumulative 
impact” of premises on the licensing objectives.  “Need” concerns the commercial 
demand for another pub or restaurant or hotel.  This is not a matter for a Licensing 
Authority in discharging its licensing functions or for its Statement of Licensing Policy.  
 

Cumulative Impact of a Concentration of Licensed Premises 
 

11.2 “Cumulative Impact” means the potential impact upon the promotion of the licensing 
objectives of a significant number of licensed premises concentrated in one area.  The 
cumulative impact of licensed premises on the promotion of the licensing objectives is 
a proper matter for a Licensing Authority to consider in developing its Statement of 
Licensing Policy.  
 

11.3 The Licensing Authority acknowledges that a concentration of licensed premises in a 
particular area can result in an increased number of people walking through or 
congregating in streets during the night with the potential impact of an increase in 
crime, anti-social behaviour, noise pollution and other disturbance to residents, 
together with an increase in littering or fouling.  In such cases, the amenity of local 
residents can be placed under severe pressure but may not be attributable to any 
individual premises.   
 

11.4 The Licensing Authority can only adopt a special policy on cumulative impact if there 
is evidence that a significant number of licensed premises concentrated in one area 
are resulting, or likely to result, in unacceptable levels of crime and disorder or public 
nuisance.  
 

11.5 The Licensing Authority, having regard to the evidence currently available, considers 
that there is no particular part of the borough causing a cumulative impact on any part 
of the licensing objective.  
 

11.6 However, the cumulative impact of licensed premises in a particular area may, at a 
future time, on representation from residents or businesses or a responsible authority, 
trigger the consideration of whether any additional licences or substantial variations to 
existing licences, to increase such aspect as capacity or operating hours, would lead 
to an unacceptable saturation in an area.  The onus will be upon the objectors to 
provide evidence that additional licences or the variation of existing licences would 
produce the cumulative impact claimed.  
 

11.7 Other mechanisms for controlling cumulative impact include:  

 Planning controls 

 Positive measures to create a safe and clean town centre environment in 
partnership with local businesses, transport operators and other departments 
of the local authority 

 The provision of CCTV surveillance in town centres, ample taxi ranks, provision 
of public conveniences open late night, street cleaning and litter patrols  

 Powers of local authorities to designated parts of the local authority areas 
where alcohol may not be consumed publicly, namely the issuing of Public 
Space Protection Orders to these areas 

 Police enforcement of the general law concerning disorder and anti-social 
behaviour, including the issuing of fixed penalty notices  

Page 233



 

 

 Page 
29 

 
  

 The prosecution of any personal licence holder or member of staff at such 
premises who is selling alcohol to people who are drunk  

 The confiscation of alcohol from adults and children in areas with Public Space 
Protection Orders  

 Police powers to close down instantly for up to 24 hours any licenced premises 
to temporary event on grounds of disorder, the likelihood of disorder or noise 
emanating from the premises causing a nuisance  

 The power of police, other responsible authorities or local resident or business 
to seek a review of the licence or certificate in question.  

 
Advice and Guidance  
 

11.8 The Licensing Authority recognises the valuable cultural, social and business 
importance that premises and events requiring a licence under the Licensing Act 2003 
provide and welcomes the diversity of activities that are provided by licence holders.  
For this reason, pre-application discussions will be encouraged to assist applicants to 
develop their operating schedule.  The Licensing Authority and the Responsible 
Authorities will offer as much advice and guidance to applicants as resources permit.  
 

11.9 The Licensing Authority will also seek to liaise with applicants and/or mediate between 
applicants and others who may make representations, to achieve a satisfactory 
outcome for all involved, wherever possible and where resources permit.  Where an 
applicant considers that mediation and liaison may be likely or probable, it is 
recommended that he/she discusses his/her proposal with the Licensing Team and 
those from who they think representations are likely prior to submitting an application.  
Once an application has been logged, there are statutory timescales imposed upon 
the application and determination process, which restricts the opportunity for such 
discussions, liaison and mediation.  

 

12.0 Early Morning Restriction Orders (EMRO) 

 

12.1 The power for Licensing Authorities to make, vary or revoke an EMRO set out in 
sections 172A to 172E of the Act.  
 

12.2 An EMRO enables a Licensing Authority to prohibit the sale of alcohol for a specified 
time period between the hours of 12am and 6am in the whole or part of its area, if it is 
satisfied that this would be appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives.  
 

12.3 EMROs are designed to address recurring problems such as high levels of alcohol 
related crime and disorder in specific areas at specific times; serious public nuisance 
and other instances of alcohol related anti-social behaviour which is not directly 
attributable to specific premises.  
 

12.4 It is the Council’s intention to support businesses rather than hinder them whilst 
ensuring promotion of the licensing objectives.  However where this has deemed to 
fail then an EMRO could be considered as a possible solution.  
 

12.5 An EMRO:  

 Applies to the supply of alcohol authorised by premises licences, club premises 
certificate and temporary event notices  

 Applies for any period beginning at or after 12am and ending at or before 6am.  It 
does not have to apply on every day of the week and can apply for different time 
periods or unlimited time period (e.g. an EMRO could be introduced for a few 
weeks to apply to a specific event) 

Page 234



 

 

 Page 
30 

 
  

 Applies to the whole or any part of the Licensing Authority’s area  

 Will not apply to any premises on New Year’s Eve (defined as 12:00 a.m. to 
06:00 a.m. on 1 January every year) 

 Will not apply to the supply of alcohol to residents by accommodation providers 
between 12am and 6am, provided the alcohol is sold through mini-bars/room 
service 

 Will not apply to a relaxation of licensing hours by virtue of an order made under 
section 172 of the Act 

 
EMRO Request  
 

12.6 It is expected that the need of an EMRO may be identified by a number of different 
organisations.  For example the request for an EMRO may originate from Cumbria 
Police, Environmental Health or residents association.  It may come via another 
Responsible Authority.  It is likely more than one organisation may be involved in the 
process.  
 

12.7 It is anticipated that the request would be referred to Licensing where a designated 
procedure will be applied to determine if an EMRO is appropriate.  If appropriate, the 
request would be referred to the Licensing Committee.  Members would be supplied 
with evidence of the issues being experienced in the area in support of the EMRO.  
The Licensing Committee will decide if, on the strength of the evidence provided, that 
an EMRO is appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives and if further 
work is to be undertaken to support the case.  Members may decide that other 
measures would be more effective in dealing with the problems, or that licensing 
holders should engage with the authorities in an attempt to rectify matters before the 
request is considered further.  

 
Evidence 

  

12.8 Section 182 Guidance to Licensing Authorities states that “The Licensing Authority 
should be satisfied that it has sufficient evidence to demonstrate that its decision is 
appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives.  This requirement should be 
considered in the same manner as other licensing decisions, such as the 
determination of applications for the grant of premises licences.  The Licensing 
Authority should consider the evidence from partners, including responsible 
authorities and local community safety partnerships, alongside its own evidence, to 
determine whether an EMRO would be appropriate for the promotion of licensing 
objectives.”  
 

12.9 The level of evidence the Licensing Committee will consider to support an EMRO 
includes but is not necessarily limited to:  

 

 Police evidence of reported alcohol related crime 

 Nuisance statistics compiled from complaints made to Environmental Health in 

relation to noise, odour and litter nuisance 

 Data gathered from complaints made to Licensing on matters which affect the 

licensing objectives  

 Anecdotal evidence from residents organisations, ward members and other 

representatives of people living in specific areas 

 Evidence obtained during the public consultation and associated public meetings  

 

Page 235



 

 

 Page 
31 

 
  

12.10 In addition the Section 182 guidance suggests other sources of evidence such as 
health related statistics, e.g. alcohol-related emergency attendance and hospital 
admissions  

 

12.11 This should, in part be provided by the organisation or group who are proposing an 
EMRO should be in force.  
 

12.12 Once the Licensing Committee is satisfied that an EMRO is required to address the 
issues in an area, and all other measures have been tried and failed to address these 
issues, the formal process of implementing an EMRO will begin.  The design of the 
EMRO will include:  

 

 The days (and periods on those days) on which the EMRO would apply 

 The area to which the EMRO would apply  

 The period for which the EMRO would apply  

 The date from which the proposed EMRO would apply  
 
Consultation   
 

12.13 The proposed EMRO will be advertised for at least 42 days.  The proposal will be 
published on the Council’s website and in a local newspaper.  A notice will be sent to 
all affected people in the area who hold a premises licence or a club premises 
certificate, or people who use TENs or who hold a provisional statement.  A notice 
will be displayed in the area, and sent to responsible authorities and adjacent 
licensing authorities.  
 

12.14 Anyone affected by the EMRO has 42 days in which to make a representation on any 
aspect of the EMRO design.  If relevant representations are received then a hearing 
will be held to consider them.  If there are a number of representations, the Licensing 
Authority may consider whether to hold the hearing over several days.  The hearing 
will commence within 30 working days of the end of the notice period.  
 

12.15 As a result of the hearing the Licensing Authority has three options:  
 

 To determine that the proposed EMRO is appropriate for promotion of the 

licensing objectives  

 To determine that the proposed EMRO is not appropriate and therefore the 

process should be ended  

 To determine that the proposed EMRO should be modified.  In this case it may 

be necessary to advertise again  

Formal Decision  

 

12.16 Once the Licensing Authority is satisfied that the proposed order is appropriate for 
the promotion of the licensing objectives, its determination will be put to full Council 
for its final decision.   Once the EMRO is made, the authority will send a notice to all 
affected persons and make it available for 28 days on the website.  
 

12.17 A variation or revocation of an order will follow the same process.  However an order 
could be applied for a specified time and in this case the order ceases to apply on the 
final day.  
 

12.18 Once an EMRO is in place, the Licensing Authority will update this policy as soon as 
possible to include reference to the EMRO in this section.  

Page 236



 

 

 Page 
32 

 
  

 

12.19 There are currently no EMROs in place for this area.  
 

13.0 Late Night Levy 
 

13.1 This is a power conferred on Licensing Authorities by the Police Reform and Social 
Responsibility Act 2011 which enables a levy to be charged to premises that are 
licensed to sell alcohol late at night in the authority’s area, as a means of raising a 
contribution towards the costs of policing the late-night economy.  The option of 
introducing such a levy will be kept under review by the Council and would not be 
introduced without the required consultation. 
 

14.0 Compliance 

14.1 Allerdale Borough Council delivers a wide range of compliance services aimed at 
safeguarding the environment and the community, and at providing a ‘level playing 
field’ on which businesses can trade fairly.  The administration and compliance of the 
licensing regime is one of these services.  Specifically, Allerdale Borough Council is 
committed to accordance with the principles of good enforcement practice by carrying 
out its regulatory functions in a fair, open and consistent manner.  

 

14.2 The Licensing Authority recognises the interest of both citizens and businesses and 
will work closely with partners to assist licence holders to comply with the law and the 
four licensing objectives that it seeks to promote.  However, proportionate but firm 
action will be taken against those who commit serious offences or break the law 
consistently. 
 

14.3 In the event of the Licensing Authority receiving evidence of an offence under the 
Licensing Act 2003, it will consider what action should be taken this may take the form 
of informal action (advice and warnings), the issue of a caution or if permitted a fixed 
penalty notice or prosecution.  What action is taken will depend on the circumstances 
of each case and will take into account the seriousness of the matter and past history.  
Formal action by way of prosecution will be a last resort and proportionate to the 
degree of risk.  
 

14.4 The Licensing Authority works in partnership with all of the Responsible Authorities 
under the Act on compliance issues.  This joint working provides for the targeting of 
resources towards high risk premises and activities that require greater attention, while 
providing a lighter touch in respect of low risk premises that are operated well.  

  

Page 237



 

 

 Page 
33 

 
  

15.0 Administration, Exercise and Delegation of functions  

 

15.1 The Licensing Authority will be involved in a wide range of licensing decisions and 
functions and has established a Licensing Committee to administer them.  

 

15.2 Appreciating the need to provide a speedy, efficient and cost-effective service to all 
parties involved in the licensing process, the Committee has delegated certain 
decisions and functions and has established a number of Licensing Panels to deal 
with them.  
 

15.3 Further, with many of the decisions and functions being purely administrative in 
nature, the grant of non-contentious applications, including for example, those licence 
and certificates where no representations have been made, has been delegated to 
Licensing Authority officers.  
 

15.4 The Licensing Committee will consist of 15 Councillors.  Licensing Panels of three 
Councillors are expected to consider the bulk of applications where a hearing is 
necessary.  Ward Councillors will not sit on Panels involving an application within 
their ward.  
 

15.5 Every determination of a licensing application by the Licensing Committee or 
Licensing Panel shall be accompanied with clear, cogent reasons for the decision.  
 

15.6 It is expected that the authority’s licensing officers will deal with the majority of 
licence applications and will decide whether representations are irrelevant, frivolous 
or vexatious.  The person making a representation, which is considered to be 
frivolous or vexatious, will be given written reasons for that decision.  
 

15.7 The authority will ensure that members and officers are appropriately trained to carry 
out their duties under the Act.  
 

15.8 The table at Appendix 1 sets out the agreed delegation of decisions and functions to 
Licensing Committee, Panel and Officers.  
 

15.9 Officers, a Licensing Panel and even the full Licensing Committee may decline to 
exercise their delegated powers in any particular case.  On such occasions, officers 
may refer a matter to a Panel, the Panel to full Committee and the full Committee to 
the full Council.  
 

  

Page 238



 

 

 Page 
34 

 
  

APPENDIX 1 – Table of Delegated functions 
 

MATTER TO BE DEALT 
WITH 

 

FULL COMMITTEE PANEL OFFICERS 

Application for personal  
licence  

 If a representation 
received 
 

If no representation 
received 
 

  
 

  
 

 

Application for premises  
licence/club premises 
Certificate 

 If a relevant 
representation 
received 
 

If no relevant 
representation 
received 

Application for provisional statement  If a relevant 
representation 
received 

If no relevant 
representation 
received 

Application to vary  
premises licence/club  
premises certificate  

 If a relevant 
representation 
received 

If no relevant 
representation 
received  

Decision whether to consult other 
Responsible Authorities on a minor 
variation application 

  All cases 

Application to vary premises licence/club 
premises certificate by way of a minor 
variation 

  All cases 

Application to vary designated 
 premises supervisor 

  
If a police 
representation  

 
All other cases 

Request to be removed  
as designated premises  
supervisor 

   
All cases 

Application for transfer of  
premises licence 

 If a representation 
received 

All other cases 

Application for Interim 
Authorities 

 If a  representation 
received 

All other cases 

Application to review premises 
licence/club premises  
certificate 

 
 

All cases  

Decision on whether a 
complaint is irrelevant, 
frivolous, vexatious, etc  

   
All cases 

Decision to object when local authority is a 
consultee and not the relevant authority 
considering the application 

 All cases  
 

Determination of a representation to a 
temporary event notice 

 All cases  

Determination of application to vary 
premises licence at community premises 
to include alternative licence condition 

 If a relevant 
representation received 

All cases 

Determination of film classification   All cases 

Page 239



 

 

 Page 
35 

 
  

 
A Full Committee will consist of fifteen members, with a quorum of four.   
A Panel will consist of three members.  
  

Page 240



 

 

 Page 
36 

 
  

APPENDIX 2 – Appeals Procedure 
 
1. Other than in the case of personal licences, an appeal has to be made to the Magistrates’ 

Court Service, West Allerdale Magistrates Court, Hall Brow, Workington. In the case of 
personal licences, the appeal must be made to the magistrates’ court for the petty sessions 
area in which the licensing authority (or any part of it) which made the decision is situated. 

 
2. An appeal has to be commenced by the giving of a notice of appeal by the appellant to the 

justices’ chief executive for the magistrates’ court within a period of 21 days beginning with 
the day on which the appellant was notified by the licensing authority of the decision to be 
appealed against. 

 
3. The licensing authority will always be a respondent to the appeal, but in cases where a 

favourable decision has been made for an applicant licence holder, club or premises user 
against the representations of a responsible authority or an interested party or the 
objections of the chief officer of police, the holder of the premises or personal licence or 
club premises certificate or the person who gave an interim authority notice or the premises 
user will also be a respondent to the appeal and the person who made the relevant 
representation or the chief officer of police will be the appellants. 

 
4. On determining an appeal, the court may: 
 

 dismiss the appeal; 
 

 substitute for the decision appealed against any other decision which could have 
made by the licensing authority; or 

 

 remit the case to the licensing authority to dispose of it in accordance with the 
direction of the court. 

 
5. The court may make such order as to costs as it thinks fit. 
 
6. The court, on hearing any appeal, may therefore review the merits of the   decision on the 

facts and consider points of law or address both. 
 
  

Page 241



 

 

 Page 
37 

 
  

APPENDIX 3 - Guides of Best Practice   
 
1. Health and Safety Executive Website - The Event Safety Guide – A guide to health, 

safety and welfare at music and similar events (HSG 195) (“The Purple Book”) ISBN 
978-0-7176-2453-9 and other guidance documents www.hse.gov.uk  

 
2. Guide to Fire Precautions in existing places of entertainment and like premises (The 

Stationery Office) (“The Primrose Guide”) ISBN 0-11-340907-9. 
 
3. Managing Crowds Safely in public venues ISBN 978-0-11-702074-0 
 
4. 5 steps to Risk Assessment: Case Studies (HSE 2006) INDG 163(rev2) 
 
5. The Guide to Safety at Sports Grounds (“The Green Guide”) 

www.safetyatsportsgrounds.org.uk/publications/green-guide  
 
6. Good Practice Guide on the Control of Noise from Pubs and Clubs 2003 – The 

Institute of Acoustics www.ioa.org.uk/publications  
 
7. Safer Nightlife – London Drugs Policy Forum 

http://217.154.230.218/NR/rdonlyres/E4E0FE3A-9F8E-4182-AFBF-
31C83E74C03A/0/SS_LDPF_safer_nightlife.pdf  

 
8. Talk to Frank – The a-z of drugs www.talktofrank.com  
 
9. The Portman Group Code of Practice on the Naming, Packaging and Promotion of 

Alcoholic Drinks 2006 –  
 http://www.portman-group.org.uk/?pid=3&level=1  
 
10. British Board of Film  - Classification Guidelines – www.bbfc.co.uk/what-

classification/guidelines  
 
11. HSE Guide – The Radiation Safety of laser installation used for display purposes 

[HS(G)95] HSE Books ISBN 0-7-76-0691 www.hse.gov.uk 
 
12. The Government Alcohol Strategy – www.gov.uk 
 
13. Alcohol Concern  – www.alcoholconcern.org.uk 
 
14. Safety Guidance for Street Arts, Carnivals, Processions and large scale 

performances Independent Street Arts Network –www.streetartsnetwork.org.uk 
 
15. Point of Sale Promotions 
 Risk Assessment to Combating Violence in Licensed Premises 
 Licensed Property: Noise Control 
 British Beer & Pub Association -  www.beerandpub.com  
 

Page 242

http://www.hse.gov.uk/
http://www.safetyatsportsgrounds.org.uk/publications/green-guide
http://www.ioa.org.uk/publications
http://217.154.230.218/NR/rdonlyres/E4E0FE3A-9F8E-4182-AFBF-31C83E74C03A/0/SS_LDPF_safer_nightlife.pdf
http://217.154.230.218/NR/rdonlyres/E4E0FE3A-9F8E-4182-AFBF-31C83E74C03A/0/SS_LDPF_safer_nightlife.pdf
http://www.talktofrank.com/
http://www.portman-group.org.uk/?pid=3&level=1
http://www.bbfc.co.uk/what-classification/guidelines
http://www.bbfc.co.uk/what-classification/guidelines
http://www.hse.gov.uk/
http://www.gov.uk/
http://www.beerandpub.com/


 

 

 Page 
38 

 
  

16. Fire Risk Assessment –  
www.communities.gov.uk/fire/firesafety/firesafetylaw 

 
17. DCMS – Alcohol Licensing www.gov.uk/guidance/alcohol-licensing 
 
18. National Pubwatch www.nationalpubwatch.org.uk 

 

This is not intended to be an exhaustive list of reference guides but is offered for guidance and may 
be revised.  Where a proposed activity is not covered by the above, every effort should be made to 
research current best practice guidance. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 243

http://www.communities.gov.uk/fire/firesafety/firesafetylaw
http://www.gov.uk/guidance/alcohol-licensing
http://www.nationalpubwatch.org.uk/


 

 

 Page 
39 

 
  

 
Appendix 4 – List of Consultees 

Allerdale Borough Council 
All Elected Members 
All Town/Parish Councils 
Environmental Health Unit 
Planning and Development Service 
Website – licensing and consultation pages 
  
 
Housing Associations 
 
Cumbria Police 
Chief Constable, Carleton Hall, Penrith 
West Cumbria HQ, Hall Brow, Workington 
British Transport Police, Citadel Station, Court Square, Carlisle 
 
Cumbria Fire and Rescue Service 
 
Cumbria County Council Children’s Services 
 
Cumbria County Council Trading Standards 
 
Health and Safety Executive 
 
Cumbria County Council Public Health 
 
All Responsible Authorities listed in appendix 6 
 
 
  

Page 244



 

 

 Page 
40 

 
  

Appendix 5  
 
Links between the licensing policy and other Council strategies and policies: 
 
Council Plan – This licensing policy contributes towards the Council achieving its strategic 
objectives by supporting inclusive communities where visitors and residents can enjoy a 
range of cultural activities and by ensuring that communities can stay safe and feel safe in 
their everyday lives and to support businesses.    
 
Crime and Disorder Reduction Strategy – The implementation of the licensing policy reduces 
crime and disorder related to licensable activities. 
 
Local Transport Plan – By promoting safe access to licensed events, this helps support the 
LTP. 
 
Cumbria Community Strategy – This assists in achieving safe, strong and inclusive 
communities. 
 
Cultural Strategy – Licensable activities are an essential part of a vibrant and diverse culture.    
 

Page 245



 

 

 Page 
41 

 
  

Appendix 6 – Responsible Authorities 

RESPONSIBLE AUTHORITIES 

Name And Address Telephone No. Email Address 

Allerdale Borough Council 
Licensing Department 
Allerdale House 
New Bridge Road 
Workington 
CA14 3YJ 

0303 123 1702 
licensing@allerdale.gov.uk 
 

Chief of Police 
Cumbria Constabulary 
West Cumbria H.Q. 
Hall Brow 
Workington 
Cumbria 
CA14 4EH 

0300 124 0113 
Admin-WestBCU@cumbria.pnn.police.uk 
 

Cumbria Fire and Rescue 
The Divisional Officer 
Safer and Stronger Communities 
Cumbria County Council 
Workington Community Fire Station 
Moorclose Road 
Workington 
Cumbria 
CA14 5BF 

01900 706055 
workington.technical@cumbriacc.gov.uk 
 

Health and Safety Executive 
2 Victoria Place 
Carlisle 
Cumbria 
CA1 3ER 

01228 634100 formsadmin.carlisle@hse.gsi.gov.uk 

Allerdale Borough Council 
Environmental Health Department 
Allerdale House 
Workington 
Cumbria 
CA14 3YJ 

0303 123 1702 environmental.health@allerdale.gov.uk 

Allerdale Borough Council 
Planning Department 
Allerdale House 
Workington,   CA14 3YJ 
 
OR 
 
Lake District National Park Authority 
Planning Team 
Murley Moss 
Oxenholme Road 
Kendal,        LA9 7RL  

 
0303 123 1702 
 
 
 
 
 
01539 724555 

 
planning@allerdale.gov.uk  
 
 
 
 
Keswick and Surrounding Areas 
planning@lakedistrict.gov.uk 
 

Page 246

mailto:licensing@allerdale.gov.uk
mailto:Admin-WestBCU@cumbria.pnn.police.uk
mailto:workington.technical@cumbriacc.gov.uk
mailto:formsadmin.carlisle@hse.gsi.gov.uk
mailto:environmental.health@allerdale.gov.uk
mailto:planning@allerdale.gov.uk
mailto:planning@lakedistrict.gov.uk


 

 

 Page 
42 

 
  

RESPONSIBLE AUTHORITIES 

Name And Address Telephone No. Email Address 

Cumbria Safeguarding Children 
Partnership 
Cumbria County Council      
1st Floor Lower Gaol Yard 
The Courts 
Carlisle 
Cumbria 
CA3 8NA 

01228 226877 LSCB@cumbria.gov.uk 

Public Health Lead 
Public Health 
Cumbria County Council 
The Courts 
Carlisle 
CA3 8NA 

01228 226626 publichealthenquiries@cumbria.gov.uk  

Trading Standards 
Safer and Stronger Communities 
Cumbria County Council 
Workington Community Fire Station 
Moorclose Road 
Workington 
Cumbria 
CA14 5BF 

01539 713594 
Kendal H.Q. 

trading.standards@cumbria.gov.uk 

Home Office (Immigration Enforcement) 
Alcohol Licensing Team 
Lunar House 
40 Wellesley Road 
Croydon 
CR9 2BY 

 Alcohol@homeoffice.gsi.gov.uk  

 
 
  

Page 247

mailto:LSCB@cumbria.gov.uk
mailto:publichealthenquiries@cumbria.gov.uk
mailto:trading.standards@cumbria.gov.uk
mailto:Alcohol@homeoffice.gsi.gov.uk


 

 

 Page 
43 

 
  

Appendix 7   Other Useful Addresses 
  
North Cumbria Magistrates Court Service  
Rickergate  
Carlisle  
Cumbria  
CA3 8QH 
 
Tel: 01228 518800  
Email:  
 
 
West Allerdale Magistrates Court 
Hall Brow 
Workington 
Cumbria 
 
Tel: 01900 62244 
Email: 
 
 
Arts Council England 
14 Great Peter Street 
London 
SW1P 3NQ 
 
Tel 0845 300 6200 
Email: enquiries@artscouncil.org.uk 
Web: www.artscouncil.org.uk 
 
 
Association of Licensed Multiple Retailers (ALMR) 
3rd Floor International House 
Ealing 
London 
W5 5DB 
 
Tel: 0208 579 2080 
Web: www.almr.org.uk 
Email: info@almr.org.uk 
 
 
British Beer and Pub Association 
Market Towers 
1 Nine Elms Lane 
London 
SW8 5NQ 
 
Tel: 0207 627 9191 
Email: web@beerandpub.com 
Web: www.beerandpub.com 
 
British Board of Film Classification 
3 Soho Square 
London 

Page 248

mailto:enquiries@artscouncil.org.uk
http://www.artscouncil.org.uk/
http://www.almr.org.uk/
mailto:info@almr.org.uk
mailto:web@beerandpub.com
http://www.beerandpub.com/


 

 

 Page 
44 

 
  

W1D 3HD 
 
Tel: 020 7440 0394 
Web:   www.bbfc.co.uk/what-classifiction/guidlines 
Helpline:  www.helpline@bbfc.co.uk 
 
British Institute of Innkeeping 
Wessex House 
80 Park Street 
Camberley 
Surrey GU15 3PT 
 
Tel: 01276 684 449 
Email: reception@bii.org 
Web: www.bii.org 
 
Disability Rights Commission 
DCR Helpline 
Freepost MID01264 
Stratford Upon Avon  
CV37 9BR 
 
Tel: 08457 622 633 
Web: www.drc-gb.org 
 
 
Equity 
Guild house 
Upper Martins Lane 
London 
WC2H 9EG 
 
Tel: 0207 379 6000 
Email: info@equity.org.uk 
Web: www.equity.org.uk 
 
 
Jazz Services Limited 
1st Floor 
132 Southwark Street 
London 
SE1 0SW 
 
Tel: 020 79289089 
Email: admin@jazzservices.org.uk 
Web: www.jazzservices.org.uk 
Musicians Union 
40 Canal Street 
Manchester 
M1 3WD 
 
Tel: 0161 2361764 
Email: northwest@musiciansunion.org.uk 
Web: www.musiciansunion.org.uk 
 

Page 249

http://www.bbfc.co.uk/what-classifiction/guidlines
http://www.helpline@bbfc.co.uk
mailto:reception@bii.org
http://www.bii.org/
http://www.drc-gb.org/
mailto:info@equity.org.uk
http://www.equity.org.uk/
mailto:admin@jazzservices.org.uk
http://www.jazzservices.org.uk/
mailto:northwest@musiciansunion.org.uk
http://www.musiciansunion.org.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 250



1 

Equality Impact Assessment Form 
 
 
An Equality Impact Assessment is a way of examining how different communities or groups of people will be affected by a current 
or proposed service, policy or project. It helps identify ways of removing or reducing any adverse or negative impacts and with 
developing an action plan for ensuring the service, policy or project has the most positive outcomes for our communities. 
 
Equality Impact Assessments consider a range of issues in relation to equality groups. The Public Sector Equality Duty focuses on 
a set of protected characteristics which can be used as a tool to help us understand how our services will impact on our 
communities.    
 
The Equality Duty covers the following 9 protected characteristics: 

Age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion and belief, sex, sexual orientation, marriage 
and civil partnership (only in the respect of the requirement of the general duty to have due regard to the need to eliminate 
discrimination) 
 
The Council has also chosen to consider rurality and socio economic status as part of its Impact Assessments. 
 
 
 

EIA title: What service change, policy or project are you assessing? 

 
Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

 
 

P
age 251



2 

1. What is the purpose of this service change, policy or project? 
 

 
Allerdale Borough Council is the licensing authority which regulates licensable activities under the Licensing Act 2003. It must 
review and publish a Statement of Licensing Policy which sets out the framework against which the authority will carry out its 
functions and how it will promote the four licensing objectives: 

 The prevention of crime and disorder; 

 Public safety; 

 The prevention of public nuisance; and 

 The protection of children from harm. 
 
 

 
 
2. How does it contribute to the priorities and objectives in our Council Plan? 

 
Council Strategy 2020-2030 – This policy contributes towards the Council achieving its strategic objectives by helping to create 
Thriving Towns and Villages where visitors and residents can enjoy a range of leisure and cultural activities and by supporting 
Resilient Communities helping to make sure that people can stay safe and feel safe in their everyday lives and helping to create 
safe, strong and inclusive communities.    
 
 

 
 
 
3. Who is likely to be affected by the service change, policy or project? For example: all residents, young people, people with 
disabilities. 

 

 
The licensing objectives result in this policy applying very broadly across all communities that live, work and visit the area. It seeks 
to improve the safety of the public and minimise the risk of crimes against them, to mitigate the effects of regulated activities on the 
communities in which the activities are held and to protect children from inappropriate activities. By its very nature this policy is 
relevant to all protected groups and in particular “children” have special status in view of the licensing objective to protect children 
from harm. 

P
age 252



3 

 
 

 
 
4. What information and evidence have you used to support your findings on impacts? List any consultation or 
engagement undertaken. For example: customer monitoring data, customer profiles, demographic information, survey results, 
customer feedback outcomes of consultation exercises. 
 

 
Applications under the Licensing Act 2003 are prescribed by regulation and the Authority does not have the power to set its own 
forms. The current forms do not provide for the gathering of demographic data. As a consequence of this the authority’s ability to 
analyse forms to examine any differential between protected groups is removed. 
 
 

 
 
5. How can this service, service change, policy or project help us to meet our equalities duties? For example: by engaging 
young people, promoting good race relations or targeting services to meet the needs of older people. 
 

 
Reviewing the policy every 5 years and going through the statutory consultation process ensures that as far as possible as many 
residents, representatives of licence holders, businesses, housing associations as well as any other organisations and the 
Responsible Authorities have an opportunity to put their views forward for consideration 
 
 

 
 
6. Are there any known equalities issues relating to this service, service change, policy or project that have been raised 
outside of Allerdale? For example, by other councils, or through national research. 
 

 
There has not been any event that indicates the policy adversely affects any protected group.  
 
 

 

P
age 253



4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 254



5 

7. Impact and action plan 

Use the table below to indicate whether the service change, policy or project is likely to have a positive1, adverse2 or neutral impact 
on each of the groups listed and what that impact is. (See glossary below for definitions) 
 
You also need to indicate what actions or provisions you have put in place, or propose to put in place, to ensure you address the 
adverse impacts identified. 
 

Equality group 
 

Positive 
(tick) 

Adverse 
(tick) 

Neutral 
(tick) 

What is the impact? Mitigating actions proposed (to 
address adverse impact) 

Age 
 

√   Apart from the measures designed to 

protect children from harm, there are 

no other measures which distinguish 

individuals on the basis of age. Policy 

seeks to positively consider children by 

ensuring appropriate measures are in 

place for regulated entertainment and 

sale of alcohol so they are not exposed 

to adult entertainment and BBFC 

guidelines are adopted for exhibition of 

films. There are lawful age restrictions 

within the Licensing Act 2003 which 

prevent individuals under 18 from 

applying for certain types of licence and 

contains various offences relating to 

children. It also prevents unsupervised 

sales of alcohol by under 18s and has 

mandatory conditions stipulating 

 

                                                           
1 A positive impact is where one or more group or groups of people are put at an advantage by the way a particular policy or procedure is carried out. A 
positive impact may also occur where a particular policy or procedure will contribute to promoting equality, equal opportunities or improving relations within 
equality target groups. 

 
2 An adverse impact is where one or more group or groups of people are put at a disadvantage by the way a particular policy or procedure is carried out. For 
example, disabled or elderly people, or people living in very isolated rural areas may struggle to use wheelie bins as easily as other people. 

P
age 255



6 

Equality group 
 

Positive 
(tick) 

Adverse 
(tick) 

Neutral 
(tick) 

What is the impact? Mitigating actions proposed (to 
address adverse impact) 

premises must have in place a challenge 

policy for age.  

Disability 
 

  √   

Gender 
 

  √   

Gender reassignment 
 

  √   

Marital and civil 
partnership status 

  √   

Pregnancy and 
maternity 

  √   

Race and minority 
ethnic groups 

  √   

Religion and/or belief   √    

Sexual orientation   √   

People in rural areas 
 

  √   

People on low 
incomes 

  √   

 
 
  
8. Are the adverse impacts justified? If they are, explain in what way. For example: disproportionate costs, legislative constraints. 
 

 
 
Not applicable 

P
age 256



7 

 
 

 
 
 
 
EIA completion 
 

Date completed: 4 November 2020 

Lead officer: Gillian Collinson 

Head of Service: Sharon Sewell 

 
 
Please forward an electronic copy of this completed assessment to: policy@allerdale.gov.uk 

P
age 257

mailto:policy@allerdale.gov.uk


8 

Glossary 
 
Age: This refers to a person having a particular age (for example, 32 year-olds) or being within an age group (for example, 18-30 
year-olds). 
 
Disability: A person has a disability if s/he has a physical or mental impairment which has a substantial and long-term adverse 
effect on their ability to carry out normal day-to-day activities. Includes: Physical/sensory disability; Mental Health; Learning 
disability. 
 
Gender: This refers to a person being either male or female. 
 
Gender reassignment: This is the process of transitioning from one sex to another, considered a personal process rather than a 
medical one and it does not require someone to undergo medical treatment in order to be protected. 
 
Marital and civil partnership: Legal recognition of a same-sex couple’s relationship. Civil partners must be treated the same as 
married couples on a range of legal matters. 
 
Maternity: The period after giving birth. It is linked to maternity leave in the employment context. In the non-work context, 
protection against maternity discrimination is for 26 weeks after giving birth, including as a result of breastfeeding. 
 
Race: It refers to a group of people defined by their colour, nationality (including citizenship), ethnic or national origins. Includes, 
Asian, Black and White minority ethnic groups inc. Eastern Europeans, Irish people and Gypsy Travellers. 
 
Religion or belief: “Religion” means any religion, including a reference to a lack of religion. “Belief” includes religious and 
philosophical beliefs including lack of belief (for example, Atheism). The category includes, Christianity, Islam, Judaism, Hinduism, 
Buddhism, and non-religious beliefs such as Humanism. 
 
Sexual orientation: This is whether a person's sexual attraction is towards their own sex, the opposite sex or to both sexes. 
 
Rurality: Allerdale is defined as ‘Rural-80’ – this means we have at least 80 percent of our population in rural settlements and 
larger market towns. 
 
 

P
age 258



Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Council – 09 December 2020 

 

Pay Policy Statement 

 
 
Portfolio holder Marion Fitzgerald, Executive Member for Policy, 

Governance and People resources 

Report from    Andrew Seekings, Head of Paid Service 

Wards affected   N/A  

Is this a key decision  N/A  
 

 
 

1.0  The reason for the decision 

1.1 The requirement to set a pay policy and publish details of Chief Officer (CO)
 remuneration pay levels is set out in the Localism Act and is normally reported to 
 full council in March each year. Any changes mid-year to the Pay Policy must be 
 agreed by Full Council. 

2.0  Recommendations 

2.1. That the Pay Policy be updated to reflect the proposed remuneration and revised 
structure of the Senior Leadership Team.  

 
2.2 That in accordance with section 5 of the Local Government Act 1989, Council 

designates the Chief Officer (Place and Governance) as Monitoring Officer. 
 
2.3 That in accordance with section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972, Council 

designates the Chief Officer (Assets) as Chief Finance Officer.  

3.0  Background and Introduction 

 
3.1.1 A new Chief Executive was appointed in July 2020.  The Chief Executive has 

reviewed how the Council operates and will deliver the objectives within the Council 
Plan; a new Target Operating Model (TOM) has also been adopted.   
 

3.1.2 Alongside this, COVID-19 means that although the Council has needed to focus 
resources at the response and enable the delivery of business as usual activity, it 
now also needs to focus resources to recovery e.g. Workington Stronger Towns 
Fund and Maryport High Streets Fund. In order to deliver these ambitious plans and 

Page 259

Agenda Item 15



the Council’s core functions through a new Target Operating Model, the structure of 
the Senior Team needs to be reviewed and accountabilities aligned accordingly. 

 
3.2  A salary tier system has been introduced in line with accountabilities for each senior 

 role allowing for the senior team to be paid fairly for the deliverables that are 
 expected from them.  
 

3.3  A market evaluation of senior salaries has taken place in conjunction with guidance 
 from North West Employers and other neighbouring authorities.  The last time any 
 pay review at this level was undertaken was in 2012.  

4.0  Pay and Structural Changes 

 
4.1  The Council has the option to leave the current structure in place, however this 

would have implications for delivery of the Council Plan and would not achieve the 
savings required to support a balanced budget in future years. 

 
4.2 The new pay policy and accompanying functionality chart sets out the area of 

responsibilities for each Chief Officer (CO) role. The new structure intends to: 
 

 Remove the Corporate Director post and spread responsibilities across the new 
Chief Officer (CO) grades as appropriate (e.g. Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
(AONB) which has specific duties to perform) 

 Permanently reallocate the remaining functional responsibilities of the (former) 
Head of Community Services, following his transfer to Allerdale Waste Services 
(including car parking, trade waste, waste and recycling, sport and leisure) 

 Consolidate the additional functional responsibilities following the creation of 
Programme Director roles for Maryport and Workington that were agreed previously 
by the Chief Executive (e.g. planning, environmental health) 

 Create capacity to deliver the Council’s Target Operating Model with the creation of 
an internal Programme Director with responsibility for transforming customer 
services and business administration, reducing the handoffs across the Council 
from residents and businesses. This will create further efficiencies, improve 
productivity and improve customer satisfaction. 

 Change the responsibilities of the Head of Customer Service and Innovation post to 
Programme Director and reallocate some functions across other CO roles. 

 
 
4.3 Salaries have therefore been reviewed on the future accountabilities of the posts 

based mainly on the temporary arrangements that have been in place for the last 
year. The CO Tier 1 roles have the widest responsibilities and breadth of control, 
consolidating temporary arrangements (such as planning and environmental health) 
and include the statutory roles of Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer 
(Section 151 Officer). The roles will pay a lead role in supporting the Executive, 
Members and the Chief Executive in setting and implementing the strategic 
direction of the Council. 

 
4.4 The Assistant Chief Executive roles also have a wide breadth of control, however, 

less so than the CO Tier 1 roles. These roles will also support the Executive, 
members and Chief Executive in setting and implementing the strategic direction of 

Page 260



the organisation and are set at Tier 2.  The roles include the consolidation of 
previous temporary arrangements (e.g. HR) and will take on some functions 
previous delivered by the Corporate Director (e.g. AONB). The roles will also 
incorporate some responsibilities resulting in the removal of the Head of Customer 
Service and Innovation post (e.g. ICT). In addition, the role/s will support areas of 
the business that require strengthening (e.g. Commissioning, contract management 
and commercial activity), in particular, following recommendations from the peer 
review and Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  

 
4.5 The Programme Director roles have a narrower breadth of control, however they 

will perform significantly important duties that assist the recovery post-COVID (e.g. 
Maryport Regeneration). In two of the roles, this is making permanent and formal 
the previously agreed change in role.  

5.0  Delivery arrangements 

 
5.1 Pay policy to be updated and Chief Officers Employment Panel to make 

appointments. 

6.0 Implications and Impact 

6.1 Contribution to Council Strategy Priorities, Outputs and Outcomes  

6.1.1 The new senior team structure will help deliver the Council Plan by ensuring we 
have the right people, in the right roles at the right time. It provides the certainty of 
current temporary arrangements, builds on individual and collective strengths and 
allows the capacity to focus on key business as usual activity, regeneration 
programmes and delivering the new the target operating model. 

6.2 Finance/Resource implications 

6.2.1 A cost saving of £201,316 is achieved by removing the Corporate Director post and 
the Programme Directors (for Workington and Maryport) being funded directly 
through their programmes of work and projects.  

 Breakdown as follows:- 

Salary costs for Senior Team (at 
present) inclusive of Corporate 
Director post 

£621,268 

Salary costs for Senior Team 
(proposed)  

£419,952 

 

6.3 Legal and governance implications  

Page 261



6.3.1 Pay Policy Statement is to be updated in regards to any changes to senior officers.  

6.4 Risk analysis 

 A scored and mitigated risk log 
 

Risk Consequence 
Controls 
required 

Mitigated 
score 

The new pay policy 
does not attract high 
quality candidates  

Does not lead to 
delivering improved 
services and Council 
plan outcomes 

Market 
testing  

2x4 

The cost of the 
Programme 
management is not 
eligible through the 
programmes of work 

This increases the cost 
of SMT and saving 
cannot be achieved 

Considered 
guidance 
from 
schemes and 
project costs 
are available 

1x4 

 

6.5 Increasing satisfaction and service 

6.5.1 The new senior team structure will help deliver the Council Plan by ensuring we 
have the right people, with the right strengths and skills to deliver the roles required.   

 
6.6 Equality impacts 

6.6.1 Has been considered and no impact assessment is required.   

6.7 Health and Safety impacts 

6.7.1 None applicable.  

6.8 Health, wellbeing and community safety impacts 

6.8.1 None applicable.  

6.9 Environmental/sustainability impacts 

6.9.1 None applicable  

6.10 Other significant implications 

6.10.1 None applicable.  
 

Appendices attached to this report 

 

Appendix number Title of appendix 

1 Pay Policy  

 

Page 262



Background documents available 

 

Name of background document Where it is available 

Functional responsibilities attached 

 
 
Report author(s) and contact officer(s): 
Andrew Seekings 
Chief Executive (Head of Paid Service) 
Andrew.seekings@allerdale.gov.uk 
01900 702528 

Page 263



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 264



 

Appendix 1 
Allerdale Borough Council 

 
Pay Policy Statement – 2020/2021 

 
 

1. Introduction and Purpose 
 
Under section 112 of the Local Government Act 1972, the Council has the “power to 
appoint officers on such reasonable terms and conditions as the authority thinks fit”. This 
Pay Policy Statement (the ‘statement’) sets out the Council’s approach to pay policy in 
accordance with the requirements of Section 38 of the Localism Act 2011.   

 
The purpose of the statement is to provide transparency with regard to the Council’s 
approach to setting the pay of its employees by identifying; 

 the methods by which salaries of all employees are determined; 

 the detail and level of remuneration of its most senior staff i.e. ‘chief officers’, as 
defined by the relevant legislation; 

 the Chief Executive (as the Head of Paid Service) is responsible for ensuring the 
provisions set out in this statement are applied consistently throughout the Council 
and recommending any amendments to the Council. 
 

Once approved by the Council, this policy statement will come into immediate effect and 
will be subject to review on a minimum of an annual basis, the policy for the next financial 
year being approved by 31st March each year.  

 
The introduction of the Code of Practice for Local Authority on Data Transparency 2015 
places additional duties on Local authorities in terms of publication of pay details which 
are included in the document.  The Code also requires the publication of Trade Union 
Facility Time and the annual publication of organisation structure charts which are 
contained in Appendix 1. 

 
2. Other legislation relevant to pay and remuneration 

 
In determining the pay and remuneration of all of its employees, the Council will comply 
with all relevant employment legislation.  This includes legislation such as the Equality 
Act 2010, Part Time Employment (Prevention of Less Favourable Treatment) 
Regulations 2000 and where relevant, the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of 
Earnings) Regulations 2006.   

 
The Council ensures there is no pay discrimination within its pay structures and that all 
pay differentials can be objectively justified through the use of job evaluation 
mechanisms, which directly establish the relative levels of posts in grades according to 
the requirements, demands and responsibilities of the role.  

 
3. Pay and Grading Structure 

  
The Council uses the nationally negotiated pay spine (i.e. a defined list of salary points) 
as the basis for its local pay structure, which determines the salaries of its employees 
(published on the intranet). The actual salary levels for each post other than Chief 

Page 265



 

Officers are determined by reference to the Council’s job evaluation scheme. This is a 
national scheme. 

 
It should be noted that the National Joint Council (NJC) pay spinal column points will be 
revised with effect from the date of any updated Agreement following a National Pay 
Bargaining process. Should there be any implications for the Council’s existing grading 
structure as a consequence of the Agreement any necessary revisions will be made and 
any significant issues will be reported as appropriate. 

 
All other pay related allowances are the subject of either nationally or locally negotiated 
rates, having been determined from time to time in accordance with collective bargaining 
machinery. 
 
In determining its grading structure and setting remuneration levels for any posts which 
fall outside its scope, the Council takes account of the need to ensure value for money in 
respect of the use of public expenditure, balanced against the need to recruit and retain 
employees who are able to meet the requirements of providing high quality services to 
the community, delivered effectively and efficiently and at times at which those services 
are required.   
 
New appointments will normally be made at the minimum of the relevant pay scale for the 
grade, although this can be varied where necessary to secure the best candidate. Where 
the appointment salary is above the minimum point of the pay scale this will be within the 
discretion of the appointing officer under the Recruitment and Selection Policy. 
 
From time to time it may be necessary to take account of the external pay levels in the 
labour market in order to attract and retain employees with particular experience, skills 
and capacity.  Where necessary, the Council will ensure the requirement for such is 
objectively justified by reference to clear and transparent evidence of relevant market 
comparators, using data sources available from within the local government sector and 
outside, as appropriate, in accordance with the Market Factor Supplement Policy. 
 
Any temporary supplement to the salary scale for the grade is approved in accordance 
with the Market Factor Supplement Procedure and the Acting up and Honoraria 
Procedure. 

 
All employees are covered by the National Joint Council Agreement on Pay and 
Conditions of Service except for Chief Officers who are covered by a separate National 
Joint Council Agreement for Chief Officers of Local Authorities. 
 
**Note: At the time of the amendment to this pay policy mid-year, the Council are 
currently reviewing the pay structure with a view to implementing a job families approach.  
This is in full discussion with the workplace Trade Union.  
 

 
Salary levels for Chief Officers were set by Council after consideration of an independent 
review which was undertaken externally by North West Employers Organisation (NWEO) 
in 2012 and in September 2020 by our People Resources Team in conjunction with other 
neighbouring authorities. In relation to the Programme Director roles, we looked at similar 
roles in the North West region as a number have been advertised recently.  

Page 266



 

The determination of any new salary structure is undertaken in accordance with the 
guidance produced by the Joint Negotiating Committees for Chief Executives and Chief 
Officers which says that when deciding the level of remuneration the following factors 
should be considered: 
 

 The Chief Executive’s salary and that of senior staff not covered by the Chief 
Officers’ JNC; 

 Any special market considerations; 

 Any substantial local factors not common to authorities of similar type and size. 

 Comparative salary information from other similar authorities; 

 Top management structures and the size of the management team compared to 
those of other authorities of similar type and size; 

 The relative job size of each post, as objectively assessed. 
 

There is no separate provision for Chief Officers in relation to the Council’s general 
employment policies and statements. Arrangements for Chief Officers are dealt with in 
accordance with the Council’s ordinary policies.  

 
4. Senior Management Remuneration 

Details of the senior management remuneration are included below: 
 

Job Title Tier  Salary 

Chief Executive N/A £102,794.18, £105,921.89,  
£109,049. 81 

Chief Officers (including payment for 
statutory duties) 

COT1 £66,000, £68,000, £70,000.00 

Assistant Chief Executives COT2 £56,000, £58,000, £60,000.00 

Programme Directors COT3 £52,000, £54,000, £56,000.00 

 
 

Returning Officer 
 
The statutory designation of the Returning Officer currently sits with the Chief Executive. 
The Council is required to provide funding to the Returning Officer to discharge statutory 
functions relating to the administration of local government elections. The Returning 
Officer will make payments to those officers who undertake specific duties in relation to 
the elections in accordance with their role.  
 
Electoral Registration Officer 
 
The statutory designation of the Electoral Registration Officer currently sits with the Chief 
Executive. The Electoral Registration Officer is, by default, appointed the Acting 
Returning Officer for UK Parliamentary elections. There is no separate payment for the 
role.  
 
Deputy Electoral Registration Officers 
 
The Chief Officer (Place and Governance); and the Electoral Services Manager are both 
appointed by council to act as Deputy Electoral Registration Officers. There is no 
separate payment for the role.  

Page 267



 

 
Monitoring Officer  
 
The designation of the statutory role of Monitoring Officer sits with the Chief Officer 
(Place and Governance).   
 
Chief Finance Officer  
 
The designation of the statutory role of Chief Finance Officer sits with the Chief Officer 
(Assets).  
 
Deputy Statutory Officer Roles 
 
Deputy Monitoring Officer(s) and Deputy Section 151 Officer(s), will be appointed by the 
Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer respectively, these will be remunerated at 
£2,000 per annum. 
 
Further details are published in the Council’s Annual Statement of Accounts. 
 
Deputising Arrangements for the Chief Executive 
 
The Chief Executive will authorise one or more Chief Officers to deputise for him in the 
event of his absence, with appropriate remuneration depending on the circumstances of 
the deputising arrangement.  

  
5. Recruitment of Chief Officers 

 
The Council’s policy and procedures with regard to recruitment of Chief Officers is set out 
within section 8.5 of the Constitution.   

 
When recruiting to all posts the Council will take full and proper account of all provisions 
of relevant employment law and its own equal opportunities in Recruitment & Selection, 
and Change Management Policy.   

 
The determination of the remuneration to be offered to any newly appointed Chief Officer 
will be in accordance with the pay structure and relevant policies in place at the time of 
recruitment.   

 
6. Additions to Salary of Chief Officers 

 
To meet specific operational requirements it may be necessary for an individual to 
temporarily take on additional duties to their identified role. The Council’s arrangements 
for authorising any additional remuneration (e.g. honoraria, ex gratia, ‘acting up’) relating 
to temporary additional duties are the same for all officers and are set out in the Acting 
up, Honorarium & Secondment Policy.  
 
The Senior Management team receive an on-call/standby fee, where required. The same 
rate is applicable for all employees who undertake on call/standby cover. 
 
Essential car user may be paid to the Senior Management team providing their role 
meets the criteria which is applicable to all employees. 

Page 268



 

 
In addition to basic salary, the following posts receive additional pay as set out below; 

 
 

Post / Tier of post Payment details  

Chief Executive 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The designation of Returning Officer is made by Full Council 
and currently sits with the Chief Executive. 
 
The fees paid for Returning Officer services are as follows : 
 

In accordance with the national agreement the Returning 
Officer is entitled to receive and retain the personal fees 
arising from performing the duties of the RO, ARO, PARO, 
LRO, DRO or DARO and similar position which they perform 
subject to the payment of pension contributions thereon, 
where appropriate. 
 
In respect of Borough and Parish Council elections the fee 
is based on a calculation of £140 per Borough Ward and 
£140 per contested parish. 
 
Fees for elections duties for other elections (Police & Crime 
Commissioner elections, County Council elections, National 
Referendums and European Parliamentary elections etc.) 
are paid as an additional sum at the rate prescribed by 
government as and when they arise, they are distinct from 
the process for the determination of pay for Chief Officers. 

 
 
7. Bonus Payments 

 
The Council does not operate any variable pay or bonus schemes.  

 
8. Pension Contributions  

 
Where employees have exercised their statutory right to become members of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme, the Council is required to make a contribution to the 
scheme representing a percentage of the pensionable remuneration due under the 
contract of employment of that employee.  The rate of contribution is set by Actuaries 
advising the Cumbria Pension Fund and reviewed on a triennial basis in order to ensure 
the scheme is appropriately funded.  The table below sets out the contributions for 
2020/21 and the employee contribution rates are based on actual pensionable pay as 
detailed in the table below.  These rates are published each year.  
 
There are two sections in the scheme now – the main section and the 50/50 section. 
 
The main section of the scheme is the section an employee will be placed in. In that 
section, employees pay normal contributions and get the normal pension build up. 
 
The 50/50 section was brought in as part of the 2014 scheme. Employees can elect to 
take this option at any time, pay half their normal contributions and build up half their 

Page 269



 

normal pension. If employees have more than one employment they can elect to take the 
50/50 option in one, some or all of their employments. Regardless of the section 
employees are in, they get full life assurance cover. 
 
 

 Contribution table 2020/2021 

Band Actual Pensionable Pay for an 
employment 

Contribution rate for that employment 

  Main Section 50/50 Section 

1 Up to £14,600 5.5% 2.75% 

2 £14,601 - £22,800 5.8% 2.9% 

3 £22,801 - £37,100 6.5% 3.25% 

4 £37,101 - £46,900 6.8% 3.4% 

5 £46,901 - £65,600 8.5% 4.25% 

6 £65,601 - £93,000 9.9% 4.95% 

7 £93,001 - £109,500 10.5% 5.25% 

8 £109,501 - £164,200 11.4% 5.7% 

9 £164,201 or more 12.5% 6.25% 

 
 
9. Payments on Termination 

 
The Council’s approach to statutory and discretionary payments on termination of 
employment of Chief Officers, prior to reaching normal retirement age, is the same as for 
all employees set out within its Pension Discretion Policy in accordance with Regulations 
5 and 6 of the Local Government (Early Termination of Employment) (Discretionary 
Compensation) Regulations 2006 and Regulation 12 of the Local Government Pension 
Scheme (Benefits, Membership and Contribution) Regulations 2007.   

 
10. Pay Analysis 

 
Calculations in this document are taken using October payroll data. 
 
Median Salary 
 
This calculation is based on the middle number in a set of data, when the data has been 
written in ascending size order, this includes all staff within the paid services of the 
Council, including the Chief Executive. The median salary using the October 2020 payroll 
was £27,741. This is based on a staffing number of 231 and total remuneration of 
£6,856,380.51 (based on all posts at their full-time equivalent rate.) 

 
Lowest paid employees 
 
Using October 2020 payroll data, the lowest paid employee was on a salary of persons 
employed under a contract of £17,364 per annum, however the Council pays the Living 
Foundation Wage, which is currently £9.30 per hour. This means that the lowest paid 
employee is actually paid £17,942.  

 
Apprentices are appointed to Allerdale Borough Council on the Living Foundation Wage. 
 
 

Page 270



 

Pay Multiple 
 
The ‘pay multiple’ is the ratio between the highest paid taxable earnings (£109,049.81) 
and the median earnings figure (£27,741) of the whole Council’s workforce. The 
Council’s highest paid employee is the Chief Executive. Therefore, the ‘pay multiple’, of 
the whole of the Council’s workforce is 1: 4 (as at December 2020) 
 
As part of the Council’s overall and ongoing monitoring of alignment with external pay 
markets, both within and outside the sector, the Council will use available benchmark 
information as appropriate. In addition, upon the annual review of this statement, the 
Council will also monitor any changes in the relevant ‘pay multiples’ and benchmark 
against other comparable local authorities. 

 
11. Publication 

 
Upon approval by the Full Council, this statement will be published on the Council’s 
website.  

 
12. Accountability and Decision Making 

 
In accordance with the Constitution of the Council, the Head of Paid Service, Chief 
Officer Employment Panel and Council are responsible for decision making in relation to 
the recruitment, pay, terms and conditions and severance arrangements in relation to 
Chief Officers of the Council. 

 
13. Re-employment/Re-engagement of former Chief Officers  

 
The Council will not normally employ or engage under a contract of service Chief Officers 
who have previously received a redundancy or severance payment or who are in receipt 
of a pension under the Local Government Pension Scheme. 

 
The Small Business, Enterprise & Employment Act 2015 makes provision requiring the 
repayment of some or all of any qualifying exit payment in qualifying circumstances. 

 
 
 

Andrew Seekings 
Chief Executive 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 271



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 272



Chief Executive
Monitoring Officer
Section 151 Officer

Executive Support

Assistant CE Policy 
Performance & 

Economic 
Development

Tier 2

Assistant CE 
Innovation & 
Commercial

Tier 2

CO Assets
Tier 1

CO Place & 
Governance

Tier 1

Programme Director
Transformation 

Operating Model
Tier 3

Programme Director 
Maryport

Tier 3

Programme Director
Workington

Tier 3

Assurance Risk & Audit
Building Control

*Business Support
Community Safety & 

Resilience
Crisis & Prevention

Data Protection
Democratic & Electoral 

Services
Enforcement

Environmental Health – 
Business Place & 

Community
Gypsy & Travellers

Homelessness
Housing Operations

Land Charges
Legal

Licensing
Planning
Scrutiny

* Business Support
Customer Services

Fulfilment
Visiting Officers

Post Room

Maryport Regeneration
Housing Company

Workington Regeneration
Destinations

Events
Management 

Markets
Tourism

AONB
Communications & 

Marketing
Corporate Strategy & 

Policy
Housing Strategy
Human Resources

Nuclear Policy
Performance
Spatial Policy

Strategic Economic 
Strategy

Capital Programmes & 
Projects

Commissioning
Commercial

Contract Management
IT

Procurement
Programme Office

Benefits
Bereavements

Building Cleaning
Building Maintenance

Estates
Engineers

*Business Support
Debt Recovery

Finance & Payroll
Harbour

Parks & Open Spaces
Parking Services

Property Services
Public Conveniences

Revenues
Health, Safety, 

Emergency Planning & 
Resilience

Pest Control
Sports & Leisure Services

Temporary 
Accommodation

Waste Admin
Workington Nature 

Partnership

P
age 273



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 274



Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Council – 09 December 2020 

 

Authority to Temporarily Amend Polling Scheme   

 
 
Portfolio holder Councillor Marion Fitzgerald, Portfolio Holder for Policy, 

Governance & People Resources 

Report from    Andrew Seekings, Returning Officer 

Wards affected   All  

Is this a key decision  N/A – Council decision 
 

 
 

1.0 The reason for the decision 

 
1.1 During the planning for major elections it may be necessary to make urgent, temporary 

changes to the Council’s polling scheme.  
 

2.0  Recommendations 

 
2.1 That Council delegates to the Returning Officer the authority to make any urgent, temporary 

changes to any polling place within the Borough necessary for the safe and effective 
delivery of elections.  

 

3.0  Background and Introduction 

 
3.1 Under the Electoral Registration and Administration Act 2013, compulsory polling district 

and polling place reviews must be carried out every five years.  
 
3.2 The power to agree a polling scheme, as set out in the Representation of the People Act 

1983 and the Electoral Registration and Administration Act 2013 is a non-executive function 
and therefore rests with Council. 

 
3.3 The Local Government Boundary Commission for England conducted a review of Allerdale 

ward boundaries in 2016/17 and in preparation for those recommendations being 
implemented at the 2 May 2019 Allerdale elections, a revised polling scheme was approved 
by Council at its meeting on 30 November 2018.  

 
3.4 The scheduled May 2020 Police and Crime Commissioner elections were deferred to 6 May 

2021 as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic. They will now be combined with the scheduled 
Cumbria County Council elections, the scheduled district elections in Carlisle City Council 

Page 275

Agenda Item 16



and South Lakeland District Council and a number of district and parish by elections across 
Cumbria.  
 

3.5 Allerdale is the Police Area Returning Officer (PARO) authority and is therefore responsible 
for co-ordinating the Police and Crime Commissioner elections across the Cumbria Police 
Area. A Cumbria Elections Project Board has been established, with membership 
comprising the Police Area Returning Officer from Allerdale and the Cumbria County 
Council Returning Officer, along with the South Lakeland District Council Returning Officer 
who is co-ordinating the County Council elections on behalf of Cumbria County Council. 
The Board has met a number of times and planning is already well under way.  
 

4.0 Polling Scheme  

 
4.1 There are currently 105 polling places in use across Allerdale. Each polling district is 

allocated to a polling place which, in the majority of cases, is situated within the polling 
district. If there are no suitable premises within the polling district then the polling place can 
be situated in a neighbouring polling district but all attempts should be made to ensure it is 
within a reasonable distance.  
 

4.2 The Cumbria Elections Project Board has set a number of key principles around the May 
2021 elections. One of these is that where possible the use of schools as polling stations 
should be avoided. This is to avoid further disrupting education provision following the 
serious impact of the pandemic on schools in 2020. Although there has been a deliberate 
effort to reduce the number of schools used, Allerdale still currently has four schools that 
are used as polling stations. Suitable, temporary alternatives are currently being assessed.  

 
4.3 It is highly likely that by May 2021 Covid-19 will still present a risk to the delivery of the 

polls. Polling station booking contacts are therefore being contacted and asked to carry out 
a Covid risk assessment. This will allow the Returning Officer to determine what measures 
need to be taken to ensure the safety of staff and electors at each station during the 
elections. It is possible that the risk assessments will result in some of the stations being 
unsuitable for use because of their layout, size, or accessibility. It is also possible that some 
stations may not be available, or may become unavailable at very short notice.  

 
4.4 In order to react in a timely manner to the need to moving a polling place the Returning 

Officer needs the authority to make decisions quickly, for example to allow revised poll 
cards to be printed and despatched. It is proposed that in making such decisions the 
relevant ward members would be advised of the reason for making the change and the 
mitigations put in place to ensure electors are provided with a suitable alternative, which will 
include offering electors an absent vote if timescales allow.   

 
4.5 Any amendments taken under these measures would be temporary, for specified reasons, 

and the normal polling place will remain in the polling scheme for use at future elections.  

5.0  Delivery arrangements 

 
5.1 Delivery of all aspects of an election is the personal responsibility of the Returning Officer. 

A project team approach is taken to the planning and delivery of elections to ensure robust 
project planning and address risks and challenges.  

Page 276



6.0 Implications and Impact 

6.1 Contribution to Council Strategy Priorities, Outputs and Outcomes  

6.1.1 The provision of safe, accessible polling places links to the council priority of Resilient 
Communities by enabling better democratic engagement for those communities.  

6.2 Finance/Resource implications 

6.2.1 There are hire costs and staffing costs associated with polling stations and some incur a 
higher booking cost than others, typically the hire fee is around £200. The costs of running 
the May 2021 elections will mainly fall to central government and to Cumbria County 
Council as both elections will be fully recharged. Only those polling places used for the 
borough and parish by elections will have a financial impact on Allerdale Borough Council 
and the costs of these will be split across all of the elections taking place.   

 
6.3.1    Legal and governance implications  
 
 6.3.1 The Representation of the People Act 1983 and the Electoral Registration and 

Administration Act 2013 both require Council to adopt a polling scheme. However, the duty 
to deliver elections falls to the Returning Officer and any legal challenge to any aspect of 
the process will be to him personally and not to the authority.  

  

 6.4 Risk analysis 

  

Risk Consequence Controls required 
Mitigated 
score 

Using a polling place 
that is not able to be 
made safe in a 
pandemic 

Safety of staff and 
electors is compromised; 
may lead to a local spike 
in infections 
 
 

Risk assessments of all 
potential polling places 
and suitable safety 
measures put in place 

Low 

 

6.5 Increasing satisfaction and service 

6.5.1 Provision of safe, accessible polling places will enhance voter satisfaction with the election 
process and give greater confidence in the running of the election.  

6.6 Equality impacts 

6.6.1    In assessing polling places for suitability a full accessibility study is undertaken and the 
local Disability Forum is consulted as part of that process.  

6.7 Health and Safety impacts 

6.7.1 The safety of polling station staff and electors will be paramount in planning the May 2021 
elections, and it is anticipated that this could lead to changes being required to some polling 
places.  

6.8 Health, wellbeing and community safety impacts 

6.8.1 Community safety considerations may be a factor in the need to amend polling stations in 
May 2021. The health and wellbeing of electors will be considered during the risk 
assessment process.    

Page 277



6.9 Environmental/sustainability impacts 

 N/A 

6.10 Other significant implications 

 N/A 

 

Appendices attached to this report 

 

Appendix number Title of appendix 

  

 

Background documents available 

 

Name of background document Where it is available 

Allerdale Borough Council Polling Scheme On request from the Electoral Services team 

 

 
Report author and contact officer: 
 
Lindsay Tomlinson 
Electoral Services Manager 
lindsay.tomlinson@allerdale.gov.uk 
01900 878657  

Page 278



Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Council – 09 December 2020 

 

Community Governance Review 

 
 
Portfolio holder Councillor Marion Fitzgerald, Portfolio Holder for Policy, 

Governance & People Resources 

Report from    Andrew Seekings, Chief Executive 

Wards affected   Flimby, Maryport North, Maryport South 

Is this a key decision  N/A – Council decision 
 

 
 

1.0 The reason for the decision 

 
1.1 To consider the effect of the Covid-19 pandemic on delivery of the statutory community 

governance review (CGR) process and to endorse the action taken by the Community 
Governance Review Working Group in not proceeding with the work during the pandemic.  

 

2.0  Recommendations 

 
2.1 That Council endorses the decision of the Community Governance Review Working Group 

in deferring work on the Review of Maryport and Flimby due to the ongoing Covid-19 
pandemic 

 

3.0  Background and Introduction 

 
3.1 Section 100 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 (The Act) 

sets out the process by which Principal Authorities such as Allerdale Borough Council can 
carry out a Community Governance Review of parish arrangements within its area.  

 
3.2 A petition calling for the establishment of a separate parish council for the Flimby ward of 

the Maryport parish area was submitted on 30 July 2019. The petition contained 250 valid 
local government elector signatures which is the minimum number required to trigger a 
review of that area.  

 
3.3 Section 83 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 requires a 

district council to undertake a review where a valid petition is received which relates to 
whole or part of the council’s area and where the council is not currently carrying out a 
review of the area and has not carried out a review in the preceding two years. As all of the 

Page 279

Agenda Item 17



conditions were met then the council had a duty under the legislation to carry out the review 
as requested in the petition.  

 
3.4 Council at its meeting on 25 September 2019 resolved to carry out a Community 

Governance Review of the Maryport parish area to consider the request for the 
establishment of a separate parish council for the Flimby ward and associated electoral 
arrangements, to review the ward boundaries of Maryport Town Council and the Council 
size of Maryport Town Council. 

 
3.5 A Working Group was formed to conduct the review, comprising members representing the 

Flimby, Maryport North, Maryport South and Silloth & Solway Coast wards.  
 
3.6 From September to December 2019 the Working Group conducted a CGR that had also 

been requested for the Silloth parish council area.  
 

4.0  Flimby / Maryport CGR and Covid-19  

 
4.1 Work had been due to start on the Flimby/Maryport CGR in December 2019, however the 

snap UK Parliamentary General Election delayed the start of the work. In February/March 
2020 the emerging Covid-19 pandemic further delayed the start of the work.  

 
4.2 As the pandemic situation worsened it became apparent that the review could not 

commence because of the need to hold meetings of the Working Group, including meeting 
with Maryport Town Council and with the petition organisers. The CGR will also require 
public meetings with residents from Flimby and Maryport.  

4.3 As the Covid-19 situation looked to be improving during the summer of 2020 officers started 
to discuss the potential of running some virtual or “hybrid” (online plus in-person) public 
meetings. However, it was considered that both of these options could exclude people from 
the process if they did not have access to the required technology, or if they did not feel 
confident in using technology. Wholly in-person meetings were not considered safe, even at 
that time, given the likely numbers that could attend, and as the Covid-19 situation has 
worsened during the autumn it is neither feasible nor safe to consider running in-person 
public meetings until the lockdown measures are lifted and the situation improves 
considerably.  

4.3 In line with advice received, a meeting of the CGR Working Group was held in September 
2020 and members at that meeting resolved to continue to defer the start of the review until 
the pandemic situation improved and allowed public meetings to commence.  

 

5.0  Delivery arrangements 

 
5.1 The public consultation aspect of the Community Governance Review will be delivered by 

the Community Governance Review Working Group as established by Council in 
September 2019. The Working Group will present its final recommendations to Council at 
the conclusion of the Review process.   

6.0 Implications and Impact 

6.1 Contribution to Council Strategy Priorities, Outputs and Outcomes  

6.1.1 Community Governance Reviews support the Council Strategy theme of Resilient 
Communities in terms of engagement with town and parish councils.   

Page 280



6.2 Finance/Resource implications 

6.2.1 The duty to carry out a Community Governance Review and to bear the associated costs 
rests with Allerdale Borough Council as the principal authority. The costs will mainly arise 
from staff resources, the cost of public consultation events and from the running of working 
group meetings.  

  

6.3 Legal and governance implications  

6.3.1 The procedure for conducting a Community Governance Review is set out in legislation 
which requires that where a review is instigated by petition, it must be concluded within 12 
months from the date the council begins the review.  

 
6.3.2 Officers sought advice from the Association of Electoral Administrators (AEA) in March 

2019, and were informed that the issue of the delays to CGRs caused by the Covid-19 
pandemic had been raised with the Cabinet Office. However, legislation has not yet been 
passed that formally allows deferral of the statutory timetable.  

 
6.3.3 The risk to the authority is that the petitioners could mount a challenge by way of a judicial 

review due to the CGR not being completed within the statutory timescale.  However, the 
advice received was that the public safety considerations should be paramount and the risk 
of a challenge from the petitioners must be balanced against the risk to public safety in 
carrying out the CGR during a pandemic.  

 
6.3.4  The Working Group will, as part of its work, need to consider a likely implementation date 

for any changes recommended as part of the Review. They will do this in the context of the 
ordinary election date for towns and parishes being May 2023, and that any earlier 
implementation could bring significant costs to the parishes if interim elections were 
required.  

6.4 Risk analysis 

  

Risk Consequence Controls required 
Mitigated 
score 

Risk of a legal 
challenge as a result 
of not meeting the 
statutory timescales 
for completing the 
Review  

Judicial Review in the 
High Court 

Documented decision 
making around public 
safety reasons for 
deferral; advice from 
AEA; Working Group 
consultation; regular 
communication with 
petition group 

Medium 

 

6.5 Increasing satisfaction and service 

6.5.1 The CGR will look at the best option for democracy and the delivery of local services, at the 
town and parish level, for the residents of Flimby and the optimum arrangements for 
Maryport Town Council as a result of any changes that may be proposed.   

6.6 Equality impacts 

 No – an EIA will be completed as part of the CGR process prior to the public engagement 
events.  

Page 281



6.7 Health and Safety impacts 

 
6.7.1 The health and safety implications are set out above and are the reason for submitting the 

report to Council.  

6.8 Health, wellbeing and community safety impacts 

 
6.8.1 The requirement to undertake significant public consultation as part of the Review and the 

effect on community health and wellbeing is the reason the Review has not begun.  

6.9 Environmental/sustainability impacts 

 N/A 

6.10 Other significant implications 

 N/A 
 

Appendices attached to this report 

 

Appendix number Title of appendix 

  

 

Background documents available 

 

Name of background document Where it is available 
Local Government and Public Involvement in 
Health Act 2007 

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2007/28/contents 

 
 
Report author and contact officer: 
 
Lindsay Tomlinson 
Electoral Services Manager 
lindsay.tomlinson@allerdale.gov.uk 
01900 878657  

Page 282



Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Council – 09 December 2020 

 

Report from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 
 
Portfolio holder   - 

Report from    Co-Chairs of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Wards affected   All 

Is this a key decision  No 
 

 
 

1.0 The reason for the report 

 
1.1 To update Council on the progress of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 

2.0  Recommendations 

 
2.1 That the report is noted. 
 

3.0  Introduction 

 
3.1 The Committee has met twice since the previous report – 16th October and 6th 

November. The Committee will also meet on 27th November and relevant highlights 
for Council will be presented verbally at the meeting. 

3.2 The October meeting considered the performance report and received a 
presentation on the development of the economic growth strategy, which included a 
focus on the Workington Town Deal submission, due to be made soon after the 
meeting.  

3.3 This meeting also agreed the first report from the task and finish group focused on 
the Response to the Pandemic. The Committee agreed the report and the proposal 
to submit the report to Executive to highlight the importance of the Council’s role 
and the excellent work of its staff in addressing public health requirements such as 
this. The report was presented to Executive on 25 November.  

3.4 The 6th November meeting was an additional meeting to consider local government 
reorganisation issues, and resulted in the additional Council meeting being 

Page 283

Agenda Item 18



arranged for 23 November to give all Councillors an opportunity to share their 
views. 

 

4.0  Activity since the previous report 

 
4.1 As noted in the previous report, the Committee set up a task and finish group to 

consider the Council’s budget development for 2021-2022. This group has begun 
meeting and the proposed next step is for the group to undertake the same process 
as the budget review group will be carrying out, to test the strength of the process 
and see if the same conclusions are developed. 

4.2 The task and finish groups looking at Procurement and Future Waste Management 
both completed their reports and these were submitted to the 27th November 
meeting.  

 

5.0  Delivery arrangements 

 None arising from the content of the report. 

6.0 Implications and Impact 

6.1 Contribution to Council Strategy Priorities, Outputs and Outcomes  

 The work of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee underpins and complements all 
aspects of the Council Strategy. 

6.2 Finance/Resource implications 

None arising from the content of the report. 

6.3 Legal and governance implications  

 None arising from the content of the report. 

6.4 Risk analysis 

Not required - none arising from the content of the report. 

6.5 Increasing satisfaction and service 

 Among the purposes of overview and scrutiny is ensuring that services and 
activities provided by the Council are meeting community needs and satisfaction. 

6.6 Equality impacts 

None arising from the content of the report.  

6.7 Health and Safety impacts 

 None arising from the content of the report. 

6.8 Health, wellbeing and community safety impacts 

 None arising from the content of the report. 

Page 284



6.9 Environmental/sustainability impacts 

 None arising from the content of the report. 

6.10 Other significant implications 

 None arising from the content of the report. 
 

Appendices attached to this report 

 

Appendix number Title of appendix 

- - 

 

Background documents available 

 

Name of background document Where it is available 

All agendas, reports and minutes of 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
meetings 

mod.gov or via the Council’s website 

Report author(s) and contact officer(s):  
Report authors – Councillor Michael Heaslip and Councillor Iain Greaney 
Contact officer name – Ian Hinde 
Job title – Policy Officer (Scrutiny and Partnerships) 
Email address – ian.hinde@allerdale.gov.uk 
Tel no. 01900 516664 

Page 285



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 286



Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Council – 09 December 2020 

 

Governance Updates 

 
 
Portfolio holder   Councillor M Fitzgerald, 

PH Policy, Governance and People Resources 

Report from Sharon Sewell, Head of Governance and Regulatory 
Services 

Wards affected   All wards 

Is this a key decision  No 
 

 
 

1.0  The reason for the decision 

1.1 To report on delegated decisions taken during the Covid-19 pandemic since the last 
report to Council on 22 July 2020, and to update on changes to political 
proportionality and committee memberships. 

2.0  Recommendations 

2.1 To note a summary of all CEO Urgent Action decisions and Special Urgency 
Executive decisions taken during the period 22 July to 1 December 2020 as 
detailed in section 4.0 of the report 

 
2.2 That the distribution of seats across committees as set out in paragraph 4.6 of the 

report be approved, to accord with the rules on proportionality as far as is 
practicable 

 
2.2 That Councillor Alan Hedworth be appointed to the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee for the Allerdale Conservatives Group. 
 

3.0  Background and Introduction 

 
3.1 Section 4.35.4 of the Constitution gives the Chief Executive the power to exercise 

functions of the Council in very urgent circumstances, following consultation with 
the Mayor and the Leader of the Council. Those decisions must be reported to the 
next meeting of the Council. 

Page 287

Agenda Item 19



3.2 Section 11.16 of the Council’s Constitution provides that where a decision is 
sufficiently urgent it may be taken immediately under Special Urgency powers; this 
means in effect that there is no requirement for the decision to have been included 
on the Council’s forward plan for the requisite 28 days, or for the call-in procedure 
to apply.  Where these powers are invoked, the approval of the Chair of Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee is required before the decision can be taken. 

3.3 Section 11.17.3 of the Constitution requires quarterly reports be made by the 
Leader to the Council on those Executive decisions taken in the circumstances set 
out above. 

3.4 The Local Government (Committees and Political Groups) Regulations 1990 make 
provision for securing the political balance on councils and their committees and for 
determining the voting rights of members of certain committees.  

 
3.5 Following the sad recent passing of Councillor Joe Holliday Council is now required 

to review the allocation of seats on committees to political groups. 
 

4.0  Content 

 Delegated Decisions 

 
4.1 Between 22 July and 1 December 2020 the following decisions were taken under 

the Chief Executives Urgent Action powers:  

1 - COVID-19 NHS Test and Track Self-Isolation Payments  

Date: 16 October 2020 

Reason for urgency: In response to Covid-19 the Government announced the 
introduction of NHS Test and Trace self-isolation payments to be administered by 
local authorities to support people on low incomes who were unable to work from 
home if they were told to self-isolate by NHS Test and Trace and would lose income 
as a result.    

The COVID-19 Test and Trace Support Discretionary Payment policy was created 
to cover the award and distribution of discretionary payments under the guidance 
provided by the government. The recommended policy looked to distribute the 
funding made available by the Government and was specific to COVID-19. The 
decision on the grounds of emergency enabled the funding to be immediately 
effective, in accordance with the expectations of government, and in ensuring that 
qualifying people were able to access the assistance they required at the earliest 
possible opportunity.  

2 - Hackney Carriage/Private Hire Vehicle licensing - Engineers' Reports 
Extension 

Date: 28 October 2020 

Page 288



Reason for urgency: Vehicles over four years of age require an independent 
engineer’s report as part of each renewal application, which is on an annual basis. 
This is contained within the vehicle age policy approved by the Licensing 
Committee. 

On 1 April 2020 the Acting Chief Executive supported a proposal to defer the 
requirement for an engineers’ report for 6 months following expiry date of the 
licence, together with the penalty of suspension for non-compliance. This is 
because the local engineer could not carry out the inspections due to health 
reasons. The local engineer has now retired. The tender for vehicle testing 
station(s) for the contract to test hackney carriage and private hire vehicles is 
currently being advertised. The current contract expires on 31 January 2021. 

The reason for urgency was that the current deferral expired on 30 September 
2020. Applicants who need to renew following that date or any who expired in April 
2020 who will have benefitted from the 6 month deferral will now be looking for 
engineers to fulfil the licence conditions. 

3 - Additional Restrictions Grant 

Date: 23 November 2020 

Reason for urgency: On 31st October 2020, the Government announced a range of 
business support schemes including the Additional Restrictions Grant, administered 
by Local Authorities, to support businesses affected by COVID19. Allerdale has 
been allocated £1,955,220. To administer the grant effectively a Local Authority 
Additional Restrictions Grants policy was required in order to detail the initial 
delivery of the scheme within the Borough that was consistent with Government 
expectations. 

The Government expectation was to issue grants to affected businesses in 
November 2020. In order to implement the scheme the Council needed to agree a 
grants policy and it was not possible to agree the policy in line with the Council’s 
usual decision-making framework and timescales. 

4 - Local Council Elections 2021  

Date: 1 December 2020 

Reason for urgency: The Council’s next scheduled elections are due to be held in 
May 2023; however, the Council does currently have 5 vacant seats. The Local 
Government and Police and Crime Commissioner (Coronavirus) (Postponement of 
Elections and Referendums) (England and Wales) Regulations 2020 prevent any 
principal area by-elections being held until 6 May 2021 at the earliest, therefore 
these vacancies have not yet been through the statutory process to formally issue a 
Notice of Vacancy and allow registered electors to call an election to fill the 
vacancy. However, the assumption is that any by-elections would be timed to take 
place on 6 May 2021 in combination with the Police and Crime Commissioner 
election and any other elections that may be held on that date.  

Page 289



In relation to elections, MHCLG have confirmed that the Police and Crime 
Commissioner elections will go ahead. This is, of course, subject to any COVID 
restrictions that may impact on the safe running of the elections. 

Government may, subject to next steps within Local Government Reorganisation, 
make a statutory order to cancel or defer all elections. The latest date for this to 
happen is 3rd March 2020 for deferment and 27th March 2020 for cancellation. 

The Council was to indicate to Government our preference to hold, cancel or defer 
the by-elections. The recommendation is to hold them. This allows the Returning 
Officer and Electoral Services Manager to plan on that basis. 

A decision was required by 9th December.  

4.2 Between 22 July and 1 December 2020 no decisions were taken under the Special 
Urgency provisions. 

 Changes to Political Balance on Council Committees  

4.3 The first stage of the review is to make a calculation of the numerical allocation of 
seats based on the percentage of seats to which each political group would be 
entitled when applying the normal rounding up/down rules. 

 
4.4 There is no strict entitlement calculation applicable to councillors who are not 

members of a political group; however, following the calculations and allocation of 
seats to political groups, the Council may exercise its discretion by appointing the 
non-grouped members to any seats not otherwise allocated, provided that no 
councillor votes against the proposal. In doing this, the Council may also allocate 
seats to those committees requiring a balancing adjustment. 
 

4.5 The Council has always afforded at least one seat to every member of Council; 
Councillor Joe Holliday was an Independent member not aligned to any political 
group and held a seat on the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. Following his 
recent sad passing the political proportionality has been recalculated. 

 
4.6 The political make-up of the Council and entitlement to seats across committees is 

now as follows: 
 

Political Group Seats on Council Entitlement to 
Committee Seats 

Allerdale Independents 16 24 

Allerdale Conservatives 15 23 

Labour 12 18 

   

None   

S Stoddard 1 1 

Total 44 (of 49) 66 

 
4.7 Once this has been worked out, then the places on each committee have to be 

proportionate to the number of seats that each political group has on the Council. 
 

Page 290



4.8 Following the recalculations the Allerdale Conservatives Group have gained one 
additional committee seat overall taking them to 23 seats. This additional seat is the 
vacant seat on the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 

4.9 The Allerdale Conservatives Group have nominated Councillor Alan Hedworth to 
take this seat. 
 

5.0  Delivery arrangements 

 
5.1 Not applicable to this report. 

6.0 Implications and Impact 

6.1 Contribution to Council Strategy Priorities, Outputs and Outcomes  

Representation on committees clearly defines roles and responsibilities and 
enhances accountability. 

6.2 Finance/Resource implications 

 Travel and subsistence will be met from within the existing budget. 

6.3 Legal and governance implications  

 Section 4.35.4 of the Councils Constitution gives the Chief Executive the power to 
exercise functions of the Council in very urgent circumstances, following 
consultation with the Mayor and the Leader of the Council. Those decisions must be 
reported to the next meeting of the Council. 

 Appointments to committees are made in line with the Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989 and The Local Government (Committees and Political Groups) 
Regulations 1990. 

6.4 Risk analysis 

 A scored and mitigated risk log 
 

Risk Consequence Controls required 
Mitigated 
score 

Decision making 
arrangements not  
effectively 
monitored and 
reported 

Lack of transparency. 
Breach of 
Constitutional 
procedures  

Regular reporting to 
Council 

Low 

 

6.5 Increasing satisfaction and service 

 Not applicable to this report. 

6.6 Equality impacts 

 Equality impacts have been considered. 

Page 291



6.7 Health and Safety impacts 

 There are no health and safety implications directly associated with this report. 

6.8 Health, wellbeing and community safety impacts 

There are no health, wellbeing and community safety implications directly 
associated with this report. 

6.9 Environmental/sustainability impacts 

There are no environmental/sustainability implications directly associated with this 
report. 

6.10 Other significant implications 

 None 
 

Appendices attached to this report 

 

Appendix number Title of appendix 

N/A  

 

Background documents available 

 

Name of background document Where it is available 

CEO Urgent Action decision notice and  
Appendix 1 - COVID-19 Test and Trace 
Support Discretionary Payment policy 

https://democracy.allerdale.gov.uk/ 
mgDelegatedDecisions 

 
 
Report author(s) and contact officer(s): 
Gayle Roach 
Democratic and Support Services Manager 
gayle.roach@allerdale.gov.uk  
Tel no. 01900 702502 

Page 292

https://democracy.allerdale.gov.uk/
mailto:gayle.roach@allerdale.gov.uk

	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	Minutes
	131 Portfolio Holder Updates

	8 Announcements from the Mayor, Leader or Head of Paid Service
	9 Portfolio Holder updates
	10 Executive Minutes
	Minutes , 14/10/2020 Executive

	11 Reference from Executive 25 November 2020 - Quarter 2 Finance Report and Revised Budget 2020-21
	Quarter 2 Finance Report & Revised Budget 2020-21
	Appendix A - Projected Outturn by Portfolio
	Appendix B - Capital Expenditure v Budget -Sept 2020
	Appendix C - Proposed Revised Capital Budget 2020-21 to 2022-23
	Appendix D - Revised Position on Earmarked Reserves
	Appendix E - Summary of Treasury Management Activity

	12 Reference from Audit Committee 29 September 2020 - Treasury Management Annual Review 2019/20
	2019-20 Treasury Management Annual Review

	13 Reference from Audit Committee 24 November 2020 - Treasury Management Mid Year Review 2020/21
	Treasury Management Mid-year report 2020-21

	14 Reference from Licensing Committee 20/11/20 - Review of Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026
	Licensing Policy Review Report Lic Comm 201120 Final
	Appendix 1 SLO Amendments final
	Appendix 2 ScheduleofResponses2020final
	Appendix 2 Additional ScheduleofResponsesrcd after report2020final
	DRAFT ABC Statement of Licensing Policy for consultation2020
	Appendix 4 Equality Impact Assessment Form

	15 Pay Policy Statement
	Pay Policy Statement Council Amended 20112020 v4
	SMT Functionalities v4
	SMT Functionalities 30112020.vsdx
	Page-1



	16 Authority to Temporarily Amend Polling Scheme
	17 Community Governance Review: Flimby & Maryport
	18 Update from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee
	19 Governance Updates

